
MEETING OF HARLOW COUNCIL
7.30 pm on Thursday 7 February 2019
In the Council Chamber, Civic Centre

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any items on the 
agenda.

3. Minutes  (Pages 7 - 17)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 18 December 2018. 

4. Communications from the Chair  

5. Petitions from the Public  

6. Questions from the Public  

7. Questions from Councillors  

8. Motions from Councillors  

9. References from Cabinet and Committees  

a) Referral from Cabinet - Corporate Plan 2019/20  (Pages 18 - 38)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The Corporate Plan 2019/20 – 2021/22, attached as 
Appendix A to the report, is adopted.

ii)   Authority be delegated to the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, to make minor 
and inconsequential amendments to the Corporate Plan.  

b) Referral from Cabinet - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 - 
2021/22  (Pages 39 - 71)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2019/20 to 
2021/22, attached as Appendix B to the report, is adopted.

ii)   The planned Council Tax increase of two per cent for 

Public Document Pack



2019/20 as set out in the Medium Term Financial Plan be 
approved.

iii)   The proposals in relation to reserves as set out in the 
report at paragraphs 23 to 29 and contained within Section 
8 of the Medium Term Financial Strategy be approved. 

c) Referral from Cabinet - Capital and Treasury Report 2019  
(Pages 72 - 124)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The following Capital and Treasury Reports be approved:

 The Capital Strategy Report (attached as 
Appendix A to the report)

 The Capital Programme Strategy Statement 
2019/20 (attached as Appendix B to the report)

 The Investment Strategy Report 2019/20 
(attached as Appendix  D to the report)

 The Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 
2019/20 (attached as Appendix E to the report)

ii) The proposed revised Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2019/20 (attached as Appendix C to the report) 
be approved for implementation with immediate effect. 

d) Referral from Cabinet - Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 
2018 - 2048  (Pages 125 - 206)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan, as 
set out in Appendix A to this report, be approved.

ii)   Authority be delegated to the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing, to make 
minor amendments to the Plan, if necessary, following 
consultation. 

e) Referral from Cabinet - Housing Revenue Account Budget 2019/20  
(Pages 207 - 224)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The rent reductions for individual dwellings as set out in 
paragraph 30 of the report are approved with effect from 1 



April 2019. This equates to an average weekly rent of 
£89.84 a statutory reduction of one per cent.

ii)   Service charges for individual dwellings, as set out in 
paragraphs 22 to 29 of this report are approved with effect 
from 1 April 2019 for both tenants and leaseholders. This 
equates to an average weekly service charge to tenants of 
£2.49.

iii)   Heating charges as set out in paragraphs 31 to 38 of this 
report are approved with effect from 1 April 2019 for both 
tenants and leaseholders. Average weekly general needs 
charges are £9.24 per week (leaseholders £16.09 per 
week, equivalent) and, for sheltered accommodation, 
£6.83 per week.

iv)   Rents for garages held within the category ‘Retain and 
Invest’ as defined in the ‘Garages and Hardstanding 
Improvement Strategy 2015’ will increase by five per cent, 
to £10.16 per week (for a standard garage) and 
proportionate increases for other garages, car ports and 
car spaces from 1 April 2019. Rents of garages in other 
categories will reduce by 20 per cent in order to provide an 
incentive, as set out in paragraphs 39 and 40 of this report.

v)   Housing related support charges are as set out in 
paragraphs 17 to 21 and Table 1 are approved for service 
users with effect from 1 April 2019.

vi)   Other charges set out in paragraphs 41 to 43 of this report 
are approved with effect from 1 April 2019. Note the 
addition of two new charges from 1 April 2019 for the 
provision of information to facilitate Equity Release £30.80 
and Re-mortgage work £20.50 (both inclusive of VAT at 20 
per cent).

vii)  The growth items outlined in paragraph 46 of the report in 
respect of 2019/20 are approved.

viii) The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget (attached as 
Appendix A to the report) is approved.

ix)   A minimum HRA working balance shall be £4 million as at 
31 March 2020, with £2.5 million being the minimum level 
and with an additional £1.5 million added as an allowance 
towards any additional expenditure required as a result of 
the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry, (as set out in Appendix B 
of this report) is approved.



f) Referral from Cabinet - General Fund Budget 2019/20  
(Pages 225 - 301)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The General Fund estimates for 2019/20, as set out in 
Appendix A to the report, are approved.

ii)   The proposed transfers between the General Fund and 
Earmarked Reserves, referred to in paragraphs 24 to 27 
and Table 3 of this report and set out in Appendix C to the 
report, are approved.

iii)   The proposed Fees and Charges, as set out in Appendix E 
to the report, are approved.

iv)   The Pay Policy Statement, as set out in Appendix G to the 
report, is approved.

v)   The Council’s Band D Council Tax for 2019/20 is set at 
£277.73 representing an increase in Council Tax of two per 
cent for the forthcoming year.

g) Referral from Cabinet - Capital Programmes 2018/19 - 2019/20  
(Pages 302 - 317)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

Housing Capital Programme

i)   The Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 revised outturn 
of £19,513,000, as set out in Table 2 of the report is noted.

ii)   The Housing Capital programme 2019/20 of £24,044,000, 
as set out in Table 5 of the report is approved, including 
£2.7 million of external borrowing to support building 
council homes.

  Non Housing Capital Programme

iii)   The revised Non Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 of 
£11,105,000, as set out in Table 6 of the report is noted.

iv)   The Non Housing Capital Programme for 2019/20 
£11,156,000 including the Enterprise Zone (EZ) 
(£5,319,000) and Prentice Place (£2,347,000) as set out in 
Table 7 of the report is approved.

v)   Internal borrowing is approved to support:



 the Non Housing Capital Core Programme of 
£9,866,000 up to 31 March 2019, and a further 
£2,372,000 in 2019/20.

 in respect of Prentice Place in 2019/20 of 
£1,755,000.

 in respect of the EZ in 2018/19 of £5,790,000 and 
in 2019/20, £5,319,000. This will bring total 
borrowing over the 3 years from 2017/18 to 
£13,707,000.

h) Referral from Cabinet - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy - Retail 
Relief  (Pages 318 - 324)

The Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The proposed Retail Relief Policy (attached as Appendix A 
to the report) be adopted.

i) Referral from Independent Remuneration Panel - Report of The 
Independent Remuneration Panel 2018/19  (Pages 325 - 328)

The Independent Remuneration Panel recommended to Full 
Council that:

i)   The Basic Allowance is increased to £4,485 for the 
2019/20 financial year, representing a five per cent 
increase.

ii)   All Special Responsibility Allowances in the Councillor’s 
Allowance Scheme (attached as Appendix A to the report) 
are increased by two per cent for the 2019/20 financial 
year.

j) Referral from Licensing Committee - Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Fees  (Pages 329 - 333)

The Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that:

i)   Approves for publication the proposed revised Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire licensing fee structure (attached 
as Appendix A to the report).

ii)   Subject to no representations being received, recommends 
to Full Council that the proposed Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire licensing fee structure be adopted with effect 
from 1 April 2019.



k) Referral from Licensing Committee - Licensing Act Policy Review  
(Pages 335 - 384)

The Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that:

i)   The draft of the Licensing Act Statement of Policy 
(attached as Appendix A to the report) is adopted, subject 
to the amendments suggested by Essex Police as detailed 
in paragraph 4 of the supplementary report.

10. Reports from Officers  

11. Minutes of Cabinet and Committee Meetings  

To note the following Cabinet and Committee minutes:

a) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 12 December 2018 of 
Development Management Committee  (Pages 385 - 387)

b) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 16 January 2019 of Development 
Management Committee  (Pages 388 - 391)

c) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 22 January 2019 of Licensing 
Committee  (to follow)

d) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 24 January 2019 of Cabinet  
(Pages 392 - 400)

12. Matters of Urgent Business  

Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be 
received as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to be 
specified in the minutes.



MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL
HELD ON

18 December 2018 7.30  - 9.25 pm

PRESENT

COUNCILLORS OFFICERS

Maggie Hulcoop (Chair)
Clive Souter (Vice-Chair)

Simon Carter
Joel Charles
Jean Clark
Mike Danvers
Bob Davis
Jodi Dunne
Tony Durcan
Tony Edwards
Michael Garnett
Michael Hardware
Eugenie Harvey
Mark Ingall

Shannon Jezzard
Andrew Johnson
Shona Johnson
Sue Livings
Frances Mason
Stefan Mullard
Danny Purton
Lanie Shears
Edna Stevens
Chris Vince
Phil Waite
Mark Wilkinson

Brian Keane, Managing 
Director
Adam Rees, Governance 
Support Officer
Lisa Thornett, Corporate 
Governance Support Officer

54. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors David Carter, Nick 
Churchill, Tony Hall, Eddie Johnson, Russell Perrin, John Strachan and 
Emma Toal.

55. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Mark Wilkinson declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 8b due 
to a relative that uses the centre. 
 
Councillors Michael Garnett, Michael Hardware and Clive Souter declared a 
non-pecuniary interest in item 8a and 8b as Essex County Councillors. 

Councillor Joel Charles declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 8b as he is 
Director of Future Care Capital Charity. 

56. MINUTES 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2018 
are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

Public Document Pack

7

Agenda Item 3



57. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE CHAIR 

The Chair of the Council outlined various events she has attended and in 
particular drew attention to the Fireworks Night, Remembrance Festival, 
Sparkle the reindeer visiting Princess Alexandra Hospital, and the Sports 
Awards. The Chair also informed the chamber of the Duke of Kent’s visit to 
Astro Lighting where they were awarded the Queen’s Award for Enterprise: 
International Trade in 2018 for the second time. 

Harlow Educational Awards were a huge success. Michael Beard from 
Public Health England presented the awards and said how amazing the 
evening was and how he could see lots of the children and their parents 
obtaining employment within Public Health England. 

The Chair spoke of the pantomime Aladdin at the Playhouse which was “the 
best she had ever seen in Harlow.” She advised that she had also attended 
the Makin Steps Show case and how amazing it was to see so many young 
talented children taking part. 

She reminded her colleagues of the following dates: 30 January 2019 for 
Celebrate Harlow and 22 March 2019 for Harlow Civic Dinner and Dance. 

58. PETITIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

None.

59. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

The questions together with the answers are appended to the minutes. 

60. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 

None.

61. MOTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

a) Libraries in Harlow

Proposed by Councillor Shannon Jezzard (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Ingall):

“This Council is concerned by Essex County Council’s plans to close public 
libraries in Harlow. Libraries are vital to promoting literacy and fostering a 
love of reading amongst all people. They are used by pre-school children 
taking their first steps towards reading, those at the other end of the school 
journey and by young adults studying for their exams. Libraries also provide 
essential services for the least well off in society, providing computer access 
to people looking for jobs and accommodation, completing Universal Credit 
forms and for those filling out online school admission applications. This 
Council believes that library closures run counter to the County's health and 

8



wellbeing agenda and therefore requests that the Leader of the Council 
writes to the County Council urging it to keep all of Harlow’s libraries open.”

Councillor Andrew Johnson, seconded by Councillor Joel Charles proposed 
the following amendment:
 
“This Council joins Robert Halfon MP in being concerned by Essex County 
Council’s consultation on plans to close public libraries in Harlow. Libraries 
are vital to promoting literacy and fostering a love of reading amongst all 
people. 

They are used by pre-school children taking their first steps towards 
reading, those at the other end of the school journey and by young adults 
studying for their exams. Libraries also provide essential services for the 
least well off in society, providing computer access to people looking for jobs 
and accommodation, completing Universal Credit forms and for those filling 
out online school admission applications. 

This Council believes that library closures run counter to the County's health 
and wellbeing agenda and therefore requests that the Leader of the Council 
writes to the County Council urging it to keep all of Harlow’s libraries open 
and offers Harlow Council’s support and advice to help achieve this by:

 Investigate grouping all affected libraries together as part of a county- 
wide independent public service mutual, supported by an anchor 
revenue generator to ensure the sustainability of this type of model;

 suggesting a cross-county solution for the Districts on the 
Hertfordshire border;

 opening talks about the shared use of District Council facilities; 

 work to secure local assurances about maintaining ongoing access to 
the county-wide library management system; and

 offering financial contributions, including support to deliver alternative 
revenue propositions and the potential for the co-location of 
services.”

The Amendment was debated and a vote was taken. The amendment was 
lost. Following this Councillor Stefan Mullard (seconded by Councillor Chris 
Vince) proposed the following amendment.

“This Council is concerned by Essex County Council’s plans to close public 
libraries in Harlow. Libraries are vital to promoting literacy and fostering a 
love of reading amongst all people. They are used by pre-school children 
taking their first steps towards reading, those at the other end of the school 
journey and by young adults studying for their exams. Libraries also provide 

9



essential services for the least well off in society, providing computer access 
to people looking for jobs and accommodation, completing Universal Credit 
forms and for those filling out online school admission applications. This 
Council believes that library closures run counter to the County's health and 
wellbeing agenda and therefore requests that the Leader of the Council 
writes to the County Council urging it to keep all of Harlow’s libraries open 
and invites the Leader of the Opposition to sign the letter.” 

Both the proposer and the seconder of the previous motion accepted the 
amendment and this became the substantive motion. 

The motion was carried. 

b) Maples Respite Care Home

Councillor Shona Johnson was not in the room for the consideration of the 
motion. 

Proposed by Councillor Chris Vince (seconded by Councillor Jean Clark):

“This Council is dismayed by Essex County Council's plans to halve the 
number of beds in the Maples Respite care home in Little Parndon. Respite 
care is a vital resource for parents who have children with complex needs. 
Unlike alternatives, like child minding, centres like the Maples provide 
specialist support to children with a variety of needs and ensures they are 
provided with the stimulating environment that they need. This Council 
requests the Leader of the Council to write a letter to Essex County Council 
describing the benefits of this service and asking them to reconsider any 
proposed cuts.”

A vote on the motion was recorded. The details of the recorded vote are 
below.

The motion was carried. 

Maples Respite Care Home (Motion)
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop For
Councillor Clive Souter Abstain
Councillor Simon Carter Against
Councillor Joel Charles Against
Councillor Jean Clark For
Councillor Mike Danvers For
Councillor Bob Davis For
Councillor Jodi Dunne For
Councillor Tony Durcan For
Councillor Tony Edwards For
Councillor Michael Garnett Against
Councillor Michael Hardware Against
Councillor Eugenie Harvey For

10



Councillor Mark Ingall For
Councillor Shannon Jezzard For
Councillor Andrew Johnson Against
Councillor Sue Livings Against
Councillor Frances Mason For
Councillor Stefan Mullard For
Councillor Danny Purton For
Councillor Lanie Shears For
Councillor Edna Stevens For
Councillor Chris Vince For
Councillor Phil Waite For
Councillor Mark Wilkinson For
Carried

62. REFERENCES FROM CABINET AND COMMITTEES

a) Referral from Licensing Committee - Animal Welfare Licensing

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was:

RESOLVED that: 

A The scheme of fees and charges with respect to The Animal 
Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 (attached as Appendix A to the report) be      
adopted, with the fees and charges to be reviewed annually 
thereafter as part of the Council’s annual fees and charges setting 
round. 

B The arrangements for formal decision making (attached as 
Appendix B to the report) be approved.

C The procedure for appeal against a risk rating score of an 
operator (attached as Appendix C to the report) be approved.

b) Referral from Licensing Committee - Review of Gambling Act 
Licensing Policy

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was:

RESOLVED that:

A The replacement Gambling Act Licensing Policy (attached as 
Appendix A to the report) be approved.

11



c) Referral from Cabinet - Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
2018/19: Mid-Year Review

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was:

RESOLVED that:
 

A The Mid-Year Review of the Treasury Management Strategy, 
attached as Appendix A to the report, be noted.

d) Referral from Cabinet - Local Council Tax Support Scheme Proposals 
2019/20

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was:

RESOLVED that: 

A The that the current scheme remains unchanged for 2019/20 and 
that the introduction of fixed period awards for Local Council Tax 
Support is not implemented at the current time and kept under 
review.

63. REPORTS FROM OFFICERS

a) Appointment of Monitoring Officer

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was: 

RESOLVED that:

A Simon Hill is appointed on a permanent basis as the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer under Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 (as amended) with effect from 2 January 2019.

b) Appointment to Committees, Sub-Committees and Panels of the 
Council and their Chair and Vice-Chair

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was: 

RESOLVED that:

A Councillors are appointed as members/substitute members of 
Council Committees, .Sub Committees and Panels as detailed in 
Agenda Item 10b 

12



c) Nomination for Appointment of Council Representatives on Outside 
Bodies

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson) it was: 

RESOLVED that:

A The Council representatives nominated for appointment to the 
outside bodies are agreed as detailed in Agenda Item 10c.

64. MINUTES OF CABINET AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted. 

a) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 20 November 2018 of Licensing 
Committee

b) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 28 November 2018 of Audit and 
Standards Committee

c) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 4 December 2018 of Scrutiny Committee

d) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 6 December 2018 of Cabinet

65. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL

13



Agenda item 6 refers

1. Mr David Forman to Councillor Eugenie Harvey, Portfolio Holder for 
Community and Wellbeing

The latest House of Commons Work and Pensions Committee 19th report on 
benefit sanctions highlights the lack of detailed research on the effects 
sanctions have on claimants’ wellbeing. 

The report concludes that ‘the Welfare Reform Act 2012 and subsequent 
changes have made sanctions longer, more severe and applicable to more 
people than ever before. The failure to evaluate the 2012 reforms is 
unacceptable. It is time for the Government to urgently evaluate the 
effectiveness of reforms to welfare conditionality and sanctions introduced 
since 2012, including an assessment of sanctions’ impact on people’s 
financial and personal well-being.'

Consequently, will the Portfolio Holder for Community and Wellbeing publicly 
state what she and her Labour administration will do to:

a) Assess the impact of sanctions on the wellbeing of Harlow's benefit 
claimants and on the Council's finances;

b) Publicise the rights and methods of appeal benefit claimants have 
when facing a sanction;

c) Provide additional support to sanctioned claimants through the 
Council's Welfare Panel, and

d) Bring forward a motion to full council making demands of the 
Conservative government to gather full statistics of the sanctions being 
applied by the DWP and to initiate a full investigation of the effects of 
sanctions on people’s financial and personal well-being.

Response from Councillor Eugenie Harvey, Portfolio Holder for 
Community and Wellbeing

The Council recognises the study undertaken by the Work and Pensions 
Committee and the report it has produced specifically relating to Benefits 
Sanctions as referred to in the question.

I would also like to make reference to the work already undertaken by the 
Council’s Scrutiny Committee over the past 12 months which has focussed on 
the impacts of the roll out of Universal Credit in Harlow and the work it has 

COUNCIL – 18 DECEMBER 2018
QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

Minute Item 59

14



done with the Job Centre Plus to understand the impacts and the issues for 
local residents.

It is important to recognise that the Work and Pensions Committee report 
specifically focusses on those benefits administered by the Department for 
Works and Pensions (DWP) and that its focus is not on areas of the benefits 
system which fall to the responsibility of local authorities. The benefits 
administered by the Council (namely Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax 
Support) do not have claimant commitments nor sanctions contained within 
their supporting legislation.

Whilst the Council may be privy to some of the outcomes and impacts of 
sanctions applied to claimants through the direct contact it has with local 
residents, its ability to assess the full impact of sanctions is very limited. Data 
relating to sanctions imposed is solely held by the DWP to which the Council 
has no direct access.

The Works and Pensions Committee report describes the lack of review of 
sanctions since their introduction in 2012 as being “unacceptable” and calls 
for the Government to “urgently evaluate the effectiveness of reforms to 
conditionality and sanctions”

I fully support this recommendation and look towards the publication of the 
findings of the DWP review. I especially support the recommendations that 
the application of sanctions to specific vulnerable claimants especially those 
with limited capability for work, care leavers and single parents.

It is the Council’s understanding that all claimants subject to sanctions are 
fully advised in the sanction notifications they receive of their full appeal 
rights. Whilst the Council could publicise claimants appeal rights on its 
website, it would be difficult to ensure that any such content was up to date as 
the Council does not set the rules and has no control over any amendments 
or updates to those rights.

The Housing Welfare Panels remit is limited to specific cases, namely Council 
tenants who have breached the terms of existing County Court possession 
orders and many of the cases the panel deals with will not involve tenants 
who are subject to DWP sanctions.

The Panel does, however, inform tenants of the availability of advice from 
relevant support agencies where issues are identified. It should be noted 
however that the Panel does not have the authority to alter any payment 
terms ordered by the County Court, or the terms of any sanctions imposed by 
the DWP.

15



The Council does offer some support and its Discretionary Housing Payments 
(DHP) which are administered by the its Revenues & Benefits service. DHP 
can be awarded to support customers in receipt of Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit who have been sanctioned and are struggling to maintain 
their rental payments.

In addition where a claimant is sanctioned, their income is reduced for the 
purposes of calculating Council Tax Support, which increases the award, and 
their Council Tax payments are much lower, helping to reduce any financial 
hardship.

The Council believes that the recommendations made in the report should be 
implemented by the DWP and findings resulting from it made public to help 
influence and change the conditionality and sanctions introduced in the 2012 
Act. It believes that this work should be undertaken in the first instance and 
that if this is carried out the core issues identified within the question posed 
should be addressed.

2. Mr John Wake to Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council 

Has the Council carried out a study of the feasibility of reducing the Council 
Tax burden of householders in receipt of out-of-work benefits, within the past 
year?

Response from Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council

The Council reviews its Local Tax Support Scheme each year. As set out in 
the original reports when the scheme was introduced there were significant 
Government funding cuts of 10 percent when compared to the funding 
provided for the abolished Council Tax Benefit scheme.

As set out at the time, the Council and the other precepting bodies in Essex 
were not able to absorb this reduction and hence the local scheme design 
includes claimant contributions that are reduced by 76 per cent.

As detailed in the most recent report regarding the 2019/20 LCTS scheme 
proposals, the Council’s funding has continued to reduce at a faster rate than 
the reduction in the cost of the LCTS scheme, with the result that the Council 
now subsidises the LCTS scheme by over £400,000 per annum.

Having carried out the annual review in preparation for the 2019/20 scheme it 
is not possible to further reduce the direct burden of council tax on out of work 
households. However the Council does consider specific cases of hardship 
and helps support those residents in greatest need as a result of this and 
other Government welfare changes wherever possible.

16



3. Mr Hugh Hoad to Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council 

If a library in the Harlow area is closed by Essex County Council, will Harlow 
Council provide computer facilities in the area of the closed area of the 
library?

Response from Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council

We will consider this question when debating the motion later in the agenda. 
Currently the Council only retains 17 pence in every £1 of Council Tax it 
collects. The remaining 83 pence goes to the Police and Fire Commissioner 
for Essex and Essex County Council. For this Harlow residents have a right to 
expect an adequate police force and community services such as libraries. It 
is unlikely that the Council can keep on picking up the bill for cuts to services 
made at County level.

4. Mr Hugh Hoad to Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council 

With the planned expansion of Harlow, are there any plans for Harlow to 
become a unitary authority?

Response from Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council

There are no plans for Harlow Council to become a unitary authority.

17



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019 

TITLE: 
 

CORPORATE PLAN 2019/20 – 2021/22 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MARK INGALL, LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

BRIAN KEANE, MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446000 
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD  
(01279) 446004 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS: 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE TEAM  
(01279) 446741 

 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008573 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Full Council that: 
 
A The Corporate Plan 2019/20 – 2021/22, attached as Appendix A to the report, is 

adopted. 
 

B Authority be delegated to the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council, to make minor and inconsequential amendments to the 
Corporate Plan. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Corporate Plan provides the Council with important context for decision 

making and the allocation of its resources. Approval of the Corporate Plan is 
reserved to Full Council. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Corporate Plan is the corporate strategy for the Council. The Corporate 

Plan and the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (reported elsewhere on 
the agenda) need to be consistent to ensure that the allocation of budgets is 
linked to delivering the Council’s priorities. 

 

18

Agenda Item 9a



2. The Council’s corporate priorities are: 
 

a) more and better housing 
 

b) regeneration and a thriving economy 
 

c) wellbeing and social inclusion 
 

d) a clean and green environment 
 

e) successful children and young people. 
 

3. This update to the Corporate Plan is part of the annual corporate and budget 
planning process. The update helps to ensure that the Council continues to 
focus on the right priorities for Harlow to take forward for the next three years 
within the budget available. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
4. The Corporate Plan 2019/20 – 2020/21 sets out the Council’s goals for the next 

three years and how these will be delivered within the financial resources 
available. The Plan provides an update on the work completed toward the 
achievement of the goals during the 2018/19 financial year. 

 
5. The Plan: 

 
a) sets out the Council’s values, priorities and principles 

 
b) links to the Council’s MTFS 

 
c) for each of the five corporate priorities it sets out: 

 
i) the goals the Council aims to achieve 

 
ii) details of how the Council will achieve these goals. 

 
6. Subsequent service plans and team plans will be drawn up during February and 

March 2019 which will feed into Personal Performance Plans (PPP’s) for staff 
from April 2019. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
 

19



Finance (Includes ICT) 
The resources earmarked for delivering the 2019/20 – 2020/21 Corporate Plan are 
detailed within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy elsewhere in the Cabinet 
agenda. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – The Corporate Plan 2019/20 – 2021/22 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
MTFS – Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
PPP’s – Personal Performance Plans 
 

 

20



 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

Foreword 

Harlow Council: 
Working Together for Harlow 
 

Corporate Plan 2019/20 – 2021/22  
 

Harlow Council 
Civic Centre, The Water Gardens 
Harlow Essex CM20 1WG 

www.harlow.gov.uk 

 

Appendix A 

21



 
  

Leader of the Council 

We are pleased to present this update to Harlow Council’s Corporate 

Plan: Working Together for Harlow 2019 - 2022. This plan outlines the 

Council’s vision, priorities and goals to drive improvement over the next 

three years and what we have already achieved in meeting them. 

The resources available to the Council are under increasing pressure 

and further cuts to the external funding provided by Government are set 

to continue. The creation of a Local Authority Trading Company enables 

the Council to be flexible to meet future challenges, whilst continuing to 

make efficiencies in the delivery of the services for housing repairs and maintenance; street 

cleaning and ground maintenance. 

 

Having our own Company provides real benefits for Harlow, which makes it all the more 

important that the Council continues to be open and transparent. Decisions are driven by a 

set of values and priorities that has fairness and equality at the heart of everything the 

Council does, which will enable everyone to participate and take advantage of the many 

great things Harlow has to offer. 

 

Mark Ingall 

Leader of the Council 

 

 

Managing Director 

Since taking up the position of Managing Director in 2018, I have been 

able to take stock of Harlow and the Council. I have always believed 

that the two most important aspects are the People and the Place. 

In respect of people, I’ve endeavoured to get out and meet as many 

Groups as I can. There are many people in Harlow doing great work for 

the Community which was demonstrated through the Civic Awards 

presented at Annual Council in May 2018. Nevertheless, the Council 

has not always engaged as well as it can with the residents and 

businesses in Harlow; I shall endeavour to make clear connections between the Council and 

the people of Harlow to break down the perceived ‘us and them’ culture. 

The other important aspect is Place. The Council has made great strides with Public Health 

England (PHE) and the Enterprise Zone (EZ), however, there is much more still to be done. 

The Council is in the midst of finalising Harlow and Gilston Garden Town, which will begin 

with 16,000 new homes in and around Harlow together with new sustainable public transport; 

we are also working with partners to produce economic growth in West Essex and 

Hertfordshire with the focus again on Harlow.  

In particular, we need to focus on the Town Centre. The majority of Town Centres are under 

pressure at the moment due to a number of factors; yet, that is not a reason for doing 

nothing. We will continue to hold discussions with Central Government, Homes England, the 

County Council, landowners and others to bring Harlow a Town Centre it can be proud of.  

22



 
  

Finally, I am aware that Harlow has an unfair reputation and people don’t see the wonderful 

sculptures around the Town, the green areas including the superb Town Park, Parndon Mill 

and Parndon Wood. I am keen to change this perception and bring back some reality; a 

Place Board has been established with many ambassadors enlisted including residents and 

businesses to promote the name of Harlow far and wide. 

Brian Keane 

Managing Director of the Council 

 

 

23



 

 
  

Council Values 
 
The Council strives to be an organisation where people make things happen and promote 

excellence, good customer service and continuous improvement. We want to ensure that all 

staff are consistently aware of how their role contributes to the achievement of corporate 

priorities and principles, are clear about what is expected and share the Council’s values. 

The Council is committed to promoting equality, challenging discrimination and developing 

community cohesion. 
 

The Council’s values are: 
 

 
 

Integrity Clear, meaningful and honest two way communication with staff, 

customers and partners. 
 

 

Value People Treating everyone fairly, equally and with mutual respect. Investing 

in staff, recognising individual and team contributions to achieve 

success. 
 

 

Inspirational Support and encourage accountability, creativity and innovation 

amongst our staff, key stakeholders and partners. 

 

Council Priorities  
 
 Five priorities and three principles have been identified for the next three years.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Principles 
 

Being the Community Leader 

Sound Resource Management 

Equalities and Fairness 

 

These are described in more depth on the subsequent pages of the Corporate Plan.

24



 

 
  

 

Harlow in Numbers 

 

25



 

 
  

Corporate Achievements for 2018/19 
 

Housing 
 

 Completion of a five year £100m investment in Council housing renewal. This includes over 48,200 

improvements in around 8,500 homes. 

 

 Continued to make the best use of stock, tackling local priorities and prioritising energy efficiency schemes that 

can make a difference in tackling fuel poverty.  

 

 Established a new Housing and Regeneration Company under HTS Group Ltd to deliver a new programme of 

Council house building. The programme commenced in 2018/19, with the first properties expected early 

2019/20.   

 

 Strong performance in key landlord areas such as rent and service charge collections, the turn around of empty 

properties and repairs. 

 Completed of phase one of the major estate regeneration programme at The Briars, Copshall Close and Ayletts 

Field. 

 Achieved accreditation for the Careline Scheme which offers security to the most vulnerable residents in the 

town. 

 More resources put into the Tenancy Support Services in recognition that this is growing area. 

 Celebrated another year of partnership working with Essex County Council and Manorcourt Homecare in 

providing extra care housing at Sumners Farm Close for the elderly and most vulnerable. 

 Increased fire safety and associated regulations following the tragic fire at Grenfell Tower.  

 

 The Council has seen a fifty per cent reduction in the number of people sleeping rough in the Town since the 

annual autumn count in 2017. The ongoing work with our partners Streets2Homes and the additional funding 

received from the Government has enhanced the initiatives available to this Group, reducing the numbers of 

people currently sleeping rough. 

 

 Rough sleepers were supported with accommodation during the severe weather at a local hotel or church. The 

emergency shelter at St Paul’s Church was triggered for rough sleepers. 

 

 Commenced the implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017, together with additional resources and 

funding to meet local priorities and tackle housing need. 

 

Regeneration & Thriving Economy (Economic Growth) 

 The first ground was broken to mark the start of construction on the Science Park. The 27 acre site will house 

around 25 buildings. It will be a hub for life sciences, information technology and advanced engineering 

businesses. 

 

 Public Health England continues with their planned move to Harlow and are working with the Council to ensure 

residents of the Town benefit from their relocation. 

 

 The £200m Kao Park opened the first of its four data centre buildings on what is the largest data centre 

development in the South East of England. 

 

 The new story of Harlow (Discover Harlow) was launched.  As part of this initiative, the first Harlow Ambassador 
meeting was held with more than 80 people from across all sectors attending. These Ambassadors will help the 
Council to tell the world about the new Harlow story.  

26



 

 
  

 

 A new planning status (Article 4 Direction) was secured which prevents the conversions of industrial and 

commercial properties into residential accommodation within the Harlow Enterprise Zone area – Templefields 

North East.  

 

 The Council, along with Public Health England and Essex County Council, signed a section 106 agreement. 

This agreement is good news as it creates training and job opportunities for local people which is a key priority 

for the Council. The agreement follows the outline planning consent given in December 2017. 

Regeneration & Thriving Economy (Regeneration) 
 

 A new junction 7a on the M11 is now committed. This will improve connectivity and support both residential and 

economic growth. Construction work due to commence in 2020 and complete in 2022. 

 

 June 2018 saw the second annual Harlow Town Centre Awards take place. Building on the success of the first 

awards in 2017, new categories were added to include Best Place in Town and Entrepreneur of the Year. The 

awards evening was attended by over 100 Town Centre businesses and employees, with over 2,000 votes cast. 

 

 Work on the Town Centre Area Action Plan has commenced. During the Summer (2018) a seven week ‘Issues 

and Options’ consultation took place, inviting views and opinions from members of the public and other 

stakeholders. An exhibition travelled around the District, highlighting the issues and the proposed options to 

regenerate the Town Centre. The consultation will inform and influence the development of the draft Area Action 

Plan which is scheduled to be published in Spring 2019. 

 

 The Council undertook a major refurbishment of the Market Square. The aim was to create an open and diverse 

space that can play host to a range of different activities.  The refurbishment included, installing new 

contemporary street furniture, permanent table tennis tables, chess table and chairs. These all injected much 

needed colour in to the area.  

 

 The first phase of the multi-million-pound Atelier housing development was completed. To mark this milestone a 

new Community Centre was opened. 

 

 An ambitious vision for Harlow and Gilston Garden Town was adopted by Council, along with our partners at 

Epping Forest and East Hertfordshire Districts. The town will bring new homes and neighbourhoods. 

 

 The Council agreed to set-up its own Housing and Regeneration Company (HTS Group) to deliver local housing 

and regeneration projects. 

 

 Planning approval was given to build 19 new Council homes to meet the different needs of local people on the 

Council’s Housing Needs Register.  

 

 Local shoppers enjoyed the first ever Makers Market which gave local bakers, makers and creators a platform 

to sell their products. 

 

Successful Children and Young People 
 

 The outstanding educational progress and contribution of 75 young people was recognised at the fifth annual 

Harlow Educational Progress Awards. 

 

 The Council and Essex County Council have been working in partnership to address the issue of school 

readiness. Since the inception of the project the percentage of early year’s children who have reached a Good 

Level of Development (GLD) has risen from 38.1% in 2013 to 71.2% in 2018. 

  

 Sessions and workshops held with Schools about democracy and how the Council works. 

 

 The Council employed a total of five apprentices in a range of service areas and is looking to employ more in the 

27



 

 
  

future. 

 

 Over 1,100 year 6 pupils from Harlow primary schools attended the annual crucial crew event to learn about 

personal and community safety, healthy relationships and health and wellbeing issues.  

 

Wellbeing & Social Inclusion 
 

 Harlow’s first Health and Wellbeing Partnership strategy Healthy Harlow was launched. This 10 year plan sets 

out a vision and priorities for the provision of healthy lifestyle promotion in the Town, addresses health 

inequalities in Harlow and outlines what needs to be done to ensure that residents lead healthy and active lives. 

The arrival of Public Health England makes this initiative all the more timely. 

 

 The annual Carnival took place with over 1,000 people taking part in the parade from 40 different community 

organisations. 

 

 A new £10,000 community fund was launched to support local projects, activities and events to raise civic pride 

in the Town. 

 

 Funding from the Arts Council was secured to put the building blocks in place to develop the Town’s cultural 

vision. 

 

 The Leah Manning Centre continues to provide a wide range of activities to support older people and reduce 

social isolation.  

 

 Developed and implemented a ‘Men’s Shed’ project in conjunction with Essex County Council 

 

 Older and vulnerable residents received assisted help to ensure their domestic waste was collected. 

 

 A new sports pavilion and community hall opened at Nicholls Field.  

 

 A significant mental health awareness event called “Tell it how it is” took place at The Playhouse. 

 

 The support of approximately 150 volunteers who helped the Council provide a range of services was 

recognised during the National Volunteer’s week.  

 

 Harlow Parkrun celebrated its 200th run with Harlow Junior Parkrun holding its 100th run. 

 

 Harlow Art Trust secured a grant from the Heritage Lottery Fund to protect and promote the Town’s sculpture 

collection. 

 

 The Playhouse launched a new programme called ‘Young Practitioners’ designed to encourage young people to 

get involved in the arts. The Programme is part of The Playhouse’s ongoing commitment to improving the 

culture, community outreach and involvement in Harlow. 

 

 As part of events to mark the 100
th
 anniversary of the end of World War 1, two tommy soldier silhouettes were 

unveiled in The Water Gardens in memory of the 128 soldiers from Harlow who were either killed or succumbed 

to illness after serving. 

 

 Over 20,000 attended the annual firework display in the Town Park. The event remains one of the biggest free 

admission events in the East of England.  

 

 Harlow’s Sports Awards continues to grow. Harlow resident and Commonwealth Games gold medallist Jo 

Harten won the Sports Personality of the year. 

 
 

28



 

 
  

A Clean and Green Environment 
 

 Clearing fly-tipping consistently outperformed the stretched target of removal within 3.5 hours. 

 

 Harlow is amongst the best performing areas in the Country with regard to the lowest amount of residual (black 

bag) waste collected per household. 

 

 The Town Park and Parndon Wood Nature Reserve have both retained Green Flag status, placing them 

amongst the best publicly accessible parks and green spaces in the Country. 

 

 Over 95% of businesses in Harlow met the Food Standards Agency “Broadly Compliant” standard for food 

safety. This placed the Town in the top 20% of Local Authority areas. The Council continues to successfully 

carry out prosecutions where necessary to protect the public. 

 

 Inspection of Houses with Multiple Occupation under the Council’s Additional Licensing scheme were carried 

out. 100% of the re-licensing was work completed ensuring safer and healthier homes for residents. 

 

 The Council’s imaginative approach to flood prevention with Essex County Council won a British Construction 

Industry Award. The approach also enhanced biodiversity at Parndon Wood Nature Reserve. 

 

 Staff and volunteers helped Parndon Wood Nature Reserve achieve a National Bees’ Needs Award in 2018. 

 

 HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd received a Silver Green Apple Award for Environmental Best Practice in 

2018. 

 

29



 

 
  

Our Vision: Working Together for Harlow 
 

More and Better Housing 
 

“It has been another year of challenges, however, the Housing Service continues to report strong 
performance overall. 
 
The major milestone this year was the establishment of the new Housing and Regeneration 
Company under HTS Group Ltd, to deliver a new programme of Council house building. This 
commenced in 2018/19 with the first properties expected early next year.  
 

Housing remains a top priority for me and the Administration. The Council continues to perform to meet the 
challenges and opportunities facing housing in Harlow with reduced budgets. The Council will have fewer resources 
to meet its priorities but will continue to plan ahead. 
 
Having less resources to meet priorities, it is important that I address what is important locally making more housing 
available in Harlow with a wider choice of housing types which are genuinely affordable. Tackling the growing need 
for Supported Housing, helping to improve choices for those in housing need and improving residents’ health and 
wellbeing by improving housing conditions, improving housing standards with energy efficient, modern home 
facilities and tackling local priorities and statutory requirements.” 

 

Councillor Mark Wilkinson – Portfolio Holder for Housing & Deputy Leader 

 
Our goals for the next three years: 
 

 Invest in the Housing stock.    

 More housing available in Harlow, with a wider choice of housing types of all tenures which include affordable, 
social rented and Council housing. 

 Work towards improving choices for those in housing need. 

 Increase the range and type of Supported Housing.  

 Tackle homelessness by implementing the Homelessness Strategy. 

 Encourage and facilitate effective tenant and leaseholder engagement. 
 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Providing and maintaining high quality housing stock, with all Council homes in the Town meeting Modern 
Homes standards. Publish an annual Housing Investment Programme (HIP) and invest in improvements to 
housing conditions. 
 

 Commencing a £1.9m modernisation programme to replace District Heating schemes, over a planned period to 
address the energy efficiency of the Council’s housing stock. 

 

 Continue to maintain the Fire Safety programme within the Council’s Tower blocks and undertake any works 
(from 2019/20) that may be required as result of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry.  

 

 Finalising the estate regeneration programme of The Briars, Copshall Close and Aylets Field (BCA). 
 

 Dealing with the outcomes of the Council’s preferred options for housing growth in the Local Plan. 
 

 Commencing a long term programme of house building of all types that are genuinely affordable.  
 

 Updating the Homelessness Strategy Action Plan and Harlow Homelessness Partnership. 
 

 Implementing the Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Strategy. 
  

  

 

 

 

 

30



 

 
  

Regeneration and a Thriving Economy (Economic Growth) 

 
“Harlow New Town was built around principles of sustainable communities, with its green spaces a 
fundamental part of the design. We remain committed to these principles and the regeneration of the 
Town with high quality jobs for local people, and reinvigorating Harlow as a great place to live and 
work. This renewal has been accelerated with work on the Town Park, the renewal of our housing 
estates, building Council homes, and the successful delivery of the Enterprise Zone, which is making 
significant progress and which will bring many new businesses to Harlow.  
 

We will continue to focus on driving forward this regeneration, renewing neighbourhoods, attracting inward 
investment, providing high quality jobs and lobbying to ensure we have the right infrastructure in place to enable 
sustainable growth. Our Economic Development Strategy builds on our success of the past five years setting out our 
strategy to continue and build on the successes in terms of business, jobs, place and people. Harlow has a bright 
future and the Council will play a full and active role in bringing this about, by ensuring that the town is a place where 
businesses choose to invest. 
 
We want Harlow to be an excellent place to do business. This will be achieved with the right infrastructure, a highly 
skilled workforce that meets the needs and expectations of existing and potential employers in the Town and 
employment opportunities for Harlow people that pay a decent wage.” 

 
Councillor Emma Toal – Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth 

 
Our goals for the next three years: 
 

 Address the challenges and opportunities as set out in the Economic Development Strategy. 

 Lead on the delivery of the Enterprise Zone (EZ). 

 Work with Public Health England and occupiers of the EZ to deliver real benefits for local residents and 
businesses from those developments.  

 Work with the Government and other partners to ensure we address growth in an inclusive, creative and 
cohesive way. 

 Work with partners to ensure the successful delivery of the Harlow and Gilston Garden Town.  

 Promote Harlow as an attractive location for businesses.  

 Increase investment in the infrastructure required for Harlow’s economic and housing growth. 

 Work in partnership to increase adult skills levels. 

 Work to ensure the numbers of successful businesses increase. 
 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 
 Progressing our dialogue with Government and Essex County Council to ensure that Harlow’s needs and 

opportunities, as identified in our economic development and regeneration strategies, continue to be raised and 
addressed in the light of the Industrial Strategy, and that investment is leveraged. 

 
 Continuing to lead the Harlow Enterprise Zone Board and, with our development partners, to progress the 

building of the Science Park and attract target sector businesses. 
 

 Working in partnership with Public Health England to deliver real benefits for local people and businesses, 
including addressing employment, skills development and supply chain opportunities. 

 
 Continuing to develop ‘Discover Harlow’ a new place based marketing campaign for Harlow. 

 
 Establishing a Harlow Skills Forum to work together to promote skills development with residents and 

businesses. 
 
 Continuing to support business sectors e.g. M11 Health Enterprise Forum, the Manufacturing and Engineering 

Forum and the Harlow & District Chamber of Commerce. 
 

 Working as active partners in the London Stansted Cambridge Consortium. 
 

 

 

31



 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regeneration and a Thriving Economy (Regeneration) 

 
 “Harlow is a place of fantastic opportunity with new investment, new jobs, new housing and new 
facilities. It needs to grasp these opportunities and think confidently about the future. Harlow stands at 
the threshold of a sizable opportunity and the Council and its partners have been working hard for 
some years to bring forward key projects. These projects will be the building blocks that support 
regeneration to realise these opportunities and help us to shape a successful future for Harlow, its 
businesses and residents, present and future. 
 

Regeneration of the Town must remain one of our highest priorities. We must continue to press for the investment we 
need to make a real difference to our community. The Council will actively pursue funding opportunities for 
regeneration and will do all that we can to encourage investment in the Town, the regeneration of the Town Centre 
and our local neighbourhoods.   
 
As a former New Town, we know that there can be negative perceptions of Harlow. That’s why it is so important that 
we must work in partnership to tell the fantastic story of the place we know Harlow to be.” 

 
 Councillor John Strachan – Portfolio Holder for Regeneration  

 
Our goals for the next three years: 
 

 Drive forward the regeneration of the Town Centre. A healthy Town Centre is fundamental to Harlow’s role as a 
growing sub regional centre and the success of the Harlow and Gilston Garden Town. 
 

 Deliver the Atelier (formerly Briars, Copshall Close & Aylets Field) housing regeneration scheme. 
 

 Deliver more housing of all tenures to maximise the opportunity for new Council homes, social rented homes 
and other forms of truly affordable housing. 

 

 Deliver a number of neighbourhood regeneration schemes. 
 

 Work with partners to ensure the successful delivery of the Harlow and Gilston Garden Town 
 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Working with partners to drive forward the regeneration of the Town Centre. 
 
 Producing an Area Action Plan for the Town Centre, delivering public realm improvements and continue to 

explore and develop opportunities in partnership with Town Centre stakeholders and potential investors. 
 

 Ensuring the delivery of Phases 2 & 3 of the Atelier housing regeneration scheme (formerly known as Briars, 
Copshall Close and Aylets Field). 
 

 Continuing to develop and deliver the programme for the neighbourhood regeneration schemes, including 
Prentice Place, Perry Road (former Lister House site) and a programme of housing site developments. 

 
 Working in partnership with Public Health England to deliver real benefits for local people and businesses, 

including addressing employment, skills development and supply chain opportunities. 
 

 Developing and updating the Regeneration Strategy for Harlow. 
 

 Developing and updating the Housing Strategy for Harlow. 
 

32



 

 
  

 

Wellbeing and Social Inclusion 

 
 

“Harlow is an enterprising Town with a proud history of promoting fairness and equality. However, 
health inequalities and deprivation exist within some sections of our community. Promoting the health 
and wellbeing of individuals and communities is fundamental to the work of local Government. We will 
continue to work with a wide range of partners to tackle health inequality and offer opportunities for 

our residents to enjoy the many benefits of healthy living.  
 

The restoration of the Town Park with its gardens, paddling pools, Pets Corner, outdoor gym and many other 
facilities, provide a glorious location for the residents of Harlow to spend their recreation time, whilst improving their 
health and wellbeing. We will do all we can to ensure that Pets Corner and the Town Park is accessible to all 
members of the community. 
 
Harlow also has a world class collection of public art throughout the Town and an active cultural community with many 
groups performing dance, music theatre and more. There is evidence that active involvement in such creative 
activities provides a wide range of benefits, including the promotion of wellbeing, quality of life, health and social 
capital. It is therefore important that we continue to build on and promote our cultural heritage. 
 
The Council continues to work hard to tackle anti-social behaviour acknowledging that the challenges are many.  Our 
Community Safety Team will continue to work with our partners to do all we can to have a significant effect on how 
safe people feel and therefore reduce the fear of crime.” 
 
Councillor Eugenie Harvey – Portfolio Holder for Community & Wellbeing 

 
Our goals for the next three years: 
 

 Achieve the key ambitions of the Harlow Health and Wellbeing Strategy Healthy Harlow and associated action 
plans. 

 Embed public health and wellbeing to deliver a more coordinated approach to addressing the wider determinants 
of health in Harlow. 

 Play a leading role in tackling the underlying root causes of poor health and the issues that affect wellbeing.   

 Work more collaboratively with the wider partners to deliver Health and Wellbeing, such as Essex County 
Council, the West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group and West Essex Public Health Partnership in order to 
inform wider policies and developments, as well as attract opportunities and funding for the Council. 

 Continue to work with partners to tackle crime, anti-social behaviour and domestic abuse. 

 Improve the customer experience across the Council. 

 Enhance the Town’s cultural offering through a collaborative approach with local and regional stakeholders. 

 
We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Delivering the actions contained within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-2028 and ‘live well’ campaign. 

 Monitoring health and wellbeing outcomes and initiatives with reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 Promoting and implementing workplace health and wellbeing. 

 Setting up an internal Public Health Officers Group to bring together (and deliver) all the elements of public 
health in a coordinated approach. 

 Reducing crime and anti-social behaviour by undertaking targeted work on priority local community safety 
issues, including emerging trends by working with partners from the Safer Harlow Partnership. 

 Keeping under review the Council’s Emergency Planning strategy and the implementation of the procedures; 
together with training for both internal Council employees and community volunteers. 

 Developing and facilitating Harlow’s Cultural Leaders Group. 

 Continuing to implement the Action Plan from the Customer Service Review. 

 Continuing to support the work of Harlow’s Domestic Abuse Forum to develop and implement a revised 
Community Engagement Strategy. 

 Supporting residents to set up and run Residents’ Associations.  
 

 

 

 

33



 

 
  

A Clean and Green Environment 

 
“The principles of the original Master Plan for the New Town prepared by Sir Frederick Gibberd in 
1947 have given Harlow its unique character. The Town was built around a series of 
neighbourhoods, separated by large areas of natural and semi-natural open spaces, now known 
as Green Wedges. These areas form key physical features of Harlow and have helped to shape 
Harlow’s subsequent growth. 
 

 
Just under half of all the land in Harlow is open space – a mix of designated Green Wedge, Green Belt and 

other open space. The Local Plan, now submitted for examination, provides for such assets to be protected 

against the threat of unwarranted intrusion and inappropriate development for the benefit of both current and 

future generations, whilst supporting other key Council priorities. We will continue to support it through the 

process to adoption. 

 

I know from talking to residents; and from previous budget consultations that keeping our streets and public places 

clean and tidy and looking after our parks and open spaces remain high priorities for Harlow residents. 

Improvements in street cleaning and maintenance of our green spaces have been sustained. 

 

Looking after the Town’s green spaces comes at a cost but efficiency savings have been reinvested into extra 

grass cutting and green space management which has made a positive impact. I look forward to continuing to 

work proactively with HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd to improve the care of our green spaces and street 

scene. I also look forward to the adoption of the new Local Plan for Harlow and the Town Centre Area Action 

Plan. These important documents set out the land use policies and objectives of the Council in pursuit of the 

regeneration of Harlow.”  
 

Councillor Danny Purton – Portfolio Holder for Environment 
 

Our goals for the next three years: 
 

 Sustain the cleanliness of the Town and the maintenance of open spaces. 

 Progress the neighbourhood improvement programme. 

 Minimise domestic waste and maximise reuse and recycling. 

 Invest in un-adopted roads and pavements. 

 Continue to address parking issues Town wide 

 Support Harlow’s Local Plan through the examination process to adoption 

 Complete the Town Centre Area Action Plan (TCAAP) 

 Advance the regeneration of Harlow via the Local Plan and the Garden Town initiative. 

 Seek improvements in Public Transport to encourage sustainable journeys. 

 Improve Flood Defence capability. 

 Continue to maintain Building Control standards. 
 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Continuing to promote and enhance residents’ participation in the wider waste minimisation and recycling 
issues by working with Essex Waste Management Partnership to deliver a communications campaign 
emphasising the importance of proper use of the full range of waste and recycling services available. 

 Working with Essex County Council to improve its highways inspection regime to ensure problems are 
identified sooner to minimise trips and slips. 

 Supporting the Local Plan through the examination process and ensure the planning applications are 
processed accordingly. 

 Working with Local and Regional Partners and National Government through the Garden Town Board. 

 Working with Local Transport Operators to improve reliability and standards. 

 Working with the Essex Flood Defence Board to identify and address land drainage issues in a sustainable 
way including the enhancements to valuable water features. 

 Working with Veolia to ensure a smooth roll-out of a new contract with enhancement to the domestic waste 
collection service. 

 Working with Essex County Council and Harlow residents to improve the Town street scene. 

 Continuing to work with North Essex Parking Partnership on parking issues raised by residents. 

 Submitting relevant developments for recognition under the Local Authority Building Control Awards scheme. 

34



 

 
  

 

Successful Children and Young People 
 

“The Council works to support the young people of Harlow in a wide range of ways. 

 

We have implemented a school readiness programme to help ensure that children get the best 

start in life. The Educational Progress Awards continue to be held. The awards aim to recognise 

and reward young people who have made significant progress in their education and recognise 

the contribution they have made to their schools and the community.  

 
The Youth Council, with whom I have had the opportunity to work with this year, offers young people the chance to 

develop a huge number of skills, interact with the Towns’ decision makers and have their opinions heard. 

 

We want Harlow to be a great place to grow up, with children getting the best start in life, being protected from 

harm, being healthy, happy and ready to learn as they start school, enjoying school and achieving their academic 

and social potential. Children and young people should have access to a range of activities to enable them to 

make a positive contribution to their communities and to realise their potential and talent.” 

 
Councillor Eugenie Harvey – Portfolio Holder for Community & Wellbeing 

 
Our goals for the next three years: 

 

 Help to improve outcomes for Harlow’s children and young people. 
 

 Support young people to be more involved in decision making. 
 

 Work with partners to support families with complex needs. 
. 

 Support Apprenticeships for young people. 
 

 Safeguard children and young people. 
 

 Develop opportunities for learning beyond school age, providing a mix of further and higher education suited 
to the needs of residents and employers. 
 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Continuing to develop the Youth Council. 
 

 Continuing to work with partners to improve the educational attainment of Harlow’s young people. 
 

 Ensuring Harlow's Educational Attainment Awards continues. 
 

 Continuing to support officers to attend a range of multi-agency partnership meetings that promote the 
health, safety and wellbeing of all Harlow children. 

 

 Increasing the number of apprentices the Council and HTS (Property & Environment) Ltd employs over the 
next three years. 

 

 Continuing to support the delivery of the short break and respite services for children and young people with 
disabilities and their families. 

 

35



 

 
  

Our Principles 

 
Being the Community Leader 

 
Our goals for the next three years: 

 

 Promote the needs of Harlow. 
 

 Maintain the Council’s role as the recognised community leader. 
 

 Improve opportunities for Harlow residents to participate in local 
democracy and decision making. 

 

 Improve communication with the public through the Community 
Engagement Strategy. 

 

 Increase transparency through Joint Finance Performance Reports 
(JFPR), the Procurement Strategy, Freedom of Information 
(FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations (EIR). 
 

 Ensure the Council’s procurement framework supports ethical 
businesses. 

 
 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Continue to lobby Essex County Council and Central Government for key 
infrastructure improvements for Harlow. 
 

 Continue to lobby Central Government to relocate Princess Alexandra Hospital in 
order to meet the needs of a growing population and increasing demand. 

 

 Continue to promote the local pride in Harlow onto the regional and national stage as 
a great place to live, shop, work, visit and do business. 

 

 Promote Harlow’s community cultural and sporting events, attractions and facilities 
for residents and visitors to experience, including a range of places for visitors to 
stay. 

 

 Continue to review, update and publish the Council’s transparency data on its 
website. Ensure the Council’s compliance with the Freedom of Information (FOI), 
General Data Protection Regulations and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 
 

 Continue to lobby Central Government with regards to the Council keeping control of 
its Local Plan. 

 

Sound Resource Management 

 
Our goals for the next three years: 

 

 Ensure the Council is economic, efficient and effective. 
 

 Get the best from the resources available. 
 
 
 
 
 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Continue to roll out innovative technologies to improve efficiency. 
 

 Continue to seek new and innovative ways to secure alternative sources of funding 
to meet projected budget shortfalls and protect services wherever possible. 

 

36



 

 
  

Equalities and Fairness 
 

Our goals for the next three years: 
 

 Ensure the Council’s decision making is open, transparent and fair and 
takes into account the diversity of the Town, ensuring equalities are 
incorporated. 

 

 Develop and promote the diversity of Harlow. 

 

 Support the citizen of Harlow to actively contribute and benefit from all 
that Harlow has to offer by fostering good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and those that do not. 

 

 Work with residents and businesses to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act. 

 

 Increase public confidence in how we tackle domestic abuse. 

 

 Enhance the quality of life and care for people with a learning disability, 
autism and/or mental health issues. 

 

 Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable, 
protecting them from avoidable harm and acting in their best interests 
where they lack capacity. 

 

We will achieve our goals by: 
 

 Develop a Corporate Equalities Action Plan in consultation with representatives from 
the people with protected characteristics. 

 

 Publish information relating to people who share a protected characteristic who are 
employees and people affected by the Council’s policies and procedures. 

 

 Work in partnership with the Health and Wellbeing Board to identify gaps and target 
interventions to combat loneliness and isolation of older people. 

 

 Continue to develop and support the Men’s Shed project. 
 

 Produce a diversity calendar to promote events such as the Holocaust Memorial Day 
in 2019/20. 

 

 Ensure appropriate equality training is rolled out to, and taken up by, all Officers and 
Councillors. 

 

 Continue to ensure the Council’s Procurement Strategy reflects its values of 
‘Fairness and Equality’ and complies with the general equality duty in its timing and 
undertaking of procurement, including where the public function is carried out by a 
third party. 

 

 Implement a programme to address harassment and victimisation. 
 

 Continue to encourage staff to participate in the Council’s volunteering scheme. 
 

 In conjunction with Essex County Council further develop the ‘time credit’ scheme to 
promote volunteering amongst Harlow’s residents. 

 

 

37



 

 
 

Performance  
 
To ensure the Council remains on target, it is essential to monitor the progress of our 

priorities and goals. This is done by monitoring performance indicators relating to areas such 

as waste management, services for planning, benefits and housing. We regularly compare 

our performance against other councils, celebrate areas of good performance and provide 

challenge to areas where we are not performing so well. 

 
The Council publishes a statement of its performance each quarter. These reports include 

information on the milestones, performance indicators and the Council’s finances. 

Performance reports are presented to Cabinet and when agreed are published here. 

http://www.harlow.gov.uk/performance-reports 

 

 

38

http://www.harlow.gov.uk/performance-reports


REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019 

TITLE: 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2019/20 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446228 
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD  
(01279) 446004 
 

 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008574 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Full Council that: 
 
A The Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2019/20 to 2021/22 (attached as 

appendix B to the report) is adopted. 
 

B The planned Council Tax increase of two per cent for 2019/20 as set out in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan be approved. 

 
C The proposals in relation to reserves as set out in this report at paragraphs 23 to 

29 and contained within Section 8 of the Medium Term Financial Strategy be 
approved. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A To enable Cabinet to consider the current factors influencing the three year 

Medium Term Financial Plan and agree the financial strategy for the period 
2019/20 to 2021/22 in support of the overall financial plans of the Council over 
that period and the delivery of its priorities. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) provides the parameters for the 

Council’s revenue spending and capital investment plans for the next three 
years. The revision of the MTFS has incorporated the agreed funding under the 

39

Agenda Item 9b



Government’s four year deal with 2019/20 being the final year of the deal. 
Thereafter the Local Government Finance Settlement will be subject to revision 
and a transition to the new 75 per cent Business Rates Retention scheme. 

 
2. As with the previous revision of the MTFS, there are a number of key issues 

which could impact upon it over the three year planning period including: 
 

a) The future move towards 75 per cent retention of Business Rates, 
subject to conditions being applied and the possible transfer of 
additional responsibilities from 2020/21  
 

b) The Government’s continued austerity plans and the ongoing 
restrictions that this approach places upon the overall public sector 
finance settlements through to 2019/20 
 

c) The immediate and medium term impacts of the Brexit process should 
Britain achieve its planned exit from the European Union in March 2019 

 
d) Any further Government interventions in rent setting policy 

 
e) Welfare reform and the roll out of Universal Credit full service by 

managed migration by 2023. it is still difficult to predict the financial 
costs, the community and social impacts and the future losses on the 
HRA rent account as a result of this migration 
 

f) Uncertainty regarding the Right to Buy (RTB) extension to housing 
associations which are financed by Councils’ RTB receipts. 

 
3. There remains significant uncertainty with regard to the funding arrangements 

for the local government sector beyond 2019/20 both in terms of the new 
methodology and the actual level of resources to be distributed through that 
mechanism all of which makes any meaningful financial planning very difficult to 
predict and forecast. With an anticipated move towards funding being wholly 
based around the new Business Rates Retention scheme, the economic 
conditions locally and regionally will play an increasingly important role in terms 
of the predicted business rates forecasts and the baseline funding level set by 
the Government. 

 
4. The MTFS is informed by, and supports the Council’s Corporate Plan, which 

appears elsewhere on the Cabinet agenda. The key corporate priorities  as set 
out in the Corporate Plan, are as follows: 

 
a) More and Better Housing 

 
b) Regeneration and Thriving Economy 

 
c) Wellbeing and Social Inclusion 

 
d) A Clean and Green Environment 

 

40



e) Successful Children and Young People. 
 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
Proposed amendments to the previously approved MTFS (February 2017) 
 
5. The key messages contained in Section 1 of the proposed MTFS continue to 

form the cornerstone of the Council’s financial planning. Proposed changes in 
key assumptions underpinning the financial forecasts are set out in Appendix A 
to this report, and mainly relate to changes at a national level or the content of 
the draft Local Government Finance Settlement announced on 13 December 
2018. 
 

6. Proposed key amendments to the Strategy are set out below: 
 

a) As a result of the significant uncertainties surrounding the funding 
changes proposed for local government, the planning period covered 
by the MTFS remains restricted to three years. 
 

b) Changes are made to the reserves as set out in paragraphs 23– 29 
below. 

 
7. The resulting General Fund Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) (attached as 

Appendix E to the report) shows that, subject to the assumptions that have been 
made, the Council is able to deliver a balanced General Fund budget for 
2019/20 and will have forecast budget gaps in 2020/21 and 2021/22 of £75,000 
and £254,000 respectively with no dependency on general reserves. It should be 
noted that the projected budget is subject to the Government’s future funding 
allocations to the Council, the on-going economic environment in which the 
Council will operate and any investment requirements needed for existing and 
on-going service delivery. 
 

8. In considering the budget proposals contained within this report it is important to 
appreciate the savings already delivered by the Council in recent years. Table 1 
below summarises the savings over the last 12 financial years. 

 
Table 1 – Savings over the last 12 Financial Years 
 

 2007/08 
to 

2014/15 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Annual 
Savings 

- 
 

1,264 1,527 1,286 1,000 

Cumulative 
Savings 

16,386 17,650 19,177 20,463 21,463 

 
9. In light of the scale of the reductions and in the absence of any assurances that 

local growth in business rates will compensate for the reduction in the Revenue 

41



Support Grant (RSG) element of the Council’s Settlement Funding Assessment 
(SFA), the protection of services cannot be guaranteed in future years. 

 
Council Tax Levels 

 
10. The MTFS forms a key planning tool for budget setting purposes. Economic 

indicators forecast that the level of inflation will be as set out in the table 2 
below. It should be noted that many forecasting sources exist and that the 
Council has relied upon advice from its treasury management advisors in 
producing the information. 
 

a) The Council Tax Band D amount proposed in the 2019/20 Budget 
represents a two per cent increase in the district element when 
compared with 2018/19. 
 

b) The Localism Act introduces the need to hold local referendums in 
relation to Council Tax increases if those increases are above the limits 
set by the Government. The Secretary of State announced in the draft 
finance settlement that the limit on Council Tax increases for 2019/20 
will be three per cent or £5 before a requirement to hold a local 
referendum would be triggered. There will be no requirement to test the 
2019/20 budget proposals against this requirement as the MTFS 
contains proposals which fall below the Government set limits. 

 
Table 2 – Forecasted Levels of Inflation 
 

Index Apr 18 Sep 18 2019 

CPI 2.4 2.2 2.1 

RPI 3.3 3.2 3.0 

 
CURRENT ISSUES INFLUENCING THE MTFS 
 
The Comprehensive Spending Review 

 
11. The Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) process has made 

significant reductions to the financial settlement for Councils. At a local level 
Harlow has seen reductions in its grant as shown below. 

 
Table 3 – Grant Reduction Levels 
 

 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Grant 
Reduction 

15.2% 11.8% 7.68% 14.6% 13.7% 14.2% 15.9% 10.1% 

 
12. The draft settlement released on 13 December 2018 confirms that the 

Government continues to use the retained RSG element of the SFA 
arrangements to influence the overall level of funding made available to 
councils, whilst at the same time transferring the risk of a fall in business rates 
collectable to councils under the Business Rates Retention (BRR) Scheme. As 
such, a medium term priority is to ensure that sustainable budgets can be 

42



delivered in future years with Business Rates and Council Tax forming the two 
key revenue streams for the Council. The release of the draft settlement has 
also confirmed that the funding available under the Government’s four year deal, 
agreed by Cabinet at its meeting on 13 October 2016, has been met and subject 
to there being no changes in the final settlement in early 2019 this should not 
create any further financial pressure for the Council. 
 

13. The proposals contained within the MTFS and the General Fund Revenue 
Budget 2019/20 paper elsewhere on the Cabinet agenda will be sufficient, if 
agreed, deliver a projected balanced budget for 2019/20. 

 
Business Rate Retention 
 
14. The BRR Scheme has operated since 2013 and as previously reported will 

increasingly feature as the core source of direct Government funding within SFA. 
The BRR Scheme was intended to see a simplification of Council funding 
arrangements and to incentivise Councils to encourage economic growth in their 
areas. In return, this would improve the business rates collectable and therefore 
the funding retained locally through the new funding arrangements. 
 

15. The new funding system still retains the RSG system within the SFA which in 
itself is extremely complex and assesses a Council’s funding need on four key 
formula driven elements. It is very much a mechanism which can be used by the 
Government to influence Council funding at a national level. In line with the four 
year funding deal accepted by the Council the forward forecast of funding 
received through the RSG element of SFA has now reduced to a negative sum. 
In the draft settlement the Government has given a commitment to all local 
authorities placed in this position by the funding formula to fund the negative 
element of RSG through the central share of business rates which will leave no 
impact locally for Councils. Had the Government not agreed to this approach the 
Council would have been required to find a further £295,000 in savings to deliver 
a balanced budget. 
 

16. As previously reported, BRR is not only more complex than had been envisaged 
and includes the transfer of risks to councils, but it also introduced the 
redistribution of significant proportions (50 per cent) of locally collected business 
rates directly back to the Government. 
 

17. Whilst progress had been made in relation to the development of the full 
business rates retention proposals some of the momentum has been lost 
following the EU referendum, the June 2017 General Election and the 
refocussing of Government resources dealing with the Brexit negotiations. In the 
absence of primary legislation the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) are considering ways in which the Government's 
manifesto commitment to give local Government greater control over their 
income can be taken forward and whilst it had been widely anticipated that the 
new funding arrangements for local government would be implemented from 
April 2019 the Government is moving ahead with proposals with further 
consultations announce under the draft settlement which should lead to the 
implementation being effective from 2020/21. If this is not achieved it is still very 

43



difficult to see how the existing system will be moved forward in the light of 
2019/20 being the final year of the four year funding deal for local Government. 
In the absence of any firm proposals or funding exemplifications for 2020/21 and 
beyond the MTFS has assumed an annual one per cent reduction in the level of 
retained business rates in line with national forecasts of Resource Departmental 
Expenditure Limits (RDEL). 

 
Business Rates Pooling 
 
18. A business rates pool has operated within Essex during 2018/19 with the 

Council having joined for the first time as a result of improving business rates 
forecasts. The major benefit of being in a pool is the reduced levy rate applied to 
the local business rates growth achieved in the year. In addition an Essex bid 
was made to become a BRR Pilot area but unfortunately the draft Local 
Government Settlement announced on 13 December 2018 has confirmed that 
the Essex wide bid was not successful. However, it has been confirmed that the 
Essex pool will continue in to 2019/20. 

 
Welfare Reform 
 
19. As previously reported, the Localism Act 2011 contained a number of provisions 

which impact on the Council and its financial position. One of the key changes 
was the localisation of the previous national Council Tax Benefit Scheme. The 
Council continues to work hard to ensure that the impact on local residents 
resulting from the introduction of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
(LCTSS) and the funding cut implemented by the Government is minimised as 
far as possible. 
 

20. The Council has once again worked with the major precepting bodies to ensure 
that the Hardship Fund, established to support the most vulnerable within the 
local community, will continue in 2019/20. The Fund has been fully utilised in 
each of the years since it was established and is likely to be so again in 2018/19. 
To provide as much stability as possible to those households impacted by the 
introduction of the LCTSS, the Council’s scheme will remain unchanged in 
2019/20, as agreed by Council at its meeting on 18 December 2018. 

 
The Economic Conditions 
 
21. Although the economy has shown signs of improvement, the fragile economic 

climate fuelled by the Brexit negotiations and the eventual withdrawal of the UK 
from the EU in March 2019 continues to impact upon the Council. This creates 
risk and uncertainty for the Council in making projections for the medium term. 
 

22. The Council's budgets, particularly its income budgets, can be susceptible to 
changes in the economy both local and national and have been an area of 
ongoing concern. However, there are signs of improved income streams 
especially in the commercial income from the Council’s investment properties 
albeit this is to some extent being offset by reduced car parking income. Good 
financial management across the Council’s budget continues and has ensured 
that the overall budget has remained, and is projected to remain under control 

44



despite the significant funding reductions imposed and savings achieved to date. 
Updates are reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis throughout each financial 
year to ensure that the Cabinet is fully engaged with the financial management 
of the Council. In view of the economic climate, and to ensure that the Council’s 
budgets are set at realistic levels, the MTFS addresses this problem by being 
realistic in its forecasts of additional income achievable in future years with 
increases restricted to areas where there is a strong possibility of achieving the 
income targets. Any proposed increases to fees and charges for 2019/20 are 
shown in the General Fund Budget report elsewhere on the Cabinet agenda. 

 
Reserves 
 
23. A key aspect to the management of risk and service transformation or transition 

is to establish appropriate and effective reserves to help the Council work 
through funding changes in a planned way. A good example of this is the 
Council’s decision to create the Discretionary Services Fund (DSF) which is 
being used to help the Council through a period of transition in the delivery of 
specific discretionary services. It was anticipated that this fund would be used to 
draw down resources to support services as they went through transition 
periods, with new delivery models embedding and new funding sources outside 
of direct Council support being identified and accessed. 
 

24. Some of the services supported by the Reserve have managed to reduce their 
reliance on Council support and are proving to be very successful. However, as 
with all transitional arrangements, some of the services are more specialised in 
terms of the market in to which they must look for alternative providers and 
delivery models. As a result of the market testing that has been undertaken and 
the importance of the services provided to the Council and the local community 
the proposals contained within the MTFP continue to plan for a return of the 
Playhouse, Pets Corner and the remaining aspects of the Community Safety 
Team to core funding thus removing their reliance on the DSF for their ongoing 
financial support. 
 

25. As a result of excellent financial management which has been demonstrated 
through the outturn reporting mechanisms over recent years, the Council is in a 
position where its General Reserve is significantly in excess of the 
recommended level set by the Councils Section 151 Officer. The results of the 
excellent financial management in recent years has enable one off projects such 
as the Environmental Project to be funded or for money to be set aside to 
support future developments such as the investment in the Council’s paddling 
pool facilities. Moving forward in to 2020/21 and beyond there remains a high 
degree of uncertainty regarding the new funding mechanism for local 
government and for this reason it is intended that the General Fund will remain 
at or around £5.2 million to provide sufficient scope to utilise the reserve during 
the transitional phase of the new system should the funding it delivers be 
significantly worse than the funding currently provided. 
 

26. Further details of the reserve’s movements are set out in paragraphs 24 to 27 
and the Appendix E to of the General Fund Budget report, which features 
elsewhere in the Cabinet’s agenda. 

45



27. As part the revision of the MTFP and in light of changes introduced through the 
Localism Act 2011 this report reaffirms the commitment to: 
 

a) The on-going receipt of New Homes Bonus payments from the 
Government with planned allocations being applied to the DSF in 
2019/20 and future years should they continue under the new funding 
arrangements. 
 

b) The General Fund Reserve minimum balance being maintained at £2.5 
million to enable the Council to manage future short term volatility in 
resources. Although this is the recommended minimum working 
balance for the General Fund, it is recommended that the balance 
operates above this enabling the Council to operate flexibly and 
manage its risks without contravening the minimum level, especially 
during the period of major change proposed in the local government 
finance mechanisms as referred to elsewhere in this report. 
 

28. In moving forward, Cabinet should be aware of the considerable potential 
pressures on the uncommitted level of reserves as follows: 
 

a) The possible exposure to fluctuations in Council Tax income as a result 
of the introduction of the LCTSS.  It is likely that there will be increased 
deficits arising on the Collection Fund if the additional sums billed to 
those in most need prove difficult to collect. 
 

b) The need to review the reserve in order to counter the risk of not being 
able to accurately predict Housing Benefit subsidy due to the 
complexity of calculations and the impact of small variations in 
accuracy and collection rates on the subsidy receivable. Variations can 
also potentially occur each year between the returns the Council must 
submit and the audit of those returns. 
 

c) The ongoing risks associated with the new grant mechanisms and the 
volatility which could be experienced in core funding as a result. 
Although the potential inclusion within the Essex business rates pool 
will reduce the levy rate paid there is a risk to all councils in that pool 
should there be a downturn in business rates collected. The pool must 
bear the costs of councils within in it falling below their baseline funding 
level. With the ongoing uncertainties of the Brexit process there is a 
potential risk that there could be adverse economic impacts. 
 

d) The need to work above a reasonable buffer between the minimum 
recommended level and the actual level of reserves so that the Council 
is able to work ‘comfortably’ above the minimum level. Given the 
challenges presented by the Local Government Finance Settlement 
and the changes that have been outlined this may prove to be very 
difficult in future years. 
 

e) The need to be able to finance one-off expenditure from reserves 
should the need arise. 

46



f) The increased risks associated with the Council’s treasury 
management activities and the changes to ‘bail in’ arrangements 
introduced by the Government that would expose the Council to higher 
risks that previously experienced. 

 
29. The Cabinet’s attention is also drawn to the risks identified in section 10 of the 

MTFS, as well as the Council’s strategic risks as previously reported to the Audit 
and Standards Committee. Such risks and the impact of those risks on the 
MTFS will need to be closely monitored during the year. 

 
Capital 
 
30. A five year projection of capital expenditure and capital financing is set out at 

Appendix C. The funding projections reflect a prudent assessment of asset sales 
which will help support the programme and help meet the repayment of internal 
borrowing which has been undertaken in anticipation of receipts. Accumulated 
internal borrowing is forecast to stand at £18.2 million by the end of 2019/20 and 
whilst asset sales are forecast to continue during 2019/20 they will not be 
sufficient to continue to support the Non Housing Capital Programme. As 
reported in the previous MTFS, the Council’s MTFP includes a revenue 
provision sufficient to fund external borrowing of £2 million per annum. The Non 
Housing Capital Programme continues to be developed within the available 
funding envelope. 
 

31. The Housing Capital Programme had been developed in light of the increased 
funding and flexibilities offered as a result of the introduction of the self-financing 
model in 2013. As previously reported new directions from the Government have 
impacted upon this mainly resulting from the imposition of the annual one 
percent reduction across the four financial years 2016/17 to 2019/20. The 
implications of this and other changes announced in the Government’s Summer 
Budget have been fully detailed in the HRA Business Plan elsewhere on the 
Cabinet agenda. The Housing Capital Programme has seen a significant impact 
as a result of the Government’s proposals, over the MTFS planning period and 
beyond. 

 
Conclusions 
 
32. The proposed MTFS provides a reasoned and prudent basis for financial 

planning and management, creating the context for the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan and for the formulation of the annual budgets. 
 

33. The MTFS will continue to be reviewed at least annually during the budget 
setting process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The MTFS is a key component in the efficient and effective management of the 
Council’s financial resources. Financial implications are contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
None specific. Housing finance changes are covered fully in the report Housing 
Revenue Account Budget and Housing Revenue Account Business Plan elsewhere 
on the Cabinet Agenda. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
The General Fund Revenue Budget 2019/20 report elsewhere on the Cabinet 
agenda details the main human resource implications associated with the proposed 
Council budget. Subsequent years will be addressed in a similar way at the time. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Changes to the MTFS assumptions 
Appendix B – Harlow Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2021/22 
Appendix C – Capital Programme Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2019/20 – 

2021/22 
Appendix D – Housing Revenue Account Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

2019/20 – 2021/22 
Appendix E – General Fund Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2019/20 – 

2021/22 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
BRR – Business Rates Retention 

CSR – Comprehensive Spending Review carried out by the Government in 

relation to the local government funding arrangements. 

DSF – Discretionary Services Fund. 

48



HRA – Housing Revenue Account. 

LDF – (Planning) Local Development Framework. 

LCTSS – Local Council Tax Support Scheme. 

MTFP –  Medium Term Financial Plan is the General Fund budget projections 

over the 5 year period of the MTFS) 

MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

MTFS – Medium Term Financial Strategy is the full financial plan across five 

years that considers the General Fund, HRA and Capital budgets  

MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision. 

RDEL – Resource Departmental Expenditure Limits. 

RPIX – Retail Price Index excluding mortgage interest payments. 

RSG – Revenue Support Grant. 

SFA – Settlement Funding Assessment. 
 

 

49



Appendix A 
General Fund Budget Parameters 2019/20 – 2021/22 
 

February 2018 Assumption  Proposed Change  

Costs  
 
Pay inflation  
 
 
 
National Insurance 
 
 
 
General inflation  
 
 
 
Staff vacancy 
savings target  
 
 
Pension Fund 
triennial 
revaluation March 
2017  
 

 
 
2.0% per annum onwards 
in line with government 
Announcements. 
 
Rates were increased 
effective from April 2016  
 
 
Only applied where 
contractually/statutorily 
required 
 
2% p.a.  
 
 
 
Reflects actuarial 
recommendations 
 
 
 

 
 
No Change. 
 
 
 
No Change 
 
 
 
No change 
 
 
 
No change. 
 
 
 
No Change. 

Income  
 
Fees & charges  
 
 
 
 
 
Council Tax 
increase  
(for financial 
planning purposes 
only)  
 

 
 
Income budgets to 
increase in line with price 
inflation where possible 
and budgets increased 
accordingly 
 
No increase in 2018/19 
then assume 1.99% 
increase for each year 
across the MTFP period 
 
 

 
 
No Change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No Change 
 
 
 
 

Other 
Assumptions 
 
Government 
Funding  
Revenue Support 
Grant increase  
 

 
 
 
RSG will end – 
Government Funding 
Assumed to be aligned 
with 4 year funding offer 
made as part of the 
2016/17 settlement 

 
 
 
No change pending 
announcements 
regarding BRR and 
subject to central 
adjustment for –ve RSG 
in 2019/20 

Borrowing 
 
Prudential 
borrowing  

 
HRA  - No repayment of 
Self Financing Debt due 
to rent reduction imposed 
by Gov. 
Non HRA - MRP to cover 

 
No change. 

50



   
 

£2m borrowing per 
annum incorporated in 
MTFP. 

Transfer to/from 
Reserves -  
Insurance Fund  
 
 
General Reserves  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual contribution to 
Insurance fund increasing 
by £17k each year.  
 
 
No change, Minimum 
General fund balance to 
be maintained at £2.5m 
over the current MTFS 
Period to manage 
increased risks to be 
managed locally under 
Government plans. 
 

No Change. 
 
 
 
 
No Change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

51



APPENDIX B 
 

 

 
 

 

  Harlow Council 
 

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 

 
2019/20 to 2021/22 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



 

MTFS Page 2. 

 

53



 

MTFS Page 1. 

 

 
 

Contents MTFS Page 

 
 
 

1. Key messages 2. 

2. Introduction 5. 

3. General Fund 5. 

4. Housing Revenue Account 6. 

5. Fees and charges 8. 

6. Capital expenditure and treasury management 8. 

7. Annual Revenue Budgets and Medium Term Financial 
Plans 
 

10. 

8. Reserves 12. 

9. Key partnerships 13. 

10. Risks 13. 

 
 
 
 
  

54



 

MTFS Page 2. 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
 
1. KEY MESSAGES 
 
1.1.  This document sets out the Council’s approach to its medium term financial 

planning. It builds on and rolls forward the current Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) agreed for the planning period 2018/19 to 2020/21 in 
February 2018. 
 

1.2.  The Council’s current MTFS is underpinned by the following priorities: 

 More and better housing. 

 Regeneration and a thriving economy 

 Wellbeing and Social Inclusion 

 A clean and green environment 

 Successful children and young people 
 

1.3.  The General Fund finances must continue to be managed so that for the 
planning period commencing 1 April 2019: 

a) General Fund revenue reserves are maintained at or above the 
approved recommended minimum level of £2.5m, with an aim to 
operate above this level to provide flexibility in managing the Council’s 
budget throughout the year and over the MTFS planning period. 

b) General Fund uncommitted revenue reserves are not used to support 
the budget except for funding one-off and exceptional items of 
expenditure. 

c) Any increase in Council Tax shall be no greater than the maximum 
permissible under the Localism Act 2011, which is announced annually 
by Government. This will ensure that increases are maintained at a 
reasonable and affordable level whilst avoiding the need to undertake 
a costly local referendum. 

d) Revenue funds are reallocated from low to high priority areas as 
necessary. 

e) The Council’s Fees and Charges Policy forms part of its wider income 
strategy.  An annual review of fees and charges will be carried out. 

f) In setting the following year’s General Fund budget there must not be 
any unidentified savings. 

 
1.4.  As required, the Council must continually seek to secure savings or introduce 

new ways of working to ensure it can deliver sustainable budget proposals in 
line with the MTFS and provide finance for investment in priority areas 
wherever possible against a backdrop of ongoing Government funding 

55



 

MTFS Page 3. 

reductions. 
 

1.5.  The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), the General Fund element of the 
MTFS, produced at Appendix E, is to be reviewed at least annually by the 
Cabinet. 
 

1.6.  The Council’s Housing Revenue Account will be managed in line with the 
principles contained within the HRA Business Plan including: 

a) The uncommitted HRA reserve must be maintained at or above a 
minimum level of £2.5 million. 

b) In setting the following year’s HRA budget there must not be any 
unidentified savings. 

c) Rent levels will be set in line with Government guidelines and/or 
legislation, as appropriate. 

d) There must be sufficient investment in the housing stock to maintain 
the Decent Homes Standard. 

e) 50% of the proceeds from Right-to-Buy sales will be used to fund the 
Non Housing Capital Programme. 

 
1.7.  The Capital Programme must align with the Council’s priorities and: 

a) The Council will use prudential borrowing to fund its Housing and Non 
Housing Capital Programme if necessary. 

b) In view of the limited resources available for capital investment the 
Council will seek to categorise surplus assets in to the “Opportunity 
Asset” category as defined within the Non Housing Asset  
Management Strategy. At the appropriate time these assets will then 
be considered for disposal to help sustain ongoing non housing capital 
investment and reduce revenue costs incurred by the Council 
wherever possible or for wider community benefit. 

c) The total cost of the Capital Programme will not exceed a realistic and 
affordable assessment of the capital finance available to fund it. 

d) The projects in the Capital Programme will cover at least a three-year 
planning horizon and will be reviewed at least annually to ensure that 
schemes within the programme continue to support the priorities of the 
Council. 

e) The Council will comply with the Treasury Management Code of 
Practice and Prudential Code. Borrowing undertaken to finance capital 
expenditure will be prudent and affordable in terms of the impact on 
the revenue budget. 

 
1.8.  The Council will seek to develop existing partnerships and forge new ones to 

achieve further benefits for the local area, particularly in its priority areas. 

56



 

MTFS Page 4. 

 
1.9.  The Council will continue to evaluate and manage the financial and 

operational risks it faces. 
 

 

57



 

MTFS Page 5. 

2. INTRODUCTION 
 

2.1.  This document sets out the Council’s approach to its strategic medium term 
financial planning and provides an operational framework for both 
Councillors and Officers to ensure economic, efficient and effective financial 
management by the Council on behalf of its residents, taxpayers and other 
stakeholders. It is a document that also identifies the processes that are 
used to link corporate priorities to resources and forecast the level of 
resources needed and available over a number of years. 
 

2.2.  The document links to the Council’s other corporate and financial 
strategies, and in particular supports the following: 

a) The Council’s Corporate Plan. 

b) The Council’s priority areas. 

c) The prudential regime for capital finance in local government. 

d) The Council’s Asset Management Strategies. 

e) The Council’s Service Plans. 
 

2.3.  The Council’s strategic financial objective is to ensure access to sufficient 
financial resources, applied efficiently, effectively and economically to 
enable it to meet its corporate priorities and service objectives. The means 
for achieving this aim are set out in the Key Messages section above. 
 

2.4.  In developing a balanced General Fund, HRA and Capital budget for 
2019/20: 

a) The proposed net budget for General Fund services is £10.8 million. 

b) Total gross expenditure on the Housing Revenue Account will be 
£56.37 million, which will be funded from rents, service charges and 
interest. 

c) The Council’s total planned capital expenditure will be £35.2 million, 
split between £24.04 million allocated for housing and £11.16 million 
allocated for other services including the Enterprise Zone 
developments. 

 
3. General Fund 

3.1.  General Fund revenue expenditure is incurred on the day-to-day services 
the Council provides other than those provided through the HRA. General 
fund expenditure incurred by the Council falls into two main categories: 

1. Statutory services which the Council is legally obliged to provide or 
commission, such as refuse collection.  

2. Discretionary services i.e. those, which the Council is empowered 
but not legally obliged to provide or commission. 

58



 

MTFS Page 6. 

 
General Fund revenue expenditure is currently financed from: 

a) Council Tax. 

b) Fees and charges. 

c) Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) which combines Revenue 
Support Grant and retained Business Rate income. 

d) Other specific and non-specific grants. 
 

3.2.  The Council receives Government financial support towards its General 
Fund budget through the local government finance settlement which sets 
out the Government’s assessment of the Settlement Funding Assessment 
(SFA) for Harlow along with all other local authorities in England. 
 

3.3.  The General Fund MTFS for 2019/120 incorporates a reduction in SFA of 
3.5%, in line with the announcements contained within the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement made on 13 December 2018. These 
assumptions are aligned with the four year funding deal covering the period 
2016 -2020 Given the funding review taking place regarding Business 
Rates Retention there are currently no indications of funding levels relating 
to 2020/21 and beyond but the planning assumption included in future 
forecasts is for a one per cent annual reduction beyond 2019/20 in line with 
forecast Resource Departmental Expenditure Limits (RDEL). 
 

3.4.  Through the changes introduced as a result of the move to Settlement 
Funding Assessment (SFA) and Business Rate Retention, the Council 
carries the risk of the volatility in local business rates and will be reliant on 
the growth in the local economy for future increases in funding. 
 

3.5.  The Council operates some of its discretionary services through the use of 
the Discretionary Services Fund. A key funding stream for the fund is the 
money received by the Council as part of the Government’s New Home 
Bonus scheme (NHB). In the draft Local Government Finance Settlement 
the Government has indicated that the annual payment in 2019/20 will be 
£867,614. The full amount received will be contributed to the reserve in 
2019/20. 
 

4.  Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

4.1.  Revenue expenditure within the HRA is incurred on: 

1. The day-to-day services provided in maintaining and managing the 
Council’s housing stock. 

2. Contributions towards capital expenditure that is not funded from 
usable capital receipts, or other capital funding sources. 

 

59



 

MTFS Page 7. 

The expenditure is financed from: 

a) Rents charged for Council dwellings and garages. 

b) Charges made to leaseholders. 

c) Investment income. 
 

4.2.  The Housing Revenue Account Business Plan sets out the Council’s 
priorities for its housing stock and reflects the changes which took place 
with effect from 1 April 2012 as the existing housing subsidy system was 
replaced by Self-Financing. The priorities for the Council’s housing in the 
town are driven by national, regional, sub-regional and local housing 
priorities. They are also informed by the views and perspectives of 
stakeholders, especially tenants and leaseholders with whom the Council 
undertakes ongoing engagement and consultation. In addition, local 
housing priorities are driven by the Local Plan, Community Plan and the 
Corporate Plan. 
 

4.3.  Details of the medium term financial planning and financial projections and 
outcomes are included in the HRA Business Plan. The HRA Business Plan 
also contains an action plan that sets out responsibilities and timescales for 
the delivery of the key housing priorities. Despite the introduction of Self-
Financing in 2012/13, and the borrowing undertaken by the Council in 
March 2012, there have been significant changes to the HRA financial 
arrangements announced by the government which continue to have long-
term impacts on the HRA. These have been fully detailed in the HRA 
Business Plan including rent reductions of 1% per year to comply with 
Government legislation for which 2019/20 will be the final year. Ongoing 
uncertainty remains regarding the Governments long term intentions in 
respect of new house building and extending the rights of tenants under the 
Right To Buy regulations. 
 

4.4.  Although the Council must account for its General Fund services and 
Housing-related services separately by law, there are major areas where 
Housing activity and finances interact with General Fund activity and 
finances: 

a) The HRA is a user of support services from the rest of the Council for 
which appropriate charges are levied. 

b) The allocation of investment and borrowing interest from the General 
fund to the HRA based on the net indebtedness position of the HRA. 

c) Harlow Trading Services (Property & Environment Ltd) undertakes a 
wide range of work that impacts on these activities. 

 
 
 
 

60



 

MTFS Page 8. 

5. Fees and Charges. 

5.1.  The Council obtains income from fees and charges levied for providing 
certain services. The Government determines some of these charges but 
there are a number of areas where the Council has discretion as to whether 
to levy a charge and, if it decides to do so, the level of that charge. 

5.2.  In carrying out the annual review of fees and charges, as part of the budget 
development work, existing charges  are: 

a) compared against the legally permissible maximum as well as local 
and national market rates, 

b) compared against the cost of providing the service, 

c) compared against the objective for this charge (i.e. charge to make a 
surplus/ breakeven/ subsidise). 

 
5.3.  The annual review of fees and charges will seek to identify areas where 

charges could be made where currently it is not the Council’s policy to do 
so. It will also consider the timing of the introduction of any changes. 
 

5.4.  For 2019/20 fees and charges proposals have once again taken into 
account the ongoing economic conditions and their impact upon income 
streams, existing income targets and the wider impact of increases in 
businesses and residents. 
 

6. Capital Expenditure and Treasury Management 
 

6.1.  Capital expenditure is essential to the successful delivery of the Council’s 
priorities and is financed from capital receipts, capital grants, revenue 
contributions and long-term borrowing under the Prudential Code, in 
accordance with the Council’s Capital Strategy, treasury management and 
annual investment strategies. These are reviewed annually. 
 

6.2.  The Council is, however, currently restrained by the limited availability of 
capital and revenue resources to finance capital spending. Under 
Government capital receipt pooling regulations, 75% of sale of Council 
house capital receipts under Right-to-Buy, and 50% of other housing asset 
disposal capital receipts, have to be paid over to the Government “pool”. 

 
6.3.  The projects in the Capital Programme (as summarised at Appendix C) help 

to meet the Council’s priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan within 
available and affordable resources. 
 

6.4.  The Local Government Act 2003 brought about a new statutory borrowing 
regime for councils known as The Prudential Code. This arrangement gives 
the Council much greater flexibility and freedom to borrow without 

61



 

MTFS Page 9. 

Government consent, as had previously been the case, as long as it can 
afford to repay the amount borrowed. 
 

6.5.  The aim of the Code is to support councils when making capital investment 
decisions, to ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent 
and sustainable and that treasury management decisions are taken in 
accordance with good professional practice and in line with the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. 
 

6.6.  The Code has been updated and incorporates a new requirement to 
present a Capital Strategy for approval by Council in advance of the 
2019/20 financial year. The Strategy has been prepared and is presented 
elsewhere on the Cabinet agenda alongside associated reports on 
investment and Treasury Management as part of the Capital and Treasury 
Report. 
 

6.7.  The Code requires councils to determine a set of prudential indicators that 
are intended to determine and measure the financial strength of their 
investment and treasury plans.  It prescribes some of these prudential 
indicators that must be used and the factors that must be taken into account 
in order to show that the Council has fulfilled its objectives. They are not 
used to compare performance between Councils but to measure an 
individual Council’s performance over a period of time. The Code also lays 
down clear procedures for setting and revising the prudential indicators with 
the Council’s Head of Finance responsible for ensuring that the Council has 
taken into account all matters specified in the Code, and for monitoring 
compliance with the established limits approved by the full Council before 
the start of each financial year. Prudential indicators relating to borrowing 
and investments are now contained within the revised Treasury 
Management Code of Practice, rather than the Prudential Code of Practice. 
 

6.8.  The Council has customarily considered and approved an annual Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement as required by the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (revised 2011). The Prudential Code 
referred to above introduced new requirements for the management and 
reporting of borrowing and investments. 
 

6.9.  The Council made provision to enter into borrowing to fund the Housing 
Capital Programme from 2008/09 onwards, and for the Non- Housing 
Capital Programme in 2008/09 and 2009/10, on a short term basis only, 
pending securing capital receipts from planned asset sales. The borrowing 
to fund the Non-Housing Capital Programme was anticipated to have been 
repaid in full once the capital receipts are realised. However, as a result of 
the reduced asset base available for disposal and the current market 
conditions the MTFP contains provision to finance borrowing of up to £2m 
per annum for non-housing capital investment in each year of the planning 

62



 

MTFS Page 10. 

period. Limited short-term borrowing for cash flow purposes has also been 
authorised under the Code. It had been envisaged that Self Financing for 
the HRA would enable the investment levels in the housing stock both for 
major repairs programmes and for the potential building of new affordable 
homes within Harlow. The changes announced by the Government on the 
rent reduction proposals particularly have changed this significantly and this 
is covered in more detail within the HRA Business Plan. 
 

6.10.  An Annual Investment Strategy is drawn up as required under the Code. At 
present the Council has a considerable sum invested (£46.3m as at 31 
December 2018. An indicative analysis of the investment balance is as 
follows: 

 

Source of Investments  

 £m 

General Reserve  5.2 
Earmarked Reserves 20.8 
HRA Working Balance 5.6 
Growth Area Funding Grant 2.3 
Working Capital 12.4 

Total 46.3 

 

6.11.  The investments are handled by the Council’s own staff. The investments 
are managed so as to secure the best possible return with the minimum of 
associated risk as set out in the principles of the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement. 
 

7. 
 

Annual Revenue Budgets and Medium Term Financial Plans. 

7.1.  The Council’s HRA and General Fund budgets represent the Council’s 
expectation of the cost of providing its ongoing services in a year. As such 
they are integral parts of the MTFS, reflecting the financial implications of 
the Council’s aims and objectives for the year. 
 

7.2.  The Council has worked extremely hard to ensure that it sets realistic and 
achievable budgets. Over the years 2007/08 to 2018/19 it has achieved 
General Fund savings of over £21 million to ensure that this objective is 
achieved and has sensibly and prudently reviewed and replenished 
reserves as appropriate whenever possible. In addition the 2019/20 budget 
proposals contain total savings proposals and other base budget 
adjustments of a further £0.605m. Given the significant level of savings 
already made by the Council and the on-going funding reductions measures 
being implemented by Government, it is proving extremely difficult for the 
Council to sustain ongoing budget reductions whilst protecting service 
provision unless there is an improvement in the Councils funding through 
the anticipated introduction of 75% Business Rates Retention Scheme from 

63



 

MTFS Page 11. 

2020/21. 
 

7.3.  Like all other Councils, in planning its finances, the Council recognises that 
there will be changes that will affect it financially, but over which it has little, 
or no, control. Some of those facing the Council in the medium term 
include: 

a) The National and world wide economic environment including Brexit. 

b) New, or changes to existing, legislation and changes to the operation 
of Government policy. 

c) Changes in Government grant. 

d) Pay and price variations. 

e) Movements in the costs of employee pensions. 

f) Variations in asset disposal values and volumes. 

g) Changes in interest rates. 
 

7.4.  Each year the Council is required by law to approve balanced budgets, 
which means that planned levels of expenditure on services, after taking 
into account government grant income and contributions from reserves, 
must be covered by the budgeted amount of Council Tax income (for the 
General Fund) and rent income (for the HRA). In doing so the Council has 
to decide upon:- 

 Competing claims for additional expenditure. 

 The level of investment required in priority areas. 

 The level of, and the areas in which, savings can be made. 

 The level of rents and council tax to be levied. 
 

7.5.  The Council operates a budget monitoring system, which involves monthly 
reports to the Corporate Management Team and quarterly reporting to the 
Cabinet. The Council has tightened its fiscal policy in the light of the 
considerable challenges it faces over the medium-term. Accordingly, a key 
strategic financial objective within the MTFS is that annual Council Tax 
increases shall be no greater than CPI or the Government prescribed limit. 
The revised MTFP at Appendix E shows the net reduction in General Fund 
expenditure over each of the subsequent two financial years required to 
maintain a balanced budget. For illustrative purposes Appendix E is based  
on an assumed Council Tax increase of 2% for 2019/20 and 1.99% in each 
subsequent year of the MTFS period. 
 

7.6.  Work will be required during the early part of 2019 to engage with the 
Governments latest and ongoing consultations in relation to the future 
proposals for local government funding arrangements. Having developed 

64



 

MTFS Page 12. 

the current three year MTFP proposal as set out in Appendix E to this report 
it will now be extremely important to focus resources on the engagement 
with the Governments formal and any informal consultation in order to try to 
influence changes which could have a significant impact upon Harlow. 
 

7.7.  The Plan is a key component of individual service plans and a major 
objective for the Council’s Corporate Management Team. In drawing up 
their service plans each Head of Service must set out the extent to which 
their proposals assist the Council in achieving its financial targets and 
priorities over the next three years. The service plans include proposals for 
capital and revenue growth bids, savings, reallocation of resources and 
additional income. 
 

7.8.  The total planned cost of the Capital Programme must never exceed a 
realistic and affordable assessment of the capital finance available to fund 
it. The summary at Appendix C shows that the Non-Housing programmes 
will exceed current forecasts of Council finance available over the planning 
period. Where necessary, borrowing to fund the programme will be 
undertaken within the parameters agreed in the Council’s Prudential 
Borrowing Strategy and as a result of declining receipts from the disposal of 
surplus assets the MTFP reflects the need to finance borrowing costs. 
 

7.9.  Financial projections for the HRA covering the period 2019/20 to 2021/22 
are set out in the HRA Medium Term Financial Plan, attached at Appendix 
D. 
 

7.10.  A summary of the revised General Fund Medium Term Financial Plan for 
2019/20 to 2021/22 is attached at Appendix E. The details set out in the 
appendix show that given the assumptions regarding Council Tax levels, 
Government funding and the new savings/income streams identified the 
General Fund budget is well placed as the Council moves towards a 
fundamental change to local government funding over the next twelve 
months. 
 

8.  Reserves 
 

8.1.  The Council’s statutory finance officer, the Head of Finance, is required to 
consider the adequacy of reserves when the budget and Council Tax are 
set. This assessment distinguishes between committed or earmarked 
reserves and general or uncommitted reserves. 
 

8.2.  Levels of the Council’s earmarked reserves are reviewed on an on-going 
basis as part of the annual budget process and through the preparation of 
the Council’s Statement of Accounts. 
 

8.3.  The minimum level of general or uncommitted reserves for the General 

65



 

MTFS Page 13. 

Fund and HRA, as currently assessed by the Head of Finance, are to be 
£2.5million. The projected level of actual uncommitted reserves balances 
held over the 3-year period of the MTFS are set out in the General Fund 
Medium Term Financial Plan at Appendix E, and the HRA financial plan at 
Appendix D, respectively.  
 

9.  Key Partnerships 
 

9.1.  The Council is committed to working in partnership with local community 
groups, the voluntary sector, the private sector and other service providers 
so that, as far as possible, the co-ordination of services with community 
needs is realised and also with a view to maximising economy and 
efficiency and securing additional funds for the benefit of the local 
community. 
 

9.2.  As part of this strategy the Council seeks to develop existing partnerships 
and forge new ones to achieve further benefits for the local area, 
particularly in its priority areas. 
 

9.3.  With regard to working with the voluntary sector, the Council is anxious to 
achieve value for money from the grants that it provides to these 
organisations. Partners applying for financial support are required to 
demonstrate efficiency savings comparable to the targets that the Council 
has to meet, and work towards achieving the Council’s priorities. 
 

9.4.  The Council has safeguarded the provision of some of its discretionary 
services through the funding allocated to its Discretionary Services 
Reserve. In light of the current market position with regard to services such 
as the Playhouse and Pets Corner and the importance of the services 
delivered by Community Safety the MTFP has made provision to begin to 
reintroduce these services back in to the Council’s core base budget. 
Details are contained within the MTFP at Appendix E to this report and 
elsewhere on the Cabinet agenda as part of the General Fund budget 
report. Those services which remain dependent upon the reserve for 
ongoing funding will be supported until at least the 2021/22 financial year by 
which time it is anticipated that arrangements for the remaining services to 
be reintroduced to the base budget will also have been identified. 

 

10.  Risks 
 

10.1.  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 state that the Council should 
ensure that its accounting control systems include measures to ensure that 
risk is appropriately managed. 
 

10.2.  The Audit Commission’s Code of Audit Practice makes it clear that it is the 
responsibility of the audited body to identify and address its operational and 
financial risks, and to develop and implement proper arrangements to 

66



 

MTFS Page 14. 

manage them, including adequate and effective systems of internal control. 
The financial risks to the Council should be assessed in the context of the 
Council’s overall approach to risk management. Risk management 
continues to be a key area of focus for the Council and is now regularly 
reported to the Audit & Standards Committee. 
 

10.3.  In order to manage and mitigate risk in the Council it includes a statement 
on the system of internal control with its Annual Statement of Accounts. 
This review and reporting mechanism incorporates a broader statement of 
corporate governance than had previously been required as set out in the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Corporate Governance Framework. Under this framework 
the Council must review both its internal controls as well as its wider 
governance arrangements, and publish an Annual Governance Statement 
as part of the Accounts. 
 

10.4.  The Council is very aware of the need for effective risk management and 
considers that the assessment and minimisation of all types of risk to be 
vital. It has an adopted Risk Management Strategy in place, the aim of 
which is ‘for the systematic identification and control of risks, hazards and 
losses, to reduce the impact of risk upon Council decision making. The 
MTFP supports this aim through the continued provision of financial 
resources to enable this work to be progressed particularly in relation to 
insurable risks. 
 

10.5.  The Head of Finance has identified the risks set out in Appendix D of the 
2019/20 General Fund Revenue Budget report, which appears elsewhere 
on the Cabinets agenda, as the most significant for the MTFS. The 
mitigation of these risks is an integral part of the Council’s performance 
management framework. 

 

67



2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000

CAPITAL FUNDING

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Resources

Capital receipts: RTB 953 677 693

Major Repairs Reserve 10,085 10,249 10,430

Revenue Contributions 9,191 3,362 2,261

Capital receipts: Pooling receipts 1,115 2,944 2,034

Prudential Borrowing 2,700 7,067 4,802

Total 24,044 24,299 20,220

Expenditure / Bids

Housing 20,328 14,486 13,441

Building Council Homes 3,716 9,813 6,779

Total 24,044 24,299 20,220

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000

NON HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Resources

Capital receipts: RTB 207 209 212

Asset Disposal Programme 250 0 0

Revenue Contributions 156 156 156

Other Resources 1,098 655 605

Prudential Borrowing 9,445 1,782 1,164

Total 11,156 2,802 2,137

Expenditure / Bids

Non Housing 3,490 2,802 2,137

Enterprise Zone 5,319 0 0

Prentice Ploace 2,347 0 0

Total 11,156 2,802 2,137

APPENDIX C

68



APPENDIX D

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2019/20 - 2021/22

Operating Account
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Estimates Estimates Estimates

£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

General Management 11,544 11,760 11,916

Special Management 7,695 7,822 8,026

Repairs 10,873 11,199 11,535

Rents, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 52 53 54

Supporting People Transitional Relief 5 5 4

Provision for Bad & Doubtful Debts 280 240 240

Major Repairs Reserve Contribution 10,085 10,249 10,430

Revenue Contribution to Capital Programme 9,191 3,360 2,260

Debt Management Expenses 16 17 18

Capital Charges: Principal 0 0 0

Capital Charges: Interest 6,624 7,035 7,294

56,365 51,740 51,777

Income

Dwelling Rents 43,004 43,289 44,645

Garage Rents 1,019 1,049 1,102

Other Rents 66 66 66

Service Charges: Tenants 1,189 1,224 1,261

Service Charges: Leaseholders 2,228 2,295 2,364

Other Charges for Services 1,467 1,594 1,657

Transfers from General Fund 602 614 627

Interest on Revenue Balances 103 54 42

49,678 50,185 51,764

Balance at 1 April 

Surplus / (Deficit) for year 10,834 4,147 2,592

Balance in hand at 31 March -6,687 -1,555 -13

4,147 2,592 2,579

Major Repairs Reserve

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Estimates Estimates Estimates

£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Capital Programme Financing 10,085 10,249 10,430

Repayment of Debt 0 0 0

10,085 10,249 10,430

Income

Transfer from HRA 10,085 10,249 10,430

10,085 10,249 10,430

Balance at 1 April 0 0 0

Surplus for year 0 0 0

Balance in hand at 31 March 0 0 0

69



APPENDIX E

GENERAL FUND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

2019/20 to 2021/22 Appendix E

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000

A     RESERVES

brought forward 5,397 5,397 5,397

Adjustments:

Used for budget - one-off items

In year contributions

Budget carry-overs 

Transfers to (from) earmarked reserves

carried forward 5,397 5,397 5,397

Approved Budget

Budget from previous year 10,290 10,465 10,695

B     BUDGET CHANGE PROJECTIONS

B1     STANDSTILL PRESSURES

Pay awards 258 230 230 

Price increases 251 200 200 

Total Inflation 509 430 430 

Pension fund re-valuation 0 100 

Interest costs 175 0 0 

Interest costs EZ 50 150 150 

HB/council tax admin subsidy 50 0 0 

Capital funding (MRP Provision) (55) 100 100 

Sub-total 729 780 680 

B2      PRIORITY LED INITIATIVES

Cemetery & Crematorium contract 0 0 0 

Transfer of PlayhHouse from DSF to core funding

Transfer of Remaining Community Safety to core funding

Transfer of Pets Corner from DSF to core funding 100 100 100 

Sub-total 100 100 100 

B3      HTS COSTS AND SAVINGS

HTS Dividend (100)

Pensions Costs 31 

Sub-total (69) 0 0 

B4      FEES AND CHARGES

Fees & charges

Sub-total 0 0 0 

B5      ADDITIONAL PRESSURES AND SAVINGS

Efficiencies and Service adjustments (259)

Additional income/recharges (225) (350)

Garage rent increases (88) (75) (75)

EZ Investment Financial Support (150) (150) (150)

Living Wage 154 

Homelessness 288 

Playhouse Staff 33 

70



APPENDIX E

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000

Regeneration Team 30 

Water Gardens Car Park 56 

Clinical Collections 15 

Commercial Properties 37 

Street Cleaning 36 

Recycling - CommodityPrice Risk 40 

Christmas Lights 20 

Members' Allowances 8 

Corporate Support Officer 25 

Revs & Bens Grant Income (188)

Business Rates Discretionary Rate Relief (76)

Waste Contract Saving (150)

Green Waste Collections (20)

Leah Manning Centre (20)

Cemetry and Crematorium (27)

Commercial  Properties - Rent Income (124)

Sub-total (585) (575) (225)

10,465 10,770 11,250 

B6     ONE-OFF ITEMS

BUDGET FOR YEAR 10,465 10,770 11,250 

Contribution to / (-)from Reserves:

One-off use of reserves items

Contribution to Gen Fund Reserve

Other  reserve movements

Transfers to earmarked reserves 365 104 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR YEAR BEFORE  SAVINGS 10,830 10,874 11,250 

C    SAVINGS NEEDED

Savings needed to achieve 1.99% increase in

Council Tax  (Harlow Element)
0 (75) (254)

BUDGET REQUIREMENT AFTER SAVINGS 10,830 10,799 10,996

1% Council Tax increase = -73 -73 -73 

D     EXTERNAL FINANCE AND COUNCIL TAX

INCOME from RSG and BRR 2,902 2,873 2,844 

Homeless Grant included in base budget 167 166 166 

Levy Account Surplus 47 0 0 

Collection fund (deficit) surplus 351 116 116 

Business Rates Pooling 65 126 126 

Council Tax total 7,298 7,518 7,744 

TOTAL EXTERNAL FINANCE AND COUNCIL TAX 10,830 10,799 10,996 

Council Tax Band D 278 283 289

Increase in Council Tax 2.00% 1.99% 1.99%

71



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019  

TITLE: 
 

CAPITAL AND TREASURY REPORT 2019 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 
 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR 
(01279) 446228 
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD  
(01279) 446004 

  
 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008579 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reasons: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically.  
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Full Council that:  

 
A  The following Capital and Treasury Reports be approved: 
 

i) The Capital Strategy Report (attached as Appendix A to the report) 
 

ii) The Capital Programme Strategy Statement 2019/20 (attached as 
Appendix B to the report) 

 
iii) The Investment Strategy Report 2019/20 (attached as Appendix D to 

the report) 
 

iv) The Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20 (attached as 
Appendix E to the report). 

 
B The proposed revised Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 

(attached as Appendix C to the report) be approved for implementation with 
immediate effect. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Capital Strategy Report 2019/20 (attached as Appendix A to the report) 

covers the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 2017, including the prudential indicators. 

72

Agenda Item 9c



The report should be approved by Full Council before the start of the new 
financial year. 
 

B The Capital Programme Strategy Statement 2019/20 (attached as Appendix B to 
the report) is not a requirement of any guidance, but is included within this report 
to provide context for capital investment explained elsewhere.  Specifically, for 
2019/20, it sets out the Council’s programme for building council homes. 

 
C The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 (attached as Appendix 

C to the report) covers the requirements of the new CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice 2017, including the treasury management 
indicators.  In a departure from previous practice, where a Capital Strategy 
(attached as Appendix A to the report) is approved by Full Council. Approval of 
this report may be delegated to the committee responsible for the 
implementation and regular monitoring of treasury management policies and 
practices.  For consistency it is included here for this year. 

 
D The Investment Strategy Report 2019/20 (attached as Appendix D to the report) 

covers the requirements of the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) Investment Guidance 2018, including the investment 
indicators. 

 
E The Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20 (attached as Appendix E 

to the report) covers the requirements of the MHCLG Guidance on Minimum 
Revenue Provision 2012. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The ‘Capital and Treasury Report’ brings together a number of documents in 

order to comply with new Government (MHCLG) and accountancy professional 
(CIPFA) guidance. 

 
2. One of the new requirements is the submission of an overarching document, a 

Capital Strategy Statement, which sets out the Council’s longer term plan for 
capital expenditure, and the way in which it is to be funded.  The approval of the 
Strategy (as set out in Appendix A to the report) is a requirement of Council. 

 
3. To provide further context a medium term strategy for the Capital Programme 

2018/19 – 2023/24 is given (as set out in Appendix B to the report) allowing a 
separate report to this meeting to concentrate on approval of the current and 
immediate forthcoming year: ‘Capital Programmes 2018/19-2019/20’. 

 
4. At the heart of this document are statements governing treasury management, 

now split into three separate documents (as set out in appendices C, D and E). 
 

5. Treasury management is defined as “the management of the Council’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions: the effective control of the risks associated with those activities and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

73



6. The primary requirements of the current guidance are as follows: 
 

a) Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy 
Statement 
 

b) Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices (TMP) 
 

c) Receipt of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) 
 

d) Presentation of a mid-year review of the TMSS and an annual report 
(stewardship report) to Full Council 
 

e) Delegation by the Council for responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions 
 

f) Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury 
management strategy and policies to a specific named body. For the 
Council the current TMSS specifies the responsibility for the delegated 
scrutiny role is delegated to the Cabinet Overview Working Group, as 
well as to the Audit and Standards Committee as may be required 
 

g) Submission of an Investment Strategy (as set out in Appendix D to the 
report) 
 

h) Submission of a Minimum Revenue Provision Statement (as set out in 
Appendix E to the report). 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
7. All reports have been prepared in compliance with respective guidance. 

 
8. Members are invited to refer/approve these documents as appropriate. 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
Any specific implications are set out within the report and supporting appendices. 
The strategies are key documents underpinning key aspects of financial 
management across the Council which enable sound financial management to be 
applied and for resources and assets to be protected. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 

74



Housing 
None specific.  
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific.  
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific.  
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Capital Strategy Report 
Appendix B – Capital Programme Strategy Statement 2019/20 
Appendix C – The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 
Appendix D – The Investment Strategy Report 2019/20 
Appendix E – The Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20 
 
Background Papers 
 
CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2017 
MHCLG Investment Guidance 2018 
MHCLG Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision 2012 
HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 
Capital Programme 2018/19-2019/20 
Arlingclose Ltd treasury management advisory documents 
Treasury Management and Accounting records 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
See Appendix C, Annex E for glossary of terms.   

 

75



 
 

APPENDIX A 

 

Capital Strategy Report 2019/20 

Introduction 

1. This capital strategy is a new report for 2019/20, giving a high-level 

overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 

management activity contribute to the provision of local public services 

along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 

implications for future financial sustainability. It has been written in an 

accessible style to enhance Members’ understanding of these, 

sometimes, technical areas. 

Capital Expenditure and Financing 

2. Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, 

such as property or vehicles, that will be used for more than one year.  

In local government this includes, in addition, spending on assets 

owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to other bodies enabling 

them to buy assets.  The Council has some limited discretion on what 

counts as capital expenditure, for example assets costing below £5,000 

are not capitalised and are charged to revenue in year. 

 

3. For details of the Council’s policy on capitalisation, see Note xix (page 

43) of the Council’s Accounting Policies contained within the 

‘Statement of Accounts 2017/18’ [LINK: Harlow Council Statement of 

Accounts 2017/18] 

 

4. In 2019/20, the Council is planning capital expenditure of £35.2m as 

summarised below: 
 

  

76

https://www.harlow.gov.uk/sites/harlow-cms/files/files/documents/files/Statement%20of%20Accounts%202017-18%20v4.2%20As%20Published_0.pdf
https://www.harlow.gov.uk/sites/harlow-cms/files/files/documents/files/Statement%20of%20Accounts%202017-18%20v4.2%20As%20Published_0.pdf


 
 

Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions 

 2017/18 

actual 

(£m) 

2018/19 

forecast 

(£m) 

2019/20 

budget 

(£m) 

2020/21 

budget 

(£m) 

2021/22 

budget 

(£m) 

2022/23 

budget 

(£m) 

2023/24 

budget 

(£m) 

General 

Fund 

services 

       

Core 

Programme 
3.604 4.313 3.490 2.802 2.137 2.137 1.637 

Enterprise 

Zone (GF) 
4.195 5.790 5.319 - - - - 

Prentice 

Place (GF) 
0.297 1.002 2.347 - - - - 

Sub-Total 8.096 11.105 11.156 2.802 2.137 2.137 1.637 

Council 

housing 

(HRA) 

       

Core 

Programme  
13.346 19.048 20.328 14.486 13.441 12.843 14.992 

Building 

Council 

Homes 

(HRA) 

- 0.465 3.716 9.813 6.779 0.214 - 

Sub-Total 13.346 19.513 24.044 24.299 20.220 13.057 14.992 

TOTAL 21.442 30.618 35.200 27.101 22.357 15.194 16.629 

The Prudential Code requires disclosure through until 2021/22 only.  This table 

includes figures covering the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 

5. A significant element of the General Fund Capital Programme relates 

to the ongoing development of Harlow’s Enterprise Zone.  It is a major 

development which the Council is supporting by creation of a campus 

environment for leveraging in dynamic businesses creating new 

technologies and new products, thereby stimulating innovation and 

generating economic growth in the town. 

 

6. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced account which 

ensures that council housing does not subsidise, or is itself subsidised, 

by other local services.  Housing capital expenditure is therefore 

recorded separately, and includes the anticipated building of 93 new 

homes over the forecast period at a cost of nearly £21 million.  

 

7. Further details of projected capital expenditure are contained in the 

‘Capital Programme Strategy Statement’ (see Appendix B to this 

Report). 

 

8. Governance: Service Managers commence a process annually in 

September to bid for projects in the Council’s Non Housing Capital 

Programme.  Bids are collated by the Finance Department who 

77



 
 

calculate the financing costs (which can be nil if the project is fully 

externally financed) and formulate capital project appraisals.  The Head 

of Finance presents capital appraisals to the Capita Group for review.  

The review is based on a comparison of corporate priorities and service 

priorities and considers projected capital costs, financing costs and any 

resulting ongoing service costs. Recommendations from the group 

formalise the Capital Programme for approval by Cabinet and to Full 

Council in January / February each year. 

 

9. For full details of the Council’s latest Capital Programme, see the report 

entitled ‘Capital Programmes 2019/20’, which is presented separately 

in the agenda to Cabinet (24 January 2019 then to Full Council on 7 

February 2019) and, upon publication, is available on the Council’s 

website pages for Committees. 

 

10. Capital expenditure may only be financed either from external sources 

(government grants and other contributions), the Council’s own 

resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or debt (borrowing, 

and leasing). 

 

11. The planned financing of the above expenditure (Table 1) is as follows: 
 

  

78



 
 

Table 2: Capital financing in £ millions 

 2017/18 

actual 

(£m) 

2018/19 

forecast 

(£m) 

2019/20 

budget 

(£m) 

2020/21 

budget 

(£m) 

2021/22 

budget 

(£m) 

2022/23 

budget 

(£m) 

2023/24 

budget 

(£m) 

General 

Fund 

services 

       

Capital 

Receipts: 

RTB 

0.203 0.205 0.207 0.209 0.212 0.214 0.216 

Capital 

Receipts: 

Other 

1.057 1.973 0.250 - - - - 

Grants 2.352 0.634 0.535 0.655 0.605 0.605 0.605 

Direct 

Revenue 

Financing 

0.616 0.534 0.156 0.156 0.156 0.156 0.156 

Internal 

borrowing 
3.868 7.759 3.708 - - - - 

External 

borrowing 
- - 6.300 1.782 1.164 1.162 0.660 

Sub-Total 8.096 11.105 11.156 2.802 2.137 2.137 1.637 

Council 

housing 

(HRA) 

       

Capital 

Receipts 
- 2.752 0.953 0.677 0.692 0.708 0.723 

Grants 0.042 0.230 - - - - - 

Major 

Repairs 

Reserve 

11.801 9.940 10.085 10.249 10.430 10.695 10.874 

Direct 

Revenue 

Financing 

1.503 6.451 9.191 3.629 2.664 1.590 3.395 

Pooling 

Receipts 
- 0.140 1.115 2.944 2.034 0.064 - 

External 

borrowing 
- - 2.700 6.800 4.400 - - 

Sub-Total 13.346 19.513 24.044 24.299 20.220 13.057 14.992 

TOTAL 21.442 30.618 35.200 27.101 22.357 15.194 16.629 

 

12. Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases 

must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other 

financing, usually from revenue which is known as minimum revenue 

provision (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets 

(known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt finance. 

Planned MRP and use of capital receipts are as follows: 
 

  

79



 
 

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance in £ millions 

 2017/18 

actual 

(£m) 

2018/19 

forecast 

(£m) 

2019/20 

budget 

(£m) 

2020/21 

budget 

(£m) 

2021/22 

budget 

(£m) 

2022/23 

budget 

(£m) 

2023/24 

budget 

(£m) 

General 

Fund 

HRA 

 
0.250 

- 

0.275 

- 

0.403 

- 

0.623 

- 

0.773 

- 

0.803 

- 

 

13. The Council’s full ‘Minimum Revenue Provision Statement’ forms part 

of this Capital Report (Appendix E). 

 

14. The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is 

measured by the capital financing requirement (CFR). This increases 

with new debt-financed capital expenditure and reduces with MRP and 

capital receipts used to replace debt. The CFR is expected to increase 

by £10.949m during 2019/20. Based on the above figures for 

expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows: 
 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement in £ 

millions 

 31.3.2018 

actual 

31.3.2019 

forecast 

31.3.2020 

budget 

31.3.2021 

budget 

31.3.2022 

budget 

General Fund 

services 

46.258 55.960 62.209 64.713 66.719 

Council housing 

(HRA) 

187.370 187.370 190.070 196.870 201.270 

Capital 

investments 

- - - - - 

TOTAL CFR 233.628 241.330 252.279 261.583 267.989 

 

15. Asset management: To ensure that capital assets continue to be of 

long-term use, the Council has recently reviewed its Asset 

Management Strategy and has undertaken a detailed stock condition 

survey of all of its non housing property assets.  The strategy and 

associated action plan combined with the outputs of the stock condition 

survey will be applied to develop a future non housing capital 

investment programme.  The strategy also sets out the desire to 

dispose of or transfer those assets which no longer fulfil an operational, 

community or commercial objective especially where there is a clear 

investment requirement which would outweigh the long term benefits of 

undertaking that investment. The objective of the strategy is to 

recognise the Council’s asset portfolio as a resource which whilst 

providing operational and community benefits naturally consumes 

resources if it is to be maintained in a fit for purpose state.  The 

Strategy sets out a framework for governance of the portfolio which 

seeks to achieve greater engagement with users and elected 

80



 
 

councillors in order to ensure that capital investment decisions are 

aligned with the agreed corporate priorities as set out in the Council’s 

Corporate Plan. 

 

16. Asset disposals: When a capital asset is no longer required and is 

assigned to the designated “Opportunity” asset portfolio as set out in 

the strategy, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known as capital 

receipts, can be spent on existing or new assets or to repay debt.  

Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate 

capital receipts. The Council plans to receive £1.410m of capital 

receipts in the coming financial year, 2019/20, as follows: 
 

Table 5: Capital receipts in £ millions 

 2017/18 

actual 

2018/19 

forecast 

2019/20 

budget 

2020/21 

budget 

2021/22 

budget 

Asset sales 6.425 1.860 1.410 0.887 0.905 

Loans repaid - - - - - 

TOTAL 6.425 1.860 1.410 0.887 0.905 

 

17. Further details of projected asset disposals are included in the ‘Capital 

Programme Statement’ (Appendix B). 

 

Treasury Management 

18. Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not 

excessive cash available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while 

managing the risks involved.  Surplus cash is invested until required, 

while a shortage of cash will be met by temporary borrowing, to avoid 

excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current account. 

The Council is typically cash rich in the short-term as revenue income 

is received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long-term as capital 

expenditure is incurred before being financed. The revenue cash 

surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall 

borrowing. 

 

19. Due to decisions taken in the past, the Council currently (as at 31 

December 2018) has £211.837m borrowing at an average interest rate 

of 3.309% and £46.335m treasury investments at an average rate of 

0.93%.  This is detailed in Annex B of the ‘Treasury Management 

Statement’ (Appendix C). 

 

20. Borrowing strategy: The Council’s main objectives when borrowing 

are to achieve a low but certain cost of finance while retaining flexibility 

should plans change in future. These objectives are often conflicting, 

and the Council therefore seeks to strike a balance between low cost 

81



 
 

short-term loans (currently available at around 0.75%) and long-term 

fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but higher (currently 

2.0% to 3.0%). The Council also utilises its ability to “internally borrow” 

which is very attractive when it has surplus funds available and it is 

unable to achieve any significant return through its Treasury 

Management activities with external interest rates for investments 

being at historic lows. 

 

21. Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding borrowing are shown 

below, compared with the capital financing requirement (see above). 
 

Table 6: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement in 

£ millions 

 31.3.2018 

actual 

31.3.2019 

forecast 

31.3.2020 

budget 

31.3.2021 

budget 

31.3.2022 

budget 

Borrowing 211.837 211.837 220.837 232.637 238.837 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 

233.628 241.330 252.279 261.583 267.989 

 

22. Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital 

financing requirement, except in the short-term.  As can be seen from 

table 6, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 

 

23. Liability benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing 

against an alternative strategy, a liability benchmark has been 

calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes 

that cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum level of 

£10m at each year-end. This benchmark is currently £198.901m and is 

forecast to rise to £238.754m over the next three years. 
 

Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark in £ millions 

 31.3.2018 

actual 

31.3.2019 

forecast 

31.3.2020 

budget 

31.3.2021 

budget 

31.3.2022 

budget 

Outstanding 

borrowing 
211.837 211.837 220.837 232.637 238.837 

Liability 

benchmark 
184.349 198.901 218.555 232.607 238.754 

 

24. The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed above its 

liability benchmark. This is because cash outflows to date have been 

below the assumptions made when the loans were borrowed. 

 

25. Affordable borrowing limit: The Council is legally obliged to set an 

affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised limit for external 

debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line with statutory 

82



 
 

guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level 

should debt approach the limit. 
 

Table 7: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for 

external debt in £m 

 2018/19 

limit 

2019/20 

limit 

2020/21 

limit 

2021/22 

limit 

Authorised limit – borrowing 280.000 283.000 292.000 298.000 

Operational boundary – borrowing 270.500 273.000 282.000 288.000 

 

26. Further details on borrowing are given in paragraphs 30 to 40 of the 

‘Treasury Management Strategy’ (Appendix C). 

 

27. Investment strategy: Treasury investments arise from receiving cash 

before it is paid out again. Investments made for service reasons or for 

pure financial gain are not generally considered to be part of treasury 

management.  

 

28. The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and 

liquidity over yield, that is to focus on minimising risk rather than 

maximising returns.  Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is 

invested securely, for example with the government, other local 

authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss.  

Money that will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, which 

might include bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk of loss 

against the risk of receiving returns below inflation.  Both near-term and 

longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an 

external fund manager makes decisions on which particular 

investments to buy and the Council may request its money back at 

short notice.  
 

Table 8: Treasury management investments in £millions 

 
31.3.2018 

actual 

31.3.2019 

forecast 

31.3.2020 

budget 

31.3.2021 

budget 

31.3.2022 

budget 

Near-term 

investments 
35.488 20.936 10.282 8.030 8.083 

Longer-term 

investments: 

Property Fund 

2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000 

TOTAL 37.488 22.936 12.282 10.030 10.083 

 

29. Further details on treasury investments are in paragraphs 41 to 64 of 

the ‘Treasury Management Strategy’ (Appendix C). 

 

30. Governance: Decisions on treasury management investment and 

borrowing are made daily and are therefore delegated to the Head of 

83



 
 

Finance and staff, who must act in line with the treasury management 

strategy approved by Full Council.  Half-yearly reports on treasury 

management activity are presented to Cabinet.  The Cabinet Overview 

Working Group is responsible for scrutinising treasury management 

decisions. 

 

Investments for Service Purposes 

 

31. The Council makes investments to assist local public services, 

including making loans to promote economic growth and lending to its 

subsidiary company, HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd, which 

provides extensive building maintenance services.  In light of the public 

service objective, the Council is willing to take more risk than with 

treasury investments, however it still plans for such investments to, at 

least, break even after all costs. 

 

32. Governance:  All decisions to date have been made subject to formal 

reporting and approval by Cabinet. 

 

33. Further details on service investments are in paragraphs 6 to 10 of the 

‘Investment Strategy’ (Appendix D). 

 

Commercial Activities 

 

34. With central government financial support for local public services 

declining, some Councils are investing in commercial property purely or 

mainly for financial gain. Harlow Council has not followed this course of 

action to date. 

 

35. New Guidance requires Councils to disclose any property that it holds 

primarily or partially to generate a profit.  

 

36. Harlow Council has nine such assets, mainly telecommunication masts 

on top of high rise blocks, the golf course, two cottages and a former 

farmhouse.  These generate an income of just over £100,000 a year 

(see Appendix D, ‘Investment Strategy’).   

 

37. Construction commenced in 2018 on the new Nexus building at the 

Harlow Enterprise Zone.  This will be a wholly owned asset which will 

be let to commercial tenants and whilst it will deliver an income stream 

to the Council a key determinant in the decision to proceed with the 

building was the regeneration and economic benefits it would bring to 

Harlow. 

 

 

84



 
 

Liabilities 

 

38. In addition to debt of £211.837m detailed above, the Council is 

committed to making future payments to cover its pension fund deficit 

(valued at £91.696m as at 31 March 2018).  It has also set aside 

£0.955m to cover risks of Business Rates appeals and £0.162m for 

other minor provisions.  The Council is also covers the risk of having to 

pay for small-value insurance claims for which self-insurance is in place 

and managed through earmarked reserves. 

 

39. Governance: Decisions on incurring new discretional liabilities are 

taken by Senior Management Board in consultation with the Head of 

Finance.  It is the responsibility of Senior Managers to consult the Head 

of Finance on any matter liable to affect the Council’s finances 

materially (for values above £50,000).  In the event of any substantial 

liabilities arising during the course of the financial year, these are 

highlighted in the financial and performance monitoring reports, 

presented quarterly to Cabinet and onwards to Full Council.   

 

40. Further details guarantees are set out in the Investment Strategy 

2019/20 (Appendix D, paragraph 14), whilst further details of contingent 

liabilities are contained in Note 38 of the ‘Statement of Accounts 

2017/18’.  

 

Revenue Budget Implications 

 

41. Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue 

budget, interest payable on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, 

offset by any investment income receivable. The net annual charge is 

known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream 

i.e. for the General Fund, the amount funded from Council Tax, 

business rates and general government grants; and for the Housing 

Revenue Account, predominantly housing rent income. 
 

Table 9: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 
2017/18 

actual 

2018/19 

forecast 

2019/20 

budget 

2020/21 

budget 

2021/22 

budget 

Financing costs (£m) 7.010 7.010 7.167 7.638 7.955 

Proportion of net 

revenue stream 
0.57% 2.35% 3.29% 5.54% 7.53% 

HRA      

Financing Costs (£m) 6.639 6.588 6.518 6.677 6.878 

Proportion of net 

revenue stream 
13.24% 14.21% 15.16% 13.72% 13.30% 

 

85



 
 

42. Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure are 

on pages 28 to 29 of the General Fund 2019/20 report. 

 

43. Sustainability: Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure 

and financing, the revenue budget implications of expenditure incurred 

in the next few years will extend for up to 50 years into the future. 

Capital investment decision making is not only about ensuring the initial 

allocation of capital funds meets the corporate and service priorities but 

ensuring the asset is fully utilised, sustainable and affordable 

throughout its whole life, which also includes the affordability of its debt 

financing costs.  In approving the inclusion of schemes and projects 

within the Capital Programme the Head of Finance will need to have 

been satisfied that the proposed capital programme is prudent, 

affordable and sustainable.  

 

Knowledge and Skills 

 

44. The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff 

across a range of disciplines including finance, legal and property that 

follow Continuous Professional Development (CPD) which is reflected 

within Personal Performance Plans (PPP) for those individuals.  The 

Council encourages apprenticeships and study programmes for staff 

with the ambition to achieve a professional qualification. 

 

45. Recognising the scale of the Council’s staffing, where Council staff do 

not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of external 

advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field.  The Council 

currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management 

advisers, Wilks Head and Eve LLP as property valuation advisers, as 

well as other reputable firms of property consultants to support it in 

assessing the condition of its asset, advising on property transactions 

and any new developments.  This approach is more cost effective than 

employing such staff directly, and ensures that the Council has access 

to knowledge and skills commensurate with its risk appetite. 

 

46. Internal and external training is offered to elected Members to ensure 

they have up to date knowledge and expertise to understand and 

challenge capital and treasury decisions taken by the administration, 

the Strategic Management Board and the Head of Finance. 

  

86



 
 

APPENDIX B 

Capital Programme Strategy Statement 2019/20 

Introduction 

 

1. This document sets out the Council’s Capital Programme Medium 

Term Financial Strategy, providing more information to that given in the 

‘Capital Strategy Report’ (Appendix A). 

 

Capital Expenditure: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

2. Estimates for Capital Expenditure through to 2023/24 are summarised 

below: 
 

Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions 

 2017/18 

actual 

(£m) 

2018/19 

forecast 

(£m) 

2019/20 

budget 

(£m) 

2020/21 

budget 

(£m) 

2021/22 

budget 

(£m) 

2022/23 

budget 

(£m) 

2023/24 

budget 

(£m) 

General 

Fund 

services 

       

Core 

Programme 
3.604 4.313 3.490 2.802 2.137 2.137 1.637 

Enterprise 

Zone (GF) 
4.195 5.790 5.319 - - - - 

Prentice 

Place (GF) 
0.297 1.002 2.347 - - - - 

Sub-Total 8.096 11.105 11.156 2.802 2.137 2.137 1.637 

Council 

housing 

(HRA) 

       

Core 

Programme  
13.346 19.048 20.328 14.486 13.441 12.843 14.992 

Building 

Council 

Homes (HRA) 

- 0.465 3.716 9.813 6.779 0.214 - 

Sub-Total 13.346 19.513 24.044 24.299 20.220 13.057 14.992 

TOTAL 21.442 30.618 35.200 27.101 22.357 15.194 16.629 

 

3. The above table repeats that given in the ‘Capital Strategy Report’ 

(Appendix A) with the forecast 2018/19 and estimates for 2019/20 

requiring Council approval given in more detail in a separate report 

‘Capital Programmes 2018/19 & 2019/20’ to this meeting. 

 

4. The Capital Programme is divided, for convenience, between a 

Housing Capital Programme (HCP) and Non Housing Capital 

Programme (NHCP).  Both are then sub-divided between their Core 

Programmes and specific projects: in the NHCP this is the Enterprise 

87



 
 

Zone and regeneration of Prentice Place; in the HCP this covers the 

first major programme to build Council homes.  The financing of the 

Capital Programme (see Table 3 below) is likewise treated separately, 

the Housing Capital Programme being funded exclusively through the 

Housing Revenue Account. 

 

Building Council Homes 

 

5. The Council’s ‘Corporate Plan 2017-2020’ places emphasis on ‘More 

and Better Housing’, tackling the housing need of Harlow residents, 

both in quantity, affordability, range and quality. 

 

6. In addition to projects included in the ‘HRA Business Plan 2017-2047’, 

a cross-departmental Officer Task Group has identified a further 

programme of house building which was approved by Cabinet on 6 

December 2018.  This includes developments at The Readings, 

Bushey Croft and Lister House for which planning permission has 

already been granted. 

 

7. The programme will be financed from retained pooling receipts and 

external borrowing, both within the Council’s Housing Revenue 

Account.  The Government allows Councils to keep receipts from a 

proportion of ‘Right To Buy’ sales on condition that these are spent 

within three years on building replacement council homes.  Failure to 

deliver would result in retained receipts being repaid to Government at 

a penalty of base rate plus 4%.  It is therefore essential that the 

programme is delivered in a timely manner, and that further retained 

receipts are drawn down prior to need.  

 

8. The outline intention is to build homes and let at either social rent or an 

affordable level of rent. 

 

9. A programme for house building is set out below.  
 

  

88



 
 

Table 2: Council House Building Programme 

 Number 

of Units 
2018/19 

forecast 

(£m) 

2019/20 

budget 

(£m) 

2020/21 

budget 

(£m) 

2021/22 

budget 

(£m) 

2022/23 

budget 

(£m) 

2023/24 

budget 

(£m) 

Programme        

Temporary 

Accom-

modation 

7 0.250 0.054 - - - - 

Sumners 

Farm Close 
4 0.050 0.450 - - - - 

The 

Readings 
3 0.075 0.560 0.261 0.010 - - 

Bushey 

Croft 
16 0.078 2.621 0.463 0.040 - - 

Lister 

House, 

Perry Road 

46 - 0.031 5.734 5.961 0.156 - 

Elm Hatch 17 0.012 - 3.355 0.768 0.058 - 

TOTAL 

(see Table 

1) 

93 0.465 3.716 9.813 6.779 0.214 - 

Financed by        

Pooling 

Receipts 

(see Table 

3) 

 0.140 1.115 2.944 2.034 0.064 - 

HRA 

balances, 

including 

External 

Borrowing  

 0.325 2.601 6.869 4.745 0.150 - 

TOTAL  0.465 3.716 9.813 6.779 0.214 - 

 

10. This programme has been included in the ‘HRA Business Plan 2018-

2048’, included for approval at this same meeting. 

 

11. It is the intention that external borrowing will finance the balance of the 

house building programme.  The HRA Business Plan has set out an 

indicative draw down of finance to support this goal: £2.7m in 2019/20, 

£6.8m in 2020/21 and a further £4.4m in 2021/22 with repayment after 

15 years.  Borrowing will be utilised as the need arises, as indicated in 

Table 3 below. 

 

Capital Financing: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

12. The planned financing of the above expenditure (Table 1) is as follows: 
 

  

89



 
 

Table 3: Capital financing in £ millions 

 2017/18 

actual 

(£m) 

2018/19 

forecast 

(£m) 

2019/20 

budget 

(£m) 

2020/21 

budget 

(£m) 

2021/22 

budget 

(£m) 

2022/23 

budget 

(£m) 

2023/24 

budget 

(£m) 

General 

Fund 

services 

       

Capital 

Receipts: 

RTB 

0.203 0.205 0.207 0.209 0.212 0.214 0.216 

Capital 

Receipts: 

Other 

1.057 1.973 0.250 - - - - 

Grants 2.352 0.634 0.535 0.655 0.605 0.605 0.605 

Direct 

Revenue 

Financing 

0.616 0.534 0.156 0.156 0.156 0.156 0.156 

Internal 

borrowing 
3.868 7.759 3.708 - - - - 

External 

borrowing 
- - 6.300 1.782 1.164 1.162 0.660 

Sub-Total 8.096 11.105 11.156 2.802 2.137 2.137 1.637 

Council 

housing 

(HRA) 

       

Capital 

Receipts 
- 2.752 0.953 0.677 0.692 0.708 0.723 

Grants 0.042 0.230 - - - - - 

Major 

Repairs 

Reserve 

11.801 9.940 10.085 10.249 10.430 10.695 10.874 

Direct 

Revenue 

Financing 

1.503 6.451 9.191 3.629 2.664 1.590 3.395 

Pooling 

Receipts 
- 0.140 1.115 2.944 2.034 0.064 - 

External 

borrowing 
- - 2.700 6.800 4.400 - - 

Sub-Total 13.346 19.513 24.044 24.299 20.220 13.057 14.992 

TOTAL 21.442 30.618 35.200 27.101 22.357 15.194 16.629 

  

90



 
 

APPENDIX C 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 
 

Summary of the Report 

 

1. This Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) is now nestled 

within an overarching sequence of capital related reports but is of no 

less importance than before.  It sets out the treasury management 

issues in accordance with proper practice. 

 

2. It provides an update of external economic conditions impacting on the 

Council.  The major issues of borrowing and investments are now 

covered in the new ‘Investment Strategy’ (Appendix D). 

 

3. The Council uses treasury management advisors to help its decision 

making, keeping officers up to date with economic developments and 

providing training and support.  Arlingclose Limited has been the 

Council’s appointed advisor since December 2012. 

 

4. Economic background and commentary has been provided by 

Arlingclose and included throughout the Statement. Treasury 

management continues to operate in a challenging environment with 

low interest rates and inflation above the Bank of England’s target of 

2%. 

 

5. The UK economy is in an uncertain state as the government continues 

to navigate its exit from the European Union.  

 

6. As a steward of public finance, the Council will continue to take all 

practical steps to protect its investment portfolio.  In this respect 

emphasis remains in this order of priority: 

 

 Security: which includes the following, some of which might 

appear contradictory: 

 Reducing risk in order to protect the return of capital 

sums, particularly in relation to the Council’s investments; 

 The repayment of the sums invested ; and / or 

 Attempting as far as possible, within the parameters of 

this document, a total return equal to or higher than the 

prevailing rate of inflation. 

 

 Liquidity: availability of cash when needed (adequate but not 

excessive liquidity). 

 

 Yield: a return commensurate with the level of risk. 

 

91



 
 

7. Harlow Council has embarked on a number of major projects which will 

deplete surplus cash held.  It is anticipated that, during 2019/20, the 

Council will need to undertake external borrowing. 

 

Introduction 

 

8. Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 

borrowing and investments, and the associated risks. The Council has 

invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to 

financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue 

effect of changing interest rates. The successful identification, 

monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central to the 

Council’s prudent financial management.  

 

9. Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the 

framework of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 

Practice 2017 Edition’ (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Council to 

approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 

financial year.  This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the 

‘Local Government Act 2003’ to have regard to the CIPFA Code. 

 

10. Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are 

considered in a different report, the ‘Investment Strategy’ (Appendix D). 

 

External Context. (Commentary provided by Arlingclose Ltd.) 

 

11. Economic background: The UK’s progress negotiating its exit from 

the European Union, together with its future trading arrangements, will 

continue to be a major influence on the Council’s treasury management 

strategy for 2019/20. 

 

12. UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for October was up 2.4% year on 

year, slightly below the consensus forecast and broadly in line with the 

Bank of England’s November Inflation Report.  The most recent labour 

market data for October 2018 showed the unemployment rate edged 

up slightly to 4.1% while the employment rate of 75.7% was the joint 

highest on record.  The 3-month average annual growth rate for pay 

excluding bonuses was 3.3% as wages continue to rise steadily and 

provide some pull on general inflation.  Adjusted for inflation, real 

wages grew by 1.0%, a level still likely to have little effect on consumer 

spending. 

 

13. The rise in quarterly Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth to 0.6% in 

Q3 (Jul – Sep 2018) from 0.4% in the previous quarter was due to 

weather-related factors boosting overall household consumption and 

construction activity over the summer following the weather-related 

92



 
 

weakness in Q1 (Jan – Mar 2018).  At 1.5%, annual GDP growth 

continues to remain below trend.  Looking ahead, the Bank of England, 

in its November Inflation Report, expects GDP growth to average 

around 1.75% over the forecast horizon, providing the UK’s exit from 

the EU is relatively smooth. 

 

14. Following the Bank of England’s decision to increase Bank Rate to 

0.75% in August, no changes to monetary policy has been made since.  

However, the Bank expects that should the economy continue to 

evolve in line with its November forecast, further increases in Bank 

Rate will be required to return inflation to the 2% target.  The Monetary 

Policy Committee continues to reiterate that any further increases will 

be at a gradual pace and limited in extent. 

 

15. While US growth has slowed over 2018, the economy continues to 

perform robustly.  The US Federal Reserve continued its tightening 

bias throughout 2018, pushing rates to the current 2%-2.25% in 

September.  Markets continue to expect one more rate rise in 

December, but expectations are fading that the further hikes previously 

expected in 2019 will materialise as concerns over trade wars drag on 

economic activity. 
 

16. Credit outlook: The big four UK banking groups have now divided 

their retail and investment banking divisions into separate legal entities 

under ringfencing legislation. Bank of Scotland, Barclays Bank UK, 

HSBC UK Bank, Lloyds Bank, National Westminster Bank, Royal Bank 

of Scotland and Ulster Bank are the ringfenced banks that now only 

conduct lower risk retail banking activities.  Barclays Bank, HSBC 

Bank, Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets and NatWest Markets are the 

investment banks. Credit rating agencies have adjusted the ratings of 

some of these banks with the ringfenced banks generally being better 

rated than their non-ringfenced counterparts.  

 

17. The Bank of England released its latest report on bank stress testing, 

illustrating that all entities included in the analysis were deemed to 

have passed the test once the levels of capital and potential mitigating 

actions presumed to be taken by management have been factored in.  

The Bank of England did not require any bank to raise additional 

capital.  

 

18. European banks are considering their approach to Brexit, with some 

looking to create new UK subsidiaries to ensure they can continue 

trading here.  The credit strength of these new banks remains 

unknown, although the chance of parental support is assumed to be 

very high if ever needed.  The uncertainty caused by protracted 

negotiations between the UK and EU is weighing on the 

creditworthiness of both UK and European banks with substantial 

operations in both jurisdictions. 

93



 
 

 

19. Interest rate forecast: Following the increase in Bank Rate to 0.75% 

in August 2018, the Council’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose 

is forecasting two more 0.25% hikes during 2019 to take official UK 

interest rates to 1.25%.  The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy 

Committee (MPC) has maintained expectations for slow and steady 

rate rises over the forecast horizon.  The MPC continues to have a bias 

towards tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to push interest rate 

expectations too strongly.  Arlingclose believes that MPC members 

consider both that ultra-low interest rates result in other economic 

problems, and that higher Bank Rate will be a more effective policy 

weapon should downside Brexit risks crystallise when rate cuts will be 

required. 

 

20. The UK economic environment remains relatively soft, despite 

seemingly strong labour market data.  Arlingclose’s view is that the 

economy still faces a challenging outlook as it exits the European 

Union and Eurozone growth softens.  Whilst assumptions are that a 

Brexit deal is struck and some agreement reached on transition and 

future trading arrangements before the UK leaves the EU, the 

possibility of a “no deal” Brexit still hangs over economic activity.  As 

such, the risks to the interest rate forecast are considered firmly to the 

downside. 

 

21. Gilt yields and hence long-term borrowing rates have remained at low 

levels but some upward movement from current levels is expected 

based on Arlingclose’s interest rate projections, due to the strength of 

the US economy and the European Central Bank’s (ECB) forward 

guidance on higher rates. 10-year and 20-year gilt yields are forecast to 

remain around 1.7% and 2.2% respectively over the interest rate 

forecast horizon, however volatility arising from both economic and 

political events are likely to continue to offer borrowing opportunities. 

 

22. A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by 

Arlingclose is attached at Annex A. 

 

23. For the purpose of setting the budget, it has been assumed that new 

investments will be made at an average rate of 1.39%, and that new 

long-term loans will be borrowed at an average rate of 3.5%. 

 

Local Context 

 

24. On 31 December 2018, the Council held £211.837m of borrowing and 

£45.5m of investments. This is set out in further detail at Annex B.  

Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet 

analysis in table 1 below. 
 

  

94



 
 

Table 1: Balance sheet summary and forecast 

 

25. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and 

working capital are the underlying resources available for investment.  

The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and 

investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal 

borrowing.  

 

26. The Council has an increasing CFR due to the capital programme, but 

minimal investments and will therefore be required to borrow up to 

£27m over the forecast period (to March 2022). 

 

27. CIPFA’s ‘Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities’ 

recommends that the Council’s total debt should be lower than its 

highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the 

Council expects to comply with this recommendation during 2019/20. 

 

28. Liability benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing 

against an alternative strategy, a liability benchmark has been 

calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes the 

same forecasts as table 1 above, but that cash and investment 

balances are kept to a minimum level of £10m at each year-end to 

maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk. 
 

  

 

31.3.18 

Actual 

£m 

31.3.19 

Estimate 

£m 

31.3.20 

Forecast 

£m 

31.3.21 

Forecast 

£m 

31.3.22 

Forecast 

£m 

General Fund CFR 46.258 53.960 62.209 64.713 66.719 

HRA CFR 187.370 187.370 190.070 196.870 201.270 

Total CFR 233.628 241.330 252.279 261.583 267.989 

Less: Other debt liabilities * - - - - - 

Borrowing CFR 233.628 241.330 252.279 261.583 267.989 

Less: External borrowing ** (-)211.837 (-)211.837 (-)220.837 (-)232.537 (-)238.537 

Internal borrowing 21.791 29.493 31.442 28.946 29.152 

Less: Usable reserves (-)51.581 (-)44.684 (-)35.979 (-)31.231 (-)31.490 

Less: Working capital (-)7.698 (-)7.745 (-)7.745 (-)7.745 (-)7.745 

Investments (-)37.488 (-)22.936 (-)12.282 (-)10.030 (-)10.083 

95



 
 

Table 2: Liability benchmark 

 

29. Following on from the medium-term forecasts in table 2 above, the 

long-term liability benchmark assumes capital expenditure funded by 

borrowing of £27.8m, minimum revenue provision on new capital 

expenditure based on a 40 year asset life and income, expenditure and 

reserves all increasing by inflation of. 

 

Borrowing Strategy 

 

30. The Council currently holds £211.837m of loans, being the same as the 

previous year, as part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital 

programmes. The balance sheet forecast in table 1 shows that the 

Council expects to borrow up to £9m in 2019/20.  The Council may also 

borrow additional sums to pre-fund future years’ requirements, 

providing this does not exceed the authorised limit for borrowing of 

£283 million. 

 

31. Objectives: The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to 

strike an appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest 

costs and achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which 

funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 

Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective. 

 

32. Strategy: Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in 

particular to local government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy 

continues to address the key issue of affordability without 

compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-

term interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it 

remains likely to be more cost effective in the short-term to either use 

internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.  Where 

longer-term loans are utilized, they will be considered in the context of 

ensuring interest rates will be adequately balanced by income streams 

associated with the capital investment being financed. 

 

33. By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite 

foregone investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. The 

benefits of internal/ short-term borrowing will be monitored regularly 

against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring 

 

31.3.18 

Actual 

£m 

31.3.19 

Estimate 

£m 

31.3.20 

Forecast 

£m 

31.3.21 

Forecast 

£m 

31.3.22 

Forecast 

£m 

Borrowing CFR  233.628 241.330 252.279 261.583 267.989 

Less: Usable reserves (-)51.581 (-)44.684 (-)35.979 (-)31.231 (-)31.490 

Less: Working capital (-)7.698 (-)7.745 (-)7.745 (-)7.745 (-)7.745 

Plus: Minimum investments 10.000 10.000 10.000 10.000 10.000 

Liability Benchmark 184.349 198.901 218.555 232.607 238.754 

96



 
 

borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are 

forecast to rise modestly. Arlingclose will assist the Council with this 

‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. Its output may determine 

whether the Council borrows additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 

2019/20 with a view to keeping future interest costs low, even if this 

causes additional cost in the short-term. 

 

34. In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans to cover 

unplanned cash flow shortages, although this eventuality is highly 

unlikely to occur because the spread of investments provides for 

sufficient cash liquidity to meet forecast cash flows. 

 

35. Sources of borrowing: The Council’s preferred source of long-term 

and short-term borrowing is the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and 

any successor body.  Other options for sources of borrowing are: 

 any institution approved for investments, including public sector 

bodies (see below) 

 any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the 

UK 

 UK public and private sector pension funds (except [your local] 

Pension Fund) 

 capital market bond investors 

 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose 

companies created to enable local authority bond issues. 

 

36. Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be 

raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, but are 

increasingly classed as other debt liabilities as accounting regulations 

require: 

 Leasing 

 Hire purchase 

 Private Finance Initiative  

 Sale and leaseback 

 

37. The Council has previously raised all of its long-term borrowing from 

the PWLB but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such 

as local authority loans and bank loans, that may be available at more 

favourable rates. 

 

38. Municipal Bonds Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was 

established in 2014 by the Local Government Association as an 

alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets 

and lend the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more 

97



 
 

complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: 

borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a 

joint and several guarantee to refund their investment in the event that 

the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time of 

several months between committing to borrow and knowing the interest 

rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be 

the subject of a separate report to Cabinet and Full Council.   

 

39. Short-term and variable rate loans: These loans leave the Council 

exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore 

subject to the interest rate exposure limits in the treasury management 

indicators below. 

 

40. Debt rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans 

before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a discount 

according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Other 

lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption 

terms. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans 

with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 

expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk. 

 

Investment Strategy 

 

41. The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income 

received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held. In 

the past 12 months, the Council’s investment balance has ranged 

between £22.936m and £53.740m, and but reduced levels are 

expected to be maintained in the forthcoming year. 

 

42. Objectives: The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds 

prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 

investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The 

Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate 

balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses 

from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment 

income.  Where balances are expected to be invested for more than 

one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or 

higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the 

spending power of the sum invested. 

 

43. Negative interest rates:  If the UK enters into a recession in 2019/20, 

there is a small chance that the Bank of England could set its Bank 

Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to negative 

interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options.  This 

situation has already existed in many other European countries.  In this 

event, security will be measured as receiving the contractually agreed 

98



 
 

amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount 

originally invested. 

 

44. Strategy:  Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-

term unsecured bank investments, the Council aims to further diversify 

into more secure and/or higher yielding asset classes during 2018/19 

where cash is identified as available for longer-term investment. This 

diversification will represent a continuation of the current strategy. 

 

45. Approved counterparties: The Council may invest its surplus funds 

with any of the counterparty types in table 3 below, subject to the cash 

limits (per counterparty) and the time limits shown. 

 

46. The cash limits assume an investment portfolio between £30m and 

£40m.  If, as anticipated, the cash holding falls then the approved 

investment limits will be reduced accordingly on instruction to officers 

by the Head of Finance.  

 

47. Harlow Council’s typical day-to-day investments are with local 

authorities for up to one year, the maximum investment currently being 

£4m per local authority (see below). 
 

Table 3: Approved investment counterparties and limits 

Credit 

rating 

Banks 

unsecured 

Banks 

secured 
Government Corporates 

Registered 

Providers 

UK Govt n/a n/a 
£ Unlimited 

50 years 
n/a n/a 

AAA 
£2m 

5 years 

£4m 

20 years 

£4m 

50 years 

£2m 

20 years 

£2m 

20 years 

AA+ 
£2m 

5 years 

£4m 

10 years 

£4m 

25 years 

£2m 

10 years 

£2m 

10 years 

AA 
£2m 

4 years 

£4m 

5 years 

£4m 

15 years 

£2m 

5 years 

£2m 

10 years 

AA- 
£2m 

3 years 

£4m 

4 years 

£4m 

10 years 

£2m 

4 years 

£2m 

10 years 

A+ 
£2m 

2 years 

£4m 

3 years 

£2m 

5 years 

£2m 

3 years 

£2m 

5 years 

A 
£2m 

13 months 

£4m 

2 years 

£2m 

5 years 

£2m 

2 years 

£2m 

5 years 

A- 
£2m 

6 months 

£4m 

13 months 

£2m 

5 years 

£2m 

13 months 

£2m 

5 years 

None 
£1m 

6 months 
n/a 

£4m 

25 years 

£50,000 

5 years 

£2m 

5 years 

Pooled funds and real 

estate investment trusts 
£4m per fund or trust 

This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below 

 

48. Credit rating: Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest 

published long-term credit rating from a selection of external rating 

agencies.  Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific 

investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty 

99



 
 

credit rating is used.  However, investment decisions are never made 

solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including 

external advice will be taken into account. 

 

49. Banks unsecured: Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and 

senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than 

multilateral development banks.  These investments are subject to the 

risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the 

bank is failing or likely to fail. See below for arrangements relating to 

operational bank accounts. 

 

50. Banks secured: Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and 

other collateralised arrangements with banks and building societies.  

These investments are secured on the bank’s assets, which limits the 

potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that they 

are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no investment specific credit 

rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a 

credit rating, the higher of the collateral credit rating and the 

counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash and time 

limits.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one 

bank will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments. 

 

51. Government: Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national 

governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral 

development banks.  These investments are not subject to bail-in, and 

there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero 

risk.  Investments with the UK Central Government may, in principle, be 

made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years, although tying up the 

Council’s cashflow for such an extensive period is particularly unlikely 

and an unforeseen occurrence.  

 

52. Local Authorities:  The Council’s day-to-day investment transactions 

have moved more towards investments with other local authorities 

rather than banks.  Councils have a legal duty to pass a balanced 

budget, have revenue raising powers, and a lender of last resort in the 

form of the Public Works Loan Board.   In unusual circumstances, the 

lender is able to recoup the principal sum lent under the Local 

Government Act 2003, sections 6 and 13.  In spite of continued 

reductions in central government funding, making the setting of 

budgets and budget monitoring even more challenging, the risk of 

default remains very low.  Where a Council issues a notice under 

Section 114(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 – as is 

currently the case with Northamptonshire County Council – then 

section 115(6) of the Act prevents local authority lending.  The local 

government community is becoming more concerned about some 

entering into a new field of excessive commercial activity.  This Council 

will exercise a degree of caution and will not lend where it feels the risk 

100



 
 

is too great.  The Council may consider using an investment platform 

(iDealTrade) which contains qualitative information about borrowers. 

 

53. Corporates: Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by 

companies other than banks and registered providers.  These 

investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to the risk of the 

company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be 

made either following an external credit assessment or to a maximum 

of £50,000 per company as part of a diversified pool in order to spread 

the risk widely. 

 

54. Registered providers: Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or 

secured on the assets of registered providers of social housing and 

registered social landlords, formerly known as housing associations.  

These bodies are tightly regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing 

(in England).  As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood 

of receiving government support if needed.   

 

55. Pooled funds: Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles 

consisting of the any of the above investment types, plus equity shares 

and property. These funds have the advantage of providing wide 

diversification of investment risks, coupled with the services of a 

professional fund manager in return for a fee.  Short-term Money 

Market Funds that offer same-day liquidity and very low or no volatility 

will be used as an alternative to instant access bank accounts, while 

pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a 

notice period will be used for longer investment periods.  

 

56. Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer 

term, but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council 

to diversify into asset classes other than cash without the need to own 

and manage the underlying investments.  Because these funds have 

no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice 

period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the 

Council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly. 

 

57. Operational bank accounts: The Council may incur operational 

exposures, for example though current accounts, collection accounts 

and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no 

lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion.  These are 

not classed as investments, but are still subject to the risk of a bank 

bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept below £4m (except over the 

Christmas period, defined as 20 December to 4 January inclusive when 

the limit will be £6m).  The Bank of England has stated that in the event 

of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely to 

be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council 

maintaining operational continuity. 

101



 
 

 

58. Risk assessment and credit ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and 

monitored by the Council’s treasury advisers, who will notify changes in 

ratings as they occur.  Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded 

so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then: 

 

 no new investments will be made, 

 any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost 

will be, and 

 full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other 

existing investments with the affected counterparty. 

 

59. Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on 

review for possible downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” 

or “credit watch negative”) so that it may fall below the approved rating 

criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn will be made with 

that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This 

policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term 

direction of travel rather than an imminent change of rating. 

 

60. Other information on the security of investments: The Council 

understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 

investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available 

information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, 

including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information 

on potential government support, reports in the quality financial press 

and analysis and advice from the Council’s treasury management 

adviser.  No investments will be made with an organisation if there are 

substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may 

otherwise meet the above criteria. 

 

61. When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the 

creditworthiness of all organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2011, 

this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in other 

market measures. In these circumstances, the Council will restrict its 

investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce 

the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level 

of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing 

financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient 

commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to invest 

the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the 

UK Government via the Debt Management Office or invested in 

government treasury bills for example, or with other local authorities.  

This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, 

but will protect the principal sum invested. 

 

102



 
 

62. Investment limits: The Council’s revenue reserves available to cover 

investment losses are forecast to be £44.6m on 31 March 2019.  The 

maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK 

Government) will be £4m.  A group of banks under the same ownership 

will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will 

also be placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee 

accounts, foreign countries and industry sectors as below. Investments 

in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count 

against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is 

diversified over many countries.  

 

63. Once again, the cash limits assume an investment portfolio between 

£30m and £40m.  If, as anticipated, the cash holding falls then the 

approved investment limits will be reduced accordingly on instruction to 

officers by the Head of Finance.  
 

Table 4: Investment limits 

 Cash limit 

Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £4m each 

UK Central Government unlimited 

Any group of organisations under the same ownership £5m per group 

Any group of pooled funds under the same management £10m per manager 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £10m per broker 

Foreign countries £4m per country 

Registered providers and registered social landlords £10m in total 

Unsecured investments with building societies £4m in total 

Loans to unrated corporates £4m in total 

Money market funds £35m in total 

Real estate investment trusts £10m in total 

 

64. Liquidity management:  The Council uses a purpose-built cash flow 

forecasting spreadsheet to determine the maximum period for which 

funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is compiled on a 

prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow 

on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. Limits on 

long-term investments are set by reference to the Council’s medium-

term financial plan and cash flow forecast. 

 

Treasury Management Indicators 

 

65. The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury 

management risks using the following indicators. 

 

103



 
 

66. Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 

exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one-year 

revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will be: 
 

Interest rate risk indicator Limit 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest 

rates 
£347,897 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest 

rates 
£347,897 

 

67. The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the 

assumption that maturing loans and investments will be replaced at 

current rates. 

 

68. Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the 

Council’s exposure to refinancing risk.  The upper and lower limits on 

the maturity structure of borrowing will be: 
 

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit 

Under 12 months 25% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 50% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 100% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 100% 0% 

10 years and above 100% 0% 

 

69. Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity 

date of borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand 

repayment. 

 

70. Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The 

purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk 

of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments.  The 

limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond 

the period end will be: 
 

Price risk indicator 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £5m £5m £5m 

 

Related Matters 

 

71. The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its 

treasury management strategy. 

 

72. Policy on apportioning interest to the Housing Revenue Account:  

On 1 April 2012, the Council notionally split each of its existing long-

term loans into General Fund and HRA pools. In the future, new long-

104



 
 

term loans borrowed will be assigned in their entirety to one pool or the 

other.  Interest payable and other costs/income arising from long-term 

loans (e.g. premiums and discounts on early redemption) will be 

charged/ credited to the respective revenue account.  Differences 

between the value of the HRA loans pool and the HRA’s underlying 

need to borrow (adjusted for HRA balance sheet resources available 

for investment) will result in a notional cash balance which may be 

positive or negative.  This balance will be measured each month and 

interest transferred between the General Fund and HRA at the 

Council’s average interest rate on investments, adjusted for credit risk. 

 

73. Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives: Local authorities have 

previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans and 

investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars 

and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the 

expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The 

general power of competence in Section 1 of the ‘Localism Act 2011’ 

removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of 

standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a 

loan or investment). 

 

74. The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as 

swaps, forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly 

demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the 

Council is exposed to. Additional risks presented, such as credit 

exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when 

determining the overall level of risk. Embedded derivatives, including 

those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not 

be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be 

managed in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy. 

 

75. Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any 

organisation that meets the approved investment criteria. The current 

value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 

against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country 

limit. 

 

76. Markets in Financial Instruments Directive: The Council has opted 

up to professional client status with its providers of financial services, 

including advisers, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a 

smaller range of services but with the greater regulatory protections 

afforded to individuals and small companies. Given the size and range 

of the Council’s treasury management activities, the Head of Finance 

believes this to be the most appropriate status. 

 

 

 

105



 
 

Financial Implications 

 

77. The budget for investment income in 2019/20 is £244,000, based on an 

average investment portfolio of £17.6 million at an interest rate of 

1.385%.  The budget for debt interest paid in 2019/20 is £7.167 million, 

based on an average debt portfolio of £216.337 million at an average 

interest rate of 3.31%.  If actual levels of investments and borrowing, or 

actual interest rates, differ from those forecast, performance against 

budget will be correspondingly different. 

 

Other Options Considered 

 

78. The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury 

management strategy for local authorities to adopt. The Head of 

Finance, having consulted the Portfolio Holder (Resources), believes 

that the above strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk 

management and cost effectiveness.  Some alternative strategies, with 

their financial and risk management implications, are listed below. 

 
Alternative Impact on income and 

expenditure 
Impact on risk 
management 

Invest in a narrower range 
of counterparties and/or 
for shorter times 

Interest income will be 
lower 

Lower chance of losses from 
credit related defaults, but 
any such losses may be 
greater 

Invest in a wider range of 
counterparties and/or for 
longer times 

Interest income will be 
higher 

Increased risk of losses from 
credit related defaults, but 
any such losses may be 
smaller 

Borrow additional sums at 
long-term fixed interest 
rates 

Debt interest costs will rise; 
this is unlikely to be offset 
by higher investment 
income 

Higher investment balance 
leading to a higher impact 
in the event of a default; 
however long-term interest 
costs may be more certain 

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead of 
long-term fixed rates 

Debt interest costs will 
initially be lower 

Increases in debt interest 
costs will be broadly offset 
by rising investment income 
in the medium term, but 
long-term costs may be less 
certain  

Reduce level of borrowing  Saving on debt interest is 
likely to exceed lost 
investment income 

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a lower 
impact in the event of a 
default; however long-term 
interest costs may be less 
certain 

 

106



 
 

Annex A – Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast 

December 2018  

 

Underlying assumptions:  

 

1. The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) left the Bank Rate unchanged 

at the September meeting, after voting unanimously to increase Bank 

Rate to 0.75% in August. 

 

2. Our central interest rate forecasts are predicated on there being a 

transitionary period following the UK’s official exit from the EU.  

 

3. The MPC has a bias towards tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to 

push interest rate expectations too strongly. We believe that MPC 

members consider that: 1) tight labour markets will prompt inflationary 

pressure in the future, 2) ultra-low interest rates result in other 

economic problems, and 3) higher Bank Rate will be a more effective 

policy weapon if downside risks to growth crystallise. 

 

4. Both our projected outlook and the increase in the magnitude of 

political and economic risks facing the UK economy means we 

maintain the significant downside risks to our forecasts, despite the 

potential for slightly stronger growth next year as business investment 

rebounds should the EU Withdrawal Agreement be approved. The 

potential for severe economic outcomes has increased following the 

poor reception of the Withdrawal Agreement by Members of 

Parliament.  We expect the Bank of England to hold at or reduce 

interest rates from current levels if Brexit risks materialise. 

 

5. The UK economic environment is relatively soft, despite seemingly 

strong labour market data. GDP growth recovered somewhat in the 

middle quarters of 2018, but more recent data suggests the economy 

slowed markedly in Q4 (Oct – Dec 2018).  Our view is that the UK 

economy still faces a challenging outlook as the country exits the 

European Union and Eurozone economic growth softens. 

 

6. Cost pressures are easing but inflation is forecast to remain above the 

Bank’s 2% target through most of the forecast period. Lower oil prices 

have reduced inflationary pressure, but the tight labour market and 

decline in the value of sterling means inflation may remain above target 

for longer than expected.  

 

7. Global economic growth is slowing. Despite slower growth, the 

European Central Bank is conditioning markets for the end of 

Quantitative Easing (QE), the timing of the first rate hike (2019) and 

107



 
 

their path thereafter. More recent US data has placed pressure on the 

Federal Reserve to reduce the pace of monetary tightening – previous 

hikes and heightened expectations will, however, slow economic 

growth.  

 

8. Central bank actions and geopolitical risks have and will continue to 

produce significant volatility in financial markets, including bond 

markets. 

 

Forecast:  

 

9. The MPC has maintained expectations of a slow rise in interest rates 

over the forecast horizon, but recent events around Brexit have 

dampened interest rate expectations.  Our central case is for Bank 

Rate to rise twice in 2019, after the UK exits the EU. The risks are 

weighted to the downside. 

 

10. Gilt yields have remained at low levels. We expect some upward 

movement from current levels based on our central case that the UK 

will enter a transitionary period following its EU exit in March 2019. 

However, our projected weak economic outlook and volatility arising 

from both economic and political events will continue to offer borrowing 

opportunities. 
  

108



 
 

 

 

 

Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Average

Official Bank Rate

Upside risk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.17

Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.13

Downside risk 0.00 -0.50 -0.75 -0.75 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -0.85

3-mth money market rate

Upside risk 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.17

Arlingclose Central Case 0.90 0.95 1.10 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.27

Downside risk -0.20 -0.45 -0.60 -0.80 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.76

1-yr money market rate

Upside risk 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.33

Arlingclose Central Case 1.15 1.25 1.35 1.50 1.70 1.60 1.50 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.40

Downside risk -0.35 -0.50 -0.60 -0.80 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.77

5-yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37

Arlingclose Central Case 1.15 1.25 1.35 1.50 1.50 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.33

Downside risk -0.50 -0.60 -0.65 -0.80 -0.80 -0.70 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.66

10-yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37

Arlingclose Central Case 1.50 1.65 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.75 1.75 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

Downside risk -0.55 -0.70 -0.70 -0.80 -0.80 -0.75 -0.75 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.71

20-yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37

Arlingclose Central Case 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.18

Downside risk -0.60 -0.70 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

50-yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37

Arlingclose Central Case 1.90 1.95 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.99

Downside risk -0.60 -0.70 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.80%

PWLB Infrastructure Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60%

109



 
 

Annex B – Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position 
 

 31.12.18 

Actual 

Portfolio 

£m 

31.12.18 

Average Rate 

% 

External borrowing:  

Public Works Loan Board 

Total external borrowing 

 

211.837 

211.837 

 

3.31% 

3.31% 

Other long-term liabilities: - - 

Total gross external debt 211.837 3.31% 

Treasury investments: 

Banks & building societies (unsecured) 

Government (incl. local authorities) 

Money Market Funds 

Other pooled funds: 

Property Fund 

Cash Plus Fund 

 

(-)2.250 

(-)24.500 

(-)15.585 

 

(-)2.000 

(-)2.000 

 

0.60% 

0.85% 

0.71% 

 

4.13% 

0.75% 

Total treasury investments (-)46.335 0.93% 

Net debt  165.502  

 

 

 

Mortgage and other loans rate 
 
Schedule 16 of the Housing Act 1985 specifies that Councils must set the 
interest rate on mortgages arranged since October 1985 on an annual basis.  
Councils are required to charge the higher of: 
 

i. The Standard National Rate, which is set by the Secretary of State 
(currently 3.13%), or, 

ii. The applicable local average rate, based on the Council’s own 
borrowing costs and a small percentage (0.25%) for administration.  

 
The interest rate chargeable is therefore 3.56%. 
 

110



 
 

Annex C 
Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 
 
(i) Full Council 
 

- receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices 
and activities; 
- approval of annual strategy. 

 
(ii)  Cabinet 
 

- review of/ amendments to the Council’s adopted clauses and Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and making associated recommendations 
to Full Council; 

- budget consideration and recommendation to Full Council; 
- approval of the division of responsibilities; 
- receiving ad hoc treasury management monitoring reports and acting on 

recommendations. 
 
(iii)  Portfolio Holder for Resources 
 

- receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and making 
recommendations to Cabinet; 

- reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the Cabinet; 

- reviewing the treasury management practices; 
- approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment in conjunction with normal contract approval procedures. 
 
(iv)  Section 151 Officer 
 

- recommending clauses, treasury management policy for approval, reviewing 
the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

- setting treasury management practices; 
- submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 
- submitting budgets and budget variations; 
- receiving and reviewing management information reports; 
- reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
- ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources, skills and training, 

and the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 
function; 

- ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
- recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

111



 
 

Annex D 
Credit Ratings Table 
 
The Credit Ratings Table has been included as an annex in order to assist with 
understanding of the ratings referred to within the TMSS.  Generally the Council will 
invest in ‘High Grade’ or ‘Upper Medium Grade’ investments. 

 

112



 

38 
 

Annex E 
Glossary of Terms and Definitions 
 
Bank Rate:  
The term ‘Bank Rate’ is ‘the official Bank Rate paid on commercial bank reserves’, i.e. 
reserves placed by commercial banks with the Bank of England as part of the Bank’s 
operations to reduce volatility in short term interest rates in the money markets.  Previously 
referred to as “repo rate” this term has been replaced as a result of the change in 
terminology used by the Bank of England as from May 2006   
 
Base Rate:  
The term Base Rate refers to the rate which is set by each high street bank; it is the key 
foundational rate on which they each base all their various lending rates to customers. It is 
normally set at the same rate as the Bank Rate (q.v.) and changes in line with, and very 
soon after changes in Bank Rate. 
 
BRRD: ‘Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive’ 
 
 
CD:  see ‘Certificate of deposit'. 
 
CDS: see ‘Credit Default Swaps’ 
 
CFR:  see ‘Capital Financing Requirement’  
 
CP: see ‘Commercial paper'. 
 
CRA:  see ‘Credit Rating Agency’. 
 
Call Account: ‘Call account' is a bank deposit where funds can be withdrawn at any time. 
 
Callable Deposit 
Placing a deposit with a bank or building society at a set rate for a set amount of time. 
However, the borrower has the right to repay the funds on pre agreed dates before maturity. 
This decision is based upon how market rates have moved since the deal was agreed. If 
rates have fallen, the likelihood of the deposit being repaid rises, as cheaper money can be 
found by the borrower.  
 
Capital Financing Requirement 
The Capital Financing Requirement reflects the Council’s underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes.  Thus, if new capital expenditure is incurred and not financed from sources 
other than by borrowing, the CFR will increase by the amount of that expenditure.  
Borrowing, up to the value of the CFR, may be either from internal cash balances or 
externally, such as from the Public Works Loan Board (q.v.).   
 
Certificate of Deposit  
A certificate of deposit is an unsecured investment issued by a bank or building society 
which is a fixed deposit, giving a guaranteed interest return.  These differ from term deposits 
in that the lender is not obliged to hold the investment through to maturity and may realise 
the cash by selling the CD into an active secondary market.   This may be useful in 
instances where the counterparty receives a downgraded credit rating, or the investor 
encounters an unexpected cashflow issue.  CDs are obtained through specialist brokers who 
deal through the primary and secondary market.  CDs offer liquidity and greater access to 
counterparties who do not trade in term deposits. 
 
CIPFA: Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 

113



 

39 
 

 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 
This represents official practitioners’ guidance, which is produced by CIPFA.  The 
government expects Councils and other public service authorities to adopt and comply with 
the code.  The recommendations made in the Code provide a basis for all these public 
service organisations to create clear treasury management objectives and to structure and 
maintain sound treasury management policies and practices. 
 
CLG: Department of Communities and Local Government. 
 
Commercial Paper 
Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days issued by banks, 
corporations and other borrowers. Such instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, 
although some may be interest bearing. 
 
Corporate Bond 
Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by companies. However, the term is 
used to cover all bonds other than those issued by governments in their own currencies and 
includes issues by companies, supranational organisations and government agencies 
 
Counterparty 
A counterparty is a party with which a transaction is done. 
 
CPI:  Consumer Prices Index 
 
Credit Default Swaps 
A CDS is a contract between two counterparties in which the buyer of the contract makes 
quarterly payments to the seller of the contract in exchange for a payoff if there is a credit 
event (e.g. default) of the reference entity (i.e. the third party on whom the contract is 
based).  The contract essentially provides a means of insurance to the buyer of the CDS 
against default by a borrower.  The “spread” (effectively the premium paid by the CDS buyer) 
provides an indication of the perceived risk of a default occurring. 
 
Credit Rating 
A credit rating is an estimate of the quality of a debt from the lender viewpoint in terms of the 
likelihood of interest and capital not being paid and of the extent to which the lender is 
protected in the event of default. 
 
An individual, a firm or a government with a good credit rating can borrow money from 
financial institutions more easily and cheaply than those who have a bad credit rating. 
 
Credit Ratings are evaluated by Credit Rating agencies (q.v.). 
 
Credit rating agency 
‘Credit rating agency', or ‘rating agency', or CRA, is a firm that issues opinions on 
companies' ability to pay back their bonds.  These opinions are often abbreviated on an 
alphanumeric scale ranging from AAA to C (or equivalent).  The three CRAs used by the 
Council are Fitch, Moody's and Standard and Poor's. 
 
DMADF:  see ‘Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility’ 
 
DMO:  see ‘Debt Management Office’ 
 
Dealing 
Is the process of carrying out transactions with a counterparty (q.v.), including agreeing the 
terms of an investment.  This is usually conducted through a broker. 

114



 

40 
 

 
Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility 
Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office (q.v.), guaranteed by the UK 
government.   
 
Debt Management Office 
The Debt Management Office (DMO) is an executive agency of HM Treasury responsible for 
carrying out the government's debt management policy and managing the aggregate cash 
needs of the Exchequer. It is also responsible for lending to local authorities and managing 
certain public sector funds. 
 
Derivative 
A contract whose value is based on the performance of an underlying financial asset, index 
or other investment. e.g. an option is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock. 
 
 
ECB:  European Central Bank 
 
Equity 
A share in a company with limited liability. It generally enables the holder to share in the 
profitability of the company through dividend payments and capital gain.  
 
EU:  European Union  
 
 
Fed:  The Federal Reserve (US) 
 
FLS:  Funding for Lending Scheme 
 
Floating Rate Notes 
Bonds on which the rate of interest is established periodically with reference to short-term 
interest rates 
 
Forward Deal 
The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for an agreed time limit, on an 
agreed future date, at an agreed rate.  
 
Forward Deposits:  see ‘forward deal’  
 
Fund Manager 
The individual responsible for making decisions related to any portfolio of investments in 
accordance with the stated goals of the fund. 
 
 
GDP: Gross Domestic Product 
 
Gilt 
Registered British government securities giving the investor an absolute commitment from 
the government to honour the debt that those securities represent. 
 
Gilt Funds 
Pooled fund investing in bonds guaranteed by the UK government.  
 
 
HRA:  Housing Revenue Account 

115



 

41 
 

 
HRACFR:  Housing Revenue Account Capital Financing Requirement 
 
iTraxx benchmark 
A group of international credit derivative indexes that are monitored by the International 
Index Company (IIC). The credit derivatives market that iTraxx provides allows parties to 
transfer the risk and return of underlying assets from one party to another without actually 
transferring the assets. iTraxx indexes cover credit derivatives markets in Europe, Asia and 
Australia. 
 
 
Lender Option Borrower Option 
‘Lender Option Borrower Option’ (LOBO) is a floating rate instrument which allows the lender 
to designate an adjustment rate at periodic reset dates and lets the borrower decide whether 
to pay the rate or redeem the bond. 
 
Liquidity 
Liquidity refers to an asset that can be turned into cash or the ability to quickly sell or buy an 
asset 
 
LIBID: see ‘London Interbank Bid Rate’ 
 
LIBOR: see ‘London Interbank Offer Rate’  
 
LOBO:  see ‘Lender Option Borrower Option’ 
 
London Interbank Bid Rate 
The ‘London Interbank Bid Rate’ (LIBID) is the rate of interest at which first-class banks in 
London will bid for deposit funds. Often used as a benchmark for deposit rates. LIBID is not 
fixed in the same way as LIBOR (q.v.), but is typically one-sixteenth to one-eighth of a per 
cent below LIBOR.  
 
London Interbank Offer Rate 
‘London Interbank Offer Rate' (LIBOR) is the interest rate which banks pay when lending to 
each other.  It is calculated at a specified time each day and based on what it would cost a 
panel of banks to borrow funds for various periods of time and in various currencies.  It then 
creates an average of the individual banks’ figures. 
 
 
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II    
New client classification rules were introduced from 3 January 2018 as a result of the UK’s 
implementation of the second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II). Local 
authorities were transferred to ‘client status’ unless it requested to institutions to continue to 
be treated as a professional client in respect of all the regulated financial services that are 
provided. 
 
MHCLG:  Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
 
MiFID II:   see Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II 
 
MMF:  see ‘Money Market Fund’  
 
Money Market Fund 
Money Market Funds are mutual funds that invest in short-term debt instruments.  They 
provide the benefits of pooled investment, as investors can participate in a more diverse and 
high-quality portfolio than they otherwise could individually.  Like other mutual funds, each 

116



 

42 
 

investor who invests in a money market fund is considered a shareholder of the investment 
pool, a part owner of the fund.  Money market funds are actively managed within rigid and 
transparent guidelines to offer safety of principal, liquidity and competitive sector-related 
returns.  It is very similar to a unit trust, however, in a MMF equities are replaced by cash 
instruments. Returns are typically around 1 month LIBID (q.v.), and the average maturity is 
generally below 60 days.  
 
MPC:  Monetary Policy Committee 
 
MRP:  Minimum Revenue Provision, for the repayment of debt. 
 
 
Open Ended Investment Companies (OEIC) 
Investment funds that partly resemble an investment trust and partly a unit trust.  Like 
investment trusts, they issue shares on the London Stock Exchange and invest money 
raised from shareholders in other companies. The term open-ended means that when 
demand for the shares rises the fund manager just issues more shares, instead of there 
being a rise in the share price.  The price of OEIC shares is determined by the value of the 
underlying assets of the fund.  
 
Other Bond Funds 
Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds.  
 
 
PWLB: see ‘Public Works Loan Board’  
 
Programme of Development 
The balance of Programme of Development funding (POD) represents monies received from 
Central Government for regeneration in the east of England, and is held by the Council on 
behalf of a Partnership comprising local councils and partners from the third and private 
sectors.  The funding was received after a series of successful bids by the Partnership. 
 
Public Works Loan Board 
The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) is a UK Government statutory body whose function is 
to lend money from the National Loans Fund to Councils and other public bodies and to 
collect the repayments. 
 
Rating Agency:  see ‘Credit Rating Agency’ 
 
Repo:  see ‘Repurchase Agreement’ 
 
Repurchase Agreement 
‘Repurchase agreement', or repo, is a contract where the seller of certain securities agrees 
to buy them back from the purchaser at a specified time for an agreed price.  
 
 
 
Reverse Gilt Repo 
This is a transaction as seen from the point of view of the party which is buying the gilts. In 
this case, one party buys gilts from the other and, at the same time and as part of the same 
transaction, commits to resell equivalent gilts on a specified future date, or at call, at a 
specified price. 
 
Sovereign Issues (Ex UK Gilts) 
Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK government bonds. 
 

117



 

43 
 

Supranational Bonds 
Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment Bank. These bonds – now 
known as Multilateral Development Bank bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave 
similarly to gilts, but pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative illiquidity when 
compared with gilts. 
 
T-bills: see ‘Treasury Bills’. 
 
Term Deposit 
(or 'Time deposit') is a generic term for a bank deposit where funds cannot be withdrawn for 
a fixed period of time.  The lender receives a fixed rate of interest.  These are unsecured 
investments and place the lender at risk of bail-in should this occur during the term of the 
investment. 
 
Time Deposit:  see ‘Term Deposit’  
 
Treasury Bills 
Treasury bills are a AAA/AA+ rated, short-dated form of Government debt, issued by the 
Debt Management Office (q.v.), via a weekly tender, on a Friday.  Lenders would use the 
services of a specialist broker to access the market.  These usually have a maturity of one, 
three or six months and provide a return to the investor by virtue of being issued at a 
discount to their final redemption value.  There is also an active secondary market for T-bills 
which means that lending may be available for a range of dates.  Interest rates tend to be 
higher than the DMADF (q.v.).  
 
Treasury Management Strategy 
This is the Council’s overall policy and framework by which it will carry out that policy in 
relation to its borrowing and investment needs in the coming financial year. 
 
Treasury Management Policy Statement 
This is the Council’s statement of intention in respect of its treasury management.  It is 
prescribed by the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice (q.v.). 
 
Variable Rate Asset Value 
‘Variable Rate Asset Value’ (VNAV) occurs where the net asset value, or principal sum, 
invested may change depending on trading conditions.  The value is calculated at the end of 
the business day based on the value of investments less any liabilities divided by the 
number of shares outstanding.  With investments carrying this attribute, the capital sum 
invested may not be equal to the capital sum repaid. 
 
VNAV:  see ‘Variable Net Asset Value’. 
 
Weighted Average Maturity 
‘Weighted average maturity', or WAM, is used to measure interest rate risk.  WAM is 
calculated by taking the maturity of the underlying money market instruments held by the 
fund, weighted according to the relative holdings per instrument. 

  

118



 

44 
 

APPENDIX D 

 

Investment Strategy Report 2019/20 

 

Introduction 

 

1. The Council invests its money for three broad purposes: 

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for 

example when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as 

treasury management investments), 

 to support local public services by lending to other organisations 

(service investments), and 

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where 

this is the main purpose). 

 

2. This investment strategy is a new report for 2019/20, meeting the 

requirements of statutory guidance issued by the government in January 

2018, and focuses on the second and third of these categories.  

 

Treasury Management Investments  

 

3. The Council typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) 

before it pays for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices). It 

also holds reserves for future expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of 

other local authorities and central government. These activities, plus the 

timing of borrowing decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is invested in 

accordance with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy.  The balance of treasury management investments is expected 

to fluctuate between £12.2m and £22.9m during the 2019/20 financial year. 

 

4. Contribution: The contribution that these investments make to the objectives 

of the Council is to support effective treasury management activities.  

 

5. Further details: Full details of the Council’s policies and its plan for 2019/20 

for treasury management investments are covered in a separate document, 

the ‘Treasury Management Strategy’ (Appendix C). 

 

Service Investments: Loans 

 

6. Contribution: The Council has lends money to its subsidiary and a local 

business, to support local public services and stimulate local economic 

growth. 

 

119



 

45 
 

7. HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Harlow 

Council which began trading on 1 February 2017.  The Council provided a 

start-up loan to the business of £1.209m repayable over five years, two 

months, approved on 21 July 2016.  The balance outstanding as at 31 March 

2018 was £0.936m. 

 

8. Harlow Property Limited was provided with two loans to support the 

development of an Enterprise Zone, approved on 23 January 2014.  The 

amounts loaned were £1m on 15 March 2016 and a further £1.5m on 3 March 

2017.  Interest accrues on these loans.  The total outstanding as at 31 March 

2018 was £2.761m. 

 

9. Security: The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will 

be unable to repay the principal lent and/or the interest due. In order to limit 

this risk, and ensure that total exposure to service loans remains 

proportionate to the size of the Council, upper limits on the outstanding loans 

to each category of borrower have been set as follows: 
 

Table 1: Loans for service purposes in £ millions 

Category of borrower 31.3.2018  Actual 2019/20 

Balance 

owing 

Loss 

allowance 

Net figure 

in 

accounts 

Approved 

Limit 

Subsidiaries 0.936 - 0.936 0.600 

Local businesses 2.761 - 2.761 3.000 

Local residents 0.034 - 0.034 0.100 

TOTAL 3.731 - 3.731 3.700 

 

10. Accounting standards require the Council to set aside loss allowance for 

loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment.  The Council considers that 

this loss should be zero because, (1) HTS is the sole shareholder of the 

Council; (2) HPL loans are a charge secured against property which 

considerably exceeds the value of the loan. 

 

Commercial Investments: Property 

 

11. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 

defines property to be an investment if it is held primarily or partially to 

generate a profit. 

 

12. Contribution: The Council has historically held nine commercial and 

residential properties with the intention of making a profit that will be spent on 

local public services. These include telecommunication masts, a Golf Club, 

and three other properties. Annual income from all these assets is about 

£125,000. 

120



 

46 
 

 

Table 2: Property held for investment purposes in £ millions 

Property [type] Actual 31.3.2018  

Actual 

31.3.2019 

expected 

Value Gains or 

(losses) 

Value in 

accounts 

Gains or 

(losses) 

Value in 

accounts 

Telecommunication 

Masts (x5) 
0.569 - 0.569 - 0.569 

Property (x3): 

Stewards Farm, 1 

Canons Cottage, 

Barrow Farm Cottage 

0.510 - 0.510 - 0.510 

Golf Club 0.782 - 0.782 - 0.782 

TOTAL 1.861 - 1.861 - 1.861 

 

 

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees 

 

13. Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged 

hands yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to 

the Council and are included here for completeness.     

 

14. In 1987 and 1992 the Council agreed to undertake joint liability with a number 

of other local authorities to guarantee loans of £66.3 million and £17.3 million 

to Home Housing Association (previously called North Housing Association) in 

support of their private initiative for the provision of housing in Harlow and 

surrounding authorities. The guarantee is for a 50-year period ending 2037. 

The Council’s proportion of the total liability is £4.5 million. The Council 

considers that the probability of the guarantee being called upon is low. 

 

Capacity, Skills and Culture 

 

15. Elected members and statutory officers: Strategic investment decisions are 

subject to the advice from officers or treasury management advisors.  Elected 

members are also invited to formal or informal training.  The process is 

subject to scrutiny through the Overview Working Group, Cabinet and Full 

Council. 

 

Investment Indicators 

 

16. The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected 

members and the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result 

of its investment decisions. 

 

17. Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to 

potential investment losses. This includes amounts the Council is 

121



 

47 
 

contractually committed to lend but have yet to be drawn down and 

guarantees the Council has issued over third party loans.  
 

Table 3: Total investment exposure in £millions 

Total investment exposure 
31.03.2018 

Actual 

31.03.2019 

Forecast 

31.03.2020 

Forecast 

Treasury management investments 37.488 22.936 10.030 

Service investments: Loans 3.697 3.577 3.429 

Service investments: Shares - - - 

Commercial investments: Property 1.861 1.861 1.861 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 43.046 28.374 15.320 

 

18. How investments are funded: Government guidance is that these indicators 

should include how investments are funded.  Since the Council does not 

normally associate particular assets with particular liabilities, this guidance is 

difficult to comply with.  However, the following investments could be 

described as being funded by borrowing.  The remainder of the Council’s 

investments are funded by usable reserves and income received in advance 

of expenditure. 
 

Table 4: Investments funded by borrowing in £millions 

Investments funded by borrowing 
31.03.2018 

Actual 

31.03.2019 

Forecast 

31.03.2020 

Forecast 

Treasury management investments 211.837 211.837 220.837 

TOTAL FUNDED BY BORROWING 211.837 211.837 220.837 

 

19. Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income 

received less the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where 

appropriate, as a proportion of the sum initially invested.  Note that due to the 

complex local government accounting framework, not all recorded gains and 

losses affect the revenue account in the year they are incurred. 
 

Table 5: Investment rate of return (net of all costs) 

Investments net rate of return 
2017/18 

Actual 

2018/19 

Forecast 

2019/20 

Forecast 

Treasury management investments 0.53% 0.82% 1.39% 

Service investments: Loans 4.53% 4.53% 4.53% 

Commercial investments: Property 6.67% 6.67% 6.67% 

 

  

122



 

48 
 

APPENDIX E 

 

Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20 

 

1. Where the Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside 

resources to repay that debt in later years.  The amount charged to the 

revenue budget for the repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP), although there has been no statutory minimum since 2008. 

The ‘Local Government Act 2003’ requires the Council to have regard to the 

Department for Communities and Local Government’s ‘Guidance on Minimum 

Revenue Provision’ (the CLG Guidance), with revisions relating to MRP most 

recently issued in 2012. 

 

2. The broad aim of the CLG Guidance is to ensure that debt is repaid over a 

period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital 

expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported by 

Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the 

period implicit in the determination of that grant. 

 

3. The CLG Guidance requires the Council to approve an Annual MRP 

Statement each year, and recommends a number of options for calculating a 

prudent amount of MRP.  The following statement incorporates options 

recommended in the Guidance. 

 

4. For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008, and for supported capital 

expenditure incurred on or after that date, MRP will be determined in 

accordance with the former regulations that applied on 31 March 2008.  For 

Harlow Council, the adjusted Capital Financing Requirement upon which the 

MRP is calculated is negative in each year prior to April 2008.  The MRP on 

this portion of CFR is therefore zero.  (Option 1 in England & Wales) 

 

5. For unsupported capital expenditure incurred after 31 March 2008, with the 

exception of pump-priming economic development (defined below), MRP will 

be determined by charging the expenditure over the expected useful life of the 

relevant asset in equal instalments, starting in the year after the asset 

becomes operational.  (Option 3, the “Asset Life method”, in England and 

Wales) 

 

6. Economic development is defined as the following capital expenditure 

projects: Prentice Place and the Enterprise Zone. 

 

7. For assets acquired by finance leases, MRP will be determined as being 

equal to the element of the rent or charge that goes to write down the balance 

sheet liability. 

 

8. Minimum Revenue Provision will not be made in relation to the following 

specific circumstances: 

123



 

49 
 

 Capitalised loan advances to other organisations or individuals.  Instead 

of MRP, the capital receipts arising from the capitalised loan repayments 

will be used as provision to repay debt.  However, revenue MRP 

contributions would still be required equal to the amount of any 

impairment of the loan advanced. 

 Any capital investment made in projects aligned with Harlow’s Enterprise 

Zone where third party funding is guaranteed to meet the costs of that 

investment (repayment of debt principal and interest) and borrowing has 

been aligned with the life of the designated enterprise zone. 

 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is not subject to a statutory 

requirement to make a minimum revenue provision payment, and is not 

currently doing so. 

 

9. Capital expenditure incurred during 2019/20 will not be subject to a MRP 

charge until 2020/21. 

 

10. Based on the Council’s latest estimate of its Capital Financing Requirement 

on 31 March 2019, the budget for MRP has been set as follows: 

 

 

31.03.2019 

Estimated CFR 

£m 

2019/20 

Estimated MRP 

£ 

Capital expenditure before 01.04.2008 5.455 0 

Capital expenditure after 31.03.2008 48.505 275,000 

Total General Fund 53.960 275,000 

Assets in the Housing Revenue Account 187.370 0 

Total Housing Revenue Account 187.370 0 

Total 241.330 275,000 

 

 

124



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019  

TITLE: 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUSINESS PLAN 
2018-2048 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 
 
COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON, DEPUTY 
LEADER AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
HOUSING 
 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446228 
 
ANDREW MURRAY, HEAD OF HOUSING  
(01279) 446676 
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD  
(01279) 446004 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: 
 

ANDREW SMITH, FINANCE MANAGER (01279) 
446212 

 
 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008576 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Full Council that: 
 
A The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan, as set out in Appendix A 

to this report, be approved. 
 

B Authority be delegated to the Managing Director, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Housing, to make minor amendments to the Plan, if 
necessary, following consultation. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 is a formal update on the Council’s landlord 

service over the next 30 years. Housing stock holding councils need to 
demonstrate that their business is sustainable over the long term. 

125

Agenda Item 9d



BACKGROUND 
 
1. This new Business Plan is presented in response to the plan to build new 

council homes, fire safety and regulation, the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017, Universal Credit and inflationary pressures. Externally, the potential effect 
of Brexit adds uncertainty. 2019/20 is the fourth and final year of mandatory 
reductions in rent levels. 

 
2. The HRA Business Plan set out in Appendix A of this report complements and is 

influenced by  other  reports submitted to this meeting for approval including: 
 

a) HRA Budget 2019/20 
 

b) Capital Programme 2018/19-2019/20 
 

c) The Capital and Treasury Report, which includes a Capital Programme 
Strategy (attached as Appendix B to the report) which gives information 
on the forecast capital programme to 2022/23 including the programme 
of house building; the Treasury Management Strategy (attached as 
Appendix C to the report) and Investment Strategy (attached as 
Appendix D to the report). 

 
What are the Plans Key Themes? 

 
3. The key principles which underpin the HRA Business Plan are: 

 
a) Reduce dwelling rents annually by one per cent in each of the four 

years 2016/17 – 2019/20. 
 

b) Renew the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt of £209 million upon 
maturity of each loan and the repayment be kept under review. 
 

c) Set the minimum HRA working balance at 31 March 2019 at £4 million, 
being £2.5 million for extraordinary events and £1.5 million for fire 
safety work following the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry. 
 

d) Retain the housing asset management plans as outlined below: 
 

i) maintain compliance of the Council’s housing stock to the housing 
regulatory requirements.  Continuing with the replacement regime 
(based on stock condition survey) for internal and external 
property components such as kitchens, bathrooms, central 
heating systems, roofs and external structure of homes) 
 

ii) prioritise resources to safeguard the wellbeing and safety of the 
Council’s tenants in their homes in regard to increased statutory 
and legislative landlord requirements for fire safety, electrical 
(communal) safety, asbestos management and lift maintenance 
 

iii) prioritise energy efficiency initiatives that alleviate fuel poverty 

126



iv) prioritise resources for disabled adaptations to meet statutory 
requirements and keep under review annually 
 

v) reduce resources to garage-related works and re-prioritise the 
approved Garage and Hardstand Strategy 
 

vi) realise further efficiencies from responsive repairs programmes 
and scope of works 
 

vii) develop a three year housing programme to outline the 
aspirations for the delivery of housing, affordable housing, social 
rented, and the building of new council housing.  In accordance 
with local plan priorities, regeneration priorities, and 
affordability/viability 
 

e) Assume annual increases of at least five per cent per year for garages 
and increases/decreases in service charges related to changes in 
expenditure, subject now though to a proposal to incentivise take-up in 
some areas of the town. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
How has the Plan Been Changed? 
 
4. The Business Plan incorporates the latest forecasted income and expenditure 

projections produced in consultation with tenant and leaseholder 
representatives. The Council is committed to resident involvement and believes 
that this is a way in which residents can be involved in the management of their 
homes. 

 
Taking the Plan Forward 

 
5. The Plan is a working document subject to ongoing updates and reporting, and 

effectively establishes the HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

6. The Council’s Housing Management Standards Board and Tenant and 
Leaseholder Panels will jointly monitor service delivery against the national 
housing standards regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
Investment in the housing stock can have regenerative benefits for residential areas. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
 
 

127



Finance (Includes ICT) 
The financial implications are set out within the HRA Business Plan. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
Service implications are contained in the report and accompanying Business Plan. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
The Business Plan has been developed in consultation with tenants and 
leaseholders, ensuring an inclusive approach to forward planning for the Council’s 
Housing Services. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
HCA –Homes and Communities Agency 
HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
PWLB- Public Works Loan Board 

 

128



 
1 

 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Harlow Council  

Housing Services 
Business Plan 

 

2018 – 2048 
 

129



 
2 

HRA Business Plan 2018 – 2048 
Contents 
 

Page 

Foreword by Housing Portfolio Holder      3 

Executive Summary         4 

1. Introduction         13 

2. Strategic Context        18 

3. The Housing Service       23 

4. Asset Management        31 

5. Governance         37 

6. Financial Forecast        39 

7. Equalities and Diversity       47 

Appendix 3.1.  Housing Service Plan &  
Performance Management Information    48 

Appendix 4.1.  Asset Management Plan      58 
Appendix 6.1.  HRA Estimates 2018-48. Baseline Plan    64 
Appendix 6.2.  HRA Business Plan 2018-48. Assumptions   67 
Appendix 6.3.  HRA Business Plan 2018-48. Sensitivity Analysis  73 
 
Glossary           78 
Further Reading         78 
 

130



 
3 

Foreword by Portfolio Holder – Housing 
 
It has been another year of challenges however, the Housing Service continues to 
report strong performance overall. 
 
The major milestone this year was the establishment of the new Housing and 
Regeneration Company under HTS Group Ltd to deliver a new programme of 
Council house building.  This is to commence in 2018/19 with the first properties 
expected early next year.   
 
This is a significant year of change for the HRA Business Plan.  The previous five 
year Housing Investment Programme (HIP) totalling £100m is to finish in 2018/19.  
Its main purpose was to deliver an internal and external work programme to bring 
Council properties up to modern homes standard and meet the Government’s Decent 
Homes Standard.   
 
There is a requirement to establish a new five year HIP focusing on local priorities 
with reduced resources, together with the undertaking of new borrowing to deliver the 
Council house building programme marks a major change and sets out the ambition 
the Council wishes to undertake.  
 
Housing remains a top priority for me and the Administration.  The Council continues 
to perform to meet the challenges and opportunities facing housing in Harlow with 
reduced budgets.  The Council will continue to have fewer resources to meet its 
priorities, but will continue to plan ahead.   
 
Having less resources to meet priorities, it is important that I address what is 
important locally.  This is making more housing available in Harlow, with a wider 
choice of housing types which are genuinely affordable.  Tackling the growing need 
for Supported Housing, helping to improve choices for those in housing need, 
improving residents’ health and wellbeing by improving housing conditions, improving 
housing standards with energy efficient, modern home facilities and tackling local 
priorities and statutory requirements.” 
 
The goals for the next three years’ continue to be: 
 

 Invest in the Housing stock. 

 More housing available in Harlow, with a wider choice of housing types of all 
tenures which are affordable, social rented, and council housing. 

 Work towards improving choices for those in housing need. 

 Encourage and facilitate effective tenant and leaseholder engagement. 

 Tackle homelessness by implementing the Homelessness Strategy. 

 Increase the range and type of supported housing.  
 

It is necessary to both reflect the lower overall investment that can be afforded, and 
ensure that appropriate resource levels are directed towards the Council’s priorities.  
The plan identifies the Council’s continued commitment to working for, and with, all 
the tenants and leaseholders of Harlow to achieve its priorities. 
 

 
Mark Wilkinson 
Portfolio Holder - Housing 

131



 
4 

Executive Summary 
Introduction 
 

Local Authority housing is contained within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), a 

ring-fenced budget which effectively operates as a “business” of its own, separate to 

Council’s other operations.  The HRA takes its income from rents and service 

charges and spends its money exclusively on building and maintaining housing.  

 

The business plan is a formal statement of business goals, reasons they are 

attainable, and plans for reaching them.  It may also contain background information 

about the organisation or team attempting to reach those goals.  

 

This broad definition of a business plan is equally applicable to this HRA Business 

Plan which is an annual statement of intent to all stakeholders.  It is a discipline 

which requires Councils to develop a robust forecast ensuring that its landlord 

aspirations are affordable, and national and local priorities delivered.   

 

National priorities have been changed by successive Governments since the first 

Business Plan was presented to Full Council back in February 2012.  Back then, 

under self-financing, Harlow Council took on a debt of £208.837m. in settlement of a 

former centrally distributed subsidy system. 

 

In 2015 changes to the self-financing regime were announced by Government, of 

which only the central setting of rent levels was implemented requiring Councils to 

mandatorily reduce dwelling rents by 1% annually from 2016/17 to 2019/20. 

 

In 2018, ‘A new deal for social housing’1 was published.  This Green Paper by 

definition is a preliminary report of government proposals that is published in order to 

provoke discussion.  It includes the aim to expand supply and support home 

ownership.  The Government has announced:  

- The provisions contained in the ‘Housing and Planning Act 2016’ regarding 

the compulsory sale of high value voids would not come into effect but would 

be repealed when parliamentary time allowed2; so for this Business Plan the 

Council can safely assume that the Government has abandoned this policy; 

- Through consultation, requiring rents to be increased by no more than 

CPI+1% annually from 2020 to 20253; 

- The lifting of the debt cap, referred to as the ‘Limit of Indebtedness’, in order 

to encourage council house building4; and, 

- A consultation on changes to the rules on the use of retained capital receipts5. 

                                                 
1
 MHCLG. Green Paper. ‘A New Deal for Housing’. August 2018. 

2
 MHCLG. Green Paper. A New Deal for Housing. August 2018. Paragraph 153.  The consultation 

period ended on 6 November 2018. 
3
 MHCLG. Rents for social housing from 2020/21. Consultation. September 2018.  The consultation 

period ended on 8 November 2018. 
4
 Speech to Conservative Party Conference by the Prime Minister, The Rt. Hon. Teresa May MP, 3 

October 2018. 

 

132



 
5 

 
Readers of these annual business plans will readily see the need to formally reflect 

changes brought about by political, social and economic factors. 

 

This new Business Plan reflects and positions a number of themes which have 

developed over the past twelve months.  These include: 

 The Council’s ambition to build new housing of all tenures, both as social rent 

and affordable rent in its widest sense; 

 Increased Fire Safety and associated Regulation following the tragic fire at 

Grenfell Tower in London in June 2017. 

 Implementation of the ‘Homelessness Reduction Act 2017’ which imposed new 

statutory processes. 

 Implementation of Universal Credit and benefit rules, the roll-out of which has 

been greatly delayed by Government, and its implications on tenants. 

 Inflationary Pressures, including that of the Council’s contractual arrangement 

with HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd which undertake much work for 

tenants and leaseholders. 

 
Locally the Council has:  

 Commenced work to develop a plan for the building of new council homes. 

 Continued strong performance collecting rent and service charges, turning 

round empty properties, and repairing tenants’ homes. Achieving the national 

accreditation award for Supported Housing services and continuing to provide 

extra care housing at a time when funding has ceased, providing support to 

elderly and vulnerable tenants.  

 Continued to make the best use of stock, tackling local priorities, prioritising 

energy efficiency schemes that can make a difference in tackling fuel poverty, 

and implementing the five year Modern Homes Programme (HIP), investing in 

the priorities for maintaining its housing stock.  The Council achieved the 

Decent Homes Standard in 2015. 

 Been on target to complete the redevelopment of The Briars, Copshall Close 

and Aylets Field estates. 

 Continued to raise awareness and offer support in response to the Welfare 

Reform (Universal Credit) changes, working with local agencies providing 

support and budget advice to residents to carefully understand their choices. 

 
The following principles remain within the HRA Business Plan: 
a. Reduce dwelling rents annually by 1% in each of the four years commencing 

2016/17. 

b. Renew the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt of £209m upon maturity of 

each loan and the repayment be kept under review. 

                                                                                                                                            
5
 MHCLG. Use of receipts from Right to Buy sales. Consultation. August 2018.  The consultation 

period ended on 9 October 2018. 

133



 
6 

c. Set the minimum HRA working balance at 31 March 2019 at £4m, being £2.5m 

for extraordinary events and £1.5m for fire safety work following the Grenfell 

Tower Public Inquiry. 

d. Retain the housing asset management plans as outlined below: 

i. Maintain compliance of the Council’s housing stock to the housing 

regulatory requirements.  Continuing with the replacement regime (based 

on stock condition survey) for internal and external property components 

(e.g. kitchens, bathrooms, central heating systems, roofs and external 

structure of homes). 

ii. Prioritise resources to safeguard the well-being and safety of the 

Council’s tenants in their homes in regard to increased statutory and 

legislative landlord requirements for fire safety, electrical (communal) 

safety, asbestos management and lift maintenance. 

iii. Prioritise energy efficiency initiatives that alleviate fuel poverty. 

iv. Prioritise resources for disabled adaptations to meet statutory 

requirements and keep under review annually. 

v. Reduce resources to garage-related works and re-prioritise the approved 

Garage and Hardstand Strategy. 

vi. Realise further efficiencies from responsive repairs programmes and 

scope of works. 

vii. Develop a three year housing programme to outline the aspirations for 

the delivery of housing, affordable housing, social rented, and the 

building of new council housing.  In accordance with local plan priorities, 

regeneration priorities, and affordability/viability. 

e. Assume annual increases of at least 5% per year for garages and increases / 

decreases in service charges related to changes in expenditure, subject now 

though to a proposal to incentivise take-up in some areas of the town.  

 
This HRA Business Plan sets out Harlow Council’s priorities in responding to the 
changes in Government policy. Chapter 1 provides an ‘Introduction’ to this year’s 
plan, and its main themes. 
 
The plan continues to link the management and ownership of the Council’s housing 
stock clearly to the Council’s Corporate Plan, and Housing / Regeneration Strategies 
as well as preparing financial plans to support decision making. Chapter 2 provides 
the ‘Strategic Context’ to the business plan. 
 
 
 
 
 

134



 
7 

Summary of Main Issues 
 
Harlow Council’s HRA Business Plan identifies the principal objectives and priorities 
for the management and maintenance of the stock in the short, medium, and long 
term.  These include: 

 Robust income and expenditure projections. 

 The setting of rent levels. 

 Building council houses, as well as the development of a long term asset 
management plan to keep the current stock in good order. 

 Ongoing delivery of the Council’s Modern Homes Programmes. 

 Improving housing standards with energy efficient, modern home facilities, 
tackling local priorities and statutory requirements.  

 Releasing more efficiencies from the housing repairs and environment 
maintenance activities. 

 
 
Chapter 3 describes ‘The Housing Service’ and the way the services are delivered.  
 

 
Financial Position 

 
The HRA Business Plan includes a financial projection of expenditure and income 
over the next thirty years.  Chapter 6 covers ‘Financial Forecasts’.   
 
 
The Council’s Housing Stock 

 
Harlow was one of the ‘new towns’ designated in the late 1940s to provide public 
sector housing for those who needed homes.  Harlow Council’s housing stock is 
therefore large compared to many other authorities in the region.  Twenty-first 
century Harlow is evolving to meet the challenges of this new age with the most 
recent Census results revealing changes in population, ethnicity, and patterns of 
work.  See Chapter 2. 
 
In 2012 a major Stock Condition Survey was completed to identify work required to 
every home.  This has resulted in the creation of a £100m Modern Homes 
Programme and the achievement of decent homes for all tenants by 31 March 2015.  
The Council remains committed to maintain its properties at decent homes standard 
within the severely constrained cash income available.  The Council will be looking to 
update the Stock Condition Survey to ensure limited resources are properly targeted.  
Chapter 4 is devoted to the Council’s ‘Asset Management’. 

 
While the Council retains many decision-making powers regarding its stock, tenants, 
in particular, have a scrutiny role through their membership of the Housing Standards 
Board.  This Business Plan has been produced in consultation with tenants and 
leaseholders.  Chapter 5 explains the ‘Governance’ arrangements.  
 
 
 
 
 

135



 
8 

Building Council Housing 
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-2020 places emphasis on ‘More and Better 
Housing’.  This means tackling the housing need of Harlow residents, both in 
quantity, affordability, range and quality. 
 
In addition to projects included in the ‘HRA Business Plan 2018-2048’, a cross-
departmental Officer Task Group has identified a further programme of house 
building which was approved by Cabinet on 6 December 2018.  This includes The 
Readings, Bushey Croft and Lister House for which planning permission has already 
been granted. 
 
Further information on the programme of council house building can be found in 
Chapter 6.1.3. and in ‘Appendix B’ of the ‘Capital & Treasury Report’ being 
considered by Councillors at the same time as this HRA Business Plan. 
 
 
Customer Perceptions 
 
Housing Services conduct a Landlord Survey once every two years and a 
Leaseholder Survey once a year.  
 
The statutory requirement to produce a customer satisfaction survey (known as the 
‘Status Survey’) ended in 2010/11, however the completion of an alternative survey is 
important to both the Housing Service and future Tenant and Leaseholder 
Engagement as the results can be used to measure and assist in shaping and 
developing future services. 
 
The surveys cover questions around the overall tenant and leaseholder satisfaction 
with Housing Services as a whole but also ask how satisfied tenants and leaseholder 
are when receiving housing and communal repairs, cleaning and ground 
maintenance, modern homes or major works, service charges, leaseholder 
management fee and tenant and leaseholder engagement and empowerment.  The 
Surveys also gauge tenants’ and leaseholders’ perception on different aspects of the 
Housing Service which includes moving home, reporting anti-social behaviour, 
garages, contact and communication with Housing Services, complaints and value 
for money.  
 
Housing Services have reviewed and made changes to the way it will engage 
productively in the future and be proactive with the channels of communications it 
uses.  This is included as a priority of the action plan for the Tenant and Leaseholder 
Engagement Strategy, the surveys are also used as a tool to assist with this. 
 
An updated Tenant Survey was published in 2017 and the Leaseholder Survey in 
2018 as part of the Annual Report to tenants and leaseholders.  The surveys assist 
the Council in the planning and resource allocation of its landlord services by 
measuring tenants’ and leaseholders’ satisfaction with the services they receive from 
their landlord.  An action plan will be updated with the key priorities identified. 
 
 
Demand, Homelessness and Housing Need 

 
The introduction of the ‘Homeless Reduction Act’ 2017 from April 2018 fundamentally 
changed the way in which homelessness is managed.  The profile of homelessness 

136



 
9 

is changing, which means that both homelessness duty and homelessness 
prevention are now a 100% statutory demand-led service. 
 
Demand for homelessness and Harlow’s housing shortage is well-known and 
remains high.  The number of local residents on the Council’s Housing Needs 
Register continues to grow and is a key measure of the local housing need. 
 
The Act fundamentally changed the homelessness legislation, by placing increased 
duties on Local Authorities to intervene at earlier stages to prevent homelessness, 
irrespective of whether or not an applicant has “Priority Need” or may be 
“intentionally homeless” and to prevent families and single people becoming 
homeless. 
 
Preventing homelessness remains a key focus of activity for the Council, with the 
Council employing extra resources in order to tackle homelessness prevention.  In 
2017/18 positive action was taken to prevent homelessness in 194 cases, either by 
enabling households to remain in their home or assisting them to obtain alternative 
accommodation to include, but not exhaustive to: 
 

 Negotiation with landlords and/or family and friends; 

 Accessing the Council’s Rent Deposit Guarantee Scheme; 

 Seeking Money Advice; 

 Maximising Income / Benefits. 
 
The Council have been allocated further grant funding under the Flexible Support 
Grant and the New Burdens Allocation for 2019/20 due to the continued 
implementation of the Act, however this funding will cease with effect from 2020/21.  
The Homelessness Grant is allocated to support the cost of homelessness is no 
longer ring fenced to homelessness, nor is it guaranteed.  It is expected to be 
significantly reduced over time and could ultimately be withdrawn as the government 
attempts to reduce the reliance on government funding. 
 
It is recognised locally that there is an increasing number of London Boroughs 
placing their homelessness in Harlow.  This puts added pressure on local support 
services and planning regulations making best use of limited buildings.  In addition, 
London Boroughs are preventing homelessness by discharging their duty in the 
private sector by using converted office blocks in Harlow.  This again reduces the 
availability of suitable accommodation in Harlow. 
 
The number of homeless households being placed in temporary accommodation has 
steadily risen in Harlow.  In 2014 there were 131 and by March 2018 this number 
doubled to 266.  This is a result of the lack of housing available and the increase of 
loss of private rented accommodation and impact of Universal Credit, e.g. benefit 
caps and changes from the Welfare Reform.  The Council annually reviews its 
procurement arrangements for temporary accommodation to ensure best value and 
suitability. 
 
With the numbers in Temporary Accommodation (TA) rising and alternative TA 
supplies continuing to reduce and become restrictive, the Council continues to 
explore alternative options. Based on current volumes, there is an expectation both 
locally and nationally that TA numbers will continue to rise.  The following table 
shows the expected demand for TA over the next three years: 
 
 

137



 
10 

 

Projected demand for homeless placements in Temporary Accommodation 
Units 

Financial Year  Number of TA Units 

2019/20 304 

2020/21 330 

2021/22 356 

 
On 20 March 2018, the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government announced the “Rough Sleeping Initiative” to work intensely with local 
areas to immediately tackle rough sleeping. 
 
The Government established a fund of £30m for Local Authorities with high numbers 
of people sleeping rough to enable more action to be taken before next winter.  The 
Council was targeted to bid and was successful in its bid to gain grant funding, one of 
83 in the country.  Harlow obtained grant funding of £260,500 for 2018/19. 
 
Harlow Council has seen a 50% reduction in the number of people sleeping rough in 
the town since the annual autumn count in 2017 which was 24.  Due to the ongoing 
work with our partners Streets2Homes, additional funding received from the 
Government to enhance the initiatives available to this group has reduced the 
numbers currently (December 2018) to 11. 
 
The following initiatives within the government funding commenced in August 2018, 
which were:  
 

 Recruitment of a Rough Sleeper Co-Ordinator to manage and monitor the 
progress of the initiative and to lead and coordinate the enhanced Severe 
Weather Provision. 

 To grant fund Streets2Homes to recruit additional Outreach / Tenancy 
Support Workers. 

 To renovate two Council-owned properties to lease to Streets2Homes to 
provide supported housing. 

 To extend the Emergency / Severe Weather Provision for a four month 
period from November 2018 to February 2019, including security. 

 Providing personalised housing budgets to individuals to assist them in 
securing accommodation. 

 
Harlow Council is one of the few local authorities in Essex that provide a Severe 
Weather Provision to support rough sleepers in the town.  It provides an enhanced 
provision to support and encourage in the prevention of further rough sleeping 
locally, when there is a dramatic reduction in temperature. 
 
In line with the Council’s statutory requirements, Harlow’s Homeless Strategy which 
defines the Council’s strategic approach is currently under review in-conjunction with 
both our internal and external partners, which will identify current challenges and key 
priorities in trying to reduce homelessness across Harlow.  This strategy will also 
include a Rough Sleepers Strategy in line with the Government’s Rough Sleeper 
Initiative.   
 
Harlow’s Homelessness Partnership Group, which was established in 2010, as part 
of the five year publication of the Council’s Homeless Strategy is also in the process 
of being reviewed with a new approach to partnership working with the Probation 

138



 
11 

Service, Streets2homes, Registered Providers, The Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) and the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB). 
 
The aim of the Homelessness Partnership Group is to work both strategically and 
operationally in partnership to tackle homelessness and target scarce resources to 
meet local priorities. 
 
In terms of Harlow’s strategic housing need, the total housing requirement for Harlow 
is 8,000 dwellings of which 3,600 should be Social Rented / Affordable Rented 
Sector.  It is estimated there is a need for mixed sized dwellings for all areas.  In 
Harlow there is a lower need for three or more bedrooms.  The need for intermediate 
dwellings is more heavily concentrated on smaller dwellings.  Smaller properties may 
also encourage those in larger and family sized dwellings who are under occupying 
to downsize to a smaller property.  With an increasingly ageing population and those 
who find themselves in poverty there will always be an increasing need for housing 
support services. 
 
The Housing Needs Register shows that 1,193 of all households registered are 
categorised having an urgent or high need to be allocated a social housing property.  
The main reasons households want to move is due to both overcrowding and 
affordability.  The Housing Needs Register currently has approximately 4,260 
applicants. 
 
Harlow Council prioritises housing and tackling homelessness as its top priority within 
its Corporate Plan.  It is also developing a house building programme, as well as 
looking at innovative ways which may assist to support pressures on local residents 
and those on the Council’s housing need register, which currently has 4,260 
applicants and likely to increase.  
 
 
Welfare Reform 
 
Major changes to the benefits system have come into force in the last few years, 
including the Benefit cap, the Bedroom Tax and the roll out of Universal Credit.    
 
The Government reduced the cap to £23,000 per year in London and £20,000 per 
year in the rest of the country.  This reduced benefit cap was introduced in stages 
from 7 November 2016. 
 
Universal Credit has been the biggest change in the welfare system.  Universal 
Credit aims to simplify the benefits system by replacing six existing benefits into a 
single monthly payment and to increase work incentives for those who are 
unemployed or working part-time. 
 
The implementation of Universal Credit in Harlow commenced in 2016, which was 
restricted to new claims and single jobseekers.  In July 2017 Universal Credit Full 
Service was launched in parts of Harlow, with the remainder of the town completing 
in September 2017.  The DWP is planning to transfer all remaining legacy benefit 
claims including Housing Benefit, Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA) and Income Support 
onto Universal Credit, commencing in the summer of 2019, with Natural Migration 
continuing through change of circumstances.  The Department of Work and Pensions 
aim to complete a full migration to Universal Credit by 2023.  
 
 
 

139



 
12 

Housing Related Support (HRS) 
 
A review of the Supported Housing Service reported to Scrutiny Committee in 
November 2017. 
 
The review, however, was undertaken in phases with Phase 1 (2015/17) responding 
and  identifying with the short term budget implications, making recommendations in 
dealing with the reductions in funding for the Telecare and Support Services by 
Essex County Council (ECC).  Phase 2 of the review included a longer term service 
appraisal. 
 
The Committee reiterated the importance of appropriate HRS as part of older 
people’s health and wellbeing remaining a key imperative in promoting 
independence, avoiding hospital admission.  They also recommended to Cabinet the 
five year plan as the effective framework for going forward, dealing with reducing 
resources both within the Council’s General Fund and Housing Revenue Account as 
well as being able to balance priorities against the wider priorities of the local Council 
landlord service.   
 
 
Equalities and Diversity 

 
Consideration is given to how different, and sometimes vulnerable, groups of people 
may be affected by the change to self-financing.  Chapter 7 sets out the Council’s 
statement on ‘Equality and Diversity’. 
 
 
Taking the Plan Forward 

 
The Plan includes some sensitivity analysis and indicates that small changes to the 
key base assumptions can make a significant impact on the overall finances of the 
service.  Each year, as part of developing the Business Plan, work will be undertaken 
to both confirm assumptions, but to also understand the key factors influencing these 
assumptions.  
 
Within the Council’s Corporate Plan, housing has a high profile: recognising the 
importance of more and better housing to the quality of life of residents of Harlow. 
 
The review of the Business Plan will form part of the work plan of the Housing 
Standards Board and Panels linking to the Council’s formal governance structures. 
 
 
Andrew Murray Head of Housing 01279 446676 
Simon Freeman Head of Finance 01279 446228 
Andrew Smith  Finance Manager 01279 446212 

140



 
13 

1.     Introduction 
1.1   Background 
1.1.1. Introduction 
 
The HRA Business Plan process began in 2012 when self-financing was introduced. 
 
The Council took on a one off debt as part of self-financing regime in 2012.   Harlow 
Council minimised this debt through its planned Asset Management 
Strategy/disposals whilst maintaining a prudent borrowing cap.  However each 
Council borrows not just against its income and expenditure streams but also against 
the value of its assets matched against its short, medium and long term corporate 
priorities operating as a business in order to address and helping to solve the acute 
housing crisis.  

 
Changes to the self-financing regime were made in 2015 when the then Government 
announced the central setting of rent levels, with mandatory reductions between 
2016-2019, and powers given to the Secretary of State to require Councils to sell 
high value voids to finance a programme of ‘Right To Buy’ in housing associations.  
In 2018 the policy of ‘high value voids’ was effectively abandoned by this 
Government. 
 
This new HRA Business Plan covering the thirty years, 2018-2048, reflects this as 
well as a number of themes which have occurred over the past twelve months which 
will be explained in more detail below.   
 
These include: 

 Reduction in resources, 

 The Council’s ambition to build new housing, 

 Fire Safety and Regulation, 

 Inflationary Pressures, 

 Implementation of Universal Credit and benefit rules, 

 Cessation of funding for Housing Related Support, 

 Implementation of the ‘Homelessness Reduction Act 2017’. 
 
 
1.1.2   Reduction in resources 
 
The Government rent constraints policy introduced in July 2015 has meant there is 
fewer resources to support the HRA.  The policy has been reviewed such that rent 
increases will, after 2019/20, be capped at CPI+1% annually from 2020/21 to 
2024/25.  The Council has made prudent assumptions in its HRA Business Planning 
forecast. 
 
 
1.1.3   The Council’s ambition to build new homes 
 
The Council has plans to build new social and affordable housing.  Further detail is 
given below (Chapter 6.1.3).  
 
 
1.1.4   Fire Safety and Regulation 
 
The safety of residents will remain the top priority of the Council and, as such, the 
Council is committed to ensuring homes are safe from the risk of fire. Fire Safety 

141



 
14 

continues to be the subject of national attention, with the ongoing Public Inquiry 
following the tragedy at Grenfell Tower.  
 
In June 2017, the Committee received a report on Fire Safety management by the 
Council in response to the tragic fire at Grenfell Tower, London.  The report identified 
that the Council’s tower blocks were deemed to be inherently safe, with a wide range 
of fire safety measures.  
 
Since that time, officers have continued to review Fire Risk Assessments (FRA’s), 
advice published by Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) and procedures in response to feedback / outcomes from the ongoing 
Public Inquiry. 
 
As part of the review process updated Fire Risk Assessments for all flat blocks are 
due to commence in early January 2019, beginning with high-rise tower blocks and 
working through the remaining flat blocks in order of the highest number of storeys 
first. In addition to updated Fire Risk Assessments, the Council has commissioned 
comprehensive structural surveys of all high-rise tower blocks, with detailed reports 
listing the findings due in early 2019.  
 
The Business Plan has been prepared acknowledging a sum of money will be 
required for further fire safety works but, at present, the cost is difficult to quantify 
whilst the Council awaits the result of updated FRAs, further advice from central 
Government and the outcomes of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry. 
 
Works have already been identified which will require additional capital funding which 
include works to communal areas within flat blocks and, following advice published 
by MHCLG in June 2018, the potential replacement of previously installed Glass 
Reinforced Plastic (GRP) composite fire doors for individual flats, following further 
testing as part of the Grenfell Tower investigation. 
 
Officers have explored possible scenarios in an attempt to quantify additional 
expenditure for fire safety works and have taken a cautious approach to budget 
provision for any further works, with £5.5m allocated to Fire Safety works over the 
financial years 2019/20 and 2020/21. In addition to this sum, £3m has been allocated 
to the replacement of ‘Warm Air’ heating systems including the decommissioning of 
‘SE Ducts’ within the remaining four high-rise tower blocks following the pilot scheme 
at Willowfield Tower.  
 
Officers are prepared for scenarios where the capital programme may need revision, 
require additional expenditure, and / or require the Council to externally borrow 
against the HRA to finance emergency schemes.  The Council would need to ensure 
that it has the resources within the HRA Business Plan to repay principal and interest 
sums (see Appendix 6.3). 
 
 
1.1.5   Inflationary Pressures 
 
For the fourth and final successive year local authorities are required to reduce rents 
to tenants by 1%.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) in September 2018 was 2.4%.  
Compliance with legislation means that Harlow Council’s average weekly rent for 
2019/20 will fall from £90.75 to £89.84.  
 
The inflationary pressure on the HRA through employee costs (estimated increase, 
2% for 2019/20 and thereafter) and HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd contractual 

142



 
15 

increases (estimated, 5% for 2019/20, and 3% thereafter) erodes the working 
balance. 
 
 
1.1.6   Universal Credit 
 
Universal Credit was a new benefit introduced in 2013 and initially regulated by the 
‘Welfare Reform Act 2012’ and the ‘Universal Credit Regulations 2013’.  The 
intention of the new benefit was to replace six means-tested benefits and tax credits. 
 
The implementation of Universal Credit in Harlow commenced in 2016 and was 
finally rolled out to all eligible claimants in September 2017.  The introduction of 
Universal Credit has impacted on the functions of Housing Services in different ways. 
 
The conversion to monthly payments of housing costs, paid directly to claimants, 
fundamentally changed the previous Housing Benefit system, where housing costs 
were paid directly to tenants rent accounts on a weekly basis.  This has impacted 
significantly on the Council’s income stream of rental payments, and on the day-to-
day management of claimants’ rent accounts. 
 
The implementation of Universal Credit has also seen a significant change in 
information sharing arrangements between agencies.  Officers were previously able 
to liaise with Revenue and Benefits regarding the status of tenants’ Housing Benefit 
claim, and therefore be able to assist tenants with actions required.  Under Universal 
Credit the responsibility for sharing information rests with the claimant.   
 
The Council has had to adapt its approaches to recovery of rent, with a focus on 
early intervention and communication with claimants, assisting with budgeting 
support and looking to identify any potential vulnerabilities / difficulties.  Additionally 
claimants are also advised of the availability of independent personal budgeting 
support and additional digital support, and other support agencies.  As one of the key 
difficulties experienced by landlords is encouraging tenants in arrears to engage with 
them regarding their situation, this in itself presents significant challenges. 
 
Universal Credit does make provision, in certain specified circumstances, for 
landlords to request payment of claimants housing costs to be paid directly, for 
example where the claimant may have a vulnerability or specific difficulty in 
managing finances, or where there is a history of rent arrears.  While this does 
enable Rent Officers to take steps to seek to ensure payment of housing costs, 
and/or arrears, such payments are made in bulk on a schedule system and this has 
led, in some cases, to delays of up to seven weeks from the date payment is 
deducted from a claimant’s Universal Credit payment, to the time it is applied to their 
rent account, resulting in increases in arrears of over £600.00 per case. 
 
In March 2018 the Council signed up to the Universal Credit Full Service Landlord 
Portal as a Trusted Partner, enabling Officers to verify claims for housing costs, and 
request managed payments more easily.  While this does not address the 
fundamental issues with delays, which is due to payments being made once a month, 
it does streamline the initial application process. 
 
In line with Schedule 4 of the ‘Universal Credit Regulations 2013’, which sets out the 
calculations of the Housing cost element for claimants, housing costs are paid to 
claimants on a calendar month basis, with the regulations providing that this is 
calculated by multiplying the weekly rent by 52 weeks and then dividing by 12 equal 
months. 

143



 
16 

 
A consequence of this calculation is that a 53 week financial year arises roughly 
every 5 to 6 years and therefore claimants who have weekly rent liability will not 
receive enough rent to cover the whole year’s charges. 
 
2019/20 is a 53 week rent year, counting the number of Mondays rent becomes due 
between 1 April and the following 31 March. 
 
As social landlords generally charge rent on a weekly basis, this potentially means 
that every Council tenant that claims Universal Credit will accrue an extra 1 week of 
arrear, even if their housing costs are paid fully to the Council.  
 
The Council will continue to implement its “can’t pay, won’t pay” approach, offering 
support for those in need and enforcing those who refuse to pay. 
 
 
1.1.7   Cessation of funding for Housing Related Support. 
 
The Government ceased funding for Housing Related Support in 2017/18.  The 
Council has arranged Housing Related Services at Harlow which include Sheltered 
housing, Sumners Farm Close, and emergency alarm services.  A scrutiny review 
concluded and recommended a new five year financial plan taking regard of reduced 
resources and meeting local priorities. 
 
 
1.1.8   Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 
 
In 2017/18, the Government introduced a new Homelessness Reduction Act which 
made all Council homeless activities a statutory function.  The growing incidence of 
homelessness at Harlow is well detailed in this Plan together with a forecast of 
resources required to tackle homelessness in the medium term. 
 
 
1.2    Business Plan principles 

The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 is built upon these foundations or principles: 

 To reduce dwelling rents annually by 1% in accordance with Government 
legislation between 2016/17 and 2019/20:  2019/20 will be the final year of four; 

 Renew the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt of £208.837m upon maturity 
of each loan, keeping repayment under review – the first loan would ordinarily 
become repayable in March 2026; 

 Set a minimum HRA working balance at 31 March 2019 at £4m., being £2.5m 
for ordinary unforeseen events plus £1.5m for any unbudgeted outcome from 
the Grenfell Tower Inquiry.  Following completion of work relating to fire safety, 
from say 31 March 2020, to revert the minimum HRA working balance to 
£2.5m; 

 Revise the housing asset management plans and its priorities; 

 Revise the garage management strategy, investment, and its priorities, and 
assume annual increases of at least 5% per year for garages and increases / 
decreases in service charges related to changes in expenditure.  For 2019/20, 
however, it is proposed to incentivise take-up of some garages by lowering 
charges. 

144



 
17 

 
 
1.3    HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 
 
The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 is a formal update of the Plan presented last 
year.  It takes into account: 
 

 the decisions which Councillors have made over the past twelve months; 

 any external factors which have affected the funding of the service, including 
new Government legislation and directives; and, 

 changes in forecast income and expenditure over the next 30 years.  

 
It is said that “to fail to plan is to plan to fail”.  It is therefore very important to revisit 
the Plan to ensure that the HRA is managed so that there are sufficient funds to 
deliver the service.  Chapter 6 will explain that decisions made today can have a 
large impact in the future.   

145



 
18 

2.     Strategic Context 
2.1    Introduction to Harlow 
 
Harlow is a former new town, designated under the ‘New Towns Act 1946’.  The Act 
created a number of new satelllite towns around London, which had suffered bomb 
damage during the Second World War and housed many in sub-standard dwellings.  
The town had the good fortune to be designed through the vision of Sir Frederick 
Gibberd (1908-1984), who was not only an architect and planner but also a 
landscape architect.  Working with pretty much a blank canvas of small sparsely 
populated villages with houses, church and farms Gibberd was able to design new 
communities among green wedges.  Harlow is a relatively small town but one of the 
most densely populated areas in the East of England.  In Harlow there is a larger 
proportion of terrace houses than is the norm, and 14 high rise flats – The Lawns 
being the first to be built in England in 1951.  Most of the immediate post-war housing 
was built by the public sector: a Development Corporation passed to the newly 
designated Harlow District Council its stock when it was wound up.  The Council 
takes its housing landlord role very seriously.  The financial challenges that it and all 
other Councils face mean that difficult choices have to be made about the roles it 
undertakes.  
 
The town is made up of suburban communities as well as shopping hatches and 
industrial and distribution centres. Harlow is at the centre of the London Stansted 
Cambridge Corridor.  Harlow has many things going for it: an internationally 
important public sculpture collection including works by Auguste Rodin (1840-1917), 
Henry Moore (1898-1986), Barbara Hepworth (1903-1975), Gerda Rubenstein 
(b.1931); artistic communities such as Parndon Mill and Gatehouse Arts; green 
spaces including Parndon Wood - winner of a Green Flag Award - the Town Park, 
and the Gibberd Garden; as well as the fact that nowhere in Harlow is far from some 
wonderful and tranquil wood, pond or stream.  
 
Harlow is an urban and green new town mixing high-quality varied housing types for 
all incomes, owners and tenants.  The Council is strongly committed to maintaining 
its “landlord role”.  The financial challenges that it and all other Councils face mean 
that priorities and difficult choices have to be made about the roles it undertakes.  
 
 
2.2.   Achievements over the last decade 
 
The Harlow Gateway Scheme – Renewal of sport and leisure facilities, including 
Harlow Leisurezone and Football Club, delivering new homes at Fifth Avenue and 
First Avenue sites. 
 
Harlow Enterprise Hub – Networking and training provision for small businesses 
and start-ups. 
 
Harlow College Campus – Renewed campus and facilities, including University 
Centre, HAMEC (Harlow Advanced Manufacturing and Engineering Centre) and Sir 
Charles Kao University Technical College. 
 
The Briars, Copshall Close and Aylets Field Estate Regeneration – 1960s 
housing transformed into 340 modern homes. 
 
Harlow Enterprise Zone – 1,000 staff, refurbished offices, and a new data centre 
and science park. 
 

146



 
19 

Council Homes – Delivery of new council homes for rent on disused garage sites. 
 
Public Health England – New science hub and headquarters: a £480m investment 
creating 3,245 jobs. 
 
Lister House Medical Centre – State-of-the-art primary care medical facility built. 
 
M11 Junction 7a – Planning approval secured for critical infrastructure, underpinning 
economic and housing growth. 
 
 
2.3.   A summary of the key characteristics for Harlow reveal: 
 
o Harlow has excellent rail links – 20 minutes to London Stansted Airport, 35 

minutes to London Liverpool Street and 40 minutes to Oxford Circus. 
 
o Harlow’s population has grown slightly over the past five years and is currently 

86,000. This is projected to grow to 90,000 by 2021 and 103,000 by 2039. 
 

o There are currently 36,070 homes and this is projected to increase by a further 
16,100 by 2033. 

 
o The rate of economic activity is 85% compared to the national level of 78%. 

 
o Wage levels are 10% lower for residents than workers. 

 
o The rate of NVQ Level 3+ qualification is 20% lower than the national average. 
 
 
2.4.   Current Opportunities:  
  
o Located at the heart of the London Stansted Cambridge Corridor, with the 

space and the potential to unlock growth in key sectors across the corridor. 
  
o Benefitting from strategic transport connections, with London, Cambridge and 

Stansted less than 40 minutes away. 
  
o Housing potential growth.  It is expected from the new Local Plan for 9,200 

homes to be included within Harlow itself.   It is also expected for a further 
16,100 integrating a new coherent expanded urban area which constitutes the 
Harlow and Gilston Garden Town.. 

  
o Public Health England’s new £480m science hub and headquarters, bringing 

3,245 new jobs to the town and signalling its growing importance as a location 
for life sciences. 

  
o £250m investment in Harlow Enterprise Zone, building on Harlow’s ICT 

(Information and Communications Technology) and manufacturing legacy, and 
creating 1,000 new jobs. 

 
 
2.5.   Current Challenges: 
 
o Low skills levels, with poor higher education engagement, low confidence 

levels, and a rate of NVQ 3+ qualification below the national average. 

147



 
20 

  
o Significant funding for infrastructure required, including new crossings of the 

River Stort, West Anglia Mainline upgrades and road improvements. 
  
o Some large housing estates in poor condition, requiring significant regeneration 

to maintain an inclusive and cohesive community. 
  
o A town centre in decline, with recent residential conversions limiting the 

potential to create a mixed-use asset at the heart of the town. 
  
o The town’s largest employer, Princess Alexandra Hospital, is on a constrained 

site near the town centre that is not fit for purpose. 
 

o Harlow has a young population, with those under ten accounting for 13% of the 
population.  Excluding London Boroughs this represents the 19th highest rate in 
England and Wales. 

 
o Harlow has a more diverse population than ten years ago.  Around 16% of 

Harlow’s population are from the black and minority ethnic groups.  This is 
slightly lower than the national average. 

 
o Around a third of Harlow’s homes are social rented from the Council built 

around the same time: the third highest in England and Wales.  This remains a 
huge contextual issue for Harlow as it shapes its regeneration plans. 

 
o 51% of Harlow’s homes are terraced houses: the fourth highest rate in England 

and Wales; and 24% are flats. 
 

o House prices and average incomes are lower than in many neighbouring areas, 
but still unaffordable for many. 

 
 
2.6.   Analysis of Housing Stock 
 
As at 1 April 2018, Harlow Council managed 9,279 Council dwellings (as shown in 
the table below), a further 2,517 leasehold flats purchased under the ‘Right To Buy’ 
scheme plus 13 homes managed under the shared ownership scheme.  
 

  

148



 
21 

Analysis of Housing Stock Number 

Analysis by Type of Dwelling  

Houses & Bungalows 5,692 

Flats and Maisonettes 3,578 

Other 9 

Total 9,279 

  

Analysis by Number of Bedrooms  

Bedsitters 402 

1 bedroom 2,049 

2 bedrooms 3,570 

3 bedrooms 2,900 

4 bedrooms 324 

5 bedrooms 25 

Hostels 9 

Total 9,279 

 
 
 
2.7.    The Council’s Vision and Objectives 
2.7.1.   Council Values 
 
The Council strives to be an organisation where people make things happen and 

promote excellence, good customer service and continuous improvement. We want 

to ensure that all staff are consistently aware of how their role contributes to the 

achievement of corporate priorities, are clear about what is expected, and share the 

Council’s values. The Council is committed to promoting equality, challenging 

discrimination and developing community cohesion. 
 
The Council’s values are: 
 
 
Integrity Clear, meaningful and honest two way communication with staff, 

customers and partners. 
 
 
Value People Treating everyone fairly, equally and with mutual respect, 

investing in staff, recognising individual and team contributions 

to achieve success. 
 
 
Inspirational Support and encourage accountability, creativity and innovation 

amongst our staff, key stakeholders and partners. 

 

 
2.7.2    Corporate Plan 
 
The Corporate Plan sets out these priorities in more detail and describes what the 

149



 
22 

Council will do to achieve them.  The Council has three main roles to play: 
 

 Community leader; representing the interests of Harlow and its community, 
working with the community to agree and achieve shared objectives and 
ambitions and to ensure that Harlow keeps evolving.   

 Service provider, meeting the statutory duties placed upon it by Parliament to 
protect people, to exercise regulatory functions and to provide discretionary 
services where it is best placed to do so.   

 Commissioner of services where such services can best be provided by 
others. 

 

The Council takes these roles very seriously.  The financial challenges that it, and all 

other Councils, will face mean that difficult choices have to be made about the three 

roles that it undertakes.  To achieve these values we have identified five priorities for 

the next five years: 

 
1. More and better housing. 
2. Regeneration and a thriving economy. 
3. Wellbeing and social inclusion. 
4. A clean and green environment. 
5. Successful children and young people. 
 
This HRA Business Plan links closely with the Corporate Plan and seeks to illustrate 
how the Council will respond to the challenges it faces to improve Harlow for 
residents, businesses and visitors.  
 

150



 
23 

3.     The Housing Service    
3.1   Responsibilities 
 
The statutory basis outlining responsibilities required of a housing landlord are 
contained within the ‘Housing Act 1996’, and subsequent legislation. 
 
The housing service delivers Council landlord and associated housing related 
services formally regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) including: 
 

 Tenancy and Property management. 

 Income management and tenancy support. 

 Housing estates management. 

 Empty Property Management. 

 Right to Buy applications. 

 Tenants and leaseholder engagement. 

 Leasehold Management. 

 Garage and Hardstand Management. 

 Rent and service charge collection. 

 Tenancy Enforcement. 

 Tackling Anti-social Behaviour. 

 Tackling Poor Health and Wellbeing.  

 Housing Related Support (HRS) services. 
 
The service re-alignment groups our current activities under “Property” and “People” 
themes / responsibilities.  Attached is a presentation of this new alignment (Housing 
Hub) together with an updated management structure, and suggested revised 
governance arrangements. The realignments reflect the need to give a clearer focus 
on delivery of our strategic/operational activities, service priorities, personal 
development and, resource allocation.    
 
As landlord for 9,279 homes the Council has a responsibility to ensure that it: 

 meets statutory regulatory requirements; 

 performs well in its landlord duties (e.g. rent collection, empty property 
management, and repairs); 

 has housing that is well maintained and managed; 

 listens to the tenants and leaseholders.  

 
The changes to the Housing Benefit rules and other welfare reforms have placed 
many Harlow residents, including many Council tenants, under increased financial 
pressure.   
 
Many young adults find it hard to move into their own home, and there are over 4,200 
households on the Housing Needs Register. Average house prices are around seven 
times’ average earnings. This context increases the acute housing shortage in 
Harlow and too many successful Harlow residents end up leaving the town, in part 

151



 
24 

because they cannot find suitable housing.  The Housing Needs Register is made up 
as follows: 
 

 Homeseeker applicants     70% 

 Transfer applicants      27% 

 Homeless applicants (accepted duty)    3% 
 
There continues to be less resource to meet local priorities.  The Council will 
continue to work towards making more housing available in Harlow, with a wider 
choice of housing types which are genuinely affordable, by helping to improve the 
choices for those in housing need as well as improving health and wellbeing by 
improving housing conditions. 
 
 

3.2    Our goals for the next three years 
 

 Invest in Housing stock. 

 More housing available in Harlow, with a wider choice of housing types of all 

tenures which are affordable, social rented, and council housing. 

 Work towards improving choices for those in housing need. 

 Encourage and facilitate effective tenant and leaseholder engagement.  

 Tackle homelessness by implementing the Homelessness and Rough Sleeper 

Strategy.  

 Increase the range and type of supported housing. 

 
This is achieved by: 
 

 Providing and maintaining high quality housing stock, with all Council homes in 

the town meeting Modern Homes standards. Publish an annual Housing 

Investment Programme (HIP) and invest in improvements to housing 

conditions. 

 The commencement of £1.9m modernisation programme to replace District 

Heating schemes over a planned period addressing the energy efficiency of the 

Council’s housing stock. 

 Fire safety: Awaiting the outcome of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry.  A 

review of Harlow Council’s tower block fire risk assessments confirmed that all 

are inherently safe from fire, although the outcome of the Inquiry may require 

additional work necessary after the commencement of the 2019/20 financial 

year. 

 Finalising the estate regeneration programme of The Briars, Copshall Close 

and Aylets Field (BCA). 

 Consulting on our preferred options for housing growth in the Local Plan. 

 Commencing a long term programme of house building of all types that are 

genuinely affordable.  

 Updating the Homelessness Strategy Action Plan, and Harlow Homelessness 

Partnership. 

 Implementing the Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Strategy. 

152



 
25 

 Implementing a five year plan of Housing Related Support (HRS) as an attempt 

to provide an effective framework for reducing resources both within the 

Council’s General Fund (GF), and HRA, balancing priorities against reduced 

resources with the wider priorities of the local Council landlord service.   

 

The Council aims to further develop the way it consults and communicates with 
tenants and leaseholders.  By doing this the Council expects to see an improvement 
in the proportion of Council tenants who are satisfied with Harlow Council as a 
landlord.6 
 
A performance management framework is in place. The framework seeks an 
“outcome” based approach focusing on targets that make a real difference to 
people’s lives focusing on improving customer satisfaction, efficiency, and delivering 
value for money. 
 
 
3.3    Supported Housing 
 
Harlow Council’s Supported Housing Service consists of sixteen sheltered housing 
schemes, one extra care scheme for the frail elderly, and a community support 
function for 1,000 private clients living across the town. 
 
Essex County Council (ECC) formally acts as the responsible organisation, and 
commission Housing Related Support (HRS) services from the Council on a 
contractual basis.  HRS commissioning services funded by ECC form part of the 
Government`s Health and Social Care agenda that promotes Older Persons 
wellbeing and independence.  The Act does not stipulate specific services to fulfil this 
requirement.  The Council’s role, as a landlord, is to maintain the fabric of the 
building, deliver the contractual HRS services, and manage its tenancies. 
 
Reductions in housing support places increasing pressure on supported housing 
services. However, the Council wants Harlow to be a great place to grow older with 
people living happy, healthy and independent lives with the Council playing a leading 
role in tackling the underlying root causes of poor health and the issues that affect 
wellbeing.  
 
The Sheltered Housing Service plays an important role in this “Wellbeing” Strategy. 
 
Older People can expect to live longer, maintaining their independence for longer, 
seeking care and support services later in life.  In Harlow this age profile is projected 
to increase dramatically. 
 
Therefore, it is appropriate to continuously review and reshape services to meet the 
changing needs with an emphasis on housing support services. 
 
HRS was originally Supporting People funding which was the care element of 
Housing Benefit.  The care element of Housing Benefit was removed because it was 
identified by the government as not being part of bricks and mortar housing support 
and was given to ECC to administer.  Harlow Council has continued to provide   
housing related support with reducing resources, and year on year reductions in 
funding.  
 

                                                 
6
 BV74a Satisfaction - with Council tenants overall ( per cent) 

153



 
26 

A review of the Supported Housing Service was completed in November 2017 and 
the Scrutiny Committee have made recommendations on how the Council’s 
objectives for HRS housing should be pursued within the reducing resources 
available to the Council from ECC. 
 
 
3.4   Tenure policy 

 
The Council is required to have a Tenancy Strategy setting out its approach to 
tenure.  
 
This was published in 2013 together with a new Allocations Policy determining the 
priorities used for allocating Council housing.  The policy has given greater freedom 
to establish local approaches of those who can join the Housing Needs Register and 
what priority the Council can award.  The Council no longer manages an open 
waiting list to which any person can apply.  The Tenancy Strategy is in the process of 
being reviewed, and once approved will be implemented with effect from 1 April 
2019. 
 
 
3.5   Managing Performance 

 
Harlow continues to be recognised externally as a top housing performer 
operationally.  
 
Real achievements have been made over the last year leading to: 

 Strong landlord performance in key landlord areas of rent collection, service 
charge collection, turning round empty properties, and repairing our homes. 

 Completion of Phase 1 of a major estate regeneration programme at The 
Briars, Copshall Close, and Ayletts Field. 

 Addressing the Housing Register which continues to grow, increasing in 
incidence of homelessness: continuing to work to let homes in a fair and 
transparent manner. 

 Achieved accreditation for the Careline Scheme which offers security to the 
most vulnerable residents in the town. 

 More resources put into “Tenancy Support” Service, recognising this is a 
growing area but enforcing tenancy conditions fairly where required.  

 Celebrating for the third year running the partnership working with Essex 
County Council and Manorcourt Homecare in providing extra care housing at 
Sumners Farm Close for the most elderly and vulnerable. 

 
A tenant satisfaction survey is carried out biennially by Housing Services.  In the last 
survey in 2017 satisfaction with the overall service was at 76% (increased by 2% 
since 2014).  74% of respondents were satisfied with the quality of their home.  The 
next Landlord Survey is due to take place at the end of 2019. 
 
Tackle homelessness – The Housing Register continues to grow, with increasing 
incidences of homelessness.  The Council continues to work to let its homes in a fair 
and transparent manner, meeting local priorities.  
 

 Implementing the new ‘Homelessness Reduction Act 2017’ in conjunction with 
the Harlow Homelessness Partnership developing shared objectives as well as 
targeting the limited resources to priorities. 
 

154



 
27 

 Continuing to implement the government’s social mobility scheme to encourage 
national mobility within social housing providers, increasing choice. 

. 

 Continue the implementation of the Modern Homes Programme investing in the 
Council’s housing assets and directing resources in improving energy 
efficiency, reducing the energy bills to tenants and tackling fuel poverty. 
  

 Update the Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy and Action Plan, to 
include the requirements of the ‘Homelessness Reduction Act 2017’ and Rough 
Sleeper Initiative. 
 

 Working towards increased communication by providing more opportunities for 
tenants and leaseholders to be involved in their service. 
 

 Consult on our preferred options for housing growth in the new Local 
Development Plan. 
 

 Continue to replace the Council owned district heating schemes to increase 
energy efficiency and tackle fuel poverty.  
 

 Commencing a programme of new building Council homes.  
 
 
3.6    Modern Homes Programmes 
 
The Modern Homes Programme has to date reached over 8,000 homes with 
42,000 improvements illustrating the ambition and scale of delivery, and transforming 
Council housing in Harlow.  (See 4.1 below)  
 
 
3.7    District Heating 
 
There are a number of flat blocks owned by the Council where all residents (both 
tenants and leaseholders) benefit from a District Heating system.  A District Heating 
system (or Heat Network) supplies heating and hot water to residents via a central 
boiler system that works for the whole block, rather than each property having its own 
individual boiler. These systems are considered to be both cost-effective and more 
efficient that individual domestic boilers. The Council supplies the gas used to run the 
communal boilers and re-charges residents for the energy they use within their 
homes. 
 
The Council continues to monitor the cost at which it procures energy and is 
committed to demonstrating value for money for both its tenants and leaseholders. 
Gas is purchased by the Council through a consortium arrangement via the use of an 
energy framework that allows the Council to purchase gas and electricity directly 
from the wholesale market. The framework used by the Council aligns similar 
contracts of multiple customers in order to achieve savings when purchasing energy 
in large quantities.  The use of a framework also allows the supplier to take 
advantage of favourable market conditions to ensure energy is purchased at the best 
possible price for the Council.  
 
In July 2017 Cabinet approved the introduction of a new framework agreement which 
commenced in September 2018.  As part of the implementation of the new 
framework the Council has entered an initial ‘bridging’ contract with the energy 

155



 
28 

supplier.  Residents will see an increase in the price of energy under the bridging 
contract initially for the first 12 months but, although the cost of energy under the 
‘bridging’ contract has increased, detailed market analysis shows that the wholesale 
price of gas across the UK has increased over the last year, mainly due to 
unprecedented demand and a weaker exchange rate.  While under the bridging 
contract, the framework provider will be procuring energy at a lower rate for the years 
following the initial term which will produce savings for the Council and therefore 
residents in the medium term, providing residents with value for money.  
 
The Council remains committed to tackling fuel poverty for residents. The cost of 
energy that is passed on to both tenants and leaseholders of the Council is assessed 
each financial year to ensure the Council is not putting its residents at risk of fuel 
poverty. Although the cost of energy procured under the ‘bridging’ contract has 
increased, these rates have been benchmarked against the 2015 energy rates 
charged to residents within District Heating schemes and found to be equal.  In 2015 
the Council commissioned the Home Energy Study by Rickaby Thompson 
Associates which identified a small number of properties to be at risk of fuel poverty. 
The study used what was the current energy pricing at the time as part of the 
assessment of fuel poverty and therefore allows the Council to benchmark against 
energy rates for that year. 
 
Alongside the programme of district heating modernisation, work has also been 
undertaken to ensure the Council’s compliance with new legal requirements under 
the ‘Heat Network (Metering and Billing) Regulations 2014’ through the installation of 
individual property Heat Meters at all schemes that benefit from district heating (in 
order to facilitate billing for energy use on a property-by-property basis based upon 
individual energy use / consumption). Heat meters measure individual heat and hot 
water usage and ensure that residents are charged fairly for the heating and hot 
water they use. Residents receive a quarterly statement showing their energy 
consumption and their tariff information, ensuring that the Council is providing 
transparency over the way in which it charges residents for heating and hot water 
within District Heating schemes. 
 
 
3.8    Tackling Fuel Poverty 
 
Tackling fuel poverty is a main policy priority for the Council. Fuel poverty affects the 
most vulnerable residents within our communities and can have adverse effects on 
their wellbeing.  
 
Fuel poverty in England is measured statistically using the Low Income High Costs 
definition, under which a household is considered to be in fuel poverty if: 

 They have required fuel costs that are above average (the national median 
spend on fuel) 

 Were they to spend that amount they would be left with a residual income 
below the official poverty line 

 
Whether or not a household is affected by fuel poverty is largely determined by the 
following four factors: 

 The energy efficiency of the property 

 The cost of energy 

 The household income 

 The usage of heating and hot water by the individual resident 
 

156



 
29 

A proactive, targeted use has been made of the 2015 Harlow Home Energy Study by 
Rickaby Thompson Associates which identified the Council’s lowest performing 
properties in relation to energy efficiency.  A number of these properties were 
identified as putting residents at risk of being in fuel poverty due to their low energy 
performance rating.  The Energy Performance Certificate was used to identify the 
required measures to increase the energy performance of each of these properties 
and alleviate the risk of fuel poverty within the Council’s housing stock. These works 
included: 
 

 Replacement of individual domestic boilers and heating systems within 
properties. 

 Replacement of doors and windows to individual properties and flat blocks. 

 Replacement of District Heating Boilers and associated heating systems, 
including the installation of controllable heating at all schemes. 

 Installation of cavity wall, loft and external wall insulation to targeted 
properties. 

 
Work continues to be focussed on improving the energy efficiency of the properties 
with the lowest energy efficiency rating. Works are prioritised in order to improve the 
Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating to ensure that none of the Council’s 
properties are putting residents at risk of fuel poverty due to their low energy 
performance rating.  
 
 
3.9    Tenant Moves Incentive scheme and mutual exchanges 
 
The main priorities remain: 

 Make efficient and effective use of existing Council housing stock. 

 Increased priority given to Council tenants wishing to move to smaller 
properties. 

 Demonstrating value for money. 

 Increasing housing options to meet housing need. 
 
 
3.10    Collecting Rent and Service Charges 
 
Welfare Reform changes have meant a difficult time for many residents.   
 
The Council’s “can’t pay / won’t pay” approach actively helping residents with 
dedicated money advice, early intervention, and targeted income management, along 
with the promotion and take up of direct debit payments.  The Council has increased 
rent and service charge collection rates with performance still in the “top quartile” of 
high performing landlords, which is one of the highest collection rates in the region.  

 99.15% of rent collected in 2017/18, 

 99.63% of leasehold service charges were collected in 2017/18. 
 
 
3.11    Repairs and Maintenance  
 
The transition to HTS was a smooth transfer ensuring the customer saw no change 
to their service level from 1 February 2017.  The Council also continues to work 
effectively with its contractors supporting the Council in the delivery of the repairs 
service and improving the customer experience. 
 

157



 
30 

Performance is being reported on Contractors’ response to tenants’ requests.  This 
needs to be even better, dealing consistently well with the 33,000 repair requests on 
an annual basis. Prioritising vulnerable tenants, and responding effectively to 
feedback regarding experiences.   
 
 
3.12    Welfare Reform 
 
Following the introduction of the Government’s Welfare Reform legislation, work 
continues to assist residents with embedding the amended Housing Benefit 
Regulations.  The Council continue to have clear and transparent processes and 
procedures for dealing with arrears recovery, and will continue to work in line with its 
“Can’t pay / Won’t pay” ethos when managing debt in relation to support and 
enforcement (see 6.4.2. below). 
 
 
3.13    Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
Tackling anti-social behaviour continues to be a high priority for the Council.  Early 
intervention is key and by ensuring resources are targeted appropriately enables the 
Council to deal efficiently and effectively with complaints.  Taking a multi-agency 
approach (involving the Police, Social Care, schools and other support agencies) is 
attributed to the continued success in reducing the number of complaints and need 
for enforcement action. 
 
 
3.14    Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement 
 
The Council continues to work in “co-regulation” with tenants and leaseholders using 
different methods in order to scrutinise, challenge, putting them at the “heart of the 
housing service”. 
 
The Council is in the process of reviewing its wider community engagement strategy 
which is expected to conclude in 2019/20.  Any revisions will need to be aligned to 
the Housing Services’ Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Strategy and Action 
Plan. 
 
 
3.15   Right to Buy 
 
Applications for Right to Buy have stayed at a level of three a week. 
 
A summary of the Service Plan and key performance indicators is shown in Appendix 
3.1. 

158



 
31 

4.     Asset Management 
4.1   Stock Condition and Key Investment Principles 
 
In 2018/19, the Council continued to use data gathered through the 2012 Stock 
Condition Survey to establish a clear Programme of Works to its housing stock in 
order to maintain compliance with the Government’s Decent Homes Standard and 
fulfil its wider regulatory and statutory duties as a responsible landlord. 
 
Savills UK Ltd administers the main elements of the Council's Housing Investment 
Programme (HIP) which has established an ambitious five year £100m Modern 
Homes Programme, centred upon a set of internal / external works packages to 
Council homes.  These work packages target resources to ensure homes meet the 
Government's Decent Homes Standard, and that local priorities are tackled.  High 
standards of workmanship in all the programmes are expected to ensure that they 
are delivered on time, within the budget envelope allocated, and to a consistently 
high customer experience – as reflected within contractual Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) for all Service Providers.   

 
The Modern Homes Programme has reached to date approaching 8,000 homes 
and 48,200 individual improvements illustrating the ambition and scale of delivery, 
transforming Council housing in Harlow.  There is a robust inspection and 
performance management framework established which ensures that predetermined 
standards are met, contractors meet performance standards, and value for money 
can be demonstrated.   
 
In addition to maintaining decency, additional asset management priorities shape 
investment within the housing stock over the next five year period, as follows:   
 

 A review of the External Works Programme has been undertaken in order to 
refocus on key priorities, this is as a direct result of the ongoing impact of a 
reduced budget due to the enforced reduction in rent levels to 2020.  These 
works will include an extensive re-roofing programme and associated works on 
both houses and flat blocks. 
 

 Continued focus and planning on the Council’s compliance (health and safety) 
obligations and fire risk assessment priorities across all the assets.  Attention 
continues to be concentrated on fire safety in the 14 High Rise Tower Blocks: 
new Fire Regulation Assessments are currently being undertaken.  

 

 Prioritising the Energy Efficiency of the Council’s housing stock in regard to 
replacement and renewal of the Council’s Communal and District Heating 
Systems and the poorest performing properties which pose a risk of fuel 
poverty to our tenants; 

 

 Works identified in the Garage Strategy approved in December 2015; 
 

 Enhancing the portfolio of the Council’s own Temporary Accommodation with a 
view to increasing its quantity and quality and reducing the reliance upon Bed 
and Breakfast and other more expensive external options; 

 

 Maintaining the Council’s significant investment in adaptations to the homes of 
some of our most vulnerable customers (disabled, long term illness etc.) to 
ensure that tenancies remain sustainable; 

 

159



 
32 

 Continuing the Council’s aspiration to develop new Council housing and 
developing a longer term programme which includes housing of all tenures, 
social rented as well as Council housing, reviewing this on an annual basis and 
as individual opportunities arise. 

 

A full list of short, medium and long-term priorities is identified in Appendix 4.1. 
  
 
4.2   Asset Management Programme Performance and Delivery  
 
The Council achieved full compliance with the Decent Homes Standard in March 
2015 and subsequently this position has been maintained via further investment in 
the Council’s housing stock – as reflected within the component delivery set out in 
the table below, updated regarding 2017/18: 
 

 
By continuing to hold contractors delivering this work properly to account, in addition 
to delivering the required volume of works, very high standards of customer 
experience and satisfaction have been maintained throughout 2017/18 and into 
2018/19.  This is reflected within excellent customer satisfaction scores and 
complaint rates as per the table below: 
 
 

Customer Satisfaction – 
2017/18 

Very 
Dissatisfied 

Dissatisfied Satisfied Very 
Satisfied 

Return 
Total 

United Living 2017/18 1 2 75 214 292 

 % 0.4% 0.6% 25.7% 73.3% 100% 

Mulalley and Co.* 2017/18 N/A** 12 102 N/A** 114 

 % N/A** 11% 89% N/A** 100% 

Lorne Stewart 2017/18 2 3 23 32 60 

 % 3% 5% 39% 53% 100% 

Element 

Total 

Completed 

1
st
 April 

2013 to 31
st
 

March 2014 

Total 

Completed 

1
st
 April 

2014 to 31
st
 

March 2015 

 

Total 

Completed 

1
st
 April 

2015 to 31
st
 

March 2016  

 

 

Total 

Completed 1
st
 

April 2016 to 

31
st
 March 

2017 

 

Total 

Completed 1
st
 

April 2017 to 

31
st
 March 

2018 

Total 

Completion

s 

Kitchens 1,144 1,516 481 475 205 3,616 

Bathrooms 734 1,413 534 522 359 3,203 

Additional WC 127 466 54 62 48 709 

EICR Inspections 3,247 2,812 772 262 727 7,093 

Smoke Alarms 1,415 965 549 589 1,104 3,518 

Boilers 544 775 305 397 117 2,021 

Heating Distribution 802 846 264 304 106 2,216 

Doors 2,733 1,845 1,594 1,210 379 7,382 

Windows 7,242 4,396 2,748 3,197 583 17,583 

Externals N/A N/A 269 590 743 859 

Totals 17,988 15,034 7,570 7,608 4,371 48,200 

160



 
33 

 
 
4.3   Maintaining compliance of the Council’s Housing Stock to the 
Government’s Decent Homes Standard 
 
As a result of government legislation in regard to the requirement to reduce rents by 
(-)1% each year from 2016-2020, the Council has planned its housing stock 
investment and programme delivery (HIP) to meet, rather than as had originally been 
the intention to exceed, the Decent Homes Standard due to reduced resources being 
available. 
 
Nonetheless, component / element delivery volumes remain high with, for example, 
some £3.8m still invested in Internal Works to properties, which in 2017/18 included 
228 properties which would otherwise not have achieved compliance with the 
Government’s Decent Homes Standard. 
 
In the context of meeting the Decent Homes Standard, particularly pleasing in 
2017/18 was the increase in those properties brought to compliance via actual 
Internal Works completion as opposed to being recorded as works refused or non-
access cases.  
 
Effective contractor management continues to be vital to ensuring optimum value for 
money is obtained for the Council’s capital investment, with tight cost, quality and 
payment control secured through a continuous rolling monthly process of works 
handover, sign-off and valuation, holding Service Providers to account.  
 

 
4.4   Continued focus and planning upon the Council’s compliance with health 
and safety obligations 
 
As a responsible social landlord, Harlow Council has no greater asset management 
priority than ensuring the health, safety and welfare of its tenants via full compliance 
with its statutory, regulatory and legal obligations across the full range of issues 
related to fire, gas, electrical and water safety as well as asbestos management. 
 
The Council continues to focus on validating and seeking comprehensive assurance 
that its approach to fire safety is robust. This has been the case in regard to positive 
feedback after joint inspections carried out of the Council’s 14 High Rise and other 
multi-storey Flat Blocks by Essex Fire and Rescue Service.  
 
The Council, though, has continued to further prioritise and increase its asset 
management focus upon both further fire safety-related activities and other 
compliance (health and safety) areas, including: 

  

 A pilot on Willowfield Tower is being undertaken to decommission the SE Ducts 
and warm air central heating systems which are being replaced with modern 
wet gas central heating systems. 

 

 The commissioning of a full specialist structural safety and condition survey for 
the Council’s 14 Tower Blocks in order to provide assurance of their continued 
longevity / suitability as sustainable accommodation and develop a plan for any 
future required investment. 

 

161



 
34 

 Following a detailed condition assessment, the compilation of a 4 year, £1.5m 
prioritised refurbishment (11) and replacement (4) programme for the Council’s 
portfolio of housing scheme lifts to ensure their continued safe operation and 
compliance with legislative and regulatory standards. 

 

 Continued operation of a comprehensive programme of electrical safety 
inspections and upgrading of communal electrical installations via ring-fenced, 
dedicated compliance capital funding.  

 
 
4.5   Addressing the Energy Efficiency of the Council’s housing stock in regard 
to replacement and renewal of the Council’s Communal and District Heating 
Systems (and the poorest performing properties which pose a risk of fuel 
poverty to our tenants) 
 
The Council is committed to this programme of work with schemes identified for 
replacement in the 2019/20 Capital Programme. 
 
Alongside this work, the Council has also continued to ensure its progress towards 
full compliance with its obligations under the ‘Heat Network (Metering and Billing) 
Regulations 2014’ – with the levying of heating charges to individual households. 
 
The Council fully recognises the scale and significance of this change for its 
residents, and has closely monitored the impacts of this upon households and has 
provided additional advice and support when necessary in regard to issues of 
vulnerability and/or affordability – and this approach will continue into 2019 as the 
next phase of transition to individual heating charging takes place. 
 
In addition, continued asset management value continues to be derived from the 
2015/16 Harlow Home Energy Study by Rickaby Thompson Associates, with a 
programme of targeted improvement works derived from this insight ensuring that the 
Council will have – as required from April 2018 via the Energy Act 2011 and Fuel 
Poverty Regulations 2014 – no properties subject to re-letting restrictions via an 
Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating below Band E. 
 
 
4.6   Works identified in the Garage Strategy approved in December 2015  
 
The Council’s Housing Garage and Hardstanding Strategy was first updated in 2007.  
 
The strategy recognised the large portfolio and prioritised it according to retention, 
disposal, and redevelopment of further affordable housing.  An investment appraisal 
was completed in 2014 which identified and strengthened sites for retention and / or 
disposal. 
 
The budgetary resources available to this area of work were significantly reduced in 
2016/17 in preference to works within domestic tenanted properties, and this position 
continued into 2018/9 with an annual budget of £500,000. 
 
This budget has been deployed upon a programme of works – both refurbishment of 
existing garages as well as demolition and their replacement with hardstanding areas 
– derived from the original Garage Strategy at estate locations including Potter 
Street, Pynest Road, The Downs, Pittmans Field, The Dashes, Tany’s Dell, and 
Chippingfield.. 
 

162



 
35 

Derelict garage sites also form part of the Council’s wider regeneration approach 
which seeks to maximise scarce council land resources, taking advantage of 
appropriate funding opportunities, where available. 
 
 
4.7   Enhancing the portfolio of the Council’s own Temporary Accommodation 
with a view to increasing its quantity and quality and reducing the reliance 
upon Bed and Breakfast and other more expensive external options 
 
The Council continues to face very considerable challenges and pressures in relation 
to its statutory obligations for meeting local housing need, including homelessness, 
and the ‘Homelessness Reduction Act’ will inevitably add further to these demands. 
 
This has resulted in progressively increased pressure upon the Council’s provision of 
temporary accommodation, and the budget related to this.  
 
In order to assist with these pressures, during 2017/18 a programme of works to 
deliver additional (6 units), high standard temporary accommodation – via property 
conversion works at Collins Meadow, Hare Street Springs and Partridge Court – has 
been tendered.  Work to Collins Meadow and Partridge Court will commence in 
January 2019.  Hare Street Springs is currently still in planning with a view to 
commence works in Spring 2019. 
 
 
4.8   Maintaining the Council’s significant investment in adaptations to the 
homes of some of our most vulnerable customers (disabled, long term illness 
etc.) to ensure that tenancies remain sustainable 
 
In common with the above duties of the Council in regard to housing need and 
homelessness, work to disabled adaptations continues to be marked by levels of 
demand which substantially exceed the budgetary resources available. 
 
As a result, a continued substantial capital works budget of £900,000 was allocated 
to these works for 2018/19 – and this level of resource is to be maintained within the 
Council’s medium term financial planning for its Housing Investment Programme for 
each year through to (and including) 2022/23. 
 
A continuous process of Service Review, covering all aspects of service and delivery 
structure and process, has continued in 2018/19 in order to seek to ensure that the 
Council – and the vulnerable tenants and their families for whom adaptations work is 
so vital - is obtaining maximum Value for Money and efficiency for the monies it 
continues to allocate to this investment priority, making best use of the stock. This 
will in particular focus moving forward upon an expanded role for and involvement 
from, the Council’s Housing Management function within decision-making and 
customer communication in individual disabled adaptations cases.  
 
 
4.9   Continuing the Council’s aspiration to develop housing of all tenures 
including social rented 
 
The Council has an ambition to build new homes and has a programme to do so.  
Further information is given below (see 6.1.3.). 
 
 
 

163



 
36 

4.10   Supporting the development of HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd. 
 
The strong spirit of partnership and positive approach to the transition of the Council 
to HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd ensured a smooth, successful transition to 
the new internal Service Provider from 1 February 2017.  This followed the active 
monitoring of Work In Progress (WIP) up to the transition date, close co-operation in 
regard to Information Technology systems and in regard to customer communication. 
 
HTS will be allocated work packages on an annual basis to the value of £5.8m 
encompassing areas including Windows and Doors, internal works to ensure homes 
remain decent and compliant, Disabled Adaptations, Energy Efficiency and Garage 
Refurbishment / Demolitions. The allocation of these works has used a new Business 
Case process. 
 
This Business Case process has been further refined and enhanced for 2018/19 in 
order to ensure that the Council can evidence a continuous improvement in the 
quality of service delivery and Value for Money provided by HTS (Property and 
Environment) Ltd. in accordance with the Council’s original objectives in 
implementing the Local Authority Trading Company structure. 

164



 
37 

5.     Governance   
5.1    Development and Review 
 
The Council introduced a “Cabinet” style of political management from May 2011. 
 
The Cabinet carries out all the Council's functions which are not reserved to Full 
Council or the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under 
the Council's Constitution and takes Key Decisions, including the development, 
monitoring and review of services, resources and policies.  
 
 
5.2    Involvement and consultation 
 
The Council recognises the genuine shared commitment to embrace tenant and 
leaseholder participation, working together, placing them at the “heart” of what the 
Council does and shaping and improving services to ensure the Council’s housing 
regulatory role is delivered effectively. 
 
The Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Strategy takes into account the regulatory 
arrangements and its implications for the Council, tenants and leaseholders. The 
strategy forms part of the Council’s approach to the social housing regulation built 
around the concept of “co-regulation”.  
 
Co-regulation requires the Council to demonstrate robust self-regulation 
incorporating effective tenant and leaseholder involvement through its governance 
structures.  
 
It is recognised, that there is a requirement to “widen representation”, to focus on the 
issues most important, and importantly to embrace modern engagement / information 
sharing techniques to further encourage participation.  

 
The tenant and leaseholder engagement strategies key objectives are to: 

 Continuously review tenant and leaseholder involvement, service delivery and 
customer involvement routes. 

 Improve strategic partnership working through the development of an 
integrated approach to the strategic direction with clearer priorities for the 
service. 

 Establish more effective and robust performance management across tenant 
and leaseholder participation activity. 

The updated Business Plan has been produced in partnership with tenant and 
leaseholder representatives.  The Council is committed to tenant and leaseholder 
participation and believes that this is a way in which tenants and leaseholders can be 
involved in the management of their homes. 
 
The HRA Business Plan will be reviewed by tenants and leaseholders together with 
the other landlord’s housing related policies and priorities.  This will ensure tenant 
and leaseholder involvement in the: 
 

 Making of decisions about how housing-related services are delivered, 
including the setting of service standards. 

165



 
38 

 Scrutiny of their landlord’s performance and the making of recommendations to 
their landlord about how performance might be improved. 

 Management of their homes, where applicable. 

 Management of repair and maintenance services. 

 
The Council’s Housing Standards Board and Tenant and Leaseholder Standards 
Panels will jointly monitor service delivery against the consumer standards applicable 
to the Council and regulated by the Homes and Community Agency (HCA). 
 
 
5.3    Landlord Survey 

 
Housing Services conducts its Tenant Landlord Survey once every two years and a 
Leaseholder Survey once a year.  The statutory requirement to produce a customer 
satisfaction survey (known as the Status Survey) ended in 2010/11, however the 
completion of an alternative surveys is important to both the Housing Service and 
Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement as the results can be used to measure and 
assist in shaping and developing future services. 
 
The surveys cover questions around the overall tenant and leaseholder satisfaction 
with Housing Services as a whole.  These also ask how satisfied tenants and 
leaseholder are when receiving housing and communal repairs, cleaning and ground 
maintenance, modern homes or major works, service charges, leaseholder 
management fee and tenant and leaseholder engagement and empowerment.  The 
Surveys also gauge tenants’ and leaseholders’ perception on different aspects of the 
Housing Service which includes moving home, reporting anti-social behaviour, 
garages, contact and communication with Housing Services, complaints and value 
for money.  
 
The Housing Service continue to review and make changes to the way it engages 
with its Tenants and Leaseholders.  Surveys of this nature allows for the Council to 
develop a set of priorities based on consultation evidence which helps assist in future 
planning.   
 
The biennial survey showed that the overall tenant satisfaction was 74% in 2014, 
increasing to 88% in 2017 (BMG Independent Survey). 
 

166



 
39 

6.     Financial Forecasts    
6.1   Introduction  
 
The HRA Business Plan is a key tool in the management of the Council’s Housing 
Service.  It sets out the key priorities for the service and provides a financial forecast 
over 30 years.  This document is referred to by Officers, and is subject to regular 
review.   
 
HRA self-financing gave Councils greater control over service delivery, but also 
brought greater responsibility.  Taking on borrowing of £208.837m on 28 March 2012 
was one of the biggest decisions Harlow Council has ever had to manage. 
Government legislation to reduce rents annually by 1% over four years (to 31 March 
2020) means that debt cannot now be repaid within the timescale originally 
envisaged.   
 
This year the HRA faces three major challenges: 

 Inflationary pressure 

 Fire Safety and Regulation 

 Building Council homes. 
 
The Council’s HRA Business Plan 2018–2048 is summarised below, and detailed in 
Appendix 6.1. 
 
 
6.1.1.   The Challenge of Inflationary Pressure 
 
A major challenge to the HRA is the upward pressure of inflation on expenditure at a 
time when dwelling rents are required to reduce by 1% annually to 2020.  The 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) for September 2018 was 2.4%.  The baseline Plan 
assumes increases in excess of CPI annually in its contractual obligation to HTS 
(Property and Environment) Ltd.: 3.7% in 2018/19, 5% in 2019/20 and 3% thereafter,  
Staff salaries will increase by 2% for a second year in 2019/20.  General increases in 
other expenditure are assumed to be 2% annually which err on the optimistic rather 
then pessimistic side because the Bank of England central forecast is for CPI to be 
above 2% until at least September 2021.   
 
The Council welcomes the Government announcement that rents will be allowed to 
increase by “no more than” CPI+1% annually from 2020/21 to 2024/25.   
 
Inflation is no friend of this HRA Business Plan, and changes from the assumptions 
above have greater significance in terms of the Plan’s sustainability.  Perhaps as 
never before the sensitivity analysis, in Appendix 6.3, has added dimension.  
 
 
6.1.2   Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry 
 
The Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry is a through review of the events and lessons 
learned surrounding the devastating fire and loss of life in the high-rise tower block in 
London.  The first phase, which heard eye-witness accounts of the tragic night, 
completed in December 2018.   It is now anticipated that the second phase may not 
start until autumn 2019 at the earliest in order to allow lawyers to digest the vast 
amount of evidence submitted.  This second phase will examine the wider causes of 
the fire, including whether the use of cladding was a contributory factor to the spread 
of fire. 

167



 
40 

 
The Council will need to respond appropriately to these findings.  This HRA Business 
Plan has identified £5.5m to be allocated to fire safety work in 2019/20 – 2020/21. In 
addition to this budget, £3m has been allocated to complete ‘Warm Air’ heating 
replacements in the remaining 4 high-rise tower blocks, followed by the 
decommissioning of the ‘SE Ducts’ within each of the blocks.  
 
£1.5m has been allowed within the HRA Minimum Working Balance for any other 
emergency work required in 2018/19 and 2019/20.  This would be used as a 
temporary measure. The MHCLG Green Paper ‘A New Deal for Housing’ (published 
in August 2018) recommends that the policy on high value voids is abandoned 
following consultation with local authorities. The Council awaits the outcomes of this 
consultation exercise. 
 
The risk which Councils face is not only inflationary pressure but also the law of 
supply and demand.  If, for example, landlords were required to fit sprinklers or new 
fire doors in all high rise properties it would immediately follow that the demand to 
supply sprinklers would increase and therefore the cost and lead-in time for works 
would increase.  Taking a proactive view may though be counterintuitive until firm 
guidance is recevied from central Government. 
 
 
6.1.3.   Building Council Homes 
 
The following information has been taken from the Council’s ‘Capital Programme 
Strategy’ (Appendix B of the ‘Capital and Treasury Report’). 
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-2020 places emphasis on ‘More and Better 
Housing’.  This means tackling the housing need of Harlow residents, both in 
quantity, affordability, range and quality. 
 
In addition to projects included in the ‘HRA Business Plan 2017-2047’, a cross-
departmental Officer Task Group has identified a further programme of house 
building which was approved by Cabinet on 6 December 2018.  This includes The 
Readings, Bushey Croft and Lister House for which planning permission has already 
been granted. 
 
The programme will be financed from retained pooling receipts, revenue balances 
and external borrowing, both within the Council’s Housing Revenue Account.  The 
Government allows Councils to keep receipts from a proportion of ‘Right To Buy’ 
sales on condition that these are spent within three years on building replacement 
council homes.  Failure to deliver would result in retained receipts being repaid to 
Government at a penalty of base rate plus 4%.  It is therefore essential that the 
programme is delivered in a timely manner, and that further retained receipts are 
drawn down prior to need.  
 
The outline intention is to build homes and let at either social rent or an affordable 
level of rent. 
 
A programme for house building is set out below.  
  

168



 
41 

 

Council House Building Programme 

 Number 

of Units 
2018/19 

forecast 

(£m) 

2019/20 

budget 

(£m) 

2020/21 

budget 

(£m) 

2021/22 

budget 

(£m) 

2022/23 

budget 

(£m) 

2023/24 

budget 

(£m) 

Programme        

Temporary 

Accom-

modation 

7 0.250 0.054 - - - - 

Sumners 

Farm Close 
4 0.050 0.450 - - - - 

The 

Readings 
3 0.075 0.560 0.261 0.010 - - 

Bushey 

Croft 
16 0.078 2.621 0.463 0.040 - - 

Lister 

House, 

Perry Road 

46 - 0.031 5.734 5.961 0.156 - 

Elm Hatch 17 0.012 - 3.355 0.768 0.058 - 

TOTAL 

(see Table 

1) 

93 0.465 3.716 9.813 6.779 0.214 - 

Financed by        

Pooling 

Receipts 

(see Table 

3) 

 0.140 1.115 2.944 2.034 0.064 - 

HRA 

balances, 

including 

External 

Borrowing  

 0.325 2.601 6.869 4.745 0.150 - 

TOTAL  0.465 3.716 9.813 6.779 0.214 - 

 

This programme has been included in the ‘HRA Business Plan 2018-2048’, included 
for approval at this same meeting. 
 
It is the intention that external borrowing will finance the balance of the house 
building programme.  The HRA Business Plan has set out an indicative draw down of 
finance to support this goal: £2.7m in 2019/20, £6.8m in 2020/21, and a further 
£4.4m in 2020/21 with repayment after 15 years.  
 
 
6.2   Key principles 
 
The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 is built upon these foundations or principles: 

 To reduce dwelling rents annually by 1% in accordance with Government 
legislation between 2016/17 and 2019/20:  2019/20 will be the fourth and final 
year; 

169



 
42 

 Renew the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt of £208.837m upon maturity 
of each loan, keeping repayment under review – the first loan would ordinarily 
become repayable in March 2026; 

 Set a minimum HRA working balance at 31 March 2019 at £4m., being £2.5m 
for ordinary unforeseen events plus £1.5m for any unbudgeted outcome from 
the Grenfell Tower Inquiry; 

 Revise the housing asset management plans and its priorities (see Chapter 4); 

 Revise the garage management strategy, investment, and its priorities, and 
assume annual increases of at least 5% per year for garages and increases / 
decreases in service charges related to changes in expenditure. For 2019/20, 
however, it is proposed to incentivise take-up of some garages by lowering 
charges. 

 
 
6.2.1   Debt financing and repayment 
 
On 28 March 2012 the Council was required to make a one-off payment of 
£208.837m to the Government to exit the old HRA Subsidy system. The amount was 
raised in borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  Officers, in 
consultation with their Treasury Management advisors and lead Councillors, decided 
an optimum portfolio of five equal loans repayable over 4-yearly intervals from 28 
March 2026 to 28 March 2042.  These are maturity loans, which means that interest 
only is payable during the lifetime of the loan with repayment of the principal sum in 
full (the original amount borrowed) on the maturity date.  The average interest rate on 
these loans is 3.29%, which at the time was reasonable. 
 
Changing circumstances meant that, with effect from the HRA Business Plan 2015-
2045, the reduction in income means that debt cannot initally be repaid but will have 
to be renewed on maturity.  
 
Separately, there is now the intention to borrow to finance a house building 
programne (see 6.1.3. above). 
 
 
6.2.2   HRA Operating Account: minimum revenue balance 
 
The Council is obliged by law to set rents and other charges at a level to avoid a 
deficit on the Housing Revenue Account (i.e. the legal minimum balance at any time 
during the financial year must exceed zero).  This must be done “during the months 
of January and February of the year immediately preceding the relevant year”.  The 
HRA budget for 2019/20 will be presented to Cabinet on 24 January 2019.  
 
In addition, it is the Section 151 Officer’s responsibility to review annually the 
minimum working balance the HRA should hold.  The working balance is proposed to 
be £4m as at 31 March 2020, falling to £2.5m with effect from 1 April 2020 as the 
potential effect of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry subsides.   
 
A detailed assessment of the HRA Minimum Working Balance is given in the HRA 
Budget 2019/20 report. 
 
 
 
 

170



 
43 

6.2.3   Major Repairs Reserve 
 
Councils are required to debit to the HRA the full cost of depreciation, as determined 
by a professional valuer, and transfer the amount to a Major Repairs Reserve which 
can only be used to finance capital expenditure and / or repay debt.   
 
The intention is that depreciation – being a reduction in the value of an asset over 
time, due in particular to wear and tear – is arrested by capital expenditure.  Where 
capital expenditure in any year is less than depreciation the Major Repairs Reserve 
will hold the excess balance.  Where, as is the case with Harlow Council, capital 
expenditure exceeds depreciation, then the Major Repairs Reserve will be entirely 
utilised with any balance funded by Direct Revenue Financing (otherwise termed 
Revenue Contribution to Capital Expenditure) from the HRA. 
 
Harlow Council has no plan to repay debt but will use any balance transferred to the 
Major Repairs Reserve to contribute towards the cost of the housing capital 
programme.  
 
The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 does not make additional transfers from the HRA 
to MRR towards the future repayment of debt.   
 
Should the Council borrow for the purpose of house building, the intention would be 
to repay this debt but not set aside money in the MRR for future repayment. 
 
 
6.2.4   Investment Planning 
 
The Council has in place a robust methodology to assess the performance of its 
existing assets.  This is based on a financial evaluation of cashflows relating to the 
assets in order to understand how assets perform within the Business Plan.  The 
assessment covers housing and garage stock and has been overlaid with non-
financial sustainability analysis which has provided a framework for investment 
decisions.  
 
Initial results indicated that the majority of the stock performs well, with positive 
cashflows.  There is a small percentage with cashflows which have a negative worth 
to the Business Plan.  These properties have been categorised within the 
assumptions for the business plan and ranked, rated and managed according to their 
category.  This led to the identification of garage sites for demolition and 
redevelopment. 
 
In addition to garage sites, properties are identified through the void property process 
for disposal.  On becoming void the Council undertakes an exercise to review both 
the condition and financial performance of the dwelling aligned with the Asset 
Performance Evaluation model.  Where it is identified that a property is poor 
performing it will be considered for disposal. 
 
The Council’s priorities moving forward continue to focus on high rise (in particular 
involving investment decisions in regard to heating systems and thermal efficiency), 
non-traditional and sheltered housing stock where the nature of the stock means that 
cashflows are weaker than across other more traditionally built stock due to the 
higher maintenance costs.  In addition, the Council has been actively assessing its 
portfolio of Temporary Accommodation, in terms of whether this remains fit-for-
purpose, financially sustainable and able to meet ongoing demand.   
 

171



 
44 

 
6.2.5   Rent policy 
 
The Government’s approach to “rent restructuring” has, in effect, been abandoned.  
 
Under the ‘Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016’, the Government required Councils 
to reduce individual dwelling rents by 1% annually from 2016/17 to 2019/20.  2018/19 
will be the third year of four.  From 2020/21 to 2024/25 the Government has 
announced that rents should not increase by more than CPI+1% annually.  This 
Business Plan assumes that rents will increase by CPI+1% annually throughout the 
remainder of the 30 year forecast through to 2047/48.  The implications of different 
rent increases after 2024/25 are considered in Appendix 6.4.   
 
 
6.2.6   Garage Strategy 
 
The Council continues to retain a large portfolio of garages and hardstandings.  
Following the comprehensive review of the entire Garage and Hardstanding stock in 
2015 the Garage Strategy was updated.  Although reviewed on an annual basis there 
have not been any changes made since 2015 as the key principles of the strategy 
remain unchanged.  
 
The principles focus on having a robust performance management framework in 
place aligned with regular reviews of the stock.  This enables the Council to develop 
an annual programme of Capital works schemes.  Annual investment through the 
Capital Programmes assist with stock rationalising and overall improves car parking 
across the town.  The Garage Strategy determines sites for retention or disposal.  A 
greater emphasis upon lower level remedial repairs and maintenance continues 
rather than substantial refurbishment and/or remodelling, although selective 
demolition to free development land and/or garage rebuild will continue to a smaller 
scale. 
 

172



 
45 

6.3   General assumptions. 
The table below sets out the assumptions applied in the HRA Business Plan.  A full 
commentary is given in Appendix 6.3. 
 

Business Plan Assumptions 

Inflation indices 
 CPI Pay Repairs uplift HTS Annual Uplift 

Year 2 
(2019/20) 

2% 2% 2% 5% 

Year 3 
(2020/21) 

2% 2% 2% 3% 

Year 4 
(2021/22) 

2% 2% 2% 3% 

Thereafter 2% 2% 2% 3% 

 Dwelling 
Rents 

Garage Rents Interest Rate 
paid on 

Borrowing 

Interest Rate received 
on Working Balances 

Year 2 
(2019/20) 

(-)1% 5% 3.42% 1.44% 

Year 3 
(2020/21) 

3% (CPI+1%)  5% 3.44% 1.62% 

Year 4 
(2021/22) 

3% (CPI+1%) 5% 3.48% 1.65% 

Year 5 
(2022/23) 

3% (CPI+1%) 5% 3.48% 1.65% 

Thereafter 3% (CPI+1%) 5%  1.63% 

Rents 
 Average 

weekly rent 
per tenant (£) 

Average 
weekly 
service 

charge per 
tenant (£) 

  

2018/19 90.75 2.17   

2019/20 89.84 2.45   

2020/21 92.52 2.52   

2021/2 95.30 2.60   

2022/23 98.16 2.68   

Stock 
Number of tenanted properties as at 1 April 2018 9279 

Number of leasehold properties as at 1 April 2018 2517 

Annual changes Right To Buy 
sales 

New 
leasehold 
properties 

”New Build” Demolitions & transfers 

2018/19 (-)46 28 0 (-)55 

2019/20 (-)40 22 5 0 

2020/21 (-)30 16 9 0 

2021/22 (-)30 16 79 0 

2022/23 (-)30 16 0 0 

Thereafter (-)30 16 0 0 

Other assumptions (figures at 31 March 2019) 
Settlement payment (on 28 March 2012) £208,837,000 

Limit of Indebtedness / Borrowing cap Removed  
30 October 2018 

Housing Capital Financing Requirement £187,370,000 

Minimum working balance on Housing Revenue Account £4,000,000 

173



 
46 

6.4   Risks and opportunities 
6.4.1   Universal Credit 
 
The Council continues to monitor the full impact of Universal Credit (UC), due to the 
lengthy timescales that claimants are waiting to receive their first monthly payment, 
although it is anticipated that this will have a negative impact on arrears recovery.  
The Council will monitor the impact of UC in terms of numbers to identify any specific 
trends or measures that could impact or improve arrears recovery. 
 
The Council will however continue to implement its “can’t pay, won’t pay” approach, 
offering support for those in need and adopting a robust approach to those who 
refuse to pay.  
 
The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 includes a provision for bad and doubtful debts, 
which it is hoped, is more than ample for any negative impact of UC. 
 
 
6.4.2   Borrowing Strategy 
 
The HRA Business Plan 2011-2041 was designed to indicate the minimum period 
over which loans could be repaid, thus avoiding perhaps needless interest charges to 
the HRA.  Under self-financing the Council’s plan was always to repay debt but, as 
demonstrated elsewhere, enforced lower rent levels and consequential efficiencies to 
the service make this impractical.  This HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 proposes the 
renewal of debt on maturity at an estimated annual interest rate of 3.5% per annum.  
 
The Council plans to borrow in order to fund a programme of house building (see 
6.1.3). 
 
 
6.5   Sensitivity analysis 
 
Sensitivity analysis tests how much the Business Plan might fluctuate from its set of 
standard assumptions (see 6.3 above).  This is distinctive from the key principles 
(see 6.2 above), which have been approved and are unchanging, save for 
inflationary fluctuations.  

174



 
47 

7.    Equalities and Diversity 
 
Harlow Council is committed to the principles of equality of opportunity, fairness and 
equality for all as detailed within the Equality Act 2010.  The Council strives to ensure 
that the services it provides to the community are readily accessible for all those who 
make up Harlow’s diverse communities and fully complies with Section 149 – Public 
sector equality duty.  The Council believes that its role as an employer can be better 
achieved by a workforce that values and reflects diversity and the Council is 
committed to regular evaluation procedures, and policies promoting diversity in all 
areas of recruitment, employment, training and promotion.  
 
The Council will work towards an environment that is based on meritocracy and 
inclusiveness, where all employees can develop their full potential, irrespective of 
their race, gender, marital status, age, disability, religious belief, political opinion or 
sexual orientation. 
 
The Council recognises that equality of opportunity leads to: 

 Services that respond to the needs of all its communities. 

 A workforce empowered to deliver services to the whole community more 
effectively through improved training and development. 

 A more positive working environment which enables hearts and minds to 
embrace change. 

 A workforce that is representative of the wider community. 

 Good partnership between the Council and the community. 
 
 

175



 

48 

APPENDIX 3.1 
HOUSING SERVICE PLAN 2018-19 

 

 
 

Objectives 
 

Actions 
 
      Milestones 

 
Date Due 

 
By Whom 

 

HSG 1 Invest in 
Housing Stock 

HA1.1 Provide and maintain high quality housing stock, 
with all council homes meeting the Modern Homes 
Standards Programme 

HM1.1.1 Produce an 
Annual Housing 
Investment Programme 
(HIP) for improvements to 
housing stock 

Complete Head Of Housing Services 

  HM1.1.2 Internal Contracts 
awarded for the Housing 
Capital Programme Complete 

 

  HM1.1.3 External 
Contracts awarded for the 
Housing Capital 
Programme 

 March 2019 

 

  HM1.1.4 Programme and 
Project Management 
Processes established and 
reviewed at monthly 
PPMG meetings 

 March 2019 

 

  HM1.1.5 Annual Work   
Plans published to    
Tenants and   
Leaseholders 

Complete 

 

176



 

49 

 
Objectives 

 
Actions 

 
Milestones 

 
Date Due 

 
By Whom 

  HM1.1.6 The Housing 
Revenue Account 
Business Plan is updated 
and approved by Cabinet 

January 2019 

  
 

  

HM1.1.7 Performance 
Management Framework    
Established 

March 2019 

 

 HA1.2 Commence a £1.9m Energy Efficiency Programme 
to replace District Heating Schemes over a planned period 
addressing the energy efficiency of the Council's housing 
stock 

HM1.2.1 District Heating 
award of contracts and 
delivery of works 

November 2018 
 

 

 

 

HM1.2.2 Energy Efficiency 
Programme Reported to 
Housing Standards Board    March 2019 

 

 HA1.3 Undertake any additional 'Fire Safety' works that 
may result from Fire Risk Assessments, Housing 
Management inspection regime and any legislative, 
regulatory changes to Fire Safety or Building Compliance 

HM1.3.1 Fire Safety works 
identified  and reported to 
the Housing Standards 
Board and Safety 
Committee 

 March 2019 

 

177



 

50 

 
Objectives 

 
Actions 

 
Milestones 

 
Date Due 

 
By Whom 

HSG 2 More housing 
available in Harlow, with a 
wider choice of housing 
types of all tenures which 
are affordable, social 
rented and Council 
housing. 

HA2.1 Commence a long term programme of 'house 
building' for all housing types that are genuinely affordable 

HM2.1.1 
Implement LATC 
governance arrangements 
regarding building Council 
housing and the 
associated business 
planning arrangements. 

 
November 2018 

 

 
Head Of Housing Services 

  HM2.1.2 
Land mapping complete 
(2019/20) 

March 2019 

 

  HM2.1.3 
Feasibility study complete March 2019 

 

  HM2.1.4 
Governance arrangements 
approved 

March 2019 

 

  HM2.1.5 Publish timeline 
and work plan March 2019 

 

HSG 3 Work towards 
improving choices for 
those in housing need, 
including tackling 
homelessness. 

HA3.1 
Implement revised Action Plan from Homelessness 
strategy. 

HM3.1.1 Action Plan 
complete. 

 
January 2019 

 
Head Of Housing Services. 

  HM3.1.2 Homelessness 
Housing Strategy 
implemented. 

March 2019 

 

178



 

51 

 
Objectives 

 
Actions 

 
Milestones 

 
Date Due 

 
By Whom 

  HM3.1.3 Government 
grant allocated. March 2019 

 

 HA3.2 
Increase promotion of wider housing options and use of 
private sector 

HM3.2.1 Business process 
reviewed. March 2019 

 

 HA3.3 
Continue to develop Harlow Homelessness Partnership 
targeting resources and joint working 

HM3.3.1   Partnership 
framework reported 
quarterly in line with the 
Homelessness Strategy. 

March 2019 

 

 HA3.4 Ensure residents are provided with a range of 
housing options, choices and opportunities. 

HM3.4.1 Review current 
market options and 
availability. 

March 2019 

 

 HA3.5 Implement a five year Plan for Housing Related 
Support (HRS) to provide an effective framework for 
reducing resources both within the Council’s General 
Fund(GF)  and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to 
balance priorities against reduced resources and the wider 
priorities of the Local Council Landlord Service  

HM3.5.1 Action plan 
reviewed quarterly 

 
March 2019 

 

 

HSG 4 Encourage and 
facilitate effective Tenant 
and Leaseholder 
Engagement. 

HA4.1 Review the Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement 
Strategy 

HM4.1.1 Tenant and 
Leaseholder Strategy 
reviewed 

October 2018 

 
Head of Housing Services 

 HA4.2 Housing works programmes communicated in 
advance of commencement and monitored. 

HM4.2.1 HIP programmes 
18/19 published and 
reviewed quarterly at 
Property Services Panel. 

March 2019 

 

 HA4.3 Ensure Tenants and Leaseholders have 
opportunities to choose, be consulted, and receive 
feedback 

HM4.3.1 Plan reported to 
Housing Standards Board 
quarterly 

March 2019 

 

179



 

52 

 

 

2018 4.7 
Attending site to make safe within 2 

hours following a report by a tenant or 
other stakeholder 

April May June July August September October 

98.79% 99.19% 98.72% 99.19% 100% 99.72% 99.23% 

 

 

  

98.79% 

99.19% 

98.72% 

99.19% 

100% 

99.72% 

99.23% 

98.00%

98.50%

99.00%

99.50%

100.00%

100.50%

April May June July August September October

Attending site to make safe within 2 hours following a report by a 
tenant or other stakeholder 

Attending site to make safe within 2 hours
following a report by a tenant or other
stakeholder

180



 

53 

 

2018 4.8 
Urgent request for service 

(attend within 5 days) 

April May June July August September October 

97.54% 99.59% 99.01% 98.57% 98.25% 97.71% 96.31% 

 

 
  

97.54% 

99.59% 

99.01% 

98.57% 
98.25% 

97.71% 

96.31% 

95.50%

96.00%

96.50%

97.00%

97.50%

98.00%

98.50%

99.00%

99.50%

100.00%

100.50%

April May June July August September October

Urgent request for service (attend within 5 days) 
 

Urgent request for service (attend within 5
days)

181



 

54 

 

2018 4.9 
Standard request for service 

(attend within 20 days) 

April May June July August September October 

96.28% 99.53% 99.73% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 99.86% 

                           

 
   

96.28% 

99.53% 
99.73% 

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 
99.86% 

95.50%

96.00%

96.50%

97.00%

97.50%

98.00%

98.50%

99.00%

99.50%

100.00%

100.50%

April May June July August September October

Standard request for service (attend within 20 days) 

Standard request for service (attend within 20
days)

182



 

55 

 

 

 

 

267 268 
258 

266 
259 

265 

160

180

200

220

240

260

280

300

320

340

360

May
Week 8

June
Week 13

July
Week 17

August
Week 21

September
Week 26

October
Week 30

Number of households living in Temporary accomodation(combined) 

 2018 -2019

2017-2018

2016-2017

Target

PI CODE 
2017/18  
Outturn 

2018/19 
Target 

May 
Week 8 

June 
Week 13 

July 
Week 17 

August 
Week 21 

September 
Week 26 

October 
Week 30 

Status 
Trend 
 Arrow 

NI 156 266 332 267 268 258 266 259 265 GREEN 


                          Housing Options and Advice 
            NI 156 – Number of Households Living in Temporary accommodation (Combined) 

 

183



 

56 

Empty Homes Team 

HMS8 - Number of empty Council homes 

 

 

20

40

60

80

100

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29 31 33 35 37 39 41 43 45 47 49 51 53

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

V
o

id
s
 

Week Number 

Total Number of Voids 

16-'17

17-'18

18-'19

Target Line (65)

PI CODE 
2017/18 
Outturn 

2018/19 
Target 

May 
Week 8 

June 
Week 13 

July 
Week 17 

August 
Week 21 

September 
Week 26 

October 
Week 30 

Status 
Trend 
Arrow 

HMS 8 63 60 42 42 37 59 34 33 GREEN 

184



 

57 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Home Ownership 

Annual Service Charges 

LHI-HO 26 –  Service Charges Collected as a Percentage of the Annual Target - Month by Month  

185



 

58 

APPENDIX 4.1: ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 TOTAL

Year 6 to 

10

Year 11 

to 15

Year 16 to 

20 

Year 21 to 

25

Year 26 to 

30 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2018/23 2023/28 2028 /33 2033/38 2038/43 2043/48

£,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s

ASC Voids - internals (gas/electric/kitchens) 931         931 931 931 931 931 4,657 4,657 4,657 4,657 4,657 4,657

Internals 3,354 3,380 4,200 4,150 4,250 4,250 20,230 22630 27951 29976 29320 30314

Window s and Doors 1,300 100 300 225 500 500 1,625 3298 3636 3,090        4,446 7618

Fire Doors 100 100 100 100 100 500 250 250 250           250 250

Property Conversions (Sumners Farm 18-19) 315 500 0 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0

Pooled RTB Receipts -150 0 0 0 0 -150 0 0 0 0 0

External Major Works Package 7,350 3,482 4,053 3,767 3,989 4,000 19,291 19,290 19,290 19,290      19,290 19,290

Leaseholders costs - w ithin Externals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -            0 0

Asbestos removal - other 54 100 100 100 100 100 500 500 500 500           500 500

Related Assets - Garages 500 500 500 500 500 500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500        2,500 2500

Garage trf to GF  -215 -225 -225 -225 -225 -225 -1,125 -1,125 -1,125 -1,125 -1,125 -1,125

Garage GF Fees Contribution -14 -17 -17 -17 -17 -82 -85 -85 -85 -85 -85

Lift Programme 430 620 404 164 0 0 1,188 0 1,000 250           0 0

Disabled Aids and Adaptations 900 900 900 900 900 900 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500        4,500 4,500

Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty 188 200 200 200 200 200 1,000 500 500 500           500 500

Energy Efficiency  Communal  boilers 1,912 1,700 1,700 1,619 200 200 5,419 500 500 6,435        7,060 0

2017/18 Communal Boiler Renew al 1,412 0 0 0 0 1,412 0 0 -            0 0

Fire Safety 790 900 950 950 250 3,840 0 1,000 -            1,000 0

SE Duct Decommissioning 541 0 0 0 0 541 0 0 -            0 0

Compliance / Electrical Upgrade 700 400 400 400 300 400 1,900 2,000 2,000 2,000        2,000 2,000

Fees/HTS from 17/18 436 436 436 436 436 436 2,180 2,180 2,180 2,180 2,180 2,180

CDM 40 40 40 40 40 40 200 200 200 200           200 200

Contingency 300 350 350 350 350 350 1,750 1,750 1,750 1,750        1,750 1,750

Damp 25 100 100 100 100 100 500 500 500 500           500 500

Structural 25 100 100 100 100 100 500 500 500 500           500 500

Work to Property inc carryovers £2.1m 18,545 16,293 15,472 14,790 13,704 13,115 73,376 64,545 72,204 77,868 79,943 76,049 

2017/18 IT 363 

Housing IT (incs LATC support costs) 200 100 200 200 200 200 900 750 750 750 750 750

TOTAL HOUSING CAPITAL PROJECTS 18,745 16,756 15,672 14,990 13,904 13,315 74,276 65,295 72,954 78,618 80,693 76,799 

186



 

59 

The following priorities form the basis of the Housing Asset Management Plan: 

Short Term: up to 5 years 

 Maintaining compliance of the Council’s Housing Stock to the Government’s Decent Homes Standard. 
  

 Continuation of the Council’s External Works Programme against a revised specification and standards resulting from the 
impact of Government legislation, to include: 
 

o Full completion of the large-scale works schemes at Sherwood House, Northbrooks, Longbanks and Moorfield by the end of 
August 2018, to be followed by an Asset Management Review of the scope, operation and impact of the External Works 
Programme to date since 2015 prior to the instruction of any further schemes. 

 

 Ensure the Council, as a responsible landlord, continues to meet its duties in complying with all statutory, legislative and 
regulatory requirements in regard to Health and Safety. This will include: 

o Completion of all recommended and required works resulting from the renewed Fire Risk Assessments carried out in late 2015; 

o Enhancing the provision of information and advice to tenant customers in regard to the risks associated with, and best practice 
approach to the management of, asbestos containing materials within their home; 

o Commencing the operation of an annual programme of installing and servicing/testing of Smoke Detector and Carbon Monoxide 

installations in relevant properties across the Council’s Housing Stock; 

o Targeting Modern Homes Works Programme to secure removal (subject to tenant consent) of all remaining Gas Back Boiler and 

Solid Fuel Heating Systems; 

o Full upgrading of all communal and domestic electricity supply installations to modern, required standards backed by an up to 
date Electrical Installation Condition Report; 

o The completion in 2018-19 of a full, specialist Structural Safety of all 14 of the Councils High Rise Tower Blocks in order to 
provide assurance as to their longevity, continued fit-for-purpose status as accommodation and to provide (if required) a bespoke 
programme of remedial works. 

 

 

187



 

60 

 Contribute to tackling fuel poverty within the Council’s tenant base through improvements in the Energy Efficiency of the housing 
stock, to include: 

o Targeted Improvement Works to the worst performing, most energy inefficient housing units (Energy Performance Certificate rated 
E, F and G) in order to bring these to rating D/C or above ensuring the Council is compliant with the requirements of the Energy Act 
2011 (which states that no properties can be re-let which have an energy rating below Band E after April 2018); 
 

o Continuing the programme of replacement and improvement works for the Council’s portfolio of ageing (+30 years) District (10) and 
Communal (15) Heating Systems; 
 

o Continuing to explore – whilst acknowledging the significantly reduced opportunities available since May 2015 – potential sources of 
external funding and support for Energy Efficiency; 

 
o Ensure full removal of the remaining inefficient, obsolete Warm Air Unit (WAU) Heating Systems from the Council’s estate of High 

Rise Tower Blocks (Moor, Stort, Willowfield, Edmunds and Nicholls) and their replacement with modern, efficient and controllable 
gas ‘wet’ systems – and associated decommissioning of the related SE Ducts (targeted for completion by end of June 2018). 
 

 Continue to meet the Council’s statutory obligations to provide Disabled Adaptations to tenant customers in need, whilst also 
seeking to improve our practice and approach, through: 

o Continuing to explore opportunities for the enhanced involvement of the Council’s Housing (Management) Service within the 
process and decision-making associated with disabled adaptations; 
 

o Regular updating of the Council’s Disabled Adaptations Policy in order to ensure continued compliance with the latest legislative 
requirements, clarity for tenant customers and effective integration/linkage with the Council’s Allocations and Lettings Process (in 
regard to optimum use of the housing stock which has already been adapted). 
 

 Improve both the quality of the Council’s existing portfolio of Temporary Accommodation and the quantity available via 
implementation of the works recommended within the Temporary Accommodation Survey and Review 2015, to include: 
 
o       Full completion in 2018-19 of conversion works at Collins Meadow, Hare Street Springs and Partridge Court to provide 6 additional 

units. 

188



 

61 

 

 Continue to invest within the Council’s stock of Garages and Hard Standings within Harlow, though with a revised approach and 
increased premium upon repairs and maintenance – as opposed to large-scale refurbishment/replacement – due to the impact of the 
funding constraints in the period 2016-2020 as set out within the revised Garage Strategy (2015) and annual HRA Business Plan. 

 

 Retain the Council’s clear aspiration to develop its own New Build properties to provide affordable homes for rent in Harlow and 
meet housing need, accepting the funding constraints from 2016-2020. 

 

 Ensure HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd., and associated Companies deliver effectively the priorities set by the Council 
within the budget envelopes.  These priorities included cashable and non-cashable efficiencies and the following:: 

o Introduce enhanced processes (time allocation, right first time, customer satisfaction) for the completion of responsive repairs 
through constant review of Scope of Works; 
 

o Ensure that the Council meets all its statutory, legislative (including via the Right To Repair) and regulatory (in accordance with the 
Homes and Communities Agency’s Homes Standard) obligations; 
 

o Realise efficiency savings and gains through the new Scope of Works for the services provided by HTS (Property and Environment) 
Ltd, optimum use of ICT systems and reformed delivery structures; 
 

o Operation of enhanced, robust new Business Case methodologies for the allocation of Capital Works Projects to HTS (Property and 
Environment) Ltd in accordance with Schedule 2 of the Service Agreement with the Council. 

 

 Enhance the Councils methodology to assess the performance of its existing assets. Based on a financial evaluation of cashflows relating 
to the assets in order to understand how assets perform within the Business Plan.  The assessment covers housing and garage stock and 
has been overlaid with non-financial sustainability analysis which will provide a framework for investment decisions. 
  

 Enhance and refine a programme of cyclical painting which addresses immediate priorities of worst condition. 
 

 

189



 

62 

Medium Term:  5-15 years 

 The Council’s Medium Term Asset Management Plan aim is to make best use of its assets by carrying out a review of the property stock 
and housing land, comparing investment appraisal, likely demand, and unit expenditure. Specifically the following: 

o Evaluate the use and need for bin storage including a replacement and refurbishment programme to stores, shed areas and drying 
areas; 

o Tackle unsatisfactory levels of dampness (condensation); 

o Improve the layout of amenities not meeting modern requirements and requiring replacement. 

 

 Address Estate Management issues, including: 

o Vandalism and graffiti of public realm; 

o Limited street furniture and lighting; 

o Limited maintenance and management of public realm; 

o Paving; 

o Environmental Improvements; 

o Garage and Parking Strategy – to deal with Medium and Long Term priorities for replacement parking. 

 Sustainability and Energy Saving Schemes – supporting Government initiatives and ensuring the Council benefits from resources available. 

 Temporary Accommodation – continue to ensure a supply of good quality accommodation to meet identified demand. 

 Identifying opportunities for New Build and exploring options for its funding, delivery and long term ownership. 

 
Long Term: 15 to 30 years 

 In the Long Term, the Asset Management Plan will seek to increase and/or replace the housing stock and related assets. Specifically to: 

o Improve the quality of the public realm and overall neighbourhood management; 

190



 

63 

o Enhance overall building stock and overcome weaknesses in any typology; 

o Overcome any early failure of building components; 

o Enhance local property market conditions by meeting the demands of existing and new residents and thereby increasing the value of 

the properties; 

o Fulfil the wider housing quality and choice agenda; and continue a programme of new build with annual review. 

 

  

 
  

191



 

64 

APPENDIX 6.1: ESTIMATES 2018-2048. BASELINE PLAN 

HRA Operating Account  
           

    2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2027.28 2032.33 2037.38 2042.43 2047.48   
 

  
 

Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates    
  

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000    

  Expenditure 
      

            
 

  General Management 11,817 11,544 11,760 11,916 12,076 12,240 12,932 13,887 14,951 16,135 17,448   
 

  Special Management  7,469 7,695 7,822 8,026 8,235 8,450 9,369 10,666 12,149 13,845 15,785    
  Repairs 10,262 10,873 11,199 11,535 11,881 12,237 13,773 15,967 18,510 21,458 24,876    
  Rents, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 48 52 53 54 54 55 59 63 68 73 79   

 
  Supporting People Transitional Relief 5 5 5 4 4 4 3 1 0 0 0   

 
  Provision for Bad & Doubtful Debts 200 280 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240    
  Major Repairs Reserve Contribution  9,940 10,085 10,249 10,430 10,695 10,874 11,619 12,620 13,704 14,876 16,144    
  Revenue Contrib. to Capital Programme 6,451 9,191 3,629 2,664 1,590 3,395 2,059 4,210 6,175 7,319 2,408   

 
  Debt Management Expenses 16 16 16 17 17 17 17 17 16 16 16   

 
  Capital Charges: Interest  6,686 6,624 6,736 6,926 6,999 7,001 7,254 7,375 6,947 6,959 6,959    
  

 
52,894 56,365 51,709 51,811 51,792 54,513 57,325 65,046 72,759 80,922 83,957    

  Dwelling Rents 42,856 43,004 43,288 44,646 46,024 47,234 52,395 59,633 67,853 77,187 87,779   
 

  Garage Rents 969 1,019 1,049 1,102 1,157 1,215 1,476 1,884 2,405 3,069 3,917   
 

  Other Rents 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66    
  Service Charges: Tenants 1,114 1,189 1,224 1,261 1,299 1,338 1,506 1,746 2,024 2,346 2,719   

 
  Service Charges: Leaseholders 2,109 2,228 2,295 2,364 2,434 2,508 2,822 3,272 3,793 4,397 5,097   

 
  Other Charges for Services 1,850 1,467 1,594 1,657 1,516 1,628 1,762 2,066 2,381 2,668 957   

 
  Transfers from General Fund 551 602 614 627 639 652 706 779 860 950 1,049    
  Interest on Revenue Balances 109 103 55 43 55 68 253 609 897 1,705 3,075   

 
  

 
49,625 49,678 50,186 51,766 53,191 54,708 60,986 70,055 80,279 92,389 104,660    

  Balance at 1 April  14,104 10,834 4,147 2,625 2,579 3,978 13,366 34,000 50,035 96,517 174,085    
  Surplus / (Deficit) for year -3,270 -6,687 -1,522 -46 1,399 195 3,661 5,009 7,520 11,466 20,703    
  Balance in hand at 31 March  10,834 4,147 2,625 2,579 3,978 4,172 17,026 39,008 57,555 107,983 194,788    
  Minimum Working Balance 4,000 4,000 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500    
                             

192



 

65 

              
 

Major Repairs Reserve: 30 Year Business Plan 
           

    2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2027.28 2032.33 2037.38 2042.43 2047.48   
 

  
 

Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates   
 

  
 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000    
  

       
             

  Expenditure 
      

            
 

  Capital Programme Financing 9,940 10,085 10,249 10,430 10,695 10,874 11,619 12,620 13,704 14,876 16,144   
 

  Repayment of Debt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0    
  

 
9,940 10,085 10,249 10,430 10,695 10,874 11,619 12,620 13,704 14,876 16,144    

  
       

             
  Income 

      
             

  Transfer from HRA 9,940 10,085 10,249 10,430 10,695 10,874 11,619 12,620 13,704 14,876 16,144   
 

  
 

9,940 10,085 10,249 10,430 10,695 10,874 11,619 12,620 13,704 14,876 16,144    

  
       

             
  Balance at 1 April  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   

 
  Surplus / (Deficit) for year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0    
  Balance in hand at 31 March  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0    

                             

              

 

193



 

66 

Housing Capital Programme 
            

 
    2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2027.28 2032.33 2037.38 2042.43 2047.48    
  

 
Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates Estimates   

 
  

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000   

 
  

       
             

  Expenditure 
      

             
  Core Programme 19,048 20,328 14,486 13,441 12,843 14,992 14,467 17,708 20,857 23,285 19,764   

 
  New Build  465 3,716 9,813 6,779 214 0 0 0 0 0 0   

 
  

 
19,513 24,044 24,299 20,220 13,057 14,992 14,467 17,708 20,857 23,285 19,764    

  
       

             
  Financed by: 

      
             

  Major Repairs Reserve 9,940 10,085 10,249 10,430 10,695 10,874 11,619 12,620 13,704 14,876 16,144    

  
Revenue Contribution to Capital 
Programme 6,451 9,191 3,629 2,664 1,590 3,395 2,059 4,210 6,175 7,319 2,408    

  Borrowing 0 2,700 6,800 4,400 0 0             
 

  Right To Buy Receipts 2,752 953 678 693 708 723 789 878 978 1,089 1,212    
  Grants etc 370 1,115 2,944 2,034 64 0 0 0 0 0 0    
  

 
19,513 24,044 24,299 20,220 13,057 14,992 14,467 17,708 20,857 23,285 19,764    

                             
 
 

194



 67 

APPENDIX 6.2 
HRA BUSINESS PLAN 2018-2048: ASSUMPTIONS 
 
1. Overarching Assumptions 
 
Harlow Council has used Capita’s HRA Business Planning excel workbook to 
compile the HRA Business Plan 2018-2048.  This is an independent, expertly 
devised workbook which allows sophisticated modelling to be performed.  Officers 
can also liaise with the authors over any point of query. 
 
Data input for 2018/19 (year 1) and 2019/20 (year 2) replicates the HRA Revised 
Estimates 2018/19 and Estimates 2019/20, which will be submitted to Cabinet on 24 
January 2019.  The report shows growth and savings for 2019/20 (in paragraph 46). 
 
The HRA Business Plan is based on the following key principles: 
 

 To reduce dwelling rents annually by 1% in accordance with Government 
legislation between 2016/17 and 2019/20:  2019/20 will be the fourth and final 
year; 

 Renew the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt of £208.837m upon maturity 
of each loan, keeping repayment under review – the first loan would ordinarily 
become repayable in March 2026; 

 Set a minimum HRA working balance at 31 March 2019 at £4m., being £2.5m 
for ordinary unforeseen events plus £1.5m for any unbudgeted outcome from 
the Grenfell Tower Inquiry.; 

 Revise the housing asset management plans and its priorities; 

 Revise the garage management strategy, investment, and its priorities, and 
assume annual increases of at least 5% per year for garages and increases / 
decreases in service charges related to changes in expenditure. For 2019/20, 
however, it is proposed to incentivise take-up of some garages by lowering 
charges. 

 
 
2. Stock Categories 
 
The model has been completed on the basis of all stock in a single category.  The 
workbook has capacity to analyse up to six categories, and would be useful if 
considering different plans for different estates, or groups of properties.  The 
objective of this model is to ensure that in overall terms the Council’s entire HRA is 
sustainable over the lifetime of the Plan. 
 
 
3. Inflation 
 
The general level of inflation (to which is added any real increase or decrease in 
specific items of income or expenditure) has been assumed at 2% throughout the 
lifetime of this Plan.  
  

 

  

195



 68 

4. Interest Rates / Capital Financing Charges 
 
In 2018 the Government abolished the maximum amount of HRA borrowing Councils 
could have. 
 
Prior to self-financing in 2012, the Council’s HRA had a negative “Capital Financing 
Requirement” (CFR) of (-)£10.53m, meaning that the General Fund was deemed to 
have borrowed from the HRA, and must pay interest upon the sum borrowed.  The 
General Fund continued to borrow from the HRA, but the HRA needed to fund the 
higher cost of new borrowing itself.  The interest rate assumed for 2018/19 is 0.88%, 
and is based on the Council’s investment interest achieved on surplus funds it holds. 
 
In April 2016 a number of garages were transferred to the General Fund, valued at 
£10.937m, reducing further the HRA CFR to £187.370m.  Additional borrowing is 
permitted subject to be able to service the debt. 
 
The movement on the HRA CFR over recent years, against a now abolished ‘debt 
cap’ of £208.837m, has been as follows: 
27 March 2012: (-)£10.53m 
28 March 2012: £198.307m, following borrowing of £208.837m; 
1 April 2016:   £187.370m, following the transfer of garages to the GF. 
 
The table below summarises the potential HRA borrowing position for 2018/19, 
2019/20 and 2020/21.   

 
Harlow Council: HRA Borrowing 2018/19 

Lender Amount 
borrowed / 
(lent) 
(£’000) 

Maturity Date Rate of 
Interest: 
Fixed or 
Variable 

Rate of 
Interest 
(%) 

Interest 
payable / 
(receivable) 
(£) 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2026 Fixed 2.92% 1,219,608 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2030 Fixed 3.21% 1,340,734 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2034 Fixed 3.37% 1,407,561 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2038 Fixed 3.46% 1,445,152 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2042 Fixed 3.50% 1,461,859 

External 
borrowing 

208,837.0   3.29% 6,874,914 

Internal (-)21,467.0 Ongoing Variable 0.82% (-)178,388 

Total    3.56% 6,686,526 

HRA CFR 187,370.0     

 
Continued over 

  

196



 69 

 
Harlow Council: HRA Borrowing 2019/20 

Lender Amount 
borrowed / 
(lent) 
(£’000) 

Maturity Date Rate of 
Interest: 
Fixed or 
Variable 

Rate of 
Interest 
(%) 

Interest 
payable / 
(receivable) 
(£) 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2026 Fixed 2.92% 1,219,608 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2030 Fixed 3.21% 1,340,734 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2034 Fixed 3.37% 1,407,561 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2038 Fixed 3.46% 1,445,152 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2042 Fixed 3.50% 1,461,859 

External 
borrowing 

208,837.0   3.29% 6,874,914 

Internal (-)21,467.0 Ongoing Variable 1.39% (-)297,481 

Total 187,370.0    6,577,433 

New external 
borrowing – 
say 15 years 
from 1.10.19 

2,700.0 1.10.2034 Fixed 3.50% 47,250 

HRA CFR 190.070.0   3.49% 6,624,683 

 
 

Harlow Council: HRA Borrowing 2020/21 

Lender Amount 
borrowed / 
(lent) 
(£’000) 

Maturity Date Rate of 
Interest: 
Fixed or 
Variable 

Rate of 
Interest 
(%) 

Interest 
payable / 
(receivable) 
(£) 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2026 Fixed 2.92% 1,219,608 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2030 Fixed 3.21% 1,340,734 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2034 Fixed 3.37% 1,407,561 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2038 Fixed 3.46% 1,445,152 

PWLB 41,767.4 28.3.2042 Fixed 3.50% 1,461,859 

External 
borrowing 

208,837.0   3.29% 6,874,914 

Internal (-)21,467.0 Ongoing Variable 1.64% (-)351,819 

Total 187,370.0    6,523,095 

Borrowing – 
from 1.10.19 

2,700.0 1.10.2034 
 

Fixed 3.50% 94,500 

New external 
borrowing – 
say 15 years 
from 1.10.20 

6,800.0 1.10.2035 Fixed 3.50% 119,000 

HRA CFR 196,870.0   3.44% 6,736,595 

 
 
Interest is also earned on the HRA working balances.  The rate, or yield, is based on 
the anticipated return from the investment of surplus cash and calculated by 
reference to the Bank Base Rate which is expected to increase over time.  The 
Council usually achieves earnings slightly above the Base Rate.  The model 
assumes earnings of 0.82% in 2018/19; 1.39% in 2019/20, 1.64% in 2020/21, 1.67% 
in 2021/22, 1.63% in 2022/23, and 1.68% thereafter.  
 
The forward forecast of capital financing charges is as follows: 
  

197



 70 

 Amount 
borrowed 

(£) 

2021/22 
 (£) 

2022/23 
 (£) 

2023/24 
 (£) 

External borrowing £208.837m £6,874,914 £6,874,914 £6,874,914 

Potential new External 
Borrowing 

£13.900m £409,500 £486,500 £486,500 

Internal borrowing (-)£21.467m (-)£358,103 (-)£371,966 (-)£370,347 

Total (£) £201.270m £6,926,311 £6,999,448 £7,001,,067 

Interest Rate (%)  3.44% 3.48% 3.48% 

 
 
5. Stock and Rents 
 
The Council had 9,279 tenanted and 2,517 leasehold properties as at 1 April 2018. 
The tenanted dwellings include the equivalent of 7 shared ownership dwellings. 
 
The average weekly rent was £90.75 in 2018/19, and will decrease to £89.84 in 
2019/20. 
 
Void loss is set at 1.12%  throughout the life of the Business Plan. 
 
An annual provision for bad and doubtful debts is made, which offsets any approved 
write off of old debts.  The annual calculation is £200,000 in 2018/19, rising to 
£280,000 from 2019/20 to cover the risk arising from the potential impact of Universal 
Credit.  From 2020/21 it is thought that £240,000 would be sufficient. 
 
 
6. Service Charges 
 
The Council “unpooled” service charges in April 2007.  The average weekly service 
charge to all tenants in 2018/19 is £2.17 per week.  This will rise (or fall) in line with 
expenditure levels.  On average service charges will increase to £2.49 in 2019/20. 
This includes an adjustment of 4p in respect of 2017/18 service charges.  
 
In addition to the standard service charges to tenants, leaseholders also pay a 
management charge, insurance and for repairs and maintenance.  Once again, these 
costs will rise or fall in line with relevant expenditure. 
 
The business plan also includes income in 2019/20 from properties where there is 
communal heating. The cost of heating will change depending on the Council’s fuel 
supply contract which enables fuel to be purchased when prices are advantageous.  
 
 
7. Garage Income 
 
HRA garages income, net of voids, is estimated at £1,016,000 in 2019/20.  The plan 
assumes annual increases thereafter of 5%.   
 
 
8. “Right to Buy” sales 
 
The number of Right To Buy completions is estimated to be 50 in 2018/19, 40 in 
2019/20 and 30 thereafter.  Sales values are assumed at an average £203,000, 
increasing in line with CPI, with an average discount of £77,186 assumed.  
 

198



 71 

The proportion of usable receipts applied to the housing capital programme is 50% 
throughout the plan.  The figure is calculated as the net amount following an amount 
compensated to Councils for loss of future rent income as a result of increased RTBs 
brought about by the Government’s policy, and sums offered towards replacement 
housing. 
 
Generally, three-quarters of receipts are subject to pooling by Government.  
 
 
9. Management and Service Expenditure 
 
The model is based on the existing HRA budgets. Inflationary increases applied are 
as follows: 

 Employees: 2% per annum.  

 Other costs are anticipated to increase in line with CPI.  

 The Council’s contract with HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd. is uplifted by 
a Buildings Maintenance Index.  For planning purposes this was 3.7% in 
2018/19, and is assumed to be 5% in 2019/20 and 3% annually thereafter. 

 
 
10. Other Expenditure 
 
The only other item of significant expenditure is the home loss payments which will 
be required to facilitate the re-housing of tenants: at The Briars, Aylets Field and 
Copshall Close.  This ceased during 2018/19. 
 
 
11. Maintenance and Investment Expenditure 
 
Maintenance work is predominantly undertaken by HTS (Property and Environment) 
Ltd. In 2019/20 of the total budget of £10.873m, £9.397m forms part of the contract.  
Annual uplifts are therefore as set out, under the heading management costs. 
 
Investment, or capital, expenditure has been calculated by reference to data 
contained in the latest Stock Condition Survey, and converted into an Asset 
Management Plan.   
 
 
12. Capital Programme 
 
The Council’s Housing Capital Programme will expand from 2019/20 to include 
significant expenditure on building council homes.  The remainder, the core 
programme, is financed mainly from rent income received to the Housing Revenue 
Account.  In 2019/20 core capital expenditure will total £20.328m.  Of this, £9.105m 
will be financed directly from the HRA and £10.085m from the Major Repairs 
Reserve.  Throughout the Plan the programme is reliant on these income streams.  
Capital receipts contribute £0.953m in 2019/20. 
 

Any income from leaseholders in respect of tendered works to flats is taken to 
revenue rather than capital.  Income from leaseholders represents a proportion of 
work carried out in the Asset Management Plan. 
 
 
 

199



 72 

13. Balances 
 
Balances brought forward as at 1 April 2018 were £14.104m on the HRA Operating 
Account and £nil in respect of the Major Repairs Reserve.  It has been agreed that 
the HRA Operating Account must have a minimum working balance.  At 31 March 
2019 this is £4m. 
 
 
14. Borrowing Strategy 
 
The five fixed term maturity loans taken out in 2012 will be not be repaid but renewed 
on maturity of each loan: i.e. £41,767,400 will be renewed on 28 March 2026, 28 
March 2030, 28 March 2034, 28 March 2038 and 28 March 2042.  
 
The Plan assumes additional borrowing of £2.7m is necessary in 2019/20, £6.8m in 
2020/21, and a further £4.4m in 2021/22 to support building council homes. 

200



 73 

APPENDIX 6.3 
HRA BUSINESS PLAN: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
Baseline Plan 
 
The baseline HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 (referred to below as the ‘baseline 
Plan’) has been described in 6.3 above and is considered to be the most likely 
forward forecast.  The plan consists of two distinct elements.  Firstly, the programme 
of building coouncil homes is supported by retained receipts and borrrowing but 
dependent on interest payments for the latter before a flow of addtional income from 
rents starts to benefit the plan.  Secondly, there are the ordinary activities of 
managing, maintaining and renting existing stock.  The rule applied is that borowing 
should not support the ordinary activities contained in the plan.  It shows that 
throughout the life of the plan the HRA is sustainable, avoiding a capital deficit in all 
years albeit that the headroom between the projected balance and minimum 
acceptable working balance between 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2022 is minimal.  
The baseline plan is illustrated in Appendix 6.1. 
 
 

 
 
 
This Appendix considers the robustness of the baseline Plan by carrying out 
sensitivity analysis.  During these times of uncertainty some commentators suggest 
that more than one Business Plan should be prepared.  The officers view is that in 
submitting a baseline Plan additional analysis helps inform and perhaps highlights 
areas of potential weakness.   
 
At the present time inflation, and the outcome of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry are 
key risk areas, the combination of the two on the Housing Capital Programme being 
particularly potent.   
 
 
 

2018.1
9

2019.2
0

2020.2
1

2021.2
2

2022.2
3

2023.2
4

Operating Balance 10,834 4,147 2,625 2,579 3,978 4,172

Minimum Working
Balance

4,000 4,000 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

£
'0

0
0

 

HRA Operating Account 

201



 74 

Sensitivity A.   Building Council Homes 
 
The Baseline Plan has set out a programme for building council homes based on 
aspirations set out in a report to Cabinet in December 2018.  Total programme 
expenditure of about £21m, 30% of which is funded by retained capital receipts, i.e. 
£6.296m.  The Council already holds £3.927m in retained capital receipts and must 
spend these by 31 March 2021. 
 
Under present regulations if a programme of house building is not acheived within 
three years on obtaining retained receipts, these must be repaid to Government with 
the addition of a 4% interest charge above Bank Rate. 
 
The programme indicates the need to judiciously draw down sufficient retained 
receipts to maintain house building without the need for excess borrowing, but also 
not too ahead of schedule to risk repayment of amounts back to government. 
 
This programme needs to be successfully managed to ensure optimum outcome. 
 
In the event of non achievement, the effect on the Business Plan would potentially be 
catastrophic.  The Council could repay the time-expired sums but draw down new 
retained receipts in lieu, bearing the interest cost.  Alternatively it could purchase 
property on the open market, using residual retained receipts but having to find or 
borrow the larger proportion of the cost.  The Head of Finance may consider a 
lowering of the Minimum Working Balance to permit any of these alternative 
strategies but this carries a risk of tightening the headroom on additional costs or 
reduced income from ordinary activities.  There is little scope for addtional income 
because the rent of dwellings is capped through government guidance. 
 
The ambition of the Council, as set out in the report to Cabinet in December 2018, is 
to build a further 84 homes perhaps at a total expenditure of a further £21m.  The 
ability to spend is heavily predicated on balances available in the HRA to afford 
interest costs ahead of a stram of rent income, inflationary risk, and the necessary 
skills being available.  
 
On the assumption of a continuation of a house bulding programme beyond the 
medium term a further £21m programme could be undertaken in no less than five 
years beginning 2022/23 drawing down £6.3m in retained receipts and borrowing 
£5.4m (£1.6m at 1 October 2022, £2.9m at 1 October 2023, £0.5m at 1 October 
2025, £0.4m at 1 October 2026, all at 3.5%). The remaining balance of funding could 
be met from the increasing revenue balances brought about by future rent increases 
at CPI+1%.  This is a potential if risky undertaking.  
 
Beyond the present programme there remains the question of the lack of land 
availability within the border of the Harlow Council area. 
 
 
Sensitivity B:   Inflationary Risk 
 
For the fourth successive year local authorities are required to reduce rents to 
tenants by 1%.  With the Consumer Price Index at +2.4% in September 2018, in 
ordinary circumstances housing rents would have increased by 3.4% from April 2019.  
The inflationary pressure on the HRA through employee costs (estimated increase, 
2%) and HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd contractual increases (estimated, 5%) 
erodes the working balance. 
 

202



 75 

Compliance with legislation means that Harlow Council’s average weekly rent for 
2019/20 will fall from £90.75 to £89.84 per week.  Had CPI+1% been the measure for 
rent reviews for 2019/20 then rents would have risen by 3.4% with effect from April 
2019.  There is no merit in wistfully pondering over how much rent has been and will 
be lost to the Council over these years and across the 30-year horizon.  We are 
where we are. 
 
Income to the HRA from dwelling rents is approximately 87% of total income 
collectable.  With this income stream fixed this makes fluctuations in inflation on net 
expenditure more susceptible.  
 
HTS carries out a wide range of housing related services.  The contract is uplifted 
annually by a Buildings Maintenance Index (BMI), which in the HRA Business Plan 
2017-2047 was assumed to be 3% per annum.  The actual increase in 2018/19 was 
3.7%, adding a £90,000 cost to the HRA, and for 2019/20 estimated at 5%, adding a 
further £331,000 annual cost to the HRA.  If, however, the annual increase was +/-
0.5% different this would cause  the cost of repairs and special management in 
2018/19 would change by  +/-£70,000 with a potential +/-£1.050m cumulative across 
the medium term to 2023/24.   
 
During its third year of operation, the Council plans to review the Annual Service 
Charge, contemplating whether BMI is the most appropriate uplift measure for this 
basket of work. 
 
HTS undertake fixed price work in the Housing Capital Programme.  The figures 
input into the baseline Plan assume that inflationary changes are absorbed.  This 
could prove a weakness in the forward forecast.  A +/-1% change on the estimate for 
2019/20 alone is £101,000. 
 
The Consumer Price Index (CPI) is assumed to be 2% throughout the baseline Plan. 
However CPI was 2.4% in September 2018 and anticipated to be slightly above 2% 
in September 2019 according to the latest Bank of England forecasts, which 
assumes an orderly exit from the European Union in March 2019.  
 
 
Sensitivity C:   Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry, and the Possibility of Borrowing 
 
The baseline Plan identifies the following expenditure in relation to fire safety and 
prevention work. 
 
In addition, for 2019/20 only, the minimum working balance has been increased by 
£1.5m to allow for any urgent intervention which may arise following the report of the 
Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry.  However with a building council homes programme 
planned which will utilise the excess balance in 2020/21 the possibility of borrowing 
to support urgent work cannot be ruled out. 
 
 
Sensitivity D:   Erosion of Rent Income 
 
The Government has already announced that social rents will move by (-)1% until 
2019/20, and between 2020/21 and 2024/25 increase by “no more than” CPI+1%.  
This indicates the return to some limited local discretion over rent setting.  No 
announcement has been made regarding rent levels from 2025/26 so the baseline 
Plan assumes a continuation of rent increases at CPI+1% (i.e. +3% annually from 
2020/21 to 2047/48). 

203



 76 

 
The key objective in this Business Plan has been to set a sustainable view over the 
medium term, so any departure from the annual increase of CPI+1% (i.e. 3%) after 
2024/25 will need to be accommodated in the future. 
 
By way of illustration, if rents increased by CPI (2%) rather than CPI+1% (3%) after 
2024/25, by 2048/49 the average weekly rent would be £164.21 rather than £205.52.    
This would create an unsustainable Business Plan.  Even if borrowing for building 
council homes was renewed rather than repaid, after 2042/43 there would be a 
capital shortfall i.e. insufficient income to support the business.   A continuation of a 
house building plan, such as in Sensitivity A, would be in jeopardy.  
 
Under the former rent restructuring mechanism a Formula Rent was calculated for 
each property with the aim for actual rents to eventually match the Formula Rent.  
This was abandoned in 2015/16 but Councils are allowed discretion to set rents at 
Formula Rent level whenever a property is relet.  Harlow Council has not used this 
option to date.  Assuming that the turnover of property is 5% per year, there is the 
opportunity to increase rents in 2019/20 by an average of 4.5p per week, or £21,500 
overall.  The full year effect and ongoing turnover is likely to yield around £65,000 in 
2020/21. 
 
 
Sensitivity E:   Garages Income 
 
The baseline Plan has assumed, for the first time in 2019/20, differential rent 
increases for garages.  Those categorised as ‘Retain and Invest’ have been subject 
to a 5% increase but other garages will be subject to a 20% reduction.  This affects 
547 garages let to tenants so represents a reduction in income from 2019/20 of 
£70,000 to the HRA.  There is an inbuilt risk that price will outrun demand and the 
Council be left with an increasing number of empty garages.  Increasing garage rents 
by CPI only (+2%) across the medium term to 2023/24 would result in a reduction in 
balances of £477,000 by 31 March 2024. 
 
 
Sensitivity F:   Capital Receipts 
 
Capital receipts in this Business Plan come from two sources: firstly, from asset 
sales; and, secondly, from Right To Buy sales. 
 
Right To Buy receipts are predicated not only on the number of disposals forecast 
but also an assumption of increases in house prices, which in the baseline Plan is 
assumed to be CPI annually (+2%).  If there was a downturn in the market this would 
inevitably affect receipts available to fund the Housing Capital Programme. 
 
 
Sensitivity G:   Welfare Reform 
 
The baseline Plan has assumed that Universal Credit might have an adverse effect 
on payments.  It has assumed £280,000 as a bad debt provision in 2019/20, reducing 
to £240,000 per year from 2020/21.   
 
Universal Credit is new and brings uncertainties regarding rent income.  
 
 
 

204



 77 

Sensitivity H:   Investment Strategy 
 
Cabinet in October 2015 agreed a revised principle to “renew the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) debt of £208.837m upon maturity of each loan, keeping repayment 
under review”.  
 
The baseline Plan assumes renewal of borrowing of £41,767,400 in 2026, 2030, 
2034, 2038 and 2042 at a rate of 3.5% per year.  Ceteris paribus, all other things 
being the same, it would be possible to repay the loans in 2038 and 2042 having 
renewed the previous three in 2026, 2030 and 2034. 
 
The Investment Strategy proposes new borrowing to support building council homes.  
(see 6.1.3.).  The baseline Plan assumes that these will be repaid after a term of 15 
years. 
 
 
Sensitivity I:   Procurement of Work (Housing Capital Programme) 
 
The Council achieved the Decent Homes Standard for all properties in March 2015.  
It has had to repriortise work in light of recent announcements (see Chapter 4 and 
Appendix 6.2).  The budget for the programme has been devised ahead of 
acceptance of tender prices.  Should these prices be higher than anticipated, overall, 
it will mean there are insufficent funds to achieve the target which will mean 
reprofiling and disappointment to some tenants.   
 
Borrowing could be an option in an emergency situation but, as noted above, it would 
mean reductions in expenditure elsewhere.  The Council will respond in an 
appropriate manner to the outcome of the Grenfell Tower Inquiry undertaking 
borrowing where urgent work is necessary. 
 
 
Sensitivity J:   Empty Properties 
 
The proportion of empty properties to the whole stock is estimated as 1.09%. 
Therefore a 0.1% change in the level of voids is +/- £43,340 in 2019/20, rising to +/- 
£43,500 in 2020/21. 
 
 

205



 78 

GLOSSARY 
 
BCA  The Briars, Copshall Close & Aylets Field Priority Estate 
BMI  Building Maintenance Index 
CAB  Citizen’s Advice Bureau 
DWP  Department for Work and Pensions 
CPI  Consumer Price Index 
ECC  Essex County Council 
EPC  Energy Performance Certificate 
FRA  Fire Risk Assessment 
GF  General Fund 
HCA  Homes and Communities Agency 
HIP  Housing Investment Programme 
HRA  Housing Revenue Account 
HRS  Housing Related Support 
HTS  HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd 
JSA  Jobseeker’s Allowance 
KPI  Key Performance Indicator 
LATC  Local Authority Trading Company 
MHCLG Minstry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
MRR  Major Repairs Reserve 
PWLB  Public Works Loan Board 
RTB  Right To Buy 
SHMA  Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
TA  Temporary Accommodation 
UC  Universal Credit 
 
 
FURTHER READING 
 
Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016. 
 
Housing and Planning Act 2016. 
 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 
 
MHCLG. Green Paper. ‘A New Deal for Housing’. August 2018. 
 
MHCLG. Use of receipts from Right to Buy sales. Consultation. August 2018.    
 
MHCLG. Rents for social housing from 2020/21. Consultation. September 2018.  
 
‘HRA Budget 2019/20’.  Report to Cabinet, 24 January 2019. 
 
‘Capital Programmes 2018/19 – 2019./20’.  Report to Cabinet, 24 January 2019. 
 
Presentations to:  
Property Standards Panel & Tenancy Standards Panel, 7 January 2019. 
Housing Standards Board, 9 January 2019. 
Tenants Forum, 10 January 2019. 
Leaseholder Standards Panel, 17 January 2019. 

206



 
 

REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019 

TITLE: 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET 2019/20 

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 
 
COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON, DEPUTY 
LEADER AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
HOUSING 
 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR 
(01279) 446228 
 
ANDREW MURRAY, HEAD OF HOUSING  
(01279) 446676 
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD (01279) 446004 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS: 
 

ALISON CURTIS, SENIOR SERVICE 
ACCOUNTANT (01279) 446211 
 
ANDREW SMITH, FINANCE MANAGER  
(01279) 446212 
 

 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008577  
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Full Council that: 
 
A The rent reductions for individual dwellings as set out in paragraph 30 of this 

report are approved with effect from 1 April 2019. This equates to an average 
weekly rent of £89.84 a statutory reduction of one per cent. 

 
B Service charges for individual dwellings, as set out in paragraphs 22 to 29 of this 

report are approved with effect from 1 April 2019 for both tenants and 
leaseholders. This equates to an average weekly service charge to tenants of 
£2.49. 

 
C Heating charges as set out in paragraphs 31 to 38 of this report are approved 

with effect from 1 April 2019 for both tenants and leaseholders. Average weekly 

207

Agenda Item 9e



 
 

general needs charges are £9.24 per week (leaseholders £16.09 per week, 
equivalent) and, for sheltered accommodation, £6.83 per week. 

 
D Rents for garages held within the category ‘Retain and Invest’ as defined in the 

‘Garages and Hardstanding Improvement Strategy 2015’ will increase by five per 
cent, to £10.16 per week (for a standard garage) and proportionate increases for 
other garages, car ports and car spaces from 1 April 2019. Rents of garages in 
other categories will reduce by 20 per cent in order to provide an incentive, as 
set out in paragraphs 39 and 40 of this report. 

 
E Housing related support charges are as set out in paragraphs 17 to 21 and 

Table 1 are approved for service users with effect from 1 April 2019. 
 

F Other charges set out in paragraphs 41 to 43 of this report are approved with 
effect from 1 April 2019. Note the addition of two new charges from 1 April 2019 
for the provision of information to facilitate Equity Release £30.80 and Re-
mortgage work £20.50 (both inclusive of VAT at 20 per cent). 

 
G The growth items outlined in paragraph 46 in respect of 2019/20 are approved. 

 
H The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget (attached as set Appendix A to 

the report) is approved. 
 

I A minimum HRA working balance shall be £4 million as at 31 March 2020, with 
£2.5 million being the minimum level and with an additional £1.5 million added 
as an allowance towards any additional expenditure required as a result of the 
Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry, (as set out in Appendix B of this report) is 
approved. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A This report sets out the HRA budget for 2019/20 and forecast outturn for the 

current year, together with the information necessary to set a balanced budget 
as required by legislation. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The HRA is the statutory landlord account for the Council and expresses in 

financial terms the level of housing service to be delivered within agreed policy 
guidelines. The Council has a legal duty to set a balanced budget in the 
February prior to the beginning of the financial year to which the budget relates. 

 
2. The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048, reflects a number of themes which have 

developed over the past twelve months including: 
 

a) the Council’s ambition to build new housing of all tenures, both as 
social rent and affordable rent in its widest sense. 
 

208



 
 

b) increased fire safety and associated regulation following the tragic fire 
at Grenfell Tower in London in June 2017. 
 

c) implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 which 
imposed new statutory processes. 
 

d) implementation of Universal Credit (UC) and benefit rules, the roll-out 
of which has been greatly delayed by Government, and its implications 
on tenants. 
 

e) inflationary pressures, including that of the Council’s contractual 
arrangement with HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd which 
undertake much work for tenants and leaseholders. 

 
3. From 1 February 2017, housing, property and environmental services have been 

provided by HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Council. 

 
Principles 

 
4. The principles within the HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 are: 

 
a) to reduce dwelling rents annually by one per cent in accordance with 

Government legislation between 2016/17 and 2019/20. 2019/20 will be 
the final year of the four years 
 

b) renew the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt of £208.837 million 
upon maturity of each loan, keeping repayment under review 
 

c) set a minimum HRA working balance at 31 March 2019 at £4 million. 
This means that £2.5 million is allocated for ordinary unforeseen events 
and £1.5 million for any unbudgeted outcome from the Grenfell Tower 
Inquiry. Following completion of work relating to fire safety, from say 31 
March 2020, to revert the minimum HRA working balance to £2.5 
million 
 

d) Revise the housing asset management plans and its priorities 
 

e) Revise the garage management strategy, investment and its priorities, 
and assume annual increases of at least 5 per cent per year for 
garages and increases/decreases in service charges related to 
changes in expenditure. For 2019/20, however, it is proposed to 
incentivise take up of some garages by lowering charges. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
5. For the fourth successive year local councils are required to reduce rents to 

tenants by one per cent. With inflation under the Consumer Price Index (CPI) at 
2.4 per cent in September 2018, in ordinary circumstances housing rents would 

209



 
 

have increased by 3.4 per cent from April 2019. The inflationary pressure on the 
HRA through employee costs (estimated increase, two per cent) and HTS 
(Property and Environment) Ltd contractual increases (estimated five per cent) 
erodes the working balance. 

 
6. The tragic fire at Grenfell Tower in North Kensington in June 2017 focused 

national attention on fire safety and regulation in tower blocks. Phase One of the 
Public Inquiry ended in December 2018. Phase 2 is anticipated to commence in 
Autumn 2019 at the earliest. Whilst the Hackitt Review into Building Regulations 
and Fire Safety was published in May 2018, the Government response is still 
awaited. This will require the Council to potentially amend its Business Plan. 

 
7. A review of the Council’s tower block Fire Risk Assessments (FRAs) confirmed 

that all are inherently safe from fire. Officers, however, have continued to review 
FRAs, advice published by Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) and procedures in response to feedback/outcomes from 
the ongoing Inquiry. The outcome of the Inquiry may identify additional work 
necessary either in 2019/20 or 2020/21. 

 
8. Works have already been identified which will require additional capital funding 

including works to communal areas within flat blocks and, following advice 
published by MHCLG in June 2018, the potential replacement of previously 
installed Glass Reinforced Plastic composite fire doors for individual flats, 
following further testing as part of the Grenfell Tower investigation. 

 
9. The ‘Homelessness Reduction Act 2017’ was implemented from April 2018. It 

placed increased duties on councils to intervene at earlier stages to prevent 
homelessness, irrespective of whether or not an applicant has ‘priority need’ or 
may be ‘intentionally homeless’ and to prevent families and single people 
becoming homeless. Aside from the new legislation there is an ongoing demand 
for temporary accommodation which must be met by the Council. The projected 
outturn in 2018/19, of £921,000 at September 2018, demonstrates the 
increasing pressure for temporary accommodation that is likely to continue in 
2019/20. 
 

10. The cost of temporary accommodation is apportioned between the General 
Fund (GF) and HRA. Grant funding is available to support additional staffing 
costs. The estimates reflect the anticipated additional cost and grant funding 
available. 
 

11. In 2018/19 the cost of gas rose substantially due to global factors and the 
weakening of Sterling on the currency markets. The resulting price rise impact 
upon the cost of communal heating to tenants and leaseholders both in 2018/19 
and 2019/20. Estimates have been set based on the latest information available 
at the time. 
 

12. The estimated operating balance as at 31 March 2020 is £4.147 million, £0.147 
million above the minimum working balance. 
 

210



 
 

13. The Cabinet is invited to note the projected outturn for 2018/19 and approve the 
HRA Estimates for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix A. The report should be read 
in conjunction with the HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 which forms a separate 
report on the Cabinet’s agenda. 

 
Basis of Estimates 
 
14. The Council is obliged by law to set rents and other charges at a level to avoid a 

deficit on the HRA. This is the legal minimum balance at any time during the 
financial year must exceed zero. This must be done “during the months of 
January and February of the year immediately preceding the relevant year”. This 
report proposes a HRA budget for 2019/20 (the “relevant year”) that avoids a 
deficit. The HRA Business Plan sets out the medium and long term finances of 
the Council and likewise must plan to avoid a deficit. 
 

15. Estimates for employee costs have been prepared including a two per cent pay 
award totaling £61,200 from 1 April 2019 and an assumed vacancy rate in 
2019/20 of two per cent which is an equivalent saving of £78,800 for the year.   
Estimated total employee costs for 2019/20 are £3.94 million. 

 
16. The budget also takes account of proposed dwelling rent levels, and service 

charges, which were unpooled from tenants’ rents for the first time in 2007/08.  
Two further service charges were unpooled in 2018/19. 

 
Supported Housing 
 
17. The Council’s Supported Housing service consists of 16 sheltered housing 

schemes, one extra care scheme for the frail elderly, and a community support 
function for 1,000 private clients living independently across the town. 
 

18. Essex County Council (ECC) formally acts as the responsible organisation, and 
commissions Housing Related Support (HRS) services from the Council.  HRS 
commissioning services funded by the County Council form part of the 
Government’s Health and Social Care agenda that promotes older persons 
wellbeing and independence. The Act does not stipulate specific services to fulfil 
this requirement. The Council’s role, as a landlord, is to maintain the fabric of the 
building, deliver the contractual HRS services and manage its tenancies. 
 

19. A report to the Scrutiny Committee on 28 November 2017 outlined 
recommendations, previously approved by Cabinet in January 2017, for the 
future of the service. Following a period of consultation and review the report 
recommends a five year financial plan to maintain intensive housing support, 
meet housing need and make use of assisted technology. The Financial Plan 
proposes a framework for reducing resources both within the Council’s GF, and 
HRA, balancing priorities against reduced resources with the wider priorities of 
the local council landlord service. This will include additional HRS service 
charges, seeking additional income opportunities, as well as making best use of 
older persons designated stock. 
 

211



 
 

20. Officers have been working with service users of HRS, consulting widely with 
them and their families to ensure awareness has been raised of the funding 
gaps, signposting benefit entitlement, as well as possible financial support from 
other agencies. This is in an attempt to maximise income. 

 
Table 1 – Proposed Housing Related Support Charges 2019/20 
 

Service  Weekly 
Charge from 
April 2019 

Dispersed Community Alarms £4.38 
 
Harlow Community Support £7.29 
 
Sheltered Housing Support  
 

£8.14 
 

Extra Frail Support, Summers Farm 
Close £1.91 
 
Intensive Housing Management £2.00 
  

 
21. Work is underway to extend the number of extra frail units at Sumners Farm 

Close by a further four units. This will be achieved by converting the current 
vacant farm house located in the grounds of the Sumners Farm Close into four, 
one bedroomed disabled adapted flats, which will link to the main Sumners Farm 
Close scheme and provide much needed extra care accommodation for older 
people. This work is expected to commence on site in 2019/20. 

 
Service Charges 
 
22. Service charges are made in addition to rents. 

 
23. Seven service charges were unpooled from rents in 2007/08. In addition, the 

Council has published a range of service standards to support the 
implementation of service charges. These are regularly reviewed in consultation 
with tenants and leaseholders to ensure the principles of service charges in 
terms of transparency, improved service delivery and greater accountability are 
delivered in practice. 
 

24. The key features to the calculation of service charges are: 
 

a) actual, not estimated, cost of service charges are recovered from both 
tenants and leaseholders, subject to the availability of reasonable data.  
This means that any difference between the actual cost and estimated 
cost will be collected or refunded in the year following closure of 
accounts. This means that any difference in 2017/18 charges will be 
collected/refunded in 2019/20 
 

212



 
 

b) charges should be consistent to tenants and leaseholders and be fully 
recovered wherever possible. 
 

25. There is adjustment of four pence over all service charges in respect of 2017/18 
for tenants. 
 

26. Proposals for service charges based on the above methodology are set out in 
Table 2 below and will apply to both tenants and leaseholders. 

 
Table 2 – Service Charges to Tenants and Leaseholders – 2019/20 
 

 
27. In addition to the above, the following service charges apply to leaseholders only 

from 1 April 2019: 
 

a) Lift maintenance (plus associated charges for powering the lift). The 
annual charge will be in the range £106.93 to £443.99 per leaseholder 
 

b) The management cost is a flat rate estimate of £213 per leaseholder 
 

c) The charge for the registration of a sublet will increase to £87.05 (£85 
in 2018/19). The charge applies to individuals who acquire a leasehold 
property for the purpose of sub-letting under the Right To Buy (RTB) or 
on the open market for the purpose of subletting the dwelling. Under 
the terms of the leases all landlords must advise the Council of any 
under lease and these must be registered appropriately and that a fee 
may be charged 
 

d) The insurance cost is an average estimate of £169.18 per leaseholder 

 Highest 
weekly 
charge 

 
 

(£) 

Lowest 
weekly 
charge 

 
 

(£) 

Average 
weekly 
charge 

 
 

(£) 

Average 
weekly 
charge 
(for all 

tenants) 
(£) 

Amenity Cleaning – gully cleaning 1.35 0.01 0.09 0.06 
Amenity Cleaning –bins 1.34 0.06 0.30 0.03 
Caretaking 14.93 0.87 6.87 0.74 
Cleaning 16.19 0.17 5.19 0.74 
Door Entry Management 1.46 1.46 1.46 0.12 
Grounds Maintenance 2.77 0.01 0.40 0.31 

Landlord’s Lighting 4.56 0.37 1.18 0.40 
Window Cleaning General Needs 0.18 0.04 0.09 1 0.01 
Window Cleaning Sheltered 0.57 0.10 0.22 0.01 
Cleaning - Sumners Farm Close 7.19 7.19 7.19 0.03 
Sub Total 2.45 
Adjustment in respect of tenants 2017/18 0.04 

Total 2.49 

213



 
 

e) Routine repairs and major repairs are recharged at the full actual cost 
to the Council. 
 

28. Leaseholders pay an annual charge. Tenants pay the same charge, if relevant, 
divided into equal weekly instalments. It is proposed that changes in service 
charges are effective from 1 April 2019 for tenants and for leaseholders. 
 

29. Tenants who exercise their RTB make a one off contribution into an In 
Perpetuity Fund for grounds maintenance, amenity cleaning and litter picking. 
The contribution to the fund is intended to cover future maintenance for 80 
years. It is proposed that this charge will increase in line with CPI of 2.4 per cent 
(September 2018) to £5,490 (2018/19 – £5,363). 

 
Rent Setting 
 
30. Under the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016, the rents for social housing are 

reduced by one per cent a year for four years from 2016/17. For 2019/20, this 
reduction of one per cent is applied to the 2018/19 rent of each property and 
equates to an average weekly rent of £89.84. 2019/20 is a 53 week rent year so 
the charge will remain in force until 6 April 2020. 

 
Heating Charges 
 
31. Heating charges are made in respect of blocks of flats and clustered properties 

where communal heating and hot water is provided via a District Heating 
System. These systems are considered to be both cost effective and more 
efficient that individual domestic boilers. The Council supplies the gas used to 
run the communal boilers and re-charges residents for the energy they use 
within their homes under the fuel charge levied. Leaseholders are also charged 
the non-fuel costs such as boiler maintenance and management costs. These 
latter are admissible for housing benefit unlike the cost of providing gas and 
electricity. 
 

32. The Council continues to monitor the cost at which it procures energy and is 
committed to demonstrating value for money for both its tenants and 
leaseholders. Gas is purchased by the Council through a consortium 
arrangement via the use of an energy framework that allows the Council to 
purchase gas and electricity directly from the wholesale market. The framework 
used by the Council aligns similar contracts of multiple customers in order to 
achieve savings when purchasing energy in large quantities. The use of a 
framework also allows the supplier to take advantage of favourable market 
conditions to ensure energy is purchased at the best possible price for the 
Council. 
 

33. In July 2017 Cabinet approved the introduction of a new framework agreement 
which commenced in September 2018. As part of the implementation of the new 
framework the Council has entered an initial ‘bridging’ contract with the energy 
supplier. Residents will see an increase in the price of energy under the bridging 
contract initially for the first 12 months but, although the cost of energy under the 
‘bridging’ contract has increased, detailed market analysis shows that the 

214



 
 

wholesale price of gas across the UK has increased over the last year, mainly 
due to unprecedented demand and weaker Sterling exchange rate. While under 
the bridging contract, the framework provider will be procuring energy at a lower 
rate for the years following the initial term which will produce savings for the 
Council and therefore residents in the medium term, providing residents with 
value for money. 
 

34. The Council remains committed to tackling fuel poverty for residents. The cost of 
energy that is passed on to both tenants and leaseholders of the Council is 
assessed each financial year to ensure the Council is not putting its residents at 
risk of fuel poverty. Although the cost of energy procured under the ‘bridging’ 
contract has increased, these rates have been benchmarked against the 2015 
energy rates charged to residents within District Heating schemes and found to 
be equal. In 2015 the Council commissioned the Home Energy Study by 
Rickaby Thompson Associates which identified a small number of properties to 
be at risk of fuel poverty. The study used what was the current energy pricing at 
the time as part of the assessment of fuel poverty and therefore allows the 
Council to benchmark against energy rates for that year. 
 

35. Alongside the programme of district heating modernisation, work has also been 
undertaken to ensure the Council’s compliance with new legal requirements 
under the Heat Network (Metering and Billing) Regulations 2014 through the 
installation of individual property heat meters at all schemes that benefit from 
district heating. This facilitates billing for energy use on a property by property 
basis based upon individual energy use/consumption. Heat meters measure 
individual heat and hot water usage and ensure that residents are charged fairly 
for the heating and hot water they use. Residents receive a quarterly statement 
showing their energy consumption and their tariff information, ensuring that the 
Council is providing transparency over the way in which it charges residents for 
heating and hot water within District Heating schemes. 
 

36. In April 2018, four additional schemes were added to the new billing system, 
with tenants being charged for their individual heat and hot water consumption 
throughout the financial year. The charge applied to the rest of the District 
Heating schemes will continue to be apportioned based on the number of 
bedrooms in each property until the scheme is fitted with heat meters and added 
to the Council’s new billing system. There is a programme to roll out heat meters 
to all remaining District Heating schemes which is expected to complete in 
2020/21. 
 

37. Tenants and leaseholders with communal heating are fully recharged the 
respective cost of the service. The average charge to tenants for fuel provided 
will be £9.24 per week (2018/19 – £6.53) prior to any adjustment for the 
difference between the estimated and actual charges in 2017/18, and for 
leaseholders for fuel and non-fuel, £16.09 per week (2018/19 – £13.60). 
 

38. The average charge for sheltered accommodation will be £6.83 per week 
(2018/19 – £5.25). In 2019/20 no sheltered properties out of 460 have charges 
that will be limited by the fuel poverty caps. 

 

215



 
 

Garage Rents 
 
39. It is proposed to increase the rent on garages held as "retain and invest” and 

related charges by five per cent. The rent of a standard garage would rise by 48 
pence per week to £10.16. In addition there are a number of garages which due 
to the location and their condition, will be offered at rents reduced by 20 per 
cent. 
 

40. It is proposed that changes in garage rents are effective from 1 April 2019. 
 

Other Charges 
 
41. It is proposed that the charges for the other miscellaneous items be raised in 

respect of Leasehold Services as follows: 
 

a) Solicitor’s enquiries with copy of an insurance schedule will rise from 
£140.60 to £143.43 (inclusive of VAT at 20 per cent) 
 

b) Solicitor’s enquiries without copy of an insurance schedule will rise from 
£102.70 to £104.75 (inclusive of VAT at 20 per cent) 
 

c) Solicitor’s enquiries for additional information will rise from £37.36 to 
£38.10 (inclusive of VAT at 20 per cent) 
 

d) Insurance Policy Key Facts will rise from £10.80 to £11.00 and the 
charge for Non Compliance Letters from £43.36 to £47.30 
 

e) Two new charges from 1 April 2019 are proposed for the provision of 
information to facilitate Equity Release £30.80 and re-mortgage work 
£20.50 (both inclusive of VAT at 20 per cent) 
 

f) Interest free loans and voluntary charges available to leaseholders in 
respect of major works are subject to an administration fee of £322.20 
(2018/19 – £315.90) 
 

g) The administration fee for a Lease Extension will increase from 
£162.32 to £165.60 (inclusive of VAT) 
 

h) The administration fee for Mandatory Loans will increase from £135.24 
to £138.50 per loan agreed. 

 
42. It is proposed that the charges for the other miscellaneous items be raised in 

respect of Sheltered  Services as follows: 
 

a) Meal charges at Sumners Farm Close will move from £5.87 to £6.00, 
with effect from 1 April 2019 
 

b) The contract for laundry charges within sheltered housing schemes 
was re-tendered in 2016/17. The charges will remain the same for three 

216



 
 

years with a review in 2019/20. 2019/20 charges – £2 per wash and 20 
pence per each 10 minute dry 
 

c) A charge for the use of sheltered housing communal rooms by external 
organisations of £10 per half day and £20 per full day. 

 
43. It is proposed that the charges for the other miscellaneous items be raised in 

respect of Homelessness  Services as follows: 
 

a) The rent charged for temporary accommodation in the HRA will remain 
at £35 per week per single room, £50 per week for a double room and 
£100 per week for a family room. In addition there is a service charge, 
personal charge and recharge of council tax totaling £19.36 per week 
for a single room, £21.86 per week for a double room and £29.36 per 
week for a family room 
 

b) Nightly lets will be charged against a weekly rate of: one room £129.23; 
one bed studio/property £129.23; two bed property £145.39; three or 
more bedrooms £185.89 
 

c) Charge for Bed and Breakfast accommodation – £129.23 per week 
based on the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rate 
 

d) Charge for Non HRA Temporary Accommodation flats: one bedroom – 
£115.37 and three bedroom – £176.53. 

 
Building New Homes 
 
44. It is an ambition and a key priority for the Council to build new homes including 

council dwellings. In 2018/19 preparatory work was undertaken to enable the 
provision of four new one bed units at Sumners Farm Close and in addition a 
one bed unit, a two bed unit and four additional bedrooms, for both general 
needs and temporary accommodation. 
 

45. Plans are also in hand for new building/new council homes. More details are 
available in the Capital & Treasury Report 2019 which is attached as Appendix B 
to the report. 

 
Growths 
 
46. Two growth bids are included in the HRA estimates: 

 
a) Housing Procurement Officer to support the contract work inherent in 

the level of capital works being undertaken 
 

b) For the maintenance of water tanks which is a health and safety issue. 
 

 
 
 

217



 
 

Table 3 – 2019/20 HRA Growth 
 

2019/20 HRA GROWTH £’000S 

  
Procurement Officer          38 
Water Hygiene          80 
  

TOTAL 118 

 
Working Balance 
 
47. The Local Government Act 2003, section 25 (1) (b), requires that the Head of 

Finance reports to the Council on the adequacy of reserves when the budget 
and Council Tax are being set by reference to a number of factors considered in 
Appendix C. It has been recommended that the minimum HRA working balance 
should be set at £4 million at 31 March 2019 and maintained at this level at 31 
March 2020. This is to ensure a provision for potential costs of fire safety works 
in 2019/20. The Government has decided not to enact the legislation that would 
require Councils to sell high value void properties. 
 

48. The HRA minimum working balance is set by the Head of Finance to ensure that 
the account will not fall into a deficit and to mitigate for various risks as set out in 
Appendix B and the HRA Business Plan 2018-2048. 
 

49. Based upon the budget figures set out at Appendix A, the movement of the 
Operating Account Working Balance is as set out in table 4 below. 

 
Table 4 – HRA Operating Account Working Balance 
 

HRA OPERATING ACCOUNT WORKING BALANCE  £’000s 
    
Working Balance at 1 April 2018 14,104 
  
Budgeted deficit 2018/19  (-)3,270 
   

Working Balance at 31 March 2019 10,834 
   
Budgeted deficit, 2019/20  (-)6,687 
   

Working Balance at 31 March 2020 4,147 

 
Major Repairs Reserve 
 
50. The Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) is the statutory account which holds the 

annual depreciation charge on HRA properties. The charge for depreciation in 
2018/19 is estimated at £9.94 million (Original 2018/19 £11.439 million) and is 
made by debiting the HRA and crediting the MRR. 
 

218



 
 

51. The rules require that the MRR balance can be used either to finance the capital 
programme or to repay housing debt. The HRA Business Plan 2018-2048 
proposes the renewal rather than the repayment of debt. 
 

52. The Housing Capital Programme can be found as a separate item on this 
agenda. It is estimated that there will be a nil balance on the MRR at 31 March 
2019, as the estimated sum of £9.94 million will be fully used to support the 
Housing Capital Programme in 2018/19. 
 

53. Likewise in 2019/20 the estimated sum of £10.085 million will be used to support 
the Housing Capital Programme. The balance on the MRR as at 31 March 2020 
will again be nil. 

 
Table 5 – Major Repairs Reserve 
 

MAJOR REPAIRS RESERVE £,000’s 

  
Balance at 1 April 2018             0 
Depreciation charge  9,940 
Capital Financing (-)9,940 

  
Balance at 31 March 2019             0 
  
Depreciation charge  10,085 
Capital Financing (-)10,085 

Estimated Balance at 31 March 2020              0 

 
Risks 
 
54. Budgets are prepared using the best assumptions available at the time. The size 

of the HRA is large with income and expenditure totalling £49.68 million and 
£56.36 million respectively. This report covers in detail the first two years of the 
HRA Business Plan 2018-2048, within which there is a commentary on risks 
facing the HRA and a section on Sensitivity Asnalysis. 

 
Housing Capital Programme 
 
55. A separate report on the proposed Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 to 

2019/20 and a Capital Compendium containing the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) appear elsewhere on the Cabinet’s agenda. 
 

56. It should be noted that £9.191 million has been planned as a revenue 
contribution to capital in 2019/20 in addition to the statutory transfer made to the 
MRR. 

 
Human Resources Issues 
 
57. The proposed 2019/20 budget has no identified human resource implications. 
 
 

219



 
 

Welfare Reform 
 
58. Since the introduction of the Government’s welfare reform legislation, UC has 

been fully launched in Harlow with effect from the 20 September 2017.This 
brings together the majority of welfare benefits including Housing Benefit under 
one claim process. As of 2 December 2018, 1,112 Council tenants are currently 
in receipt of UC, with these numbers expected to continually rise until full 
migration has been achieved.  The Department of Work and Pensions aim to 
complete a full migration to UC by 2023.  The Council will continue to monitor 
the impact this is having on tenants rent accounts and will continue to provide 
support and early intervention to assist tenants with budget and debt 
management. 

 
Consultation 
 
59. The Council has engaged in consultation through the Housing Standards Board 

on which tenant and leaseholders are represented, in line with the Tenant 
Engagement Strategy. This report was reviewed at its meeting on 8 January 
2019. 
 

60. Tenants and leaseholders have been consulted through the Property Standards 
Panel and Tenancy Standards Panel on 7 January 2019, the Leasehold 
Standards Panel on 17 January 2019 and at Tenants Forum which met on 9 
January 2019. 

 
Conclusion 
 
61. The proposed budget shows an estimated net deficit for the year of £6.687 

million and a projected working balance at 31 March 2020 of £4.147 million. 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As outlined in the body of the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 

220



 
 

Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – HRA Estimates 
Appendix B – Assessing the HRA Minimum Working Balance 
 
Background Papers 
 
CIPFA. LAAP Bulletin 55 – February 2003.  Guidance Note on Local Authority 
Reserves and Balances 
 Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 
Local Government & Housing Act 1989 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
CPI – Consumer Price Index 
FRA – Fire Risk Assessment 
GF – General Fund 
HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
HRS – Housing Related Support 
HTS – HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd 
LHA – Local Housing Allowance 
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
MRR – Major Repairs Reserve 

 MTFS – Medium Term Financial Strategy 
PWLB – Public Works Loan Board 
RTB – Right to Buy 
UC – Universal Credit  

221



 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
Housing Revenue Account Summary   

 
 2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 

 Actual Original Forecast Original 

 £ £ £ £ 

EXPENDITURE        

General Management  11,112,332  11,148,751 11,816,513 11,543,970 

Special Management  6,787,566  7,350,377 7,468,703 7,695,181 

Repairs & Insurance Appropriations  9,906,904  10,090,160 10,262,275 10,872,720 

Rents Rates Taxes & Other Charges  109,603  35,000 47,500 52,000 

Provision for Bad & Doubtful Debts  85,242  300,000 200,000 280,000 
Supporting People Transitional 
Arrangements 

 5,295  5,300 5,300 
 

5,000 
 

Major Repairs Reserve (Net Depreciation)  11,801,259  11,439,000 9,940,000 10,085,000 

Debt Management Expenses  16,520  16,520 16,520 16,520 

Interest Charges  6,778,765  6,669,000 6,686,000 6,624.000 
Revenue Contribution to Capital 
Expenditure 

 1,503,339  5,914,000 6,451,000 
 

9,191,000 
 

  48,106,824 52,968,108 52,893,811 56,365,391 

INCOME       

Dwelling Rents (-)43,883,886 (-)43,175,000 (-)42,856,835 (-)43,004,000 

Garage Rents (-)987,963 (-)1,142,000 (-)969,320 (-)1,018,520 

Other Rents (-)62,266 (-)65,150 (-)66,150 (-)66,150 

Charges for Services & Facilities (-)4,213,291 (-)5,005,995 (-)5,623,654 (-)5,485,588 

Interest Receivable (-)88,104 (-)62,075 (-)109,000 (-)103,000 

  (-)49,235,509 (-)49,450,220   (-) 49,624,959 (-)49,677,258 

        

Balance in hand at 1 April 12,974,857  8,272,415 14,103,542 10,834,690 

Surplus / (Deficit) for year 1,128,685  (-)3,517,888 (-)3,268,852 (-)6,688,133 

Balance in hand at 31 March 14,103,542  4,754,527 10,834,690 4,146,557 

          
Figures based on:        

Housing Stock No. No. No. No. 

Housing Stock at 1 April 9,425 9,290 9,279 9,174 

Less Right To Buy Disposals (-)69 (-)50  (-)50 (-)40 

Other Disposals (-)77               (-)55  (-)55 0 

Plus Additions 0 0  0 7 

Housing Stock at 31 March 9,279 9,185  9,174 9,141 

          
Weekly Charges         

Average Rent (per dwelling) £91.73 £90.74 £90.74 £89.84 

Average Service Charge (per dwelling) £1.95 £2.03 £2.17 £2.45 

Average Rent (per garage) £9.22 £9.68 £9.68 £10.16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

222



 
 

APPENDIX B 
Re-assessing the HRA Minimum Working Balance   

 
Under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the Council has a statutory 
responsibility to set an HRA budget which, at all times, avoids a deficit working 
balance.  
 
The Council’s Statutory Finance Officer (s151 officer), being the Head of Finance 
has a statutory responsibility to ensure that the Council holds an adequate level of 
balances, and that there are “clear protocols for their establishment and use”.  
Guidance notes, published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA), list a number of factors which should be considered in 
determining a minimum working balance.   
 

Factor Response 

Budget assumptions.  

The treatment of 
inflation and interest 
rates 

Included in the report.  
The Council receives regular economic bulletins from 
its Treasury Management advisors which include 
advice on investments and take into account rapidly 
changing economic and market conditions.  

Estimates of the level 
and timing of capital 
receipts. 

Right to Buy sales are slowing down despite the 
Government’s RTB Reinvigoration Policy. Estimate 50 
RTB sales in 2018/19 and 40 sales in 2019/20.  
Significant variances would affect income receivable, 
although offset by an adjustment to pooling payment.   

The treatment of 
demand led pressures. 

Through budget monitoring process.   

The financial risks 
inherent in any 
significant new funding 
partnerships, major 
outsourcing 
arrangements or major 
capital developments. 

A contract with HTS Ltd a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Council commenced 1 February 2017. About 83% 
of the business has an impact on the HRA. In 2018/19 
the Building Maintenance Index (BMI) uplift was 3.7% 
(original estimate 3%).  The uplift in 2019/20 based on 
the projected BMI at March 2019, is 5%.  Any change 
in estimated uplift will have a positive or adverse effect 
on balances.  

The availability of other 
funds to deal with major 
contingencies and the 
adequacy of provisions. 

There are three major risks. Firstly, the outcomes from 
the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry may recommend 
urgent and potentially expensive capital work to tower 
blocks. An allowance has been made in the Housing 
Capital Programme but this might be insufficient. The 
minimum working balance is maintained at a higher 
level to soften any immediate impact.  Secondly, 
demand for temporary accommodation could further 
increase following the implementation of the 
‘Homelessness Reduction Act 2017’. Thirdly, 
assumptions for price increases have been made 
which may prove understated if inflation remains 
stubbornly high against the backdrop of statutory fixed 
rent reductions. It should be noted that the 

223



 
 

Factor Response 

Government has confirmed that its policy on high 
value voids will not be implemented. 

Financial standing 
and management 

 

The overall financial 
standing of the authority 
(level of borrowing, debt 
outstanding, council 
rate tax collection rates 
etc). 

High rent collection percentage. 
Welfare Reform is likely to have a negative, 
unquantified impact on rent collection rates and costs. 
The Council is proposing to borrow £14.7m between 
2019/20 and 2022/23 to support a planned 
programme of building council homes.  

The authority’s track 
record in budget and 
financial management 
including the 
robustness of the 
medium term plans.  

The HRA Business Plan includes assumptions for 
rents in line with draft Government rent policy. The 
financial security of the Council is undermined by the 
change in Government rent policy whereby rents are 
reduced by 1% a year for 4 years from April 2016. 
This resulted in a detailed review of service provision 
to ensure that there is long term sustainable funding 
for services. Additionally HRA Business Planning has 
taken on increased focus to ensure the sustainability 
of the HRA over 30 years. 

The authority’s capacity 
to manage in-year 
budget pressures. 

A process of monthly budget monitoring is in place 
with meetings of Cost Centre Managers and the Head 
of Service held.  Corrective action is taken where the 
minimum balance is likely to be breached. Reports are 
provided to Senior Management Board and Cabinet. 

The strength of the 
financial information 
and reporting 
arrangements. 

The authority’s virement 
and end of year 
procedures in relation to 
budget 
under/overspends at 
authority and 
departmental level. 

Closure of accounts – free of qualification from 
auditor.  

The adequacy of the 
authority’s insurance 
arrangements to cover 
unforeseen risks. 

The Council will continue to replenish the Insurance 
Fund as approved when setting the 2019/20 budget. 

 
Conclusion: The minimum working balance should be £4.0 million at 31 March 
2019 to include £1.5 million for any additional fire stopping work identified following 
reports from the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry.  
 
 

 

224



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET  

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019  

TITLE: 
 

GENERAL FUND BUDGET 2019/20 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR 
(01279) 446228 
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD 
(01279) 446004 

   
 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008575 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Full Council that: 
 
A The General Fund estimates for 2019/20, as set out in Appendix A to the report, 

are approved. 
 

B The proposed transfers between the General Fund and Earmarked Reserves, 
referred to in paragraphs 24 to 27 and Table 3 of this report and set out in 
Appendix C to the report, are approved. 

 
C The proposed Fees and Charges, as set out in Appendix E to the report, are 

approved. 
 

D The Pay Policy Statement, as set out in Appendix G to the report, is approved. 
 

E The Council’s Band D Council Tax for 2019/20 is set at £277.73 representing an 
increase in Council Tax of two per cent for the forthcoming year. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Council must approve an annual budget and recommend a Council Tax 

charge for the forthcoming year under Government guidelines and current 
legislation. 

 
 
 

225

Agenda Item 9f



BACKGROUND 
 
1. The 2019/20 General Fund Budget is prepared alongside the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS). The MTFS covers the period 2019/20 to 2021/22 
and was considered as an earlier item on the agenda for this meeting. It draws 
upon the fiscal backdrop set out in that report, sets the detailed budget 
requirement for the forthcoming financial year and proposes the resulting 
Council Tax charge required to maintain a balanced budget for the year. 
 

Government Grant  
 

2. Following its Spending Review in 2015, the Government published its Local 
Government Finance Settlement for 2016/17 and, in a step away from its usual 
annual arrangements, also provided indicative settlement figures at individual 
authority level for the three subsequent years 2017/18 to 2019/20. This was 
accompanied by an option for councils to formally accept the four year deal. 
Cabinet resolved to accept the Government’s proposal in order to minimise the 
risk of further funding reductions in the remaining years of its MTFS as far as 
possible, at its meeting on 13 October 2016 
 

3. The Council’s main Government grant funding to support General Fund services 
has already reduced by over 52 per cent over the period from 2013/14 to 
2018/19. The draft settlement applied to the Council for 2019/20 indicates that 
the Council faces a further reduction of nearly 3.5 per cent in Government 
support. The MTFS considers the impact of these funding changes and 
Business Rates Retention. 

 
Proposed Original General Fund Estimate 2019/20  

 
4. The Council’s latest MTFS sets out a projection of General Fund expenditure 

and funding over the three year period 2019/20 to 2021/22. The General Fund 
Budget for 2019/20 sets out these details for every service, and reflects the 
continuing increase in pressures on the Council’s services and the on-going 
effect of other externally driven pressures on the Council’s finances (such as 
national pay awards, homelessness obligations, supplier inflation and business 
rates revaluations). The budget also reflects the announcements made by the 
Government in the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20, 
announced on 13 December 2018. 
 

5. In February 2018, Full Council approved an MTFS that assumed a zero per cent 
increase in the level of Council Tax in 2018/19 followed by a 1.99 per cent 
increase for the remaining two years of the three year strategy. The MTFS 
projection at that point in time identified that a balanced budget could be 
maintained without additional savings targets for 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

 
6. Having agreed to accept the Government’s four year funding deal, the 

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, has confirmed  the  
Government’s support provided to the Council (in the form of retained business 
rates and its Settlement Funding Assessment) will be closely aligned with the 
four year forecast, including the dropping out of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 

226



in 2019/20. Whilst the Government has computed that the Council’s RSG 
becomes a negative sum (representing a repayment back to Government), the 
Finance Settlement announcement has alleviated this pressure in 2019/20 by 
setting a nil repayment obligation for the year.   

 
7. Meanwhile, the Settlement does confirm that the ongoing pressure being placed 

upon local government will continue and that there will be ongoing consultation 
during the 2019/20 financial year in relation to the financial reforms that the 
Government is seeking to make to the funding arrangements.  This includes the 
Government’s intended move towards the 75 per cent Business Rates Retention 
scheme which has been announced previously. Work to deliver a balanced 
budget for 2019/20 has identified a small number of areas of the Council’s 
budget where further savings can be delivered. These are detailed in Appendix 
B to this report. The most notable savings stem from the re-tender of the refuse 
contract and from ensuring commercial property rent levels continue to be 
diligently reviewed to reflect market conditions. 

 
8. The table in Appendix A shows a summary of the proposed budget for 2019/20, 

together with the budget for the current year which was approved by Full Council 
in February 2018. The summary shows the budgets for each service together 
with other key estimate headings and contribution requirements to and from 
reserves. 

 
9. The main changes in the proposed 2019/20 Budget compared with assumptions 

in the February 2018 MTFS are shown in Table 1 below. 
 

Table 1 – Changes in 2019/20 Budget Compared with Assumptions in MTFS (as 
originally approved in February 2018) 
 

  £000s £000s 
Original MTFS Savings Target  0  
(Council February 2018)   

    
Council Tax Setting Changes   

 Adjust from Council Tax Base 20   
 Impact of Council Tax Increase (6)  

   14  
Identified Budget Pressures   

 Homelessness Prevention 288   

 Playhouse (Staff) 33   
 Regeneration Team POD/GAF Income 30   
 Water Gardens Car Park 56   
 Clinical Collections 15   
 Commercial Properties 22   
 Commercial Properties - Asbestos 15   
 HTS Pensions 31   
 Street Cleaning - Additional Bins 36   
 Recycling 40   
 Living Wage 153   
 Christmas Lights 20   

227



 Members' Allowances 8   
 Additional Hours - Corporate Support 25   

   772  
Other Changes   

 Additional Pay Pressure 33   
 Additional Price Inflation 51   
 Variations to MTFS assumptions:   
 Settlement Funding Assessment (250)  
 Other Net variations to MTFS assumptions (15)  

   (181) 

Total Revised Savings Target  605  

    

Financed By:-   
 Efficiency Savings (Appendix B1) (226)  
 Income/ Recharges (Appendix B2) (379)  

Total Financing  (605) 

    

 
10. A full schedule of the above budget variations is set out in Appendix B to this 

report.  Meanwhile, Members may find the following details worthy of note:  
 

11. The cost of homelessness prevention has significant cost implications, adding 
£288,000 above the 2018/19 budget projection.  Homelessness is increasing 
both nationally and locally, the Government has identified this as an ongoing 
priority.  The Council is working closely with individuals, families and landlords to 
identify early solutions for applicants and potential applicants for homelessness 
support.  The forward forecasting is based on the number of occupied temporary 
accommodation units, and the expected increase in future demand of units.  Due 
to the 35 per cent increase in homeless in 2017/18, a 25 per cent increase in 
homelessness within 2018/19 was projected, with a nine per cent prevention 
rate, due to the introduction of the Homeless Reduction Act.  The number of 
homeless approaches received in terms of caseload over the financial years is 
as follows: 

 
a) 16/17 – 205 cases 

 
b) 17/18 – 231 cases  

 
c) 18/19 – 285 cases up to the end of October 2018. 

 
12. The Council has adopted the status of a Living Wage Employer. In support of 

this, it is committed to opening up opportunities for apprenticeships. The 
proposed 2019/20 budget includes provision for 11 apprenticeships. Therefore, 
adopting the living wage as a minimum salary across all employees results in a 
budget pressure of £153,000.  
 

13. The favourable Settlement Funding Assessment variation of £250,000 stems 
from the fact that, whilst the January 2018 MTFS projected that the Council will 

228



be subjected to a negative RSG, the Government has protected councils in 
2019/20 from this impact by meeting that pressure in this coming financial year. 

 
14. Following a review by the Independent Remuneration Panel, it is proposed that 

provision be made in line with their recommendation for the Members’ Basic 
Allowances to be increased by five per cent and Special Responsibility 
Allowances by two per cent with effect from 1 April 2019. A report on the Panel’s 
proposals will be considered by Full Council on 7 February 2019. If approved, 
these would represent the first increases in Members’ allowances at this Council 
since 2011/12. Approval of these increases is for the Council to determine and 
this budgetary sum supports this.  

 
15. The pay award for 2019/20 has been finalised and included in the budget with a 

two per cent increase for the majority of staff.  Exceptions to this stem from 
adoption of the Living Wage and to the marginal reshaping of spinal column 
points by the National Joint Council, in which lower pay grades have been 
removed. There is very little impact of the grade adjustments to this Council 
because it is already meeting or exceeding the minimum salary levels within the 
revised structure.   

 
16. Provision has been included in individual budgets for anticipated price changes 

in Business Rates, energy costs and external contracts. In accordance with the 
normal practice, supplies and services budgets have not, in general, been 
increased to allow for inflationary increases in costs. Instead managers are 
required to meet these increases within their existing budgets where it is 
possible to do so as the Council continues to deliver ongoing efficiencies in the 
way it conducts its day to day business. 

 
Cuts in Formula Funding 
 
17. As previously stated, the Council has adopted the Government’s four-year 

formula funding settlement. Whilst this has protected against further funding 
cuts, the Government’s formula drives annual reductions in the grant it provides 
to the Council. The impact on the 2019/20 budget places a reduction in 
Government grant of over £80,000, equating to a cut of 3.5 per cent in the 
Council’s core funding. The Provisional Local Government Settlement 2019/20,  
has confirmed the Government’s commitment to align the funding for next year 
with the figures set out in the four year deal announced in the 2016/17 Local 
Government Finance Settlement. One further aspect of the funding settlement is 
the shift from positive RSG to negative RSG. If there was a need for the Council 
to make a payment equal to its negative RSG back to the Government, this 
would have placed a further burden of £295,187 onto the General Fund budget. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

229



Table 2 – Chart of Annually Reducing Government Funding Settlements 
 

 
 

Tax Base and Collection Fund 
 

18. Regulations require the Council to estimate  its tax base (the number of Band D 
equivalent properties that will attract a Council Tax charge) and the level of 
surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund (the account administered by the 
Council through which all Council Tax, Business Rates and precept payments 
flow). Following changes imposed by the Government in Business Rates 
Retention and the localisation of Council Tax Benefits Schemes in 2013/14, 
calculations have become more complex, especially in relation to Business 
Rates.  As a result of the high risk of year on year income variations from 
Business Rates now placed upon the Council, there is a new level of volatility 
within the General Fund revenue budget. In order to mitigate against such 
volatility as far as possible, the Council is maintaining an earmarked grants 
reserve to cushion the budget from extreme cashflow variations that arise each 
year from Business Rates collection. The tax base, for the purpose of computing 
the average Band D Council Tax in 2019/20, equates to 26,279.00 equivalent 
Band D properties. 
 

Council Tax 
 
19. The MTFS presented to Full Council in February 2018 included an assumption 

that Council Tax increases after 2018/19 would be at 1.99 per cent (the 
maximum increase allowable at that time under the Government’s regulations 
without holding a referendum was two per cent). The latest provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement announced that the referendum limit will be set 
at three per cent for 2019/20.  The proposed budget for 2019/20 now includes 
an increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 of two per cent. 
 
 
 
 
 

230



Income  
 

20. As part of the 2019/20 budget setting process, income has been reviewed and 
the income budgets for next year will be increased in line with the agreed 
increases to fees and charges set out in Appendix E to this report.  
 

21. Appendix B to this report identifies additional income from fees, rents and grants 
for the financial year 2019/20. 
 

Discretionary Services Reserve 
 

22. The Discretionary Services Reserve (DSR) provides time limited funding to help 
support the discretionary services and to provide opportunity to identify 
alternative means of provision and/or sources of finance for these popular 
services. The fund continues to provide financing throughout the 2019/20 
budget, and its continuation is supported by the allocation of New Homes Bonus 
(NHB) grant topping up this fund. Having looked into alternatives for the 
provision of services funded by the reserve extensively since 2012 it is clear that 
there are some key areas that will be extremely difficult to transfer to any form of 
alternative provision. The 2018/19 budget included provision for funding for the 
Playhouse and remaining elements of the Community Safety Team to be 
reintroduced into the General Fund base budget. The proposed budget for 
2019/20 includes reintroducing Pets Corner into core funding of the General 
Fund.  

 
New Homes Bonus 
 
23. The NHB was first introduced in 2011/12. This grant was subject to a 

Government review during 2016. As a consequence of this review, the method 
of calculation, its distribution and the period for which it is payable have 
changed. The funding period for which the grant is paid was initially six years. 
The funding period will be reduced to only four years in 2018/19. This had been 
anticipated as a result of the previous announcements and the sum expected in 
2019/20 at £867,614 is broadly aligned with the sum planned for.  Of the total 
expected the DSR had forecast to receive a sum of £798,270 and, based upon 
the provisional settlement, the full projected grant of £867,614 will be transferred 
to that reserve.  

 
General Reserves 

 
24. The position with regard to the Council’s uncommitted General Fund Reserve is 

set out in Table 3. The table shows the planned one off use of the Reserve in 
the original budget for the current year, together with in-year changes arising 
from consideration of the 2017/18 Final Accounts report in September 2018.  
The forecast has also been updated with the latest budget monitoring forecasts 
as reported to Cabinet in December 2018. 

 
 
 
 

231



 
Table 3 – Uncommitted General Fund Reserve 

 

  £millions 

Uncommitted General Fund Reserve as at 1 April 2018 6.734  

   

Carry-forward and Reserve Movements per  

   Council/ Cabinet approvals:-  

- Budget Carry Forwards from 2017/18 (0.137) 

 (approved Cabinet 2018)  

   

Variations Resulting From Previous Cabinet Decisions (2.276) 

   

Forecast Budget Variations in 2018/19 1.076  

   

Projected Year-end Balance 31 March 2019 5.397  

   

 
25. The Local Government Act 2003, section 25 (1) (b) requires that the Chief 

Financial Officer (the Head of Finance) reports to the Council on the adequacy 
of reserves when the Budget and Council Tax are set. It is important to 
distinguish between committed or earmarked reserves and general or 
uncommitted reserves. A statement by the Council’s Head of Finance is 
attached as Appendix D. It recommends that the minimum level of uncommitted 
reserves be set at £2,500,000 to reflect adequate provision to meet the known or 
anticipated future risks. The General Fund balance (i.e. the uncommitted 
reserves) as at 31 March 2019 is currently projected at £5,397,000, and 
therefore significantly above the recommended minimum level. 
 

26. Current conditions across the UK economy and constitutional uncertainties 
impose considerable doubt on the level of funding available to maintain Council 
services. Whilst a wholescale review of the reserve levels is planned to 
commence in 2019, the outcomes of Brexit and its respective impact on central 
government budget allocations represent a significant risk of funding shortfalls. 
As a result, there is currently no proposal to allocate part of the General Fund 
reserve balance. However, it is anticipated that non housing capital works to 
maintain the Council’s property portfolio will require future allocations. 

 
Earmarked Reserves 

 
27. The Council holds a number of earmarked reserves. Table 4 below provides a 

summary of the proposed movements for both 2018/19 (latest revision to the 
original budget) and 2019/20 in respect of the General Fund earmarked 
reserves, for which Council’s approval is required within the recommendations to 
this report. Full details of the balances of all earmarked reserves, together with 
indicative/proposed movements are provided in Appendix C to this report. 
 
 

232



Table 4 – Summary of Proposed Movements on General Fund Earmarked 
Reserves 
 

 Net Movement 
To/ (From) Reserves  

 

Earmarked Reserves 2018/19 
Revised 
Budget 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

Details 

 £ £  

Perpetuity Reserves 2,460  8,020  Routine property 
maintenance funding 
obligations. Interest is added 
each year to prolong 
balances. 

Debt Financing Reserve 237,840  698,603  Set aside for debt financing 
costs and to support 
anticipated non-housing 
capital programme needs. 

Discretionary Services Fund (85,730) 247,770  Drawn down to cover cost of 
discretionary services, net of 
NHB grant. 

Environment Reserve 
(previously Energy Fund) 

3,020  1,770  Reserve replenishment 
programme and interest 
allocation. 

Environmental Urgent Works 
& Improvement Reserve 

1,000,000  0  To facilitate urgent works and 
improvements across the 
whole town  and targeted at 
initiatives and issues that will 
make Harlow look and feel 
like a better place to live, 
work and play. 

The Harlow & Gilston Garden 
Town Funding Reserve 

500,000  0  To support the delivery and 
achievement of the best 
outcomes from this significant 
development for the Town. 

Insurance claims - GF 50,000  50,000  Self-insurance. 

Insurance Fund - GF  
(see Note 4.) 

99,700  110,180  Self-insurance. 

Invest To Save & Improve 
Reserve 
 - see Note 5. 

(1,290) 3,250  Utilised for JVCO 
demobilisation. 

Planning Reserve (100,000) (200,000) Applied for Local 
Development Framework 

Regeneration Reserve (64,270) (50,500) Financing of fixed-term brand 
and marketing budget. 

Regeneration & Enterprise 
Reserve 

23,280  0  Indicative NHB balances set 
aside for town development. 

233



Splash Parks Reserve 750,000  0  To support project to replace 
the Town's remaining five 
paddling pools with new slash 
park facilities. 

Street Lighting Reserve (10,940) (13,850) To finance ECC charge for 
extended lighting across the 
town. 

Volunteering Support 
Reserve 

(40,000) 0  An initiative aligned with 
residents' time spent 
volunteering that has positive 
health and wellbeing benefits. 

 
Prudential Code and Borrowing 
 
28. The Council may decide to borrow to fund its capital programme. However, this 

must be done in compliance with the Prudential Code of Borrowing published by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). Borrowing 
must be affordable on the basis of the impact of the cost of borrowing on the 
Council’s revenue budgets and Council Tax. Further detail is contained in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy, contained within the separate Capital 
and Treasury report, included elsewhere on this meeting’s agenda. 
 

29. There is a separate report to this meeting on the Housing and Non Housing 
Capital Programmes. Due to the continuing uncertainty and volatility within the 
property market which is impacting on both the value and potential timing of 
receipts from asset disposals coupled with the limited remaining scope for asset 
disposals, the MTFS makes provision for a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
as a mechanism for the repayment of borrowing within the General Fund 
Budget. Provision has also been made to ensure that the requirements to make 
a MRP against capital borrowing is sufficient and details of the MRP requirement 
are routinely reported as part of the Treasury Management Strategy mentioned 
above. 

 
Council Tax 

 
30. As stated in paragraph 14, the proposed General Fund Budget includes an 

increase of two per cent in Harlow's element of the Council Tax for 2019/20. It 
also includes the impact of the Collection Fund balance. 

 
31. As part of setting the Council Tax for 2019/20, the estimated balance on the 

Collection Fund at 31 March 2019 has to be taken into account. Under 
Government regulations this has to be estimated by the Council’s Head of 
Finance on 15 January 2019 with the precepting bodies notified accordingly 
(precepting bodies are those for which the Council, as the billing authority, 
collects Council Tax and Business Rates). As a result of the Local Government 
Finance reform introduced in 2013/14, the Collection Fund balance is separated 
into two elements; one for Council Tax, the second for Business Rates. Each of 
the precepting bodies receives an allocation of surpluses and losses on different 
bases, and the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) carries a part of the element of losses attributable to Business Rates. 

234



For this reason, the distribution of a surplus or loss between each of the 
precepting bodies may appear inconsistent. 

 
32. The balance on the Collection Fund is based on a number of factors as follows: 

 
a) The level of bad debt provision. 

 
b) The number of properties being liable for Council Tax and associated 

exemptions and discounts. 
 

c) The number of businesses being liable for Business Rates (this may 
vary extensively in the event of businesses developing or closing).  

 
d) Any adjustments required to the balance on the Collection Fund (such 

as accounting adjustments under the Government’s Safety Net 
mechanism). 
 

33. Taking all of these factors into account, the overall position has resulted in a 
projected surplus for Council Tax of £2,190,810 and a projected deficit on 
Business Rates of £786,760 as at 31 March 2019. The allocations of these 
balances are set out in the table below. Provisions for Business Rates appeals, 
already set aside by each of the precepting authorities, are included in the 
figures shown; the provision being £956,000 as at 31 March 2018.  
 

34. The Council Tax surplus is shared in accordance with the regulations with all 
precepting bodies, whilst the allocation of the balance on Business Rates is 
allocated in accordance with the proportional shares set out in the Local 
Government Finance Acts 1988 and 2012. 

 
35. A meeting of Full Council is scheduled for 28 February 2019 to approve the 

Council’s element of the Council Tax for 2019/20. The final level of Council Tax 
will depend on decisions by Essex County Council, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Essex and Essex Fire Authority.  All three bodies are not due 
to meet to set their elements of the Council Tax until dates after the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

235



Table 5 – Composition of Council Tax charge per average Band D property for 
each authority  

 

 2018/19 
Band D 

Council Tax 

2019/20 
Band D 

Council Tax 

Annual 
Increase 

 

Increase 
% 

 £ £ £  

Harlow DC 272.28 277.73 5.45 2.00 

Essex County 
Council 

1,221.75 tbc tbc tbc 

Essex Police 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

169.02 tbc tbc tbc 

Essex Fire 
Authority 

70.38 tbc tbc tbc 

TOTAL 1,733.43 tbc tbc tbc 
[Note- the Council Tax decisions for the County, Police and Fire authorities are to be 
confirmed (tbc) whilst we await determination of budgets by each of those bodies.] 
 
Local Government Act and Review of Budgets 
 
36. The Local Government Act 2003 (Part 2) has placed further requirements on the 

Council’s financial management, in particular to: 
 

a) consider each year a report on the Council’s reserves 
 

b) consider as part of the budget setting a report by the Chief Financial 
Officer on the robustness of the estimates and the assumptions made 
in compiling the budget (as set out in Appendix D) 
 

c) to monitor expenditure and income during the year and to take steps to 
correct any departures from planned outcomes. 
 

37. It is the view of the Council’s Head of Finance, following consultation with senior 
Officers of the Council that the estimates contained in this report are reasonable, 
robust and based on prudent assumptions. Nevertheless, as outlined in 
Appendix D, there are a number of risks and opportunities that will require 
careful and ongoing management. 
 

Consultation 
 

38. In formulating spending priorities reflected in the MTFS and the 2019/20 Budget, 
the Administration and Senior Management Board have been mindful of 
protecting front line services and key operations carried out by the Council. 
Despite the challenge the 2019/20 budget has presented, the proposals set out 
within this report represent no direct service reductions to users. The Corporate 
Plan 2019/20, featuring elsewhere on the agenda, has set priorities and the 
budget proposals underpin the delivery of those priorities. 
 

236



39. Chapter 20, Part 1 of The Localism Act 2011 places a responsibility on the 
Council under section 38(1) to prepare a pay policy statement. This statement 
must set out the Council’s policies relating to the pay of its Chief Officers (as 
defined by section 43(2)) and the relationship between their remuneration and 
the remuneration of those employees not designated as Chief Officers. It should 
also set out its policies relating to its lowest paid staff. The Cabinet will be aware 
that the statement affects individual employees’ terms and conditions of 
employment which are contractual, and cannot be changed unilaterally. The 
Council’s Pay Policy Statement is set out at Appendix G. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report.  
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
Implications are contained within the report.  
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
None other than as contained within the report.  
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
Implications are contained within the report.  
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
Implications are contained within the report. Consultation with unions will continue on 
employee related issues. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – General Fund Budget Summary 
Appendix B – Efficiency savings (B1), increased income schedules (B2) and 
schedule of pressures (B3) 
Appendix C – Projected Earmarked Reserves balances 
Appendix D – Statement of the Chief Financial Officer 
Appendix E – Fees & charges increases 2019-20 
Appendix F – Detailed budget analysis 
Appendix G – Pay Policy Statement 2019-20 
 
 
 
 

237



Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
DSR – Discretionary Services Reserve 
HTS – Harlow Trading Services 
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision 
MTFS – Medium Term Financial Strategy 
NHB – New Homes Bonus 
RSG – Revenue Support Grant 

 

238



APPENDIX A.

GENERAL FUND BUDGET SUMMARY 
2017/18 

Actual

2018/19 

Original 

Budget

2019/20 

Budget

£ £ £

HEAD OF SERVICE

Managing Director (37,890)       17,970 5,370 

Community Wellbeing 3,563,273   4,119,620 4,131,030 

Finance 4,274,035   3,336,850 2,987,960 

Governance 456,825      762,740 727,410 

Housing 972,400      1,107,740 1,271,400 

Place 3,017,377   3,889,190 3,555,560 

Total 12,246,020 13,234,110 12,678,730 

Capital charges (2,095,291)  (2,510,160) (2,084,100)

Interest Receivable (190,036)     (488,008) (313,280)

Interest Payable 249,115      544,070 594,210 

Minimum Revenue Provision 217,912      284,840 230,000 

Provision for bad debts 220,100      0 0 

Essex Council Tax Collection Sharing Agreement (684,220)     (400,000) (400,000)

Section 31 Grants (666,738)     0 0 

Transition Grant (25,268)       0 0 

New Homes Bonus Grant (896,379)     (900,400) (867,610)

Expenditure Before Use Of Reserves 8,375,215   9,764,452   9,837,950   

Contribution to / (from) Earmarked Reserves:

Perpetuity Reserves 1,247          1,960 8,020 

Insurance Fund 112,189      94,490 110,180 

MMI 38,230        50,000 50,000 

Invest to Save (74,027)       1,260 3,250 

Environment Reserve 4,293          2,650 1,770 

Debt Financing Reserve 237,840      237,400 698,603 

Discretionary Services Fund (738,767)     (89,330) 247,770 

Planning LDF 377,269      (100,000) (200,000)

Regeneration & Enterprise Reserve 119,295      143,400 0 

Risk Reserve 40,000        0 0 

Severance Reserve 192,960      0 0 

Street Lighting (10,943) (13,270) (13,850)

Housing Benefits Subsidy Reserve 157,000 0 0 

Harlow & Gilston Garden Town Funding Reserve 160,000 0 0 

Volunteering Support Reserve 40,000 0 0 

Regeneration Reserve (63,775) 0 (50,500)

Grants Reserves (for deferred payments) 177,849      805,870 136,620 

Contribution to / (from) General Fund Reserve 1,276,363   0 0 

Budget Requirement 10,422,238 10,898,882 10,829,813 

HARLOW COUNCIL'S ELEMENT OF THE COUNCIL TAX
2017/18 

Actual

2018/19 

Original 

Budget

2019/20 

Budget

£ £ £

Budget Requirement 10,422,238 10,898,882 10,829,813 

Less Formula Grant comprising:

Settlement Funding Assessment (3,346,389)  (3,007,771)  (2,901,913)

Homelessness Grant (165,978)     (166,393)     (166,282)

Collection Fund Deficit / (Surplus) (94,120)       (692,070)     (351,080)

Essex Business Rates Pooling -              (65,000)       (65,000)       

Business Rates Retention Levy Account Surplus -              -              (47,071)       

Council Tax Requirement 6,815,751   6,967,648   7,298,467   

Divided by:

Taxbase 25,032.14   25,590.01 26,279.00 

Band D Council Tax 272.28        272.28        277.73        

239



APPENDIX B1.

GENERAL FUND 2019/20 BUDGET

EFFICIENCY SAVINGS

SERVICE & ACTIVITY

AMOUNT OF 

PROPOSED 

EFFICIENCY 

SAVINGS

DETAILS

£

COMMUNITY WELLBEING

Support for Voluntary Organisations 76,000 The budget used to award Discretionary Rate Relief to businesses / charities is now 

accounted for within the Collection Fund rather than the General Fund as a result of 

legislative changes in accounting practice

Sub-Total Community Wellbeing 76,000

PLACE

Refuse & Recycling 150,000 Saving in cost of the new Refuse & Recycling contract (less safety net provision for 

future movements in recycling commodity prices)

Sub-Total Place 150,000

GRAND TOTAL FOR EFFICIENCY 

SAVINGS
226,000

The following table provide details regarding the significant efficiency gains, proposed to be made as part of the 2019/20 General Fund 
budget.  As with any proposed reductions in expenditure there are implications for service provision.  There are also implications for the 
budget if those savings are not met.   

240



APPENDIX B2.

GENERAL FUND 2019/20 BUDGET

INCOME

SERVICE & ACTIVITY

AMOUNT OF 

PROPOSED 

INCOME

DETAILS

£

COMMUNITY WELLBEING

Leah Manning Centre 20,000 Net increased income from self-referrals

Sub-Total Community Wellbeing 20,000

FINANCE

Revenues & Benefits 188,000 Additional grant income.

Sub-Total Finance 188,000

PLACE

Recycling 20,000 Increased income from take up of green waste collections 

Cemetery & Crematorium 27,000 Increased income based on operators latest business plan assumptions

Commercial Properties 124,000 Net increased rental income

Sub-Total Place 171,000

GRAND TOTAL FOR INCOME 379,000

The following table provides details regarding the significant additional income proposed to be made as part of the 2019/20 
General Fund budget.  As with any proposed reductions in expenditure there are implications for service provision.  There 
are also implications for the budget if those income targets are not met. 

241



APPENDIX B3.

GENERAL FUND 2019/20 BUDGET

SERVICE INVESTMENT

SERVICE & ACTIVITY

AMOUNT OF 

PROPOSED 

SERVICE 

INVESTMENT

DETAILS

 £

COMMUNITY WELLBEING

Living wage 63,670 Cost of four Apprentices being paid at the living wage rate

The Playhouse 33,000 No staff time being recharged to the Playhouse Capital investment programme

Regeneration Team 30,000 Reduced POD / GAF income due to winding down of programme

Town Centre Partnership 20,000 Christmas Lights

Sub-Total Community Wellbeing 146,670

FINANCE

Living wage 13,860 Cost of one Apprentice being paid at the living wage rate

Sub-Total Finance 13,860

GOVERNANCE

Living wage 55,990 Cost of three Apprentices being paid at the living wage rate

Members Services 7,880 Members allowance increase following recommendation by remuneration panel.

Corporate & Governance Support 24,700 Increase in staff hours

Sub-Total Governance 88,570

HOUSING (GF)

Housing Options & Advice Team 288,000 Increase in the cost of managing homelessness.

Sub-Total Housing (Gf) 288,000

The following table provide details regarding the funding adjustments to be made as part of the 2019/20 General Fund budget.  

242



APPENDIX B3.

SERVICE & ACTIVITY

AMOUNT OF 

PROPOSED 

SERVICE 

INVESTMENT

DETAILS

 £

PLACE

Living wage 19,690 Cost of three Apprentices being paid at the living wage rate

The Water Gardens Car Park 56,000 Reduced income based on latest set of forecasts

Clinical collections 15,000 Cost of clinical collections falls to local authority with effect from 1 January 2019

Commercial Properties 22,000 Cost of empty units business rates and energy costs 

Commercial Properties 15,000 Cost of asbestos removal

HTS 31,000 Increased cost of pension contributions

Recycling Contract 40,000 Safety net provision for future movements in recycling commodity prices.

Street Cleaning 36,000 Providing an enhanced service of emptying full and overflowing litter & dual use bins

Sub-Total Place 234,690

GRAND TOTAL FOR SERVICE 

INVESTMENT
771,790

243



APPENDIX C

Proposed Movements on Earmarked Reserves - 2018/19 and 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20

Earmarked Reserve

Balance

as at

31 Mar 2018

Add To 

Reserve 

Balance

Use of 

Reserves

(see Note 3)

Balance

as at

31 Mar 2019

Add To 

Reserve 

Balance

Use of 

Reserves

Balance

as at

31 Mar 2020

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

GENERAL FUND RESERVES

Perpetuity Reserves 947,154 7,750 (5,290) 949,614 13,620 (5,600) 957,634 

Debt Financing Reserve 2,225,722 237,840 2,463,562 698,603 3,205,398 

Discretionary Services Fund 1,548,785 783,000 (868,730) 1,463,055 798,270 (550,500) 1,710,825 
Environment Reserve (previously 

Energy Fund) - see Note 5.
120,008 3,020 123,028 1,770 124,798 

Environmental Urgent Works & 

Improvement Reserve
0 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 

The Harlow & Gilston Garden Town 

Funding Reserve
160,000 500,000 660,000 660,000 

Housing Benefits Subsidy Reserve 693,107 693,107 693,107 

Insurance claims - GF 621,274 50,000 671,274 50,000 721,274 
Insurance Fund - GF 

(see Note 4.)
1,414,041 125,700 (26,000) 1,513,741 136,180 (26,000) 1,623,921 

Invest To Save & Improve Reserve

 - see Note 5.
227,039 1,850 (3,140) 225,749 3,250 228,999 

New Burdens Grant Reserve 87,240 87,240 87,240 

Partnership Fund 200,000 200,000 200,000 

Planning Reserve 481,611 (100,000) 381,611 (200,000) 181,611 

Regeneration Reserve 936,225 (64,270) 871,955 (50,500) 821,455 

Regeneration & Enterprise Reserve 1,399,687 67,400 (44,120) 1,422,967 1,422,967 

Residual Land Transfer 130,988 130,988 130,988 

Risk Management Reserve - GF 237,187 237,187 237,187 

Severance Reserve 2,120,335 2,120,335 2,120,335 

Splash Parks Reserve 0 750,000 750,000 750,000 
Standards Committee Contingency 

Reserve
50,461 50,461 50,461 

Street Lighting Reserve 43,146 (10,940) 32,206 (13,850) 18,356 

Volunteering Support Reserve 40,000 (40,000) 0 0 

Total General Fund 13,684,010 3,526,560 (1,162,490) 16,048,080 1,701,693 (846,450) 16,946,556 

NOTES

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

The above is a list of the Council's usable earmarked reserves.  Transactions that add to and reduce the balances of each 
reserve relate to both the General Fund revenue account and the Housing Revenue Account. 
 
Balances as at 31 March 2018 are stated in the Council's final accounts as at that date.  Transactions shown since then 
represent proposed movements into and out of the earmarked reserves as contained within the proposed budgets. 
 
Movements into and from reserves in 2018/19 represent proposed revised movements for the year, and do not necessarily 
equate with the original budget reported in the budget summary for this current fianncial  year. 
 
The balance shown in respect of the Insurance Fund, above, reflects the cash balance of the fund.  The Insurance Fund's 
Actuary assesses the adequacy of the Fund to meet its annual liabilities (including payments not yet made and an expectation 
for forthcoming claims not yet received).  The amounts added to the Insurance Fund balance in each of the two financial years 
above include contributions required to ensure that the fund can adequately meet the assessed liabilities.  Use of the insurance 
reserve in both years cannot be accurately estimated because the value required is governed by the number and value of claim 
excesses that the funds are required to settle. 
 
The Invest To Save and Improve Reserve and the Environmental Reserve operate under a special mechanism whereby 
drawings relate to successful efficiency scheme applications made during the year.  Amounts added back to the reserves reflect 
the repayment of these drawings in some instances and are derived from the revenue savings resulting from schemes that have 
been financed through the reserve. 
 
The schedule excludes Earmarked Grants reserves, which exist as an accounting mechanism for the carry-over of grants 

244



APPENDIX D 

 
ASSESSING MINIMUM WORKING BALANCE IN THE GENERAL FUND 
REVENUE ACCOUNT 
 
The Head of Finance (s151 Officer) as the Chief Financial Officer has a 
statutory responsibility to ensure that the Council holds an adequate level of 
balances, and that there are “clear protocols for their establishment and use”.  
Guidance notes, published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA), list a number of factors which should be considered in 
determining a minimum working balance.  The table below lists these factors 
and officers’ response.  
 

Factor Response 

Budget assumptions.  

The treatment of inflation and 
interest rates 

Included in the report.  
 
 
 

Estimates of the level and timing 
of capital receipts. 

This is also covered in the reports on Non 
Housing Capital Programme and Treasury 
Management. 
 
Major risk includes the revenue 
implications arising from adverse cash flow 
management and is referred to in the risk 
section below. 
 
The Non-Housing Capital Programme 
(NHCP) has been developed in a way to 
minimise expenditure, so largely only 
essential expenditure is included. 
 
The NHCP programme will continue to be 
monitored regularly by Senior 
Management Team/ Heads of Service as 
well as the Capital Group and Cabinet. 
Wherever possible expenditure will be 
incurred only when there is sufficient 
funding in place. The MTFS includes 
Minimum Revenue Provision allowance to 
support the likely borrowing requirements 
for the NHCP in 2019/20.  
 

The treatment of demand-led 
pressures. 

In-year unplanned budget pressures will be 
dealt with through the budget monitoring 
process and reported to Cabinet if 
necessary. The Council has an excellent 
track record of effectively managing within 
its overall approved budget and has 
anticipated future years’ savings proposals 

245



APPENDIX D 

Factor Response 

within the in-year budget monitoring 
process wherever possible. 
One area of specific concern remains in 
relation to the costs of changes introduced 
by the Government from April 2018 in 
relation to Homelessness responsibilities. 
There is a growing national and local trend 
relating to residents presenting as 
homeless and whilst the General Fund and 
HRA have estimated the financial impact of 
these changes it is likely that pressured 
experienced during 2018/19 will continue 
to be a factor during 2019/20 and future 
years. 
 

The treatment of planned 
efficiency savings / productivity 
gains. 

Service savings and income growth of 
almost £600,000 are factored into the 
2019/20 budget.  
 
The Council continues to utilise its Invest 
to Save and Improve Reserve to 
implement any opportunity associated with 
delivering efficiency savings which may 
require an initial investment. 
 
The Council continues to explore all 
avenues to ensure efficiencies are 
maximised and delivered. 
 

The financial risks inherent in 
any significant new funding 
partnerships, major outsourcing 
arrangements or major capital 
developments. 

The Council’s biggest/ major contracts or 
partnerships are in respect of its wholly 
owned subsidiary HTS and with Veolia. 
These are referred to below. 
 
Whilst HTS Group is projected to generate 
dividend payments for the Council as sole 
shareholder these have been factored in to 
the MTFS and General Fund budget in 
such a way as to exercise caution in the 
early years of the company trading. 
 
The Council has a contractual 
arrangement with a private sector operator 
of the Parndon Wood Cemetery and 
Crematorium. The contract operates on a 
profit share basis.  
 
Other than the items referred to in the Non 
Housing Capital Programme, there are no 

246



APPENDIX D 

Factor Response 

major capital developments funded by 
Council’s resources. 
 
The Council, alongside the HCA, entered 
into Loan agreements in respect of the 
Enterprise Zone to enable significant 
private sector funding to be levered into 
the project. The first loan advance of 
£1million was advanced in March 2016 
with the second advance of £1.5 million 
made in March 2017. Both advances were 
made only when it was demonstrated that 
there was sufficient capital value in the 
assets against which the Council will hold 
a property charge to secure the debt. 
 
The Council has also entered into a 
Development Agreement for the 
promotion, development and ongoing 
management of its land holding at London 
Road South as part of the Enterprise zone 
initiative. 
 

The availability of reserves, 
government grants and other 
major funds to deal with major 
contingencies and the adequacy 
of provisions.  

The Council’s MTFS continues to stress 
the importance of using general reserves 
only for one-off items of expenditure, i.e. 
not to support on-going expenditure. In 
view of the changing funding arrangements 
and welfare benefits reforms by the 
Government, the MTFS assumes an on-
going minimum General Reserve balance 
of £2.5million and recommends that the 
Council operates at a level above this to 
allow flexibility. The General Reserve is 
projected to be at a level of nearly £5.4m 
at 31 March 2019.   
 
The Council also holds a redundancy 
reserve to help to meet any severance 
costs that may arise as a result of service 
changes or transformation. 
 

Financial standing and 
management 

 

The overall financial standing of 
the authority (level of borrowing, 
debt outstanding, Council Tax 
collection rates, etc). 

The Council’s level of general reserves is 
forecast to be above the revised minimum 
recommended level of £2.5m for 2019/20. 
 

The authority’s track record in The Council uses a three-year MTFS as a 

247



APPENDIX D 

Factor Response 

budget and financial 
management including the 
robustness of the medium term 
plans.  

useful tool for prudent financial planning 
and management. The 2019/20 -2021/22 
MTFS reported to Cabinet shows that the 
financial plans being proposed result in a 
sustainable three-year budget proposal 
subject to the budget gaps in years two 
and three of the plan being achieved.   
 
It is vital to recognise that fiscal challenges 
resulting from the UK’s international 
trading status as a result of the Brexit vote, 
as well as potential threats to business 
growth and sustainability, all pose a 
serious threat to future local authority 
funding levels.  
 
Meanwhile, the overall assessment of the 
Council’s financial management processes 
as reviewed by the External Auditors and 
reported in September 2018 by Ernst and 
Young LLP (being the Auditors at that 
time) is that the Council has put in place 
proper arrangements to secure value for 
money in its use of resources. 
 

The authority’s capacity to 
manage in-year budget 
pressures. 

The Council’s budget monitoring 
processes are effective and involve a 
monthly monitoring by the Senior 
Management Board. 
 
The monthly monitoring also focuses on 
key risk areas such as income targets. 
 
The latest 2018/19 quarterly General Fund 
revenue budget monitoring report, 
presented to Cabinet on 6 December 
forecast overall under-spending of 
£1,076,000 representing a -1.78% 
variation against the overall gross 
expenditure. The corresponding figure for 
preceding years were: 
2017/18 was -2.12%,  
2016/17 was -0.95%  
2015/16 was -0.55% and 
2014/15 was -0.52%.   
 
Such figures demonstrate an excellent 
track record to managing in-year budgets, 
especially in light of the unprecedented 

248



APPENDIX D 

Factor Response 

government austerity, the uncertain 
economic environment and funding 
reductions. 
 

The strength of the financial 
information and reporting 
arrangements. 

In addition to the budget monitoring 
process referred to above, the financial 
information and reporting processes are 
also underpinned by Budget Monitoring 
Guidelines, Financial Regulations and 
Contract Standing Orders. 
 
The Council’s annual accounts for 2017/18 
were unqualified by the Council’s auditors 
and the Auditor again recognised 
significant and on-going improvements 
being made to this aspect of the Council’s 
financial reporting regime. 
 
The external assessment of the Councils 
delivery under the Value for Money 
assessment was also unqualified by Ernst 
& Young and was one of the earliest 
reports issued at that time. 
 

The authority’s virement and 
end-of-year procedures in 
relation to budget 
under/overspends at authority 
and departmental level. 

The latest monthly budget monitoring 
reports forecast that the Council will 
adhere to the budgets it has set. 
 

The adequacy of the authority’s 
insurance arrangements to 
cover unforeseen risks. 

In order to reduce insurance costs in future 
years, a strategy is being developed to 
target inspections and a programme of 
works to reduce the Council’s exposure to 
risk. The Councils budget includes on-
going provision for this work to continue. A 
review of the Insurance fund by an 
independent actuary has indicated that the 
contributions and balance provide a good 
level of cover against potential claims 
exposure. The Council’s Insurer, Zurich, 
has also recognised the good work being 
undertaken to reduce the Council’s 
exposure to risk in recent years with major 
premiums being held at existing levels 
wherever possible.  
 

 
 
 

249



APPENDIX D 

Key Financial Risks 
 
In preparing the budget prudent assumptions have been made in respect of 
investment returns and likely income. However, there are a number of key 
financial risks which have not been eliminated and these are summarised 
below:- 
 
a) The costs associated with any future workforce reductions will be met from 

the Council’s own resources. In light of the uncertainties surrounding the 
Governments proposals to radically change the funding arrangements for 
local authorities with effect from 2020/21 the redundancy provisions 
contained within Earmarked reserves will be kept under review to ensure 
any future costs can be managed whilst minimising risk to the General 
Reserve.  

 
b) The Council’s income budgets remain an area difficult to predict and are 

subject to fluctuations linked to the performance of the wider economy. 
Whilst prudent assumptions have been made about income utilising 
current information and performance, the budgets will continue to be 
subject to on-going review throughout 2019/20 as part of normal budget 
monitoring processes. This work will ensure that income budgets are 
aligned to likely income achieved and to identify any underlying risks of 
non-achievement of the in-year and future budget plans. 

 
c) The change for the delivery of Housing/non-housing repairs and 

Environmental works to HTS (P&E) Ltd in February 2017 continues to be 
successful and the new company is operating well; the company’s start-up 
costs were transferred to the company in the form of a loan during 2017, 
as agreed by Cabinet. Loan repayments are being maintained on a 
monthly basis and do not currently present a risk to the Council.  
 

d) The major change in relation to Housing Self-Financing brings with it risk 
for the Council. The HRA became self-reliant from April 2012 and any 
significant variations to the Business Plan will have to be managed locally 
by the Council. To mitigate risk, including the costs of the major debt 
settlement undertaken in March 2012, the HRA minimum working balance 
was increased to £2.5 million to enable any volatility to be better managed 
in the future. Recommendations remain in place to maintain the working 
balance at £4.0 million to accommodate any possible requirements that 
may be placed on the Council as landlord once the full outcome of the 
Grenfell Enquiry has been made public. Further changes relating to the 
treatment of capital charges and the Government’s recent proposals 
regarding the extension of the RTB scheme to Housing Associations has 
been assessed as far as is possible at the current time and incorporated 
into the HRA Business Plan and budgets.  Provision of resources to 
undertake the identification and development of plans for new house-
building have also been factored into the Business Plan. 

 
e) The budget assumes that the general level of reserves at 31 March 2019 

will be nearly £5,400,000 before any impact of budget carry-forward 

250



APPENDIX D 

request from 2018/19 which will be reported in the normal way as part of 
the year-end reporting to Cabinet. 

 
f) Subject to future Government funding announcements the Council’s 

medium-term General Fund Revenue Budget forecast shows that there is 
currently a balanced budget proposal for the 2019/20 financial year with 
significantly lower budget gaps than in previous years forecast for 2020/21 
and 2021/22 subject to the outcome of the Government funding review 
and Spending Review 2019 due to be announced in the Autumn of 2019.  

 
Conclusion:  Although the Council has taken steps through the 2019/20 
budget-setting process to reduce its exposure to a number of significant risks, 
it still faces risks that could potentially adversely affect its financial position. 
Many of these risks may be manageable on their own. Indeed some of the 
‘risk’ factors above could have a positive effect on the Council, e.g. if locally 
generated income exceeds the amount budgeted. The Council has also 
improved its internal arrangements, e.g. in respect of responding to money 
market reforms by further tightening of investment security within its Treasury 
Management arrangements. It also has a good track record of managing its 
annual budgets.  
 
Against this assessment of risk it is recommended that the minimum working 
balance for the General Reserve during 2019/20 should remain at £2,500,000 
and that the Council should seek to operate above this level to provide 
flexibility during a period of financial uncertainty and pressure specifically in 
relation to future Government funding changes. This will ensure that the 
Council has adequate provision to meet unexpected events and financial 
demands should they arise. 

251



APPENDIX E

ANALYSIS OF FEES AND CHARGES 

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

Community Wellbeing

Leah Manning Centre Lettings

Weekdays (per hour) 32.00 0.00 32.00

Weekends (per hour) 53.00 0.00 53.00

Self-Referrals

Self-Referrals (per day) 52.00 0.00 52.00

Without transport (per day) 45.00 0.00 45.00

Contact Harlow Rail Passes at cost + £1 0.00 at cost + £1

Disabled WC Keys 2.50 0.00 2.50

Leisure card 0.00 0.00 0.00

Communications Harlow Times Advertising 

Inside Full Page

Full Rate 800.00 0.00 800.00

10% Discount 720.00 0.00 720.00

20% Discount 640.00 0.00 640.00

Half Page

Full Rate 400.00 0.00 400.00

10% Discount 360.00 0.00 360.00

20% Discount 320.00 0.00 320.00

Quarter Page

Full Rate 200.00 0.00 200.00

10% Discount 180.00 0.00 180.00

20% Discount 160.00 0.00 160.00

Eighth Page 

Full Rate 100.00 0.00 100.00

10% Discount 90.00 0.00 90.00

20% Discount 80.00 0.00 80.00

Pets Corner Sponsorship scheme

Individual sponsors

Package A 50.00 0.00 50.00

Package B 35.00 0.00 35.00

Package C 25.00 0.00 25.00

Corporate sponsorship

Corporate sponsorship A 250.00 0.00 250.00

Corporate sponsorship B 500.00 0.00 500.00

School visits

Harlow Schools (45 minutes) 2.10 2.38 2.15

Harlow Schools (1.5 hours) 4.20 2.38 4.30

Non Harlow Schools (45 mins) 3.10 3.23 3.20

Non Harlow Schools (1.5 hours) 5.20 2.88 5.35

Pre School Nurseries 26.00 3.85 27.00

Reindeer Hire

Harlow Schools 250.00 2.00 255.00

Non Harlow Schools 310.00 1.61 315.00

Sales of Animals various 0.00 various

Events 4.80 2.08 4.90

Birthday Parties

Price (per head) 7.60 0.66 7.65

Party bag (per head) 2.00 0.00 2.00

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 1990:

Disposing litter S87/88 80.00 0.00 80.00

Failure to produce waste documents 300.00 0.00 300.00

Section 55b (waste carriers license) 300.00 0.00 300.00

Section 23 (unauthorised distribution of literature) 80.00 0.00 80.00

Section 48 (waste receptacles) 60.00 0.00 60.00

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 1996:

Failing to remove dog faeces 50.00 0.00 50.00

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005:

Section 6 (nuisance parking) 100.00 0.00 100.00

Section 10 (abandoning a vehicle) 200.00 0.00 200.00

Section 28 (graffiti and fly posting) 80.00 0.00 80.00

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2014:

Section 43 (Breach of Community Protection) 100.00 0.00 100.00

Section 63 and 67 (Breach of Public Space Protection 

Order)

100.00 0.00 100.00

The Playhouse Box Office Booking and Exchange Fee 

Promotions (not Playhouse Supporters) 1.50 0.00 1.50

Hires (not Playhouse Supporters) 1.50 0.00 1.50

Postage Charge 

Postage charge to customers requesting that tickets are 

delivered to them

1.00 50.00 1.50

Workshop Space Rental

Various Various 0.00 Various

Theatre Hire Fees for Harlow based amateurs

Main Auditorium                                            

Performance Fees

2019/20

Community 

Enforcement Team

with effect from 01/04/2019

(all fees include VAT where applicable)

252



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Performance Fee (for 4.5 hour period) 775.00 3.23 800.00

Second Performance in a Day (for 4.5 hour period) 650.00 3.08 670.00

Additional Hourly Fees

Hourly theatre hire 145.00 3.45 150.00

Additional staff (per person per hour) 22.00 13.64 25.00

Blocking rehearsal (per hour) 105.00 4.76 110.00

Weekly Rates

Up to 37 hours over 6 days 5,360.00 3.73 5,560.00

Studio Theatre

Performance Fees 

Performance Fee (for 4.5 hour period) 310.00 32.26 410.00

Second performance call in a day (4.5 hours) 250.00 40.00 350.00

Additional Hourly Fees

Hourly theatre hire 93.00 0.00 93.00

Additional Staff per person, per hour 22.00 13.64 25.00

Use as Dressing Room 31.00 35.48 42.00

Theatre Hire Fees

Main Auditorium                                            

Performance Fees

Performance Fee (for 4.5 hour period) 1,240.00 4.03 1,290.00

Second Performance in a Day (for 4.5 hour period) 930.00 5.38 980.00

Additional Hourly Fees

Hourly theatre hire 210.00 19.05 250.00

Additional staff (per person per hour) 22.00 45.45 32.00

Blocking rehearsal (per hour) 145.00 6.90 155.00

Weekly Rates

Up to 37 hours over 6 days 7,650.00 3.27 7,900.00

Studio Theatre

Performance Fees 

Performance Fee (for 4.5 hour period) 500.00 20.00 600.00

Second performance call in a day (4.5 hours) 370.00 27.03 470.00

Additional Hourly Fees

Hourly theatre hire 105.00 0.00 105.00

Additional Staff per person, per hour 22.00 45.45 32.00

Use as Dressing Room 31.00 35.48 42.00

Equipment Hire

Sound

Standard (Day)

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Headset Mic 20.00 0.00 20.00

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Hand Held 20.00 0.00 20.00

AA Batteries (Box of 10) 3.50 0.00 3.50

Shure Beta 91A 8.00 0.00 8.00

Shure Beta 58 8.00 0.00 8.00

Shure Beta 57 8.00 0.00 8.00

Shure SM58 6.00 0.00 6.00

Audix D6 8.00 0.00 8.00

AKG C451 10.00 0.00 10.00

AKG C214 Stereo Pair 12.00 0.00 12.00

AKG C1000 8.00 0.00 8.00

Sennheiser E604 8.00 0.00 8.00

Sennheiser E906 8.00 0.00 8.00

KLARK Teknik DI Boxes 8.00 0.00 8.00

Yamaha Rio 16/8 30.00 0.00 30.00

Behringer P19 Package (8 Mixers) 60.00 0.00 60.00

Behringer P16 Package (5 Mixers) 45.00 0.00 45.00

Behringer P19 Package (1 Mixer) 10.00 0.00 10.00

Standard (Week)

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Headset Mic 60.00 0.00 60.00

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Hand Held 60.00 0.00 60.00

Shure Beta 91A 16.00 0.00 16.00

Shure Beta 58 16.00 0.00 16.00

Shure Beta 57 16.00 0.00 16.00

Shure SM58 12.00 0.00 12.00

Audix D6 16.00 0.00 16.00

AKG C451 20.00 0.00 20.00

AKG C214 Stereo Pair 24.00 0.00 24.00

AKG C1000 16.00 0.00 16.00

Sennheiser E604 16.00 0.00 16.00

Sennheiser E906 16.00 0.00 16.00

KLARK Teknik DI Boxes 16.00 0.00 16.00

Yamaha Rio 16/8 60.00 0.00 60.00

Behringer P19 Package (8 Mixers) 120.00 0.00 120.00

Behringer P16 Package (5 Mixers) 90.00 0.00 90.00

Behringer P19 Package (1 Mixer) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Enhanced (Day)

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Headset Mic 20.00 0.00 20.00

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Hand Held 20.00 0.00 20.00

AA Batteries (Box of 10) 3.50 0.00 3.50

Shure Beta 91A Included 0.00 Included

Shure Beta 58 Included 0.00 Included

Shure Beta 57 Included 0.00 Included

Shure SM58 Included 0.00 Included

253



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Audix D6 Included 0.00 Included

AKG C451 Included 0.00 Included

AKG C214 Stereo Pair Included 0.00 Included

AKG C1000 Included 0.00 Included

Sennheiser E604 Included 0.00 Included

Sennheiser E906 Included 0.00 Included

KLARK Teknik DI Boxes Included 0.00 Included

Yamaha Rio 16/8 30.00 0.00 30.00

Behringer P19 Package (8 Mixers) 60.00 0.00 60.00

Behringer P16 Package (5 Mixers) 45.00 0.00 45.00

Behringer P19 Package (1 Mixer) 10.00 0.00 10.00

Enhanced (Week)

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Headset Mic 60.00 0.00 60.00

Sennheiser ew 300 G3 Hand Held 60.00 0.00 60.00

Shure Beta 91A Included 0.00 Included

Shure Beta 58 Included 0.00 Included

Shure Beta 57 Included 0.00 Included

Shure SM58 Included 0.00 Included

Audix D6 Included 0.00 Included

AKG C451 Included 0.00 Included

AKG C214 Stereo Pair Included 0.00 Included

AKG C1000 Included 0.00 Included

Sennheiser E604 Included 0.00 Included

Sennheiser E906 Included 0.00 Included

KLARK Teknik DI Boxes Included 0.00 Included

Yamaha Rio 16/8 60.00 0.00 60.00

Behringer P19 Package (8 Mixers) 120.00 0.00 120.00

Behringer P16 Package (5 Mixers) 90.00 0.00 90.00

Behringer P19 Package (1 Mixer) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Lights

Standard (Day)

Strand Cantata F 1.2kw fresnel 8.50 0.00 8.50

Strand SL 15/32 profile / S4 Jnr zoom 25/50 8.50 0.00 8.50

PAR can PAR64 (62/61/60) 1kw 6.50 0.00 6.50

UV Cannons 11.00 0.00 11.00

UV Tubes 11.00 0.00 11.00

Showtec Suntrip Active MKII 6.00 0.00 6.00

Quartet Fresnel 650w 7.00 0.00 7.00

Quartet Profile 650w 7.00 0.00 7.00

Birdies (batten of 4) 10.00 0.00 10.00

Follow Spots (w/o operators) 5.00 / show 0.00 5.00 / show

Standard (Week)

Strand Cantata F 1.2kw fresnel 17.00 0.00 17.00

Strand SL 15/32 profile / S4 Jnr zoom 25/50 17.00 0.00 17.00

PAR can PAR64 (62/61/60) 1kw 13.00 0.00 13.00

UV Cannons 22.00 0.00 22.00

UV Tubes 22.00 0.00 22.00

Showtec Suntrip Active MKII 12.00 0.00 12.00

Quartet Fresnel 650w 14.00 0.00 14.00

Quartet Profile 650w 14.00 0.00 14.00

Birdies (batten of 4) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Follow Spots (w/o operators) 5.00 / show 0.00 5.00 / show

Enhanced (Day)

Strand Cantata F 1.2kw fresnel Included 0.00 Included

Strand SL 15/32 profile / S4 Jnr zoom 25/50 Included 0.00 Included

PAR can PAR64 (62/61/60) 1kw Included 0.00 Included

UV Cannons 11.00 0.00 11.00

UV Tubes 33.00 0.00 33.00

Showtec Suntrip Active MKII 6.00 0.00 6.00

Quartet Fresnel 650w Included 0.00 Included

Quartet Profile 650w Included 0.00 Included

Birdies (batten of 4) Included 0.00 Included

Follow Spots (w/o operators) Included 0.00 Included

Enhanced (Week)

Strand Cantata F 1.2kw fresnel Included 0.00 Included

Strand SL 15/32 profile / S4 Jnr zoom 25/50 Included 0.00 Included

PAR can PAR64 (62/61/60) 1kw Included 0.00 Included

UV Cannons 22.00 0.00 22.00

UV Tubes 44.00 0.00 44.00

Showtec Suntrip Active MKII 12.00 0.00 12.00

Quartet Fresnel 650w Included 0.00 Included

Quartet Profile 650w Included 0.00 Included

Birdies (batten of 4) Included 0.00 Included

Follow Spots (w/o operators) Included 0.00 Included

Intelligent Lighting

Standard (Day)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot (1500w) Each 0.00

(8 available)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot 1200 HPE (1200w) Each 

(2 x available)

75.00 0.00 75.00

Moving Light Package 0.00

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 4x Mac Auras)

250.00 250.00

75.0075.00

254



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Sidelight Package

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 6 x Sidelight Floor parcans)

250.00 0.00 250.00

Showtec LED PAR Can  (36x3w RGB) 7.50 0.00 7.50

Showtec LED Expressions / Mac Auras 15.00 0.00 15.00

Standard (Week)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot (1500w) Each 150.00 0.00 150.00

(8 available)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot 1200 HPE (1200w) Each 

(2 x available)
150.00

0.00
150.00

Moving Light Package 0.00

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 4x Mac Auras)
Sidelight Package

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 6 x Sidelight Floor parcans)

500.00
0.00

500.00

Showtec LED PAR Can  (36x3w RGB) 15.00 0.00 15.00

Showtec LED Expressions / Mac Auras 30.00 0.00 30.00

Enhanced (Day)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot (1500w) Each Included 0.00 Included

(8 available)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot 1200 HPE (1200w) Each 

(2 x available)

Included 0.00 Included

Moving Light Package Included 0.00 Included

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 4x Mac Auras)
Sidelight Package

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 6 x Sidelight Floor parcans)

Included 0.00 Included

Showtec LED PAR Can  (36x3w RGB) Included 0.00 Included

Showtec LED Expressions / Mac Auras Included 0.00 Included

Enhanced (Week)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot (1500w) Each Included 0.00 Included

(8 available)

Clay Paky Alpha Spot 1200 HPE (1200w) Each 

(2 x available)

Included 0.00 Included

Moving Light Package Included 0.00 Included

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 4x Mac Auras)
Sidelight Package

(6x Stage Alpha Spot 1500, 2x FOH Alpha Spot 

1500 HPE & 6 x Sidelight Floor parcans)

Included 0.00 Included

Showtec LED PAR Can  (36x3w RGB) Included 0.00 Included

Showtec LED Expressions / Mac Auras Included 0.00 Included

Special FX

Standard (Day)

Le Maitre 6ch desk 13.00 0.00 13.00

Pyros p.o.a 0.00 p.o.a

Mirror ball 11.00 0.00 11.00

Large smoke machine
1 11.00 0.00 11.00

Antari Ice low smoke machine
1 8.00 0.00 8.00

Bubble machine
1 8.00 0.00 8.00

Hazer
1 35.00 0.00 35.00

Star cloth 43.25 0.00 43.25

Mini Mist Portable Smoke Machine
1 25.00 0.00 25.00

1 
Subject to fair use

Standard (Week)

Le Maitre 6ch desk 26.00 0.00 26.00

Pyros p.o.a 0.00 p.o.a

Mirror ball 16.25 0.00 16.25

Large smoke machine
1 22.00 0.00 22.00

Antari Ice low smoke machine
1 16.00 0.00 16.00

Bubble machine
1 16.00 0.00 16.00

Hazer
1 70.00 0.00 70.00

Star cloth 86.50 0.00 86.50

Mini Mist Portable Smoke Machine
1 50.00 0.00 50.00

1 
Subject to fair use

Enhanced (Day)

Le Maitre 6ch desk 13.00 0.00 13.00

Pyros p.o.a 0.00 p.o.a

Mirror ball 21.50 0.00 21.50

Large smoke machine
1 11.00 0.00 11.00

Antari Ice low smoke machine
1 8.00 0.00 8.00

Bubble machine
1 8.00 0.00 8.00

Hazer
1 Included 0.00 Included

Star cloth Included 0.00 Included

Mini Mist Portable Smoke Machine
1 25.00 0.00 25.00

1 
Subject to fair use

Enhanced (Week)

Le Maitre 6ch desk 26.00 0.00 26.00

Pyros p.o.a 0.00 p.o.a

500.00 500.00

255



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Mirror ball 26.75 0.00 26.75

Large smoke machine
1 22.00 0.00 22.00

Antari Ice low smoke machine
1 16.00 0.00 16.00

Bubble machine
1 16.00 0.00 16.00

Hazer
1 Included 0.00 Included

Star cloth Included 0.00 Included

Mini Mist Portable Smoke Machine
1 50.00 0.00 50.00

1 
Subject to fair use

Tabs & Cloths

Standard (Day)

Black legs 20’ x 6’ 15.00 0.00 15.00

Black tabs 22’ x 22’ 32.50 0.00 32.50

Red tabs 32.50 0.00 32.50

White Cyc 50.00 0.00 50.00

Black Gauze 50.00 0.00 50.00

Navy Blue Gauze 50.00 0.00 50.00

Standard (Week)

Black legs 20’ x 6’ 30.00 0.00 30.00

Black tabs 22’ x 22’ 65.00 0.00 65.00

Red tabs 65.00 0.00 65.00

White Cyc 100.00 0.00 100.00

Black Gauze 100.00 0.00 100.00

Navy Blue Gauze 100.00 0.00 100.00

Enhanced (Day)

Black legs 20’ x 6’ 15.00 0.00 15.00

Black tabs 22’ x 22’ 97.50 0.00 97.50

Red tabs 32.50 0.00 32.50

White Cyc 1 Included 0.00 1 Included

Black Gauze 50.00 0.00 50.00

Navy Blue Gauze 50.00 0.00 50.00

Enhanced (Week)

Black legs 20’ x 6’ 30.00 0.00 30.00

Black tabs 22’ x 22’ 130.00 0.00 130.00

Red tabs 65.00 0.00 65.00

White Cyc 1 Included 0.00 1 Included

Black Gauze 100.00 0.00 100.00

Navy Blue Gauze 100.00 0.00 100.00

Scenic Cloths

Standard (Day)

Various POA 0.00 POA

Standard (Week)

Various POA 0.00 POA

Enhanced (Day)

Various POA 0.00 POA

Enhanced (Week)

Various POA 0.00 POA

Staging

Standard (Day)

Steeldeck 8’ x 4’ 7.50 0.00 7.50

Steeldeck 8’ x 2’ 5.50 0.00 5.50

Steeldeck 6' x 3' 5.50 0.00 5.50

Steeldeck 4’ x 4’ 5.50 0.00 5.50

Steeldeck Handrails 2.50 0.00 2.50

Steeldeck comes with  1’,2’ or 3’ Legs FOC 0.00 FOC

Dance floor 54.00 0.00 54.00

Cabaret Chair 1.00 0.00 1.00

1’ 2’ 3’ Treads 5.50 0.00 5.50

Standard (Week)

Steeldeck 8’ x 4’ 16.00 0.00 16.00

Steeldeck 8’ x 2’ 11.00 0.00 11.00

Steeldeck 6' x 3' 11.00 0.00 11.00

Steeldeck 4’ x 4’ 11.00 0.00 11.00

Steeldeck Handrails 4.00 0.00 4.00

Steeldeck comes with  1’,2’ or 3’ Legs FOC 0.00 FOC

Dance floor 108.00 0.00 108.00

Cabaret Chair 2.50 0.00 2.50

1’ 2’ 3’ Treads 11.00 0.00 11.00

Enhanced (Day)

Steeldeck 8’ x 4’ 10 Included 0.00 10 Included

Steeldeck 8’ x 2’ 2 Included 0.00 2 Included

Steeldeck 6' x 3' 5.50 0.00 5.50

Steeldeck 4’ x 4’ 2 Included 0.00 2 Included

Steeldeck Handrails 2.50 0.00 2.50

Steeldeck comes with  1’,2’ or 3’ Legs FOC 0.00 FOC

Dance floor 54.00 0.00 54.00

Cabaret Chair 1.00 0.00 1.00

1’ 2’ 3’ Treads One pair Included 0.00 One pair Included

Enhanced (Week)

Steeldeck 8’ x 4’ 10 Included 0.00 10 Included

Steeldeck 8’ x 2’ 2 Included 0.00 2 Included

Steeldeck 6' x 3' 11.00 0.00 11.00

Steeldeck 4’ x 4’ 2 Included 0.00 2 Included

256



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Steeldeck Handrails 4.00 0.00 4.00

Steeldeck comes with  1’,2’ or 3’ Legs FOC 0.00 FOC

Dance floor 108.00 0.00 108.00

Cabaret Chair 2.50 0.00 2.50

1’ 2’ 3’ Treads One pair Included 0.00 One pair Included

Musical Instruments

Standard (Day)

Yamaha G1 baby grand 75.00 0.00 75.00

Piano Tuning 75.00 0.00 75.00

Standard (Week)

Yamaha G1 baby grand 150.00 0.00 150.00

Piano Tuning 0.00 0.00 0.00

Enhanced (Day)

Yamaha G1 baby grand 75.00 0.00 75.00

Piano Tuning 75.00 0.00 75.00

Enhanced (Week)

Yamaha G1 baby grand 150.00 0.00 150.00

Piano Tuning 0.00 0.00 0.00

A.V.

Standard (Day)

Christie LX601i LCD Projector 6000 Lumens, XGA, 

1.5-3.0:1 Lens

175.00 0.00 175.00

Fast fold screen 9ft x 12ft (front and rear) 54.00 0.00 54.00

VGA cable 25 m 5.50 0.00 5.50

AV Package 0.00

(Christie Projector, MacBook Pro & Cabling)

Standard (Week)

Christie LX601i LCD Projector 6000 Lumens, XGA, 

1.5-3.0:1 Lens

350.00 0.00 350.00

Fast fold screen 9ft x 12ft (front and rear) 108.00 0.00 108.00

VGA cable 25 m 11.00 0.00 11.00

AV Package 0.00

(Christie Projector, MacBook Pro & Cabling)

Enhanced (Day)

Christie LX601i LCD Projector 6000 Lumens, XGA, 

1.5-3.0:1 Lens

200.00 0.00 200.00

Fast fold screen 9ft x 12ft (front and rear) 54.00 0.00 54.00

VGA cable 25 m 5.50 0.00 5.50

AV Package 0.00

(Christie Projector, MacBook Pro & Cabling)

Enhanced (Week)

Christie LX601i LCD Projector 6000 Lumens, XGA, 

1.5-3.0:1 Lens

400.00 0.00 400.00

Fast fold screen 9ft x 12ft (front and rear) 108.00 0.00 108.00

VGA cable 25 m 11.00 0.00 11.00

AV Package 0.00

(Christie Projector, MacBook Pro & Cabling)

Financial Services

Accountancy Statement of accounts 18.00 0.00 18.00

(post and packing) 2.60 0.00 2.60

Governance

Land Charges Form LLC1

official search in one part of register 5.00 2.00 5.10

official search in whole of register 20.00 2.00 20.40

and in addition in respect of each parcel of land above one 5.00 2.00 5.10

CON29R Standard Enquiries

one parcel of land 109.55 2.51 112.30

several parcels of land:

- first parcel 109.55 2.51 112.30

- each additional parcels 18.00 2.22 18.40

CON29R & LLC1 Together

one parcel of land 129.55 2.43 132.70

several parcels of land:

- first parcel 129.55 2.43 132.70

- each additional parcels 23.00 2.17 23.50

CON29O Optional Enquiries

each printed enquiry 14.40 2.08 14.70

Q22 Common Land Question 16.80 1.79 17.10

Additional Enquiries

Solicitors Own 21.80 0.92 22.00

Freedom of Information Freedom of Information

appropriate limit (18 hours) 450.00 0.00 450.00

Environmental Information Regulations

simple enquiries that require a basic answer 0.00 0.00 0.00

more complex enquiries and requires information to be 

specifically collated (per hour)

25.00 0.00 25.00

Housing

Homelessness Bed and Breakfast charges (per week) 129.23 0.00 see below

225.00 225.00

500.00500.00

450.00 450.00

250.00250.00

257



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Nightly lets

Room new charge 129.23

Studio / One bedroom property new charge 129.23

Two bedroom property new charge 145.39

Three + bedroom property new charge 185.89

Supporting People Housing Related Support Charges (weekly charges)

Dispersed Community Alarms 4.28 2.34 4.38

Harlow Community Support 7.12 2.39 7.29

Sheltered Housing Support 7.17 13.53 8.14

Extra Frail Support, Sumners Farm Close 1.87 2.14 1.91

Careline Alarms - non tenants (annual charge) 222.56 2.34 227.76

Place

Building Control Table A - New Dwellings

Dwelling houses and flats not exceeding 300m2 (total floor 

area)

Full Plans Submission

Houses or Bungalows less than 4 storeys

Plan Charge

1 Plot 231.49 0.00 231.49

2 Plots 273.57 0.00 273.57

3 Plots 315.67 0.00 315.67

4 Plots 357.77 0.00 357.77

5 Plots 399.85 0.00 399.85

Flats

1 210.45 0.00 210.45

2 231.49 0.00 231.49

3 294.62 0.00 294.62

4 294.62 0.00 294.62

5 336.72 0.00 336.72

Conversion to:-

Single dwelling house 231.49 0.00 231.49

Single Flat 210.45 0.00 210.45

Inspection Charge

1 Plot 462.98 0.00 462.98

2 Plots 820.73 0.00 820.73

3 Plots 1,010.14 0.00 1,010.14

4 Plots 1,287.92 0.00 1,287.92

5 Plots 1,599.38 0.00 1,599.38

Flats

1 294.62 0.00 294.62

2 631.34 0.00 631.34

3 808.21 0.00 808.21

4 1,060.65 0.00 1,060.65

5 1,431.03 0.00 1,431.03

Conversion to:-

Single dwelling house 336.72 0.00 336.72

Single Flat 294.62 0.00 294.62

Building Notice

Houses or Bungalows less than 4 storeys

1 Plot 785.28 0.00 785.28

2 Plots 1,343.48 0.00 1,343.48

3 Plots 1,638.95 0.00 1,638.95

4 Plots 2,072.29 0.00 2,072.29

5 Plots 2,558.17 0.00 2,558.17

Flats

1 522.75 0.00 522.75

2 1,048.02 0.00 1,048.02

3 1,323.79 0.00 1,323.79

4 1,717.74 0.00 1,717.74

5 2,295.54 0.00 2,295.54

Conversion to:-

Single dwelling house 588.41 0.00 588.41

Single Flat 522.75 0.00 522.75

Regularisation Charge

Houses or Bungalows less than 4 storeys

1 Plot 815.48 0.00 815.48

2 Plots 1,337.21 0.00 1,337.21

3 Plots 1,613.42 0.00 1,613.42

4 Plots 2,018.52 0.00 2,018.52

5 Plots 2,672.66 0.00 2,672.66

Flats

1 569.96 0.00 569.96

2 1,060.99 0.00 1,060.99

3 1,487.15 0.00 1,487.15

4 1,908.04 0.00 1,908.04

5 2,525.35 0.00 2,525.35

Conversion to:-

Single dwelling house 631.34 0.00 631.34

Single Flat 569.97 0.00 569.97

Notifiable Electrical Work (in addition to the above where 

applicable)
269.28

0.00
269.28

258



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Table B - Work To A Single Dwelling

Limited to work not more than 3 storeys above ground 

level

Full Plans Submissions

Extension & New Build

Plan checking charge

Single storey extension with floor area not exceeding 

40m2

214.66 0.00 214.66

Single storey extension with floor area exceeding 40m2 

but not exceeding 100m2

257.59 0.00 257.59

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area not exceeding 40m2

279.05 0.00 279.05

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area exceeding 40m2 but not exceeding 100m2

300.52 0.00 300.52

Erection of a non exempt domestic extension comprising 

of a garage, carport or store not exceeding 100m2

193.19 0.00 193.19

Erection of a non exempt detached non habitable 

domestic building with total floor area not exceeding 50m2

171.73 0.00 171.73

Conversions

First floor & second floor loft conversions 236.12 0.00 236.12

Other work 171.73 0.00 171.73

Alterations

Re Roofing, Installation of Solar Panels or Photovoltaic 

cells

107.32 0.00 107.32

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors

128.80 0.00 128.80

Cost of work not exceeding £5,000 150.26 0.00 150.26

Cost of work exceeding £5,000 & not exceeding £25,000 193.19 0.00 193.19

Cost of work exceeding £25,000 & not exceeding 

£100,000

300.52 0.00 300.52

Inspection Charge

Single storey extension with floor area not exceeding 

40m2

343.45 0.00 343.45

Single storey extension with floor area exceeding 40m2 

but not exceeding 100m2

386.39 0.00 386.39

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area not exceeding 40m2

429.32 0.00 429.32

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area exceeding 40m2 but not exceeding 100m2

472.25 0.00 472.25

Erection of a non exempt domestic extension comprising 

of a garage, carport or store not exceeding 100m2

257.59 0.00 257.59

Erection of a non exempt detached non habitable 

domestic building with total floor area not exceeding 50m2

214.66 0.00 214.66

Conversions

First floor & second floor loft conversions 343.45 0.00 343.45

Other work 257.59 0.00 257.59

Alterations

Re Roofing, Installation of Solar Panels or Photovoltaic 

cells

85.86 0.00 85.86

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors

128.80 0.00 128.80

Cost of work not exceeding £5,000 171.73 0.00 171.73

Cost of work exceeding £5,000 & not exceeding £25,000 300.52 0.00 300.52

Cost of work exceeding £25,000 & not exceeding 

£100,000

515.18 0.00 515.18

Building Notice Charges

Extension & New Build

Single storey extension with floor area not exceeding 

40m2

600.18 0.00 600.18

Single storey extension with floor area exceeding 40m2 

but not exceeding 100m2

667.15 0.00 667.15

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area not exceeding 40m2

734.12 0.00 734.12

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area exceeding 40m2 but not exceeding 100m2

801.10 0.00 801.10

Erection of a non exempt domestic extension comprising 

of a garage, carport or store not exceeding 100m2

466.23 0.00 466.23

Erection of a non exempt detached non habitable 

domestic building with total floor area not exceeding 50m2

399.26 0.00 399.26

Conversions

First floor & second floor loft conversions 600.18 0.00 600.18

Other work 466.23 0.00 466.23

Alterations

Re Roofing, Installation of Solar Panels or Photovoltaic 

cells

198.34 0.00 198.34

259



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors

265.31 0.00 265.31

Cost of work not exceeding £5,000 332.29 0.00 332.29

Cost of work exceeding £5,000 & not exceeding £25,000 533.21 0.00 533.21

Cost of work exceeding £25,000 & not exceeding 

£100,000

868.07 0.00 868.07

Regularisation Charges

Extension & New Build

Single storey extension with floor area not exceeding 

40m2

658.29 0.00 658.29

Single storey extension with floor area exceeding 40m2 

but not exceeding 100m2

706.58 0.00 706.58

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area not exceeding 40m2

769.19 0.00 769.19

Extension with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a 

total floor area exceeding 40m2 but not exceeding 100m2

831.80 0.00 831.80

Erection of a non exempt domestic extension comprising 

of a garage, carport or store not exceeding 100m2

518.75 0.00 518.75

Erection of a non exempt detached non habitable 

domestic building with total floor area not exceeding 50m2

456.14 0.00 456.14

Conversions

First floor & second floor loft conversions 643.98 0.00 643.98

Other work 518.75 0.00 518.75

Alterations

Re Roofing, Installation of Solar Panels or Photovoltaic 

cells

268.32 0.00 268.32

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors

330.93 0.00 330.93

Cost of work not exceeding £5,000 393.54 0.00 393.54

Cost of work exceeding £5,000 & not exceeding £25,000 581.36 0.00 581.36

Cost of work exceeding £25,000 & not exceeding 

£100,000

894.41 0.00 894.41

Notifiable Electrical Work (in addition to the above where 

applicable)

315.34 0.00 315.34

Table C - All Other Non Domestic Work

Limited to work not more than 3 storeys above ground level

Full Plans Submission

Extension & New Build

Plan checking charge

Single storey building with a floor area not exceeding 

40m2

257.58 0.00 257.58

Single storey building with a floor area exceeding 40m2 

but not exceeding 100m2

300.51 0.00 300.51

Building with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a total 

floor area not exceeding 40m2

321.98 0.00 321.98

Building with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a total 

floor area exceeding 40m2 but not exceeding 100m2

343.44 0.00 343.44

Alterations

Cost of work not exceeding £5,000 193.19 0.00 193.19

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors (not exceeding 20 units)

193.19 0.00 193.19

Renewable energy systems not exceeding £20,000 214.66 0.00 214.66

Installation of new shop front not exceeding £5,000 214.66 0.00 214.66

Cost of work exceeding £5,000 & not exceeding £25,000 236.12 0.00 236.12

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors (exceeding 20 units)

214.66 0.00 214.66

Installation of a raised storage platform not exceeding 

250m2 within an existing building

300.51 0.00 300.51

Cost of works exceeding £25,000 & not exceeding 

£100,000

343.44 0.00 343.44

Fit out building up to 100m2 364.92 0.00 364.92

Inspection charges

Extension & New Build

Single storey building with a floor area not exceeding 

40m2

343.44 0.00 343.44

Single storey building with a floor area exceeding 40m2 

but not exceeding 100m2

386.38 0.00 386.38

Building with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a total 

floor area not exceeding 40m2

429.31 0.00 429.31

Building with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a total 

floor area exceeding 40m2 but not exceeding 100m2

472.24 0.00 472.24

Alterations

Cost of work not exceeding £5,000 128.80 0.00 128.80

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors (not exceeding 20 units)

85.86 0.00 85.86

Renewable energy systems not exceeding £20,000 85.86 0.00 85.86

Installation of new shop front not exceeding £5,000 85.86 0.00 85.86

260



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Cost of work exceeding £5,000 & not exceeding £25,000 257.58 0.00 257.58

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors (exceeding 20 units)

171.73 0.00 171.73

Installation of a raised storage platform not exceeding 

250m2 within an existing building

171.73 0.00 171.73

Cost of works exceeding £25,000 & not exceeding 

£100,000

515.17 0.00 515.17

Fit out building up to 100m2 214.66 0.00 214.66

Regularisation Charge

Extension & New Build

Single storey building with a floor area not exceeding 

40m2

769.18 0.00 769.18

Single storey building with a floor area exceeding 40m2 

but not exceeding 100m2

867.56 0.00 867.56

Building with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a total 

floor area not exceeding 40m2

948.06 0.00 948.06

Building with some part 2 or 3 storeys in height and a total 

floor area exceeding 40m2 but not exceeding 100m2

1,028.55 0.00 1,028.55

Alterations

Cost of work not exceeding £5,000 402.48 0.00 402.48

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors (not exceeding 20 units)

339.87 0.00 339.87

Renewable energy systems not exceeding £20,000 357.75 0.00 357.75

Installation of new shop front not exceeding £5,000 357.75 0.00 357.75

Cost of work exceeding £5,000 & not exceeding £25,000 626.08 0.00 626.08

Replacement of windows, roof lights, roof windows or 

external glazed doors (exceeding 20 units)

500.86 0.00 500.86

Installation of a raised storage platform not exceeding 

250m2 within an existing building

554.52 0.00 554.52

Cost of works exceeding £25,000 & not exceeding 

£100,000

1,091.16 0.00 1,091.16

Fit out building up to 100m2 670.79 0.00 670.79

Works not included in Tables A, B and C. Charged 

derived from hourly rate

79.23 0.00 79.23

Dropped Crossing Application Fee 100.00 0.00 100.00

Copy decision notices, etc 0.10 0.00 0.10

Covenant application for a new dwelling 150.00 0.00 150.00

Covenant Control application for window replacement, 

minor alterations, sheds and trees

60.00 0.00 60.00

Covenant Control application for extensions (including 

front porch)

123.00 0.00 123.00

Retrospective decision for window replacement, minor 

alterations, sheds and trees

92.00 0.00 92.00

Retrospective decision for extensions (including front 

porches)

185.00 0.00 185.00

Copy of the covenant plans 18.00 0.00 18.00

Planning Forward Planning Documents

Adopted Replacement Harlow Local Plan 2006 - Written 

Statement and proposals Map

37.00 0.00 37.00

Adopted Replacement Harlow Local Plan 2006 - Written 

Statement and proposals Map CD-ROM

0.00 0.00 0.00

Adopted Replacement Harlow Local Plan 2006 - Written 

Statement Only

22.00 0.00 22.00

Adopted Replacement Harlow Local Plan 2006 - Proposals Map Only 15.50 0.00 15.50

Core Strategy Issues and Options Consultation Document 24.00 0.00 24.00

Core Strategy Issues and Options Consultation Document CD-ROM 0.00 0.00 0.00

Core Strategy Issues and Options Sustainability Appraisal 

incorporating SEA Directive

49.00 0.00 49.00

Core Strategy Issues and Options Consultation Summary 

Report

48.00 0.00 48.00

Emerging Strategy Consultation Document 24.00 0.00 24.00

Emerging Strategy Sustainability Appraisal 24.00 0.00 24.00

Emerging Strategy Consultation Summary Report 24.00 0.00 24.00

Open Spaces, Sport and Recreation SPD 5.15 0.00 5.15

Affordable Housing SPD 5.15 0.00 5.15

Harlow Design Guide SPD 47.00 0.00 47.00

Statement of Community Involvement Review  2014 6.00 0.00 6.00

Annual Monitoring Report 0.00 0.00 0.00

Great Crested Newt Study Report 2007 14.50 0.00 14.50

Green Infrastructure Plan for the Harlow Area 2005 23.50 0.00 23.50

Harlow Area Landscape and Environment Study 2005 107.00 0.00 107.00

Stort Valley Feasibility Study 2007 21.00 0.00 21.00

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2011 18.00 0.00 18.00

Local Wildlife Site Review 2011 13.50 0.00 13.50

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment Update  

2017 

Essex Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

(ORS 2014)

40.00 0.00 40.00

261



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Essex Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

(Fordham Research 2009)

56.00 0.00 56.00

Essex Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

(EPOA 2006)

5.50 0.00 5.50

Harlow Area Study - Masterplanning Principles and 

Sustainability Criteria 2005

32.00 0.00 32.00

London Commuter Belt (East) / M11 Sub-region Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment 2010

73.00 0.00 73.00

London Commuter Belt Sub-region Strategic Housing 

Market Analysis: Viability Assessment 2010

100.00 0.00 100.00

Harlow Urban Capacity Study 2006 21.00 0.00 21.00

Harlow Area Investment and Renewal Framework 37.50 0.00 37.50

Harlow Economic and Labour Market Statistics 12.00 0.00 12.00

Harlow Regeneration and Social Inclusion Strategy 2010-

2015

8.00 0.00 8.00

Retail Study and Town Centre Health Check 2007 37.50 0.00 37.50

Retail Study Update 2010 24.00 0.00 24.00

Retail Study Addendum 2011 10.00 0.00 10.00

Generating and Appraising Spatial Options for the Harlow 

Area 2010

47.00 0.00 47.00

Harlow Infrastructure Study - Stage 1 Report 2008 30.50 0.00 30.50

Harlow Infrastructure Study Stage 2 - Final Report 2009 36.00 0.00 36.00

Harlow Transportation Study 2005 21.00 0.00 21.00

Rye Meads Water Cycle Strategy 2009 47.00 0.00 47.00

Harlow Play and youth Activity Strategy 2009 13.30 0.00 13.30

Harlow Playing Pitch Strategy 2009 26.00 0.00 26.00

Harlow Playing Pitch Strategy - Assessment Report 2009 26.00 0.00 26.00

Harlow Indoor Sports Hall Facilities 2012 15.00 0.00 15.00

Harlow Swimming Pool Facilities 2011 15.00 0.00 15.00

Harlow Playing Fields Assessment 2015 40.00 0.00 40.00

Harlow Employment Land Review 2013 24.50 0.00 24.50

Harlow Future Prospects Study 2013 48.00 0.00 48.00

Harlow Spatial Options Study 2014 24.00 0.00 24.00

Green Belt Review Stages 1 & 2 2015 (available mid-

2015/2016)

24.00 0.00 24.00

Green Wedge Review 2014 40.00 0.00 40.00

Harlow Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure Study 2013 80.00 0.00 80.00

Greater Essex Demographics Forecasts Phase 1 & 2 32.50 0.00 32.50

Greater Essex Demographics Forecasts Phase 3 32.50 0.00 32.50

Greater Essex Demographics Forecasts 4 2013 32.50 0.00 32.50

Greater Essex Demographics Forecasts Phase 5 32.50 0.00 32.50

Greater Essex Demographics Forecasts Phase 6 32.50 0.00 32.50

Greater Essex Demographics Forecasts Phase 7 32.50 0.00 32.50

LCB Sub-region Strategic Housing Market Analysis 

Update 2013

10.00 0.00 10.00

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2014 20.00 0.00 20.00

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2015 20.00 0.00 20.00

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017 20.00 0.00 20.00

   Affordable housing  update 2017 10.00 0.00 10.00

Old Harlow Conservation Area Appraisal and 

Management Plan 

31.00 0.00 31.00

Old Harlow Garden Village Conservation Area Appraisal 

and Management Plan 

21.00 0.00 21.00

London Road North Master Plan 40.00 0.00 40.00

London Road North Design Code 27.00 0.00 27.00

London Road North Order and Schedule 18.00 0.00 18.00

London Road North Statement of Reasons 15.00 0.00 15.00

London Road South Design Code part 1 12.00 0.00 12.00

London Road South Design Code part 2 8.00 0.00 8.00

London Road South Order and Schedule 15.00 0.00 15.00

London Road South Statement of Reasons 14.00 0.00 14.00

Templefields North East Design Code 12.00 0.00 12.00

Templefields North East Order and Schedule 12.00 0.00 12.00

Templefields North East Statement of Reasons 6.00 0.00 6.00

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2016 44.00 0.00 44.00

Harlow Surface Water Management Plan 2013 60.00 0.00 60.00

Retail Frontages Study 2018     24.00 0.00 24.00

Sports Facilities Study 2017      130.00 0.00 130.00

Harlow Strategic Site Assessment 2016             82.00 0.00 82.00

Harlow Local Development Plan Pre-Submission 

Publication May 2018           62.00

0.00

62.00

Pre-Submission Policies Map    30.00 0.00 30.00

Pre-Submission Sustainability Appraisal           40.00 0.00 40.00

Pre-Submission Habitats Regulation Assessment         26.00 0.00 26.00

Development Management Documents

Decision notices (cost per sheet) 0.10 0.00 0.10

Coloured copy A4 0.50 0.00 0.50

A3 0.20 0.00 0.20

A3 colour 1.00 0.00 1.00

A2 1.00 0.00 1.00

A2 colour 2.00 0.00 2.00

A1 1.50 0.00 1.50

262



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

A1 colour 4.00 0.00 4.00

A0 2.00 0.00 2.00

AO colour 8.00 0.00 8.00

Miscellaneous Development Management Work

Planning History Search (per hour) 51.60 0.00 51.60

Development Management Planning Fees

1) The erection of dwellinghouses (other than development 

within category 6)

a) where the application is for outline planning permission

- not exceeding 2.5 hectares (for each 0.1 hectare) 462.00 0.00 462.00

- exceeding 2.5 hectares 11,432.00 0.00 11,432.00

- + for each 0.1 hectare in excess of 2.5 hectares to 

maximum total £125,000

138.00 0.00 138.00

b) in other cases

-  50 or fewer dwellinghouses for each house 462.00 0.00 462.00

- in excess of 50 dwellings and £100 for each house to 

max of £250,000

22,859.00 0.00 22,859.00

- + for each dwelling to max of £250,000 138.00 0.00 138.00

2) The erection of buildings (other than buildings in categories 

1,3,4,5 or 7)

a) where the application is for outline planning permission

- not exceeding 2.5 hectares (for each 0.1 hectare) 462.00 0.00 462.00

- exceeding 2.5 hectares 11,432.00 0.00 11,432.00

- + for each 0.1 hectare in excess of 2.5 hectares to 

maximum £125,000

138.00 0.00 138.00

b) in other cases

- where no floor space is created 234.00 0.00 234.00

- where the area of gross floor space does not exceed 

40sqm

234.00 0.00 234.00

- where the area of gross floor space exceeds 40sqm but 

not 75sqm

462.00 0.00 462.00

- where the area of gross floor space exceeds 75sqm but 

not 3750sqm for each 75 sqm

462.00 0.00 462.00

- where the area of gross floor space exceeds 3750sqm 22,859.00 0.00 22,859.00

- + for each 75sqm to maximum £250,000 138.00 0.00 138.00

3) The erection of land used for the purposes of agriculture 

(other than buildings within category 4)

a) where the application is for outline planning permission

- not exceeding 2.5 hectares (for each 0.1 hectare) 462.00 0.00 462.00

- exceeding 2.5 hectares 11,432.00 0.00 11,432.00

- + for each 0.1 hectare in excess of 2.5 hectares to 

maximum £125,000

138.00 0.00 138.00

b) in other cases

- where the area of gross floor space does not exceed 

465sqm

96.00 0.00 96.00

- where the area of gross floor space exceeds 465sqm but 

not 540sqm

462.00 0.00 462.00

- where the area of gross floor space exceeds 540sqm but 

not 4215sqm

462.00 0.00 462.00

- + for each 75sqm 462.00 0.00 462.00

- where the area of gross floor space exceeds 4215sqm 22,859.00 0.00 22,859.00

- + for each 75sqm to maximum £250,000 138.00 0.00 138.00

4) The erection of glasshouses on land used for the purposes 

of agriculture

- where the area of gross floor space does not exceed 

465sqm

96.00 0.00 96.00

- where the area of gross floor space exceeds 465sqm 2,580.00 0.00 2,580.00

5) The erection, alteration or replacement of plant or 

machinery

- not exceeding 5 hectares (for each 0.1 hectare) 462.00 0.00 462.00

- exceeding 5 hectares 22,859.00 0.00 22,859.00

- + for each 0.1 hectare in excess of 5 hectares to 

maximum £250,000

138.00 0.00 138.00

6) The enlargement, improvement of other alteration of 

existing dwellinghouses

- 1 dwellinghouse 206.00 0.00 206.00

- 2 or more 407.00 0.00 407.00

7) the carrying out of operations within the curtilage of an 

existing dwellinghouse

the carrying out of operations within the curtilage of an 

existing dwellinghouse

206.00 0.00 206.00

or

- the construction of car parks, service roads etc 234.00 0.00 234.00

8) The carrying out of any operations connected with 

exploratory drilling

- not exceeding 7.5 hectares (for each 0.1 hectare) 508.00 0.00 508.00

- exceeding 7.5 hectares 38,070.00 0.00 38,070.00

- + for each 0.1 hectare in excess of 7.5 hectares to 

maximum £250,000

151.00 0.00 151.00

9) The carrying out of any operations not coming within any of 

the above

- not exceeding 15 hectares (for each 0.1 hectare) 257.00 0.00 257.00

- exceeding 15 hectares 38,520.00 0.00 38,520.00

- + for each 0.1 hectare in excess of 15 hectares to a 

maximum of £65,000

151.00 0.00 151.00

263



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

- in any other case (for each 0.1 hectare) to maximum of 

£1,690

234.00 0.00 234.00

10) The change of use of a building to use as one or more 

separate dwellinghouses

- where the change of use is to use 50 or fewer 

dwellinghouses 

462.00 0.00 462.00

- where the change of use is to use more than 50 

dwellinghouses 

22,859.00 0.00 22,859.00

- + for each additional dwellinghouse to maximum 

£250,000

138.00 0.00 138.00

11) The use of land for the disposal of refuse or waste

- not exceeding 15 hectares (for each 0.1 hectare) 234.00 0.00 234.00

- exceeding 15 hectares 34,934.00 0.00 34,934.00

- + for each 0.1 hectare in excess of 15 hectares to 

maximum £250,000

138.00 0.00 138.00

12) The making of a material change in the use of a 

building or land

462.00 0.00 462.00

Development Management Advertisement Application 

Fees

Advertisements displayed on business premises, etc 132.00 0.00 132.00

Advertisements for the purpose of directing members of 

the public, etc

132.00 0.00 132.00

Other advertisements 462.00 0.00 462.00

Pre-Application Charges 

   Per hour 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other 

High Hedges 400.00 0.00 400.00

Condition Discharge - householder development 34.00 0.00 34.00

Condition Discharge - All other development 116.00 0.00 116.00

Non-Material Change - householder 34.00 0.00 34.00

Non-material Change - all other 234.00 0.00 234.00

Prior Approvals 96.00 0.00 96.00

Prior Approvals 206.00 0.00 206.00

Prior Approvals 462.00 0.00 462.00

Application for approval of reserved matters Full fee or if full feed paid 

462.00

0.00 Full fee or if full feed paid 

462.00

Approval/Variation of condition following planning 

permission

234.00 0.00 234.00

Confirmation of compliance with conditions - householder 34.00 0.00 34.00

Confirmation of compliance with conditions - other 116.00 0.00 116.00

Lawful Development Certificates

Existing use or operation same as full 0.00 same as full

Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any 

condition or limitation

234.00 0.00 234.00

Proposed use or operation Half normal fee 0.00 Half normal fee

Car Parks Post Office Road

0-2 hours 1.25 0.00 1.25

2-3 hours 1.75 0.00 1.75

3-4 hours 2.75 0.00 2.75

more than 4 hours 7.75 0.00 7.75

Wych Elm

0-2 hours 1.65 0.00 1.65

2-3 hours 1.95 0.00 1.95

3-4 hours 3.15 0.00 3.15

more than 4 hours 7.75 0.00 7.75

Post Office Road Commercial

0-2 hours 1.25 0.00 1.25

2-3 hours 1.75 0.00 1.75

3-4 hours 2.75 0.00 2.75

more than 4 hours 7.75 0.00 7.75

Bush Fair, The Stow and Old Harlow Car Parks

0-1 hour 0.00 0.00 0.00

1-2 hours 0.85 0.00 0.85

2-3 hours 1.75 0.00 1.75

3-4 hours 3.60 0.00 3.60

more than 4 hours 6.55 0.00 6.55

Weekends 0.00 0.00 0.00

Town Park

0-1 hour 0.00 0.00 0.00

1- 5 hours 1.10 0.00 1.10

5+ Hours 6.20 0.00 6.20

Sat - Sunday 0-2 hours 0.00 0.00 0.00

more than 2 hours 1.25 0.00 1.25

Staff Car Parking Car parking permit per year 250.00 0.00 250.00

Individual vouchers (Members) 1.20 0.00 1.20

Parking Permits Special Permits

Care/Health 30.00 0.00 30.00

Business 60.00 0.00 60.00

Disabled 1st permit 0.00 0.00 0.00

Tye Green Bowls Club 60.00 0.00 60.00

264



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Market Traders

5 trading days per week 275.00 0.00 275.00

4 trading days per week 220.00 0.00 220.00

3 trading days per week 165.00 0.00 165.00

2 trading days per week 110.00 0.00 110.00

1 trading day per week 55.00 0.00 55.00
Post Office Road season 

1 year 640.00 0.00 640.00

6 months 350.00 0.00 350.00

3 months 175.00 0.00 175.00
Harlow Mill Station season 

1 year 500.00 0.00 500.00

3 months 130.00 0.00 130.00
Wych Elm season

1 year 640.00 0.00 640.00

6 months 350.00 0.00 350.00

3 months 175.00 0.00 175.00
Commercial vehicle permit for residential zones 250.00 0.00 250.00

Bus Station Departure fees 0.55 0.00 0.55

Timetables 0.10 0.00 0.10

Wallets 1.00 0.00 1.00

Maps Various 0.00 Various

Latton Bush Centre Commercial

Meeting Room

Session 80.00 0.00 80.00

Day 135.00 0.00 135.00

Evening and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Griffin Suite

Session 155.00 0.00 155.00

Day 265.00 0.00 265.00

Evening and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 30.00 0.00 30.00

Dining Hall

Session 135.00 0.00 135.00

Day 220.00 0.00 220.00

Evening and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Latton Hall

Session 225.00 0.00 225.00

Day 395.00 0.00 395.00

Evening and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 30.00 0.00 30.00

Studio 2

Per hour 15.00 0.00 15.00

Harlow Registered Charities only

Meeting Room

Session 40.00 0.00 40.00

Day 70.00 0.00 70.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Griffin Suite

Session 75.00 0.00 75.00

Day 110.00 0.00 110.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 30.00 0.00 30.00

Dining Hall

Session 75.00 0.00 75.00

Day 110.00 0.00 110.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Latton Hall

Session 140.00 0.00 140.00

Day 200.00 0.00 200.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 30.00 0.00 30.00

Studio 2

Per hour 15.00 0.00 15.00

LBC Tenants

Meeting Room

Session 58.00 0.00 58.00

Day 100.00 0.00 100.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Griffin Suite

Session 115.00 0.00 115.00

Day 197.00 0.00 197.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 30.00 0.00 30.00

Dining Hall

Session 98.00 0.00 98.00

Day 165.00 0.00 165.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 20.00 0.00 20.00

Latton Hall

Session 166.00 0.00 166.00

Day 293.00 0.00 293.00

Evenings and weekends only (per hour, max 2 hours) 30.00 0.00 30.00

All rooms booked on day only by Tenants per hour 15.00 0.00 15.00

Private Functions (Childrens Parties/Wakes/Churches)

265



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Weekends only per 4 hour session

Latton Hall Session (am or pm) 140.00 0.00 140.00

Dinning Hall Session (am or pm) 75.00 0.00 75.00

Latton Hall Full Day 200.00 0.00 200.00

Dining Hall Full Day 110.00 0.00 110.00

Equipment Hire

Flipchart Stand 0.00 0.00 0.00

Flipchart Pad & Pens 5.00 0.00 5.00

OHP 0.00 0.00 0.00

PowerPoint Projector 0.00 0.00 0.00

DVD Video & Screen 0.00 0.00 0.00

PA System per Mic 0.00 0.00 0.00

Free Standing Projector Screen 0.00 0.00 0.00

Laptop Computer 0.00 0.00 0.00

Wireless Internet Access 0.00 0.00 0.00

Street Naming and 

Numbering
Add Alias Name to Numbered Property 40.00 per property 0.00 40.00 per property

Naming of Building, Flat Block or Industrial Area 110.00 per block or area 0.00 110.00 per block or area

New Development of 1-5 plots 70.00 per plot 0.00 70.00 per plot

New Development of 6-50 plots 10.00 per plot + 300.00 0.00 10.00 per plot + 300.00

New Development of 51+ plots 5.00 per plot + 550.00 0.00 5.00 per plot + 550.00

The schedule has been issued 50.00/plot 0.00 50.00/plot

Renaming of existing property 100.00 per property 0.00 100.00 per property

Confirmation of postal address for solicitors or 

conveyancers
40.00 0.00 40.00

Confirmation of postal address for residents/occupants
15.00 0.00 15.00

Provision of new street name 300.00 0.00 300.00

Renaming of a street where requested by residents 450.00 0.00 450.00

Property & Facilities TeamSkips 50.00 0.00 50.00

Hoardings 50.00 0.00 50.00

Scaffolding 50.00 0.00 50.00

Access inc Town Centre 52.00 0.00 52.00

Domestic Refuse Sales of Bins

180l Wheelie Bins 43.50 2.30 44.50

Delivery at cost 0.00 at cost

Flat Block Refuse Bins Charge to Developers

1100 litre Bin 470.00 3.19 485.00

960 litre Bin 470.00 3.19 485.00

240 litre bin 41.50 2.41 42.50

   Delivery at cost 0.00 at cost

House Refuse Waste Bins Charge to Developers

180l Wheelie Bins 43.50 2.30 44.50

Delivery at cost 0.00 at cost

Special Refuse Bulky Waste

1 to 5 items 25.00 2.00 25.50

6 to 8 items 37.50 2.40 38.40

Recycling Sales of Bins

240l Wheelie Bins 41.50 2.41 42.50

Kitchen Caddies large 17.10 2.34 17.50

Kitchen Caddies small 5.00 2.00 5.10

Delivery at cost 0.00 at cost

Flat block Recycling Bins - Charges to Developers

1100 litre bin 470.00 3.19 485.00

240 litre bin 41.50 2.41 42.50

140 litre food waste bin 72.50 2.07 74.00

Sales of Kitchen Caddies 5.00 2.00 5.10

Delivery at cost 0.00 at cost

House Recycling Waste Bins Charge to Developers

240 litre bin 41.50 2.41 42.50

Kitchen Caddies large 17.10 2.34 17.50

Kitchen Caddies small 5.00 2.00 5.10

Green Waste

premium fortnightly collection (wheeled bin) 96.00 0.00 96.00

bookable service (per bag) 0.95 0.00 0.95

Christmas Trees 2.10 0.00 2.10

Abandoned Vehicles Costs Recoverable 31.00 3.23 32.00

Voluntary Surrender of Vehicles 31.00 3.23 32.00

Street Scene Abandoned Shopping Trolleys 104.00 1.92 106.00

Allotments Rents - per square metre 0.18 0.00 0.18

Concessions - per square metre 0.09 0.00 0.09

Peppercorn rent for self managed sites 0.50 0.00 0.50

Nature Reserve Sale of firewood

Bulk bag 1-10 bags, charge per bag 60.00 0.00 60.00

266



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Bulk bag 11+ bags, charge per bag 50.00 0.00 50.00

Hackney Carriages & HC & PH Drivers Licence

Private Hire New Driver (annual) 234.00 2.56 240.00

New  driver (3 year) 396.00 2.27 405.00

Renewal (annual) 121.00 2.48 124.00

Renewal (3 year) 287.00 2.79 295.00

Licence issued for less than 1 year 65.00 + 5.00/ full month 0.00 67.00 + 5.00/full month

HC Vehicle Licence

New Vehicle 290.00 2.76 298.00

Renewal 290.00 2.76 298.00

Rebate on surrender per month -18.00 0.00 -18.00

PH Vehicle Licence

New Vehicle 290.00 2.76 298.00

Renewal 290.00 2.76 298.00

Rebate on surrender per month -18.00 0.00 -18.00

Transfer of Vehicle Licence 0.00 0.00 0.00

Replacement Items

- badge 0.00 0.00 0.00

- plate 0.00 0.00 0.00

- platemate 0.00 0.00 0.00

Annual Private Hire Operator Licence

operators licence new charge 297.00

1 to 2 Vehicles 238.00 0.00 see above

3 to 5 Vehicles 435.00 0.00 see above

6 to 10 Vehicles 750.00 0.00 see above

11 to 15 Vehicles 1,141.00 0.00 see above

16 and above 1,690.00 0.00 see above

Five Year Private Hire Operator Licence

operators licence new charge 710.00

1 to 2 Vehicles 710.00 0.00 see above

3 to 5 Vehicles 1,690.00 0.00 see above

6 to 10 Vehicles 3,260.00 0.00 see above

11 to 15 Vehicles 5,225.00 0.00 see above

16 and above 7,972.00 0.00 see above

Knowledge Test

Knowledge test 52.00 1.92 53.00

Retest full 52.00 1.92 53.00

Retest partial 20.00 5.00 21.00

Other Fees

DBS first driver check 44.00 0.00 44.00

DBS each subsequent check 64.00 0.00 64.00

Officer Hourly rate new charge 50.00

Environmental Health Animal Welfare Fees

Animal Boarding

1 to 6 boarded animals (application fee) 126.00 0.00 126.00

1 to 6 boarded animals (grant fee) 73.00 0.00 73.00

7 and over boarded animals (application fee) 176.00 0.00 176.00

7 and over boarded animals (grant fee) 98.00 0.00 98.00

Dog Breeding

1 to 6 bitches (application fee) 126.00 0.00 126.00

1 to 6 bitches (grant fee) 73.00 0.00 73.00

7 and over bitches (application fee) 176.00 0.00 176.00

7 and over bitches (grant fee) 98.00 0.00 98.00

Selling animals as pets

Application Fee 176.00 0.00 176.00

Grant Fee 98.00 0.00 98.00

Hiring our horses

Application Fee 176.00 0.00 176.00

Grant Fee 98.00 0.00 98.00

Keeping animals for exhibition

Application Fee 126.00 0.00 126.00

Grant Fee 98.00 0.00 98.00

Variation to licence

Animal boarding 85.00 0.00 85.00

Selling animals as pets 85.00 0.00 85.00

Keeping animals for exhibition 85.00 0.00 85.00

Inspection fee 100.00 0.00 100.00

Variation of licence

Dog Breeding 85.00 0.00 85.00

Hiring our horses 85.00 0.00 85.00

Inspection fee 100.00 0.00 100.00

Appeal of a risk rating score 125.00 0.00 125.00

Variations to reduce the licensable activities or 

numbers of animals

85.00 0.00 85.00

Transfer of licence 85.00 0.00 85.00

Dangerous wild animal licence (+ vets fees) 150.00 2.67 154.00

Special treatment registration 116.00 3.45 120.00

Wasp nest treatment (one treatment) 50.00 0.00 50.00

Wasp nest treatment (two treatments) 60.00 0.00 60.00

Fleas 50.00 0.00 50.00

267



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Rats 50.00 0.00 50.00

Mice 50.00 0.00 50.00

Pest Control concessionary rate (wasps/fleas/rats/mice) 11.50 0.00 11.50

Stray dogs

stray dogs 25.00 0.00 25.00

admin charge 25.00 0.00 25.00

kennelling charges at cost 0.00 at cost

Zoo License (not including veterinary fee) 620.00 2.42 635.00

Veterinary Fees at cost 0.00 at cost

Contaminated land enquiry 170.00 2.94 175.00

Admin Charge - Hourly rate new charge 26.00

HMO Licence Variation 0.00 0.00 0.00

Large HMO Additional Licensing Scheme 

  application full fee 540.00 3.70 560.00

  application reduced fee 435.00 2.30 445.00

  annual renewal full fee 204.00 2.94 210.00

  annual renewal reduced fee 172.00 2.33 176.00

  re-inspection full fee 165.00 3.03 170.00

  re-inspection reduced fee 158.00 1.27 160.00

Smaller HMO - Additional Licensing Scheme

  application full fee 427.00 3.04 440.00

  application reduced fee 328.00 3.05 338.00

  annual renewal full fee 175.00 2.86 180.00

  annual renewal reduced fee 152.00 1.97 155.00

  re-inspection full fee 110.00 2.73 113.00

  re-inspection reduced fee 106.00 2.83 109.00

Additional charges small and large HMOs - Additional 

Licensing Scheme

officer Hourly rate new charge 50.00

  application form incomplete 28.00 3.57 29.00

  avoided licence application until found by Council 218.00 2.75 224.00
  avoided licence application reminder letter 45.00 2.22 46.00

  missed appointment house inspection 110.00 2.73 113.00

   licence holder change once granted 118.00 2.54 121.00

  sending a final reminder 28.00 3.57 29.00

  recommencing licensing process following final reminder 45.00 2.22 46.00

  recovery fee - dishonoured cheque 33.00 3.03 34.00

LAPPC charges

  Application fee

    Standard process (includes solvent emission activities) 1,650.00 0.00 1,650.00

    Additional fee for operating without a permit 1,188.00 0.00 1,188.00

    PVRI,SWOBs and Dry Cleaners 155.00 0.00 155.00

    PVR l & ll combined 257.00 0.00 257.00

    VRs and other Reduced Fee Activities 362.00 0.00 362.00

    Reduced fee activities: Additional fee for operating without 

a permit

71.00 0.00 71.00

    Mobile plant** 1,650.00 0.00 1,650.00

    for the third to seventh applications 985.00 0.00 985.00

    for the eight and subsequent applications 498.00 0.00 498.00

 Where an application for any of the above is for a 

combined Part B waste application, add an extra £310 to 

the above amounts

   Annual Subsistence Charge

    Standard process Low 772 (+104)* 0.00 772 (+104)*

    Standard process Medium 1161 (+156)* 0.00 1161 (+156)+

    Standard process High 1747 (+207)* 0.00 1748 (+207)*

    PVRI,SWOBs and Dry Cleaners Low 79.00 0.00 79.00

    PVRI,SWOBs and Dry Cleaners Medium 158.00 0.00 158.00

    PVRI,SWOBs and Dry Cleaners High 237.00 0.00 237.00

    PVR l & ll combined Low 113.00 0.00 113.00

    PVR l & ll combined Medium 226.00 0.00 226.00

    PVR l & ll combined High 341.00 0.00 341.00

    VRs and other Reduced Fee Low 228.00 0.00 228.00

    VRs and other Reduced Fee Medium 365.00 0.00 365.00

    VRs and other Reduced Fee High 548.00 0.00 548.00

    Mobile plant, for first and second permits Low** 626.00 0.00 626.00

    Mobile plant, for first and second permits Medium** 1,034.00 0.00 1,034.00

    Mobile plant, for first and second permits  High** 1,551.00 0.00 1,551.00

    for the third to seventh permits Low 385.00 0.00 385.00

    for the third to seventh permits Medium 617.00 0.00 617.00

    for the third to seventh permits High 924.00 0.00 924.00

    for the eight and subsequent permits Low 198.00 0.00 198.00

    for the eight and subsequent permits Medium 314.00 0.00 314.00

    for the eight and subsequent permits High 473.00 0.00 473.00

    Late Payment Fee 52.00 0.00 52.00

* the additional amounts in brackets must be charged 

where a permit is for a combined Part B and waste 

installation
Where a Part B installation is subject to reporting under 

the E-PRTR Regulation, add an extra £104 to the above 

amounts

  Transfer and Surrender

268



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

    Standard process transfer 169.00 0.00 169.00

    Standard process partial transfer 497.00 0.00 497.00

  New operator at low risk reduced fee activity (extra one - 

off subsistence charge - see  Art 15(2) of charging system) 78.00 0.00 78.00

    Surrender: all Part B activities 0.00 0.00 0.00

    Reduced fee activities: transfer 0.00 0.00 0.00

    Reduced fee activities:  partial transfer 47.00 0.00 47.00

  Temporary transfer for mobiles

    First transfer 53.00 0.00 53.00

    Repeat following enforcement or warning 53.00 0.00 53.00

  Substantial Change

    Standard process 1,050.00 0.00 1,050.00

    Standard process where the substantial change results in 

a new PPC activity
1,650.00 0.00 1,650.00

    Reduced fee activities 102.00 0.00 102.00

LAPPC mobile plant charges (Not using simplified 

permits)

  Application fee

    1 to 2 Permits 1,650.00 0.00 1,650.00

    3 to 7 Permits 985.00 0.00 985.00

    8 and Over 498.00 0.00 498.00

  Subsistence fee

    1 to 2 Permits Low 646.00 0.00 646.00

    1 to 2 Permits Medium 1,034.00 0.00 1,034.00

    1 to 2 Permits High 1,506.00 0.00 1,506.00

    3 to 7 Permits Low 385.00 0.00 385.00

    3 to 7 Permits Medium 617.00 0.00 617.00

    3 to 7 Permits High 924.00 0.00 924.00

    8 and Over Low 198.00 0.00 198.00

    8 and Over Medium 316.00 0.00 316.00

    8 and Over High 473.00 0.00 473.00

LA-IPPC Charges

Every subsistence charge below includes the additional 

£104 charge to cover LA extra costs in dealing with 

reporting under the E-PRTR Regulation
   Application - LA element 3,363.00 0.00 3,363.00

   Additional fee for operating without a permit - LA element 1,188.00 0.00 1,188.00

   Annual Subsistence Low - LA element 1,447.00 0.00 1,447.00

   Annual Subsistence Medium - LA element 1,611.00 0.00 1,611.00

   Annual Subsistence High - LA element 2,334.00 0.00 2,334.00

   Late Payment Fee 52.00 0.00 52.00

   Substantial Variation 1,368.00 0.00 1,368.00

   Transfer 235.00 0.00 235.00

   Partial Transfer 698.00 0.00 698.00

   Surrender 698.00 0.00 698.00

Town Centre ManagementPitch fees - Town Centre Trading Pitches

Trading Pitches up to 10m
2 

Monday - Sunday (1 day per week) calculated monthly 78.00 2.56 80.00

Trailers up to 6 metres (New)

Monday - Sunday (1 day per week) calculated monthly 148.00 1.35 150.00

Monday - Sunday (each additional day) calculated 

monthly

100.00 2.00 102.00

Electricity (New)

Monday - Sunday (1 day per week) calculated monthly 9.00 0.00 9.00

LG (MP) Act 1982 Licenses

Miscellaneous Licences 

Street Trading 

Street trading licence 360.00 8.33 390.00

Street Trading (renew)

Street trading licence 360.00 8.33 390.00

Licensing Miscellaneous Licences (new)

Sex Shops 1,275.00 3.92 1,325.00

Miscellaneous Licences (renew)

Sex Shops 1,170.00 1.71 1,190.00

Miscellaneous Licences (transfer)

Sex Shops 628.00 2.71 645.00

Miscellaneous Licences (variation)

Sex Shops 1,170.00 1.71 1,190.00

Highways Act (new)

Tables & chairs

- table 20.00 5.00 21.00

- chair 14.00 7.14 15.00

Highways Act (renew)

Tables & chairs

- table 19.50 2.56 20.00

- chair 13.50 3.70 14.00

Charity Collections (new)

Lottery 40.00 0.00 40.00

Street collection 0.00 0.00 0.00

269



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

House to house collection 0.00 0.00 0.00

Charity Collections (renew)

Lottery 20.00 0.00 20.00

Street collection 0.00 0.00 0.00

House to house collection 0.00 0.00 0.00

Street Trading (new)

Street trading licence 375.00 4.00 390.00

Street Trading (renew)

Street trading licence 375.00 4.00 390.00

Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates 

(application fee)

Band

a 100.00 0.00 100.00

b 190.00 0.00 190.00

c 315.00 0.00 315.00

d 450.00 0.00 450.00

e 635.00 0.00 635.00

city/town centre pub 

band d 900.00 0.00 900.00

band e 1,905.00 0.00 1,905.00

Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates 

(annual fee)

Band

a 70.00 0.00 70.00

b 180.00 0.00 180.00

c 295.00 0.00 295.00

d 320.00 0.00 320.00

e 350.00 0.00 350.00

city/town centre pub 

band d 640.00 0.00 640.00

band e 1,050.00 0.00 1,050.00

application for minor variation 89.00 0.00 89.00

Scrap Metal Dealers

Collectors fee 310.00 0.00 310.00

Site fee 410.00 0.00 410.00

Recovery charges for works in default at cost 0.00 at cost

Other Fees

temporary event notice 21.00 0.00 21.00

theft, loss etc of temporary event notice 10.50 0.00 10.50

Theft, loss etc of premises licence or summary 10.50 0.00 10.50

Application for a provisional statement where premises 

being built

315.50 0.00 315.50

Notification of change of name or address 10.50 0.00 10.50

Application to vary licence to specify individual as 

premises supervisor

23.00 0.00 23.00

Application for transfer of premises licence 23.00 0.00 23.00

Interim authority notice following death etc. of licence 

holder

23.00 0.00 23.00

Theft, loss etc of certificate or summary 10.50 0.00 10.50

Notification of change of name or alteration of rules of club 10.50 0.00 10.50

Change of relevant registered address of club 10.50 0.00 10.50

Right of freeholder etc to be notified of licensing matter 21.00 0.00 21.00

Gambling Act - Licences

Bingo premises licence (New) 3,300.00 0.00 3,300.00

Bingo premises licence (Variation) 1,650.00 0.00 1,650.00

Bingo premises licence (Renewal) 925.00 0.00 925.00

Bingo premises licence (Application for Provisional 

Statement)

3,300.00 0.00 3,300.00

Bingo premises licence (Transfer) 1,130.00 0.00 1,130.00

Bingo premises licence (Re-instatement or Licence 

application Provisional Statement holders)

1,130.00 0.00 1,130.00

Adult Gaming Centre premises licence (New) 1,850.00 0.00 1,850.00

Adult Gaming Centre premises licence (Variation) 925.00 0.00 925.00

Adult Gaming Centre premises licence (Renewal) 925.00 0.00 925.00

Adult Gaming Centre premises licence (Application for 

Provisional Statement)

1,850.00 0.00 1,850.00

Adult Gaming Centre premises licence (Transfer) 1,130.00 0.00 1,130.00

Adult Gaming Centre premises licence (Re-instatement or 

Licence Application Provisional Statement holders)

1,130.00 0.00 1,130.00

Betting premises (track) licence (New) 2,365.00 0.00 2,365.00

Betting premises (track) licence (Variation) 1,180.00 0.00 1,180.00

Betting premises (track) licence (Renewal) 925.00 0.00 925.00

Betting premises (track) licence (Application for Provisional 

Statement)

2,365.00 0.00 2,365.00

Betting premises (track) licence (Transfer) 895.00 0.00 895.00

Betting premises (track) licence (Re-instatement or 

Licence application Provisional Statement holders)

895.00 0.00 895.00

Betting premises (other) licence (New) 2,780.00 0.00 2,780.00

Betting premises (other) licence (Variation) 1,420.00 0.00 1,420.00

Betting premises (other) licence (Renewal) 565.00 0.00 565.00

Betting premises (other) licence (Application for 

Provisional Statement)

2,780.00 0.00 2,780.00

Betting premises (other) licence (Transfer) 1,130.00 0.00 1,130.00

270



APPENDIX E

2018/19

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

2019/20

with effect from 01/04/2019

Change of circumstances 50.00 0.00 50.00

Betting premises (other) licence (Re-instatement or 

Licence application Provisional Statement holders)

1,130.00 0.00 1,130.00

Gambling Act  - Permits

Prize Gaming Permit New 300.00 0.00 300.00

Prize Gaming Permit existing operator 100.00 0.00 100.00

Prize Gaming Permit Renewal 300.00 0.00 300.00

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit New 300.00 0.00 300.00

Existing operator 100.00 0.00 100.00

Renewal 300.00 0.00 300.00

Club gaming and Club Machine permit new 200.00 0.00 200.00

Existing operator 100.00 0.00 100.00

Renewal 200.00 0.00 200.00

annual fee 50.00 0.00 50.00

Variation 100.00 0.00 100.00

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit New 150.00 0.00 150.00

Existing Operator 100.00 0.00 100.00

Annual Fee 50.00 0.00 50.00

Variation 100.00 0.00 100.00

Transfer 25.00 0.00 25.00

Change of Name 25.00 0.00 25.00

Copy of Permit 15.00 0.00 15.00

Copy of license 25.00 0.00 25.00

Market Pitch fees - Marked trading pitches on East Gate or 

Broad Walk

Monthly Pitch Rentals 1 day per week 

Monday fee for first pitch (formerly £21/day) 45.50 1.10 46.00

Monday fee for subsequent pitch (formerly £15.50/day) 58.00 1.72 59.00

Tuesday, Friday, Saturday fee for first pitch 78.00 2.56 80.00

Tuesday, Friday, Saturday fee each additional pitch 58.00 1.72 59.00

Trader licensed for not more than 1 day per week on 

Tuesday or Friday first pitch

45.50 1.10 46.00

Trader licensed for not more than 1 day per week 

subsequent pitch

58.00 1.72 59.00

Electricity

1 day per week calculated monthly 9.00 0.00 9.00

Trailers - Vehicles up to 6 metres

1 day per week calculated monthly 148.00 1.35 150.00

Trailers - Vehicles up to 6.01 - 8 metres

1 day per week calculated monthly 148.00 1.35 150.00

271



APPENDIX F

2017/18 201819 2019/20

Actual Original Original 

            £             £             £

Employees Expenses 217,739 167,950 149,700

Premises Related Expenses 0 0 0

Transport Related Expenses 583 150 150

Supplies & Services 25,566 22,950 36,650

Central Support Services 111,399 129,570 126,880

Other Recharges 0 360 0

Capital Financing Costs 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 355,287 320,980 313,380

Income 0 (-)100 (-)100

Recharges (-)385,321 (-)302,910 (-)307,910

Net Expenditure (-)30,034 17,970 5,370

ANALYSIS: Inclusive of recharges between services within the Service Plan

Senior Management  

Expenditure 352,456 317,080 309,480
Income 0 (-)100 (-)100
Recharges (-)385,321 (-)302,910 (-)307,910
Net Expenditure (-)32,865 14,070 1,470

Harlow Education Progression Awards

Expenditure 2,831 3,900 3,900
Income 0 0 0
Recharges 0 0 0
Net Expenditure 2,831 3,900 3,900

Net Expenditure (-)30,034 17,970 5,370

MANAGING DIRECTOR SERVICES

272



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Employees Expenses 3,667,550 3,343,050 3,524,130

Premises Related Expenses 469,460 399,570 389,050

Transport Related Expenses 41,507 48,680 46,540

Supplies and Services 1,886,221 1,857,900 1,780,090

Third Party Payments 0 0 0

Central Support Services 975,497 974,970 1,088,910

Recharges 285,361 280,040 280,240

Capital Charges 1,050,553 582,960 487,560

Total Expenditure 8,376,149 7,487,170 7,596,520

Income (-)2,049,849 (-)1,768,130 (-)1,906,990

Recharges (-)2,308,844 (-)1,599,420 (-)1,578,500

Net Expenditure 4,017,457 4,119,620 4,111,030

ANALYSIS: Inclusive of recharges between services within the Service Plan

Community Safety 

Expenditure 738,138 677,760 712,950

Income (-)9,300 (-)8,000 (-)8,500

Recharges (-)170,663 (-)170,680 (-)174,700

Net Expenditure 558,175 499,080 529,750

Emergency Planning

Expenditure 11,051 14,910 12,860

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure 11,051 14,910 12,860

Youth and Citizenship & Initiatives

Expenditure 197,388 185,770 200,350

Income (-)29,601 (-)24,960 (-)24,960

Recharges

Net Expenditure 167,787 160,810 175,390

Art Gallery

Expenditure 43,632 52,420 50,720

Income (-)1,233 0 0

Recharges

Net Expenditure 42,399 52,420 50,720

COMMUNITY WELLBEING

273



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Playhouse

Expenditure 2,586,148 1,998,360 2,145,450

Income (-)1,339,181 (-)1,095,330 (-)1,238,000

Recharges (-)9,338 (-)32,760 0

Net Expenditure 1,237,629 870,270 907,450

Museum Of Harlow

Expenditure 26,369 29,180 24,220

Income (-)7,030 (-)7,450 (-)5,730

Recharges

Net Expenditure 19,339 21,730 18,490

Grant Aid

Expenditure 338,849 408,170 329,240

Income

Recharges (-)20,000 (-)20,000 (-)20,000

Net Expenditure 318,849 388,170 309,240

Concessionary Travel

Expenditure (-)226,423 0 0

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure (-)226,423 0 0

Community Services: Central Costs & Initiatives

Expenditure 488,268 469,140 488,610

Income (-)28,150 (-)61,140 (-)37,140

Recharges (-)460,118 (-)245,970 (-)273,160

Net Expenditure 0 162,030 178,310

Discretionary Services Fund (payments to external service providers)

Expenditure 105,000 99,000 99,000

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure 105,000 99,000 99,000

Contact Harlow

Expenditure 1,292,277 1,168,620 1,224,480

Income (-)88 0 0

Recharges (-)1,292,189 (-)783,110 (-)819,880

Net Expenditure 0 385,510 404,600

Reprographics

Expenditure 157,819 161,630 149,910

Income (-)227 (-)200 (-)200

Recharges (-)157,592 (-)161,430 (-)149,710

Net Expenditure 0 0 0

Communications

Expenditure 239,444 284,270 302,420

Income 0 0 0

Recharges (-)239,444 (-)251,180 (-)300,360

Net Expenditure 0 33,090 2,060

COMMUNITY WELLBEING

274



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Leah Manning Centre

Expenditure 498,685 461,170 486,100

Income (-)369,149 (-)352,050 (-)369,530

Recharges (-)13,162 (-)13,780 (-)13,220

Net Expenditure 116,375 95,340 103,350

Sam's Place

Expenditure 73,268 42,520 45,350

Income (-)73,354 (-)37,080 (-)37,080

Recharges

Net Expenditure (-)86 5,440 8,270

CLCS Project Development

Expenditure 60,975 56,570 59,010

Income (-)2,413 0 0

Recharges 0 (-)9,490 (-)9,680

Net Expenditure 58,562 47,080 49,330

Harlow Carnival

Expenditure 10,891 28,000 28,000

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure 10,891 28,000 28,000

Youth Council

Expenditure 30,408 35,130 29,340

Income (-)46 0 0

Recharges

Net Expenditure 30,362 35,130 29,340

Leisure Services

Expenditure 125,613 104,030 107,930

Income (-)8,250 0 0

Recharges 0 0 0

Net Expenditure 117,363 104,030 107,930

Firework Display

Expenditure 29,459 19,990 27,570

Income (-)1,200 (-)1,300 (-)1,200

Recharges

Net Expenditure 28,259 18,690 26,370

Sports Partnership

Expenditure 94,549 0 0

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure 94,549 0 0

Paddling Pools

Expenditure 120,760 103,540 117,530

Income (-)39

Recharges

Net Expenditure 120,721 103,540 117,530

COMMUNITY WELLBEING

275



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Other Leisure Services

Expenditure 3,503 6,480 4,900

Income 0 0 (-)2,600

Recharges

Net Expenditure 3,503 6,480 2,300

Pets Corner

Expenditure 416,184 290,880 326,110

Income (-)92,648 (-)66,500 (-)79,000

Recharges

Net Expenditure 323,537 224,380 247,110

Welfare Rights & Advice Service

Expenditure 97,129 97,370 98,470

Income 127,059

Recharges (-)32,850 (-)32,850 (-)32,850

Net Expenditure 191,338 64,520 65,620

Regeneration Team

Expenditure 863,582 764,260 638,440

Income (-)106,796 0 0

Recharges (-)149,346 (-)118,380 (-)50,000

Net Expenditure 607,440 645,880 588,440

Roundabouts

Expenditure 9,444 9,700 10,660

Income (-)4,000 (-)5,990 (-)5,990

Recharges

Net Expenditure 5,444 3,710 4,670

Externally Funded Projects 

Expenditure 31,638 0 0

Income (-)10,909 0 0

Recharges

Net Expenditure 20,729 0 0

Depots

Expenditure 147,958 158,510 141,960

Income (-)93,294 (-)108,130 (-)97,060

Recharges

Net Expenditure 54,663 50,380 44,900

Net Expenditure 4,017,457 4,119,620 4,111,030

COMMUNITY WELLBEING

276



APPENDIX F

2017/18 201819 2019/20

Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Employees Expenses 3,426,717 2,949,950 3,029,710

Pension & Redundancy Costs 2,783,940 3,529,080 1,817,480

Transport Related Expenses 3,936 6,520 6,520

Supplies and Services 2,481,672 2,534,140 2,092,260

Transfer Payments 31,868,074 32,830,070 25,342,700

Central Support Services 2,567,695 1,724,380 1,908,340

Other Recharges 1,690,813 1,465,090 1,497,850

Capital Financing Cost 116,528 120,020 125,780

Total Expenditure 44,939,375 45,159,250 35,820,640

Income (-)33,819,372 (-)34,186,860 (-)27,362,240

Recharges (-)5,758,393 (-)7,635,540 (-)5,470,440

Net Expenditure 5,361,610 3,336,850 2,987,960

ANALYSIS: Inclusive of recharges between services within the Service Plan

Accountancy

Expenditure 906,157 762,970 784,520

Income (-)598 0 0

Recharges (-)905,559 (-)758,130 (-)781,390

Net Expenditure 0 4,840 3,130

Central Finance

Expenditure 356,392 456,490 453,170

Income 0 (-)150,000 (-)300,000

Recharges (-)356,393 (-)592,260 (-)264,910

Net Expenditure (-)1 (-)285,770 (-)111,740

Audit

Expenditure 160,068 168,340 171,860

Income 0 0 0

Recharges (-)160,068 (-)167,400 (-)171,580

Net Expenditure 0 940 280

Insurance

Expenditure 792,705 1,333,270 877,170

Income (-)70,105 (-)70,110 (-)80,760

Recharges (-)722,600 (-)1,262,910 (-)796,230

Net Expenditure 0 250 180

FINANCE 

277



APPENDIX F

2017/18 201819 2019/20

Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

ICT

Expenditure 1,495,810 1,387,900 1,490,590

Income (-)175,032 (-)144,900 (-)144,900

Recharges (-)1,320,778 (-)1,223,870 (-)1,326,920

Net Expenditure 0 19,130 18,770

Telephony

Expenditure 171,174 152,020 154,360

Income (-)2,944 (-)2,250 (-)2,250

Recharges (-)168,230 (-)149,750 (-)154,420

Net Expenditure 0 20 (-)2,310

Revenues & Benefits

Expenditure 5,001,977 3,932,670 4,012,820

Income (-)1,287,205 (-)1,091,440 (-)1,256,720

Recharges (-)1,934,258 (-)1,713,130 (-)1,830,820

Net Expenditure 1,780,514 1,128,100 925,280

Central Services Residual Recharge 

Expenditure 743,937 0 0

Income 0 0 0

Recharges 0 0 0

Net Expenditure 743,937 0 0

Appendix F

Expenditure 522,034 516,140 584,950

Income 0 0 0

Recharge (-)306,699 (-)309,680 (-)350,970

Net Expenditure 215,335 206,460 233,980

Corporate & Democratic Core - 

Corporate Management 
Expenditure 806,761 903,880 693,030

Income 0 0 0

Recharge (-)540,620 (-)527,330 (-)409,210

Net Expenditure 266,141 376,550 283,820

Expenditure 2,821,473 3,574,570 1,862,480

Income (-)130 (-)15,000 0

Recharge 0 (-)1,731,120 0

Net Expenditure 2,821,343 1,828,450 1,862,480

Housing Benefits

Expenditure 31,817,699 32,771,040 25,351,700

Income (-)32,283,358 (-)32,713,160 (-)25,577,610

Recharge 0 0 0

Net Expenditure (-)465,659 57,880 (-)225,910

Corporate & Democratic Core - 

Democratic Representation & 

Management 

Pension Fund Underfunding and 

Other Non-Distributed Costs

FINANCE 

278



APPENDIX F

Net Expenditure 5,361,610 3,336,850 2,987,960

279



APPENDIX F

2017/18 201819 2019/20
Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Employees Expenses 1,590,492 1,458,850 1,592,120

Premises Related Expenses 2,127 3,860 3,860

Training & Development Expenses 64,866 65,820 65,820

Transport Related Expenses 2,450 3,580 4,790

Supplies and Services 210,513 299,900 314,120

Members Allowances 175,828 178,510 190,430

Central Support Services 643,411 646,440 636,640

Other Recharges 76,446 88,190 89,730

Capital Financing Costs 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 2,766,133 2,745,150 2,897,510

Income (-)355,213 (-)171,950 (-)179,250
Recharges (-)1,784,661 (-)1,810,460 (-)1,990,850

Net Expenditure 626,259 762,740 727,410

ANALYSIS: Inclusive of recharges between services within the Service Plan

Occupational Health

Expenditure 32,802 27,010 27,010
Income 0 0 0
Recharges (-)32,802 (-)26,980 (-)27,000
Net Expenditure 0 30 10

Corporate HR Costs

Expenditure 35,534 37,700 37,200
Income 0 0 0
Recharges (-)35,534 (-)51,050 (-)36,200
Net Expenditure 0 (-)13,350 1,000

Human Resources

Expenditure 429,881 400,510 406,150
Income (-)277 0 0
Recharges (-)429,604 (-)393,340 (-)407,590
Net Expenditure 0 7,170 (-)1,440

Training & Development

Expenditure 66,585 67,800 67,240
Income 0 0 0
Recharges (-)66,585 (-)67,830 (-)67,290
Net Expenditure 0 (-)30 (-)50

GOVERNANCE SERVICES

280



APPENDIX F

2017/18 201819 2019/20
Actual Original Original

            £             £             £
Union Facilities

Expenditure 7,916 14,540 14,540
Income 0 0 0
Recharges (-)7,916 (-)11,390 (-)14,450
Net Expenditure 0 3,150 90

Health & Safety

Expenditure 59,966 68,820 68,670
Income 0 0 0
Recharges (-)68,192 (-)68,420 (-)67,480
Net Expenditure (-)8,226 400 1,190

Legal Services (Corporate Procurement)

Expenditure 189,936 200,410 122,810
Income (-)12,000 0 0
Recharges (-)177,936 (-)199,880 (-)121,710
Net Expenditure 0 530 1,100

Relationship  & Commissioning (incl Policy & Performance)

Expenditure 164,171 140,770 184,310
Income (-)8,103 0 0
Recharges (-)156,082 (-)133,790 (-)259,470
Net Expenditure (-)14 6,980 (-)75,160

Land Charges

Expenditure 96,054 105,020 100,260
Income (-)109,679 (-)125,600 (-)125,000
Recharges 0 0 0

Net Expenditure (-)13,625 (-)20,580 (-)24,740

Governance

Expenditure 156,070 212,380 231,620

Income 0 0 0

Recharges (-)156,070 (-)212,390 (-)231,630

Net Expenditure 0 (-)10 (-)10

Legal Services

Expenditure 690,111 706,730 769,880

Income (-)70,486 (-)44,500 (-)52,400

Recharges (-)619,625 (-)640,450 (-)698,430

Net Expenditure 0 21,780 19,050

Electoral Services

Expenditure 432,111 372,100 406,290

Income (-)153,678 (-)1,850 (-)1,850

Recharges 0 0 0

Net Expenditure 278,433 370,250 404,440

Corporate Support Team

Expenditure 254,097 264,110 325,900

Income 0 0 0

Recharges (-)252,730 (-)248,930 (-)317,800

Net Expenditure 1,367 15,180 8,100

GOVERNANCE SERVICES

281



APPENDIX F

2017/18 201819 2019/20
Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Chairman's Allowance

Expenditure 8,574 9,680 9,680

Income 0 0 0

Recharges 0 0 0

Net Expenditure 8,574 9,680 9,680

Members Services

Expenditure 360,740 361,560 384,150

Income (-)990 0 0

Recharges 0 0 0

Net Expenditure 359,750 361,560 384,150

Net Expenditure 626,259 762,740 727,410

GOVERNANCE SERVICES

282



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original

            £             £             £

Employees Expenses 1,195,950 1,088,490 1,095,810

Premises Related Expenses 0 0 0

Transport Related Expenses 5,991 9,650 6,700

Supplies and Services 588,781 626,380 918,980

Third Party Payments 0 0 0

Central Support Services 292,821 281,170 278,600

Recharges 695,840 733,130 775,160

Capital Charges 12,783 12,780 12,780

Total Expenditure 2,792,166 2,751,600 3,088,030

Income (-)769,160 (-)637,020 (-)989,010

Recharges (-)917,049 (-)1,006,840 (-)827,620

Net Expenditure 1,105,958 1,107,740 1,271,400

ANALYSIS: Inclusive of recharges between services within the Service Plan

Amenity Cleaning

Expenditure 337,227 344,610 363,510

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure 337,227 344,610 363,510

Supporting People

Expenditure 1,026,825 918,550 931,150

Income (-)455,456 (-)448,300 (-)538,220

Recharges (-)527,395 (-)477,590 (-)390,450

Net Expenditure 43,974 (-)7,340 2,480

Landscaping

Expenditure 201,167 196,870 228,930

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure 201,167 196,870 228,930

Housing Options and Advice

Expenditure 1,226,947 1,291,570 1,564,440

Income (-)313,704 (-)188,720 (-)450,790

Recharges (-)389,654 (-)529,250 (-)437,170

Net Expenditure 523,590 573,600 676,480

Net Expenditure 1,105,958 1,107,740 1,271,400

HOUSING GENERAL FUND

283



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original 

            £             £             £

Employees Expenses 3,457,563 2,961,940 3,115,130

Premises Related Expenses 4,436,768 4,430,590 4,690,600

Transport Related Expenses 31,749 38,980 38,210

Supplies & Services 4,553,319 4,708,830 4,268,010

Third Party Payments 77,741 81,980 87,810

Central Support Services 1,388,131 1,403,090 1,559,490

Recharges 382,618 324,600 287,330

Capital Charges 1,996,622 2,598,980 2,124,550

Total Expenditure 16,324,511 16,548,990 16,171,130

Income (-)11,167,877 (-)10,355,230 (-)10,721,040

Recharges (-)1,702,977 (-)2,303,510 (-)1,894,530

Net Expenditure 3,453,657 3,890,250 3,555,560

ANALYSIS: Inclusive of recharges between services within the Service Plan

Civic Centre

Expenditure 1,038,524 1,164,050 1,210,810

Income (-)6,954 (-)6,450 (-)6,450

Recharges (-)1,031,570 (-)1,147,290 (-)1,194,040

Net expenditure 0 10,310 10,320

Messenger and Post Service

Expenditure 165,473 166,260 168,030

Income 0 0 0

Recharges (-)165,473 (-)166,260 (-)168,030

Net expenditure 0 0 0

Car Parks 

Expenditure 253,219 253,630 256,770

Income (-)587,174 (-)627,000 (-)634,000

Recharges (-)2,581 (-)1,780 (-)2,020

Net expenditure (-)336,535 (-)375,150 (-)379,250

Water Gardens Car Park

Expenditure 30,960 32,420 36,150

Income (-)552,298 (-)538,550 (-)486,550

Recharges

Net expenditure (-)521,338 (-)506,130 (-)450,400

Commercial Property

Expenditure 887,722 1,638,690 1,491,370

PLACE

284



APPENDIX F

Income (-)4,148,998 (-)4,186,370 (-)4,336,430

Recharges (-)129,106 (-)124,330 (-)120,630

Net expenditure (-)3,390,382 (-)2,672,010 (-)2,965,690

285



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original 

            £             £             £

Pavilions, Sports Pitches & Common Rooms

Expenditure 699,944 191,390 188,920

Income (-)105,971 (-)67,230 (-)78,140

Recharges (-)28,531 (-)14,830 (-)14,820

Net expenditure 565,442 109,330 95,960

Property & Facilities Management

Expenditure 764,142 800,400 814,190

Income (-)53,376 (-)65,880 (-)67,730

Recharges (-)346,007 (-)321,800 (-)304,550

Net expenditure 364,760 412,720 441,910

Latton Bush Centre

Expenditure 909,301 751,050 753,990

Income (-)763,341 (-)804,990 (-)814,370

Recharges (-)200,584 (-)205,930 (-)214,440

Net expenditure (-)54,623 (-)259,870 (-)274,820

Public Conveniences

Expenditure 22,537 22,330 20,430

Income

Recharges

Net expenditure 22,537 22,330 20,430

Bus Terminus

Expenditure 224,407 219,160 222,510

Income (-)125,857 (-)131,550 (-)132,550

Recharges (-)22,560 (-)23,030 (-)23,480

Net expenditure 75,989 64,580 66,480

Bus Shelters

Expenditure 2,271 2,290 1,360

Income

Recharges

Net expenditure 2,271 2,290 1,360

Street Name Signs

Expenditure 49,741 49,850 55,950

Income (-)12,845 (-)5,000 (-)10,000

Recharges

Net expenditure 36,896 44,850 45,950

Unadopted Highways

Expenditure 127,393 226,110 174,120

Income (-)55,278 (-)85,000 (-)85,000

Recharges 0 (-)67,500 0

Net expenditure 72,115 73,610 89,120

Town Centre Management

Expenditure 150 150 1,390

Income (-)29,914 (-)20,000 (-)20,000

Recharges

Net expenditure (-)29,764 (-)19,850 (-)18,610

PLACE

286



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original 

            £             £             £

Town Centre Enhancements

Expenditure 14,487 33,690 21,070

Income (-)184 0 0

Recharges

Net expenditure 14,303 33,690 21,070

Enterprise Zone

Expenditure 240,121 0 0

Income (-)207,150 0 0

Recharges

Net expenditure 32,970 0 0

Nexus

Expenditure

Income 0 0 (-)225,000

Recharges

Net expenditure 0 0 (-)225,000

Building Control 

Expenditure 396,002 380,490 386,310

Income (-)168,304 (-)134,600 (-)135,600

Recharges (-)36,030 (-)16,000 (-)12,000

Net expenditure 191,668 229,890 238,710

Planning Services

Expenditure 1,628,587 1,241,600 1,398,690

Income (-)775,095 (-)340,050 (-)344,050

Recharges (-)41,375 (-)49,960 (-)46,600

Net expenditure 812,117 851,590 1,008,040

Highways Infrastructure

Expenditure 802,444 634,670 622,460

Income (-)41,500 (-)41,500 (-)41,500

Recharges

Net expenditure 760,944 593,170 580,960

HTS

Expenditure 330,602 813,020 451,950

Income (-)594,877 (-)400,000 (-)490,000

Recharges 82,192 (-)525,220 (-)159,040

Net expenditure (-)182,083 (-)112,200 (-)197,090

Central Costs

Expenditure 321,623 317,440 355,410

Income

Recharges (-)321,623 (-)317,440 (-)355,410

Net expenditure 0 0 0

Refuse/Recycling

Expenditure 3,638,457 3,964,850 3,423,810

Income (-)1,634,466 (-)1,573,780 (-)1,476,540

Recharges

PLACE

287



APPENDIX F

Net Expenditure 2,003,991 2,391,070 1,947,270

288



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original 

            £             £             £

Environmental Health

Expenditure 1,448,495 1,479,080 1,517,510

Income (-)488,393 (-)584,390 (-)570,750

Recharges (-)168,060 (-)158,840 (-)160,780

Net Expenditure 792,042 735,850 785,980

Cemetery & Crematorium

Expenditure 49,536 52,010 46,070

Income (-)506,665 (-)482,740 (-)509,630

Recharges

Net Expenditure (-)457,129 (-)430,730 (-)463,560

Hackney Carriages & Private Hire

Expenditure 283,078 249,700 251,790

Income (-)153,747 (-)124,350 (-)124,350

Recharges (-)32,520 (-)31,990 (-)31,550

Net Expenditure 96,811 93,360 95,890

Licensing

Expenditure 195,369 180,740 186,470

Income (-)92,543 (-)81,350 (-)79,650

Recharges (-)45,620 (-)50,980 (-)53,630

Net Expenditure 57,207 48,410 53,190

Market

Expenditure (-)12,964 10,900 10,220

Income (-)21,025 (-)22,000 (-)15,000

Recharges

Net Expenditure (-)33,989 (-)11,100 (-)4,780

Townwide Nature Reserves

Expenditure 46,846 48,490 86,530

Income (-)561 0 (-)3,360

Recharges

Net Expenditure 46,285 48,490 83,170

Land Trust

Expenditure 41,560 34,580 54,030

Income (-)22,951 (-)25,360 (-)27,370

Recharges (-)4,028

Net Expenditure 14,581 9,220 26,660

Street Cleaning

Expenditure 956,037 944,510 1,040,980

Income (-)807 (-)590 (-)380

Recharges

Net Expenditure 955,230 943,920 1,040,600

Town Park

Expenditure 261,775 282,430 276,140

Income 0 0 0

PLACE

289



APPENDIX F

Recharges

Net Expenditure 261,775 282,430 276,140

290



APPENDIX F

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Actual Original Original 

            £             £             £

Allotments

Expenditure 37,638 17,770 19,930

Income (-)6,040 (-)6,500 (-)6,500

Recharges

Net Expenditure 31,598 11,270 13,430

Open Spaces

Expenditure 1,015,874 1,062,550 1,330,960

Income (-)11,365 0 0

Recharges

Net Expenditure 1,004,509 1,062,550 1,330,960

Playgrounds

Expenditure 150,125 136,690 155,100

Income

Recharges

Net Expenditure 150,125 136,690 155,100

Sportsfields

Expenditure 22,793 22,830 23,360

Income (-)137 0 (-)140

Recharges

Net Expenditure 22,656 22,830 23,220

Place Other

Expenditure 353,659 334,380 442,050

Income (-)59 0 0

Recharges (-)282,920 (-)291,540 (-)359,210

Net Expenditure 70,679 42,840 82,840

Net Expenditure 3,453,657 3,890,250 3,555,560

PLACE

291



Appendix G 

 
 
 
 
 

Harlow Council 
Pay Policy 
2019/2020 

 

 

 
 
 

 

292



 

PAY POLICY 2019/20 

 

 
Introduction and Purpose 
 

1. This Pay Policy Statement sets out the council’s approach to pay policy 
in accordance with the requirements of Section 38 (1) of the Localism 
Act 2011 which required English and Welsh Councils to produce a Pay 
Policy Statement from 2012/131 and for each financial year thereafter 
and due regard to the associated Statutory Guidance including the 
Supplementary Statutory Guidance issued in February 2013 and the 
Local Government Transparency Code 2014. 

 

2. Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives local authorities the 
power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as 
the authority thinks fit, the pay policy sets out how the council exercises 
this power.  

 

3. The pay policy statement:- 

 Must be approved formally by the Full Council. 

 Must be approved by the end of March each year. 

 May be amended during the course of the financial year. 

 Must be published on the Council’s website. 

 Must be complied with. 
 

4. The statutory pay policy statement must include the Council’s policy on: 

 The level and elements of remuneration for each Chief 
Officer. 

 The remuneration of its lowest-paid employees (together with 
its definition of “lowest-paid employees” and its reasons for 
adopting that definition). 

 The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief 
Officers and other Officers. 

 Other specific aspects of Chief Officers’ remuneration: 
remuneration on recruitment, increases and additions to 
remuneration, use of performance-related pay and bonuses, 
termination payments, and transparency. 

 
5. Remuneration is defined widely, to include not just pay but also charges, 

fees, allowances, benefits in kind, increases in/enhancements of pension 
entitlements, and termination payments.  
 

6. Local Government, and Harlow Council is going through a period of 
unprecedented and rapid change as a result of a number of political, 

                                                           
1
 Approved at Cabinet 31 January 2012 

293



 

economic and social drivers and challenges, national and local. We 
recognise the need for flexibility to be able to respond to a changing 
landscape and our pay policy arrangements have been developed to reflect 
this. 

 

7. The Council proposes to include information on other discretionary 
policies relating to remuneration and pensions. 

 

8. The discretionary pay policy may include statements:- 
 

a) To confirm that the JNC conditions of service for Chief Executives 
and Chief Officers are incorporated in those Officers’ employment 
contracts and other related local agreements that have been 
included. 

 

b) To confirm what any additional arrangements if any that may not 
amount to formal terms and conditions, but which relate to a Chief 
Officer's employment and which are a charge on the public purse. 
This may include volunteering, membership of external bodies etc. 

 

Legislative Framework 
 

9. Previous legislation already requires Councils to publish statements 
relating to remuneration:- 

 

a) The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2006 requires Councils to formulate, review, and publish its policy 
on making discretionary payments on early termination of 
employment. 

. 

b) The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) 
Regulations 2014 requires Councils to publish its policy on 
increasing an employee’s total pension scheme membership 
and on awarding additional pension. 

 

c) The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 
1996 (as amended) requires Councils to publish its policy on 
amount and payment of injury allowances following loss of 
employment. 

 

10. In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees. 
The Council will comply with all relevant employment legislation.  
This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, The 
Agency Workers Regulations 2010, and where relevant, Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) (Amendment) 
(Regulations) 2014 (TUPE Regulations 2014). 

 

294



 

11. With regard to the equal pay requirements contained within the 
Equality Act, the Council ensures there is no pay discrimination in 
its pay structures and that all pay differentials are objectively 
justified through the use of an equality-proofed job evaluation 
mechanism, which directly relates salaries to the requirements, 
demands and responsibilities of the role.  The Council’s pay and 
grading structures are subject to ongoing review.  See 18 below for 
more detail.  

 
Objectives 
 

12. The Authority clearly recognises the complex, challenging and competing 
drivers underpinning public sector remuneration, especially at a senior level 
seeking to be able to recruit and retain high quality staff in a way which is 
externally competitive and internally fair, whilst acknowledging the financial 
constraints as pay and benefits are met from public funds.   

 

13. This pay policy applies in a consistent way from the lowest to the highest 
grade.  This Pay Policy Statement covers all employees. 

 

Publication of Remuneration Packages. 
 

14. The Council will continue to publish the salary ranges covering all 

employees on the official website for the Council.  Where employees have 

been transferred into the Council under the Transfer of Undertakings 

(Protection of Employment) (Amendment) (Regulations) 2014 (TUPE 

Regulations 2014) their remuneration packages reflect their protected rates 

of pay. 
 

Effect of this Policy 
 

15. Nothing in this Pay Policy Statement enables unilateral changes to 
employees’ terms and conditions of contract.  Changes to terms and 
conditions of employment must follow consultation and negotiation with 
individuals and recognised trades unions as set out in agreements and in 
line with legislation. 

 

Council’s General Approach to Remuneration. 
 

Posts below Head of Service 
 

16. The majority of employees are covered by the National Joint Council for 
Local Government Services, the National Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service. This covers the lowest paid (grade 2) through to 
Heads of Service. 

 

Rates of pay for this group are reviewed annually in line with nationally 

295



 

agreed salary increases.  On 10 April 2018 a two year pay deal was 

agreed for staff on NJC Terms and Conditions for the 2018/19 and 

2019/20 years respectfully. The pay award had two parts, year one of the 

agreement bottom loaded SCPs 6-19 with fixed rises of between £1380 

(SCP6) - £700, (SCP19), on SCPs 20 and above it provided for an 

increase of 2%, in order to deal with pressures created by the national 

living wage. The year one increase was implemented with effect from 1 

April 2018.  For year two, effective 1 April 2019, the agreement includes 

the requirement for the introduction of a new pay spine based on a 

bottom rate of £9.00 per hour (£17,364), the new SCP 1. The Council is 

already a Living Wage Employer (see 22, below) and was, in 2018/19 

already paying above this minimum 2019/20 rate.   
 

17. In 2000 with the implementation of Single Status, a new salary structure 
was agreed for 2001 and implemented with trade unions, this continues 
to be operated today at this time it uses a pay spine that commences at 
national spinal column point (SCP) 6 (as amended following national 
union agreement in Oct 2015) and ends at local SCP 57.  This pay spine 
is divided into 15 pay bands, grades containing 3 incremental points 
numbered 2 to 19. 
 

18. Due to the unprecedented work on the new pay spine being required 
consideration is being given to the subsequent  impacts on this and the 
grading structure and any relevant changes that may then be required 
by the Council.  The Council will have regard to all NJC approved pay 
agreements.  The Council’s grading structure is therefore subject to 
review and any relevant changes that may then be required by the 
Council in light of the agreement in place will follow.  It therefore 
continues to work on finalising its proposals as part of its ongoing 
consultation, and will seek agreement with the recognised trade union 
with a minimum rise of 2% on all SCPs expected.  No final local 
agreement has yet been made at the time of publication for year two.   

 

19. Posts are allocated to a pay grade through a process of job evaluation.  The 
Council uses the NJC for Local Government Job Evaluation Scheme. 

 
20. The lowest paid group of employees are on grade 2 (representing 0.37% of 

the workforce), their FTE rate of pay is £17,423, £9.03 per hour.  The 
Council will have regard to the “Living Wage” which following the most 
recent announcement of November 2018 that increased the rate by 25p 
per hour to £9.00 per hour meant no further uplift on the bottom rate 
(£9.03ph) was required given it is ahead of this rate.  The only roles 
impacted by the change in the Living Wage Foundation rate were 
apprentices employed by the Council whose rate of pay from April 2018 
has been set to the Living Wage Foundation rate. 

 

296



 

21. A number of allowances are payable for this group, depending on the 
roles carried out.  Some are flat rate and others are linked directly to 
salary.  These allowances are only paid for those on grades up to 19. 

 

22. In exceptional circumstances with appropriate senior management 
approval the Council may pay a market supplement in addition to the 
salary for the role where, in the absence of such a payment, it would not 
be possible to recruit and retain suitable employees. The value of the 
market supplement takes into account the labour market pay 
information for similar jobs. Any market supplements are to be reviewed 
on an annual basis and are varied or cease as necessary according to 
the labour market evidence for the role in question.  Such a supplement 
is lawful under the Equality Act 2010 where there is evidence to justify 
that market factors are the “material reason” for the post attracting a 
higher rate of pay than other posts graded similarly. 

 

Senior Managers (Heads of Service and above) 
 

23. In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any 
posts which fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to 
ensure value for money in respect of the use of public expenditure, 
balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able to 
meet the requirements of providing high quality services to the community, 
delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are 
required. 

 

24. There are 3 increment salary ranges for Heads of Service (save for the 

additional duties completed by Deputy to the MD role, see point 26, below), 

Project Director and the Managing Director, further information is available 

on the official website.   
 

25. The new role of Deputy to the Managing Director has been created to 

provide appropriate senior level office cover in the absence/non-availability 

of the Managing Director.  The functions of this role are in addition to the 

Head of Service duties required and therefore provide for 2 further 

increments on the Head of Service salary range for these duties.  Where 

the Deputy to the MD holds an additional official role i.e. Section 151 

Officer, any linked special responsibility allowance is encapsulated within 

the additional increments payable for deputising for the Managing Director. 

 

26. No other allowances linked to these positions are paid, apart from 
Returning Officer remuneration (the Managing Director) Deputy 
Returning Officer remuneration (to be appointed) and an allowance to be 
paid currently to one Head of Service, or an appropriate senior officer as 
designated, for undertaking the role Monitoring Officer. 

 

297



 

Managing Director 
 

27. National advice states that a Head of Paid Service salary range should not 
be more than 20x the FTE salary range of a Band 2 ‘Green Book’ 
employee. It is the Council’s policy that the FTE salary range for the post of 
Managing Director will not be greater than the nationally advised level. The 
Managing Director’s salary is significantly within this multiple. 

 

28. Notwithstanding the above, the value of the scale point in the Managing 
Director’s grade will be uprated by the pay awards notified from time to time 
by the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of Local 
Authorities. 

 

29. The Managing Director also receives a Returning Officer fee in respect of 
District Council, County Council, Parliamentary and European Elections and 
for other national referenda or elections. 

 

30. The Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers’ pay announced on 8 
June 2018 a 2 year pay agreement of 2% year on year on Chief Officer 
salary.  A 2% pay award was implemented in June 2018, backdated to 1 
April 2018 and a further 2% will be implemented in April 2019.  

 

Heads of Service (includes Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer). 
 

31. The value of the scale points in the Heads of Service’s grade will be 
uprated by the pay awards notified from time to time by the National Joint 
Council for Local Government Services. As part of the 2018/19 and 
2019/20 pay agreement this is a 2 year pay deal of 2% year on year. 

 

32. Information on ‘Senior Management’ responsibilities and remuneration 
will be published on the Council’s website in line with Local Government 
Transparency Code 2015 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

Pay Multiples. 
 

33.  

 2018/19 

Ratio of the Managing Director’s FTE salary to the median 
FTE salary of the Council (£28,315 inclusive of Living Wage) 

 
4.68 : 1 

Ratio of the Managing Director’s FTE salary to the 
lowest paid FTE employees (£17,423 at £9.03 per 
hour above Living Wage rate). 

 
7.61 : 1 

 

Part Time/ Full time. 
 

34. All annual salaries and annual allowances are paid pro rata to 

298



 

part time employees based on the hours contracted to work. 
 

General Principles Applying to Remuneration of Chief Officers and 
Employees 
 

35. On recruitment, individuals will ordinarily be placed on the lowest scale 
point within the pay grade for the post to which they are appointed.  
Appointment to a higher scale point will only be with the approval of the 
Head of Service and HR Manager (Managing Director for senior positions).  
A relocation allowance may also be granted in certain exceptional cases 
aligned to HMRC requirements, when new starters need to move to the 
area, with the approval of the Managing Director or nominated Officer. 

 

36. Individuals will normally receive an annual increment, in line with their 
individual terms and conditions of employment, subject to the top of their 
grade not being exceeded. In exceptional circumstances, individuals will 
receive accelerated increments with the approval of the Head of Service 
and HR Manager. Again, this is subject to the top of their grade not being 
exceeded. 

 

37. The Council does not apply performance-related pay or bonuses. 
 

38. The minimum point of a pay grade will not be lower than the maximum 
point of the preceding pay grade. 

 

Pensions and Termination Payments 
 

39. All employees, with a contract of employment are enrolled into the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (managed by Essex County Council).  
Details of contributions rates are set out below, these are set by the 
Administering Authority ECC.  Eligible workers who have opted out of the 
scheme will be automatically re-enrolled providing they meet the auto 
enrolment criteria.   

 

40. The Council has the option to adopt a number of statutory discretions 
under the:- 

 

(a) The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006. 

 

(b) The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Administration) Regulations 2014. 

 

(c) The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 
1996 (as amended). (Organisational Change Policy). 

 

299



 

41. The policies are available on the Council’s official website.  In general the 
Council has chosen not to exercise these options due to the additional 
costs that would be placed on the Council.  One exception relates to the 
multipliers and calculation of weekly pay used for voluntary and 
compulsory redundancy payments.  The policy follows the position 
adopted by most Councils. 

 

42. The Council’s policies on Flexible Retirement, Organisational Change and 
Redundancy Payments are available on the Council’s official website. 

 

Pension Contribution bandings from April 2018 
 

43. The following contribution rates in accordance with full time equivalent 
salary continue to apply from April 2018.  At the time of going to press no 
further change/updates have been advised, although it does state that the 
pay band ranges will be increased each April in line with the cost of living, 
any changes implemented by the Essex LGPS will be followed:- 

 

       Actual Pensionable Pay Employee contribution rate 
£0     - £14,100 5.5% 
£14,101 - £22,000 5.8% 
£22,001 - £35,700 6.5% 
£35,701 - £45,200 6.8% 
£45,201 - £63,100 8.5% 
£63,101 - £89,400 9.9% 
£89,401 - £105,200 10.5% 

£105,201 - £157,800 11.4% 

More than £157,801 12.5% 

 

Allowances (below Head of Service) 
 

44. Ad hoc allowances are paid as and when a duty is carried out and will be 
paid monthly in arrears. 

 

45. Where possible allowances will be paid as a monthly allowance, for 
example where staff follow a set pattern of work. 

 

46. Professional membership fees when associated with the role being 

undertaken for the Council are reimbursed to employees at the rate 

of 100% of fees incurred and only one membership per employee is 

reimbursed in any financial year.  
 

47. In accordance with the People Resource Plan (PRP) to enhance 

employee motivation and assist with employee retention it is 

necessary to consider the total rewards package available to the 

300



 

Council’s employees.  The Council currently offer many benefits 

including the Local Government Pension Scheme, flexi scheme (for 

98 per cent of the Council’s employees), childcare vouchers (where 

applications were received before their cessation in October 2018), 

a dedicated Harlow Council employee benefits discount scheme 

which includes access to the cycle to work scheme and from 2018 

an Employee Assistance Programme.  Over the forthcoming year it 

is intended to continue to promote the non-cash benefits employees 

receive. 

Review 

48. If it should be necessary to amend this 2019/20 Policy during the 
year it applies, an appropriate resolution will be made by Full 
Council. 

 

301



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019  

TITLE: 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMMES 2018/19 – 2019/20 

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 
 
COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON,  DEPUTY 
LEADER AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
HOUSING 
 

LEAD OFFICERS: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446228 
 
ANDREW MURRAY, HEAD OF HOUSING  
(01279) 446676 
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BOARD, (01279) 446004 

  
CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS:    

ANDREW SMITH, FINANCE MANAGER  
(01279) 446212 
 
ALISON CURTIS, SENIOR SERVICE 
ACCOUNTANT (01279) 446211 

 
 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008578 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reasons: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically.  
 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Full Council that: 
 
Housing Capital Programme 

 
A The Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 revised outturn of £19,513,000, as set 

out in Table 2 of the report is noted. 
 
B The Housing Capital programme 2019/20 of £24,044,000, as set out in Table 5 

of the report is approved, including £2.7 million of external borrowing to support 
building council homes. 

 
 
 
 

302

Agenda Item 9g



Non Housing Capital Programme 
 

C The revised Non Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 of £11,105,000, as set 
out in Table 6 of the report is noted. 

 
D The Non Housing Capital Programme for 2019/20 £11,156,000 including the 

Enterprise Zone (EZ) (£5,319,000) and Prentice Place (£2,347,000) as set out in 
Table 7 of the report is approved. 

 
E Internal borrowing is approved to support: 

 
i) the Non Housing Capital Core Programme of £9,866,000 up to 31 

March 2019, and a further £2,372,000 in 2019/20. 
 

ii) in respect of Prentice Place in 2019/20 of £1,755,000. 
 

iii) in respect of the EZ in 2018/19 of £5,790,000 and in 2019/20, 
£5,319,000. This will bring total borrowing over the 3 years from 
2017/18 to £13,707,000. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A Approval of Council’s Capital Programmes is reserved for Full Council. Such 

programmes are necessary for the achievement of the Council’s priorities and 
fulfilment of health and safety requirements. 

 
B To enable Officers to make long term effective planning, procurement and 

resourcing decisions to deliver these programmes. 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. This report provides Cabinet with an update of the Capital Programme for both 

Housing (Housing Revenue Account) and Non Housing (General Fund) for 
2018/19 and a programme for approval in respect of 2019/120. 

 
2. It should be noted that the Housing Capital Programme is a purely Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA) related programme and aligns with the HRA Business 
Plan 2018-2048 which is a separate item on the agenda. 

 
3. In 2018/19, the Housing Capital Programme continued the investment in Council 

dwellings to maintain decent homes standard. However, the Housing Investment 
Programme (HIP) was revised to recognise changes required due to national fire 
regulation priorities, increased costs and scope in delivering local priorities, 
which includes district heating replacement programmes, energy efficiency 
programmes, external works and Council house building within the reducing 
resources available.   

 

303



4. The tragic fire at Grenfell Tower in North Kensington in June 2017 focussed 
national attention on fire safety and regulation in tower blocks. The budget has 
been prepared acknowledging a sum of money will be required for further fire 
safety works but, at present, the cost is difficult to quantify whilst the Council 
awaits the result of updated Fire Risk Assessments (FRA), further advice from 
the Government and the outcomes of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry. The 
conclusion of the Inquiry is unlikely to be before 2020. 

 
Building Council Homes 
 
5. The Council is developing a programme to build new council homes within its 

HRA, funded from retained pooled receipts and, when appropriate, external 
borrowing. The planned programme covering up to 2022/23 includes: 
 

a) Temporary Accommodation: An increase in the number of bed spaces 
available for Temporary Accommodation, and to ensure the units 
remain compliant, a programme of work is in hand. This will result in an 
additional one bed unit, a two bed unit and four additional bedrooms, 
for both general needs and temporary accommodation.  The work is 
expected to commence January 2019, ending in the next financial year, 
with progress subject to weather conditions (£250,000). 
 

b) Sumners Farm Close: Preparatory work is under way in 2018/19 
(£50,000) with work to four units completed in 2019/20 (£450,000). 
 

c) The Readings: The construction of three units approved at Cabinet on 
6 December 2018, preparatory costs in 2018/19 (£75,000). 
 

d) Bushey Croft and Elm Hatch: Work will commence in 2018/19 
(£90,000).  
 

e) Lister House site (Perry Road): Work is planned to commence late 
2019/20. 

 
Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 
 
6. The Council's HIP from 2018/19 sought to continue investment in dwellings to 

maintain decent homes standard whilst prioritising fire safety and compliance 
work. 

 
7. The Modern Homes Programme delivered 48,200 new components such as 

windows, doors, kitchens, bathrooms and boilers in dwellings between 1 April 
2013 and 31 March 2018 with a further 2,787 planned by 31 March 2019. This 
illustrates the ambition and scale of delivery transforming council housing in 
Harlow. There is a robust inspection and performance management framework, 
which ensures that predetermined standards are met, contractors meet 
performance standards and value for money can be demonstrated. 

 
8. The projected outturn for 2018/19 is £19,513,000, £5,038,000 less than the 

approved budget (Cabinet 13 September 2018). 

304



Table 1 – Housing Capital Programme Summary 
 

2018-19 Projected Outturn £000s Date Approved 

Original Budget 18,804 1 Feb 18 

Carryovers from 2017/18 5,187   19 July 18 

Other additions / adjustments 560  

  24,551 13 Sept 18 

Carryovers (-)5,243 
(-)504 

  

New build carryovers  

Building Council Homes new 
expenditure 

165  

Other Expenditure 544  

   

Projected Outturn 2018/19      19,513   

 
9. The amendments reported to Cabinet in September 2018 recognised the 

changing priorities associated with: 
 

a) completing the external works programme in 2018/19 
 

b) urgent external work to Hookfield and Dellfield Court 
 

c) additional compliance work including electrical rewires 
 

d) installation of boilers in sheltered accommodation units 
 

e) refurbishing Bromley Cottages for temporary accommodation, funded 
by a grant from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) 
 

f) the starting costs of building new council homes at The Readings, 
Bushey Croft and Elm Hatch (as set out in Capital in Treasury Report, 
in Appendix B Table 2). 

 
g) Expenditure on environmental works in the capital programme is fully 

financed from the Environmental Reserve. 
 

10. A summary of the forecast outturn expenditure for individual projects in the 
Housing Capital Programme in 2018/19, together with their financing, see Table 
2 below.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

305



Table 2 – Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 
 

 

Original 
Estimate 
Feb 2018 

Current 
Estimate 
2018/19 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2018/19 

 
Variance 

to 
Approve

d 
Estimate 

 

Notes 

 £000s £000s £000’s £000s  
      

Council Home Building 781 
         

804 465 (-)339 

Para
s 5 & 

9f 

Internal Works 4,311 4,478 2,988 (-)1,490 11a 

Windows & Doors 100 370 370 0  

External Major Works 3,732 7,705 5,461 (-)2,244 11b 

Environmental Works 0 0 125 125 9g 
Damp &  Structural 
Works 200 200 200 0  

Other works: Asbestos 
Removal/ Contingency 200 326 526 200 11c 
Related Assets: 
Garages 275 296 382 86  
Lift Programme 925 925 925 0  
Compliance: Electrical 
Upgrades and Fire 
Safety 500 997 997 0  

Fire Safety SE Ducts 1,053 1,053 1,053 0  
Fire Safety Tower 
Blocks 1,590 1,746 750 (-)996 11d 

Energy Efficiency and 
Fuel Poverty 200 330 292 (-)38  

Energy Efficiency 
Boiler Renewal 3,112 3,485 3,598 113 

      
11e 

      

Disabled Adaptations 900 1,079 1,079 0  
CDM  40 40 40 0  

Surveyors Fees 422 0 0 0  

Bromley Cottages  0 100 100 0  
Housing IT 
Development 463 617 162 (-)455  

TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE 18,804 24,551 19,513 (-)5,038 

 

      

Financed by:      
Capital receipts – Right 
to Buy (-)1,217 (-)1,217 (-)1,217 0  

Capital receipts 0 (-)1,535 (-)1,535 0  

306



 

Original 
Estimate 
Feb 2018 

Current 
Estimate 
2018/19 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2018/19 

 
Variance 

to 
Approve

d 
Estimate 

 

Notes 

 £000s £000s £000’s £000s  

Retained receipts (-)234 (-)242 (-)140 102  

Major Repairs Reserve (-)11,439 (-)12,320 (-)9,940 2,380  

Grant contributions 0 (-)100 (-)105 (-)5  
Reserve contribution – 
Environmental works 0 0          (-)125 (-)125  
Direct Revenue 
Contribution (-)5,914 (-)9,137 (-)6,451 2,686  

      

TOTAL FINANCING (-)18,804 (-)24,551 (-)19,513 5,038  

 
11. Notes to Table: Expenditure 

 
a) The internal works variance is due to the movement in the HTS 

(Property & Environment) Ltd planned programme of work to 2019/20. 
 

b) External major works – delays in starting the work, due to contractor 
issues and time required for leasehold consultation meant that this 
scheme was behind schedule at 31 March 2018. Additional resources 
are required to support the reprogrammed works. 
 

c) Asbestos - The increased expenditure (£200,000) is as a direct result of 
work being identified whilst undertaking various capital improvements 
to both individual and block works across the town. Due to the complex 
nature of the works currently being undertaken as part of this year’s 
programme the Council has been required to carry out additional 
removal and testing. 
 

d) Fire safety in tower blocks - the projected underspend is expected to be 
carried over to 2019/20. This is due to the adhoc nature of the work 
which enables fire stopping works to the town’s tower blocks as a result 
of FRA’s being carried out.   
 

e) Energy efficiency boiler renewal – Heating Replacement Programme - 
to complete the replacement of boilers as part of the 2017/18 delayed 
programme of boiler installations and to enable the replacement of 
communal boilers in sheltered schemes during the summer months. 

 
12. The original estimated programme included 50 Right to Buy (RTB) sales in 

2018/19 and analysis of applications in progress indicates approximately 50 
sales by 31 March 2019. 
 

307



13. The external works programme includes work to leasehold properties, the 
income from which is accounted for in the HRA. Any change in the income 
receivable will therefore impact on the direct revenue contribution from the HRA 
to support the Housing Capital Programme (£6,451,000). For details refer to the 
HRA Budget report. 

 
Capital Receipts Reserve 

 
14. At year end 2017/18 capital receipts of £5.462 million were retained in the 

Capital Receipts Reserve. This is a mix of retained pooling receipts (£3.927 
million) and capital receipts (£1.535 million) which will be applied to support 
capital expenditure in 2018/19 and, in the case of retained receipts, future years 
(as set out in the  Capital and Treasury Report (Appendix B)). 
 

Table 3 – Capital Receipts 
 

 Balance 
at 

1 April 
2018 
£’000s 

Estimated 
Capital 

Receipts 
2018/19 
£’000s 

Estimated 
Capital 

Funding 
2018/19 
£’000s 

Balance 
at 

31 March 
2019 
£’000s 

Housing Capital Receipts:     

Reinvigoration capital 
receipts   

(-)3,927 0 140 (-)3,787 

RTB receipts (-)1,535 (-)1,217 2,752 0 

Sub Total      
Non Housing Receipts (-)5,462 (-)1,217 2,892 (-)3,787 

TOTAL     

 
15. In addition, the Housing Capital Programme will be financed from resources 

contained within the Major Repairs Reserve (£9,940,000). 
 

Table 4 – Major Repairs Reserve 
 

 Original 
Estimate 
£000’s 

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000’s 

Variance 
 

£’000s 
Balance at 1 April 2018 0 0 0 

Depreciation Charge 2018/19 (-)11,439 (-)9,940 1,499 
Capital Financing 11,439 9,940 (-)1,499 

Estimated Balance at 31 March 2019 0   0  0 

 
Housing Capital Programme: 2019/20 
 
16. The statutory reduction in rent levels from 2016/17 for four years has resulted in 

significantly reduced resources to deliver the HRA’s short term objectives. The 
programme aims to continue to deliver the comprehensive asset management 

308



priorities from 2018/19 and to include a programme of building council homes 
financed from retained pooling receipts and borrowing. 
 

Table 5 – 2019/20 proposed programme and financing 
 

PROJECT AREA 
2019/20 
£’000 

HTS Annual Service Charge 1,014 

Internal works 750 

External Works 2,000 

Environmental Works 100 

Lift Replacement 600 

Fire Safety 2,750 

Fire Safety – Shared Flue (SE) Ducts Decommissioning 3,000 

Compliance 1,000 

Asbestos Removal 100 

Communal Boiler Renewal 1,700 

Aids & Adaptations 900 

CDM (Construction, Design, Management )   50 

Garage Refurbishment  194 

Unplanned Capital Works 250 

Damp 100 

Structural  500 

IT 77 

  

Sub Total Core Programme 15,085 

  

Carryovers  to 2019/20  

HTS Heating 1,499 

External Works 2,294 

Fire Safety Tower Blocks 996 

Housing IT Development 454 

  

Sub Total Carryovers 5,243 

  

Council House  Building Programme  

Temporary Accommodation 54 

Sumners Farm Close 450 

The Readings 560 

Bushey Croft  2,621 

Perry Road (Lister House) 31 

  

Sub Total Council House Building 3,716 

TOTAL HOUSING  CAPITAL PROGRAMME 24,044 

  

Financed by:  

Capital receipts RTB (-)207 

Retained Capital Receipts / Grants (-)746 

309



Retained Pooling Receipts (-)1,115 

Major Repairs Reserve  (-)10,085 

Direct Revenue Contribution (-)9,191 

Borrowing (-)2,700 

  

TOTAL FINANCING (-)24,044 

 
17. The 2019/20 programme of work reflects continuing investment in the housing 

stock, albeit at a slower rate than previously planned. Schemes will be carried 
out either by HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd, or by contractors following a 
tender process. 
 

18. Statutory priorities will continue to be addressed, in particular to reduce fire risk, 
carryout electrical testing and energy efficiency work including the on-going work 
to upgrade communal heating systems, which will have an impact on tackling 
fuel poverty. 

 
19. Resources likely to be available to finance the Housing Capital Programme are: 

 
a) Direct Revenue Financing of £9,191,000 from the HRA which is 

outlined in the ‘HRA Estimates 2019/20’ report 
 

b) The application in full of the Major Repairs Reserve (£10,085,000) 
 

c) Applying a proportion of retained RTB receipts to the Housing Capital 
Programme in line with the self-financing debt model underlying the 
funding of the programme (£207,000). It is assumed that there will be 
40 disposals in 2019/20 
 

d) Apply retained capital and pooling receipts from previous years 
(£1,861,000). 

 
20. The balance in the Major Repairs Reserve (£10,085,000) at 31 March 2020 will 

be used to fund the Housing Capital Programme along with a direct revenue 
contribution from the HRA of £9,191,000. 
 

Consultation 
 

21. Consultation is regularly undertaken through various tenant panels and the 
Housing Standards Board (HSB). In addition, the Tenant Forum on 9 January 
2019 received a presentation on the Council’s housing finances. 
 

Non Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 
 
22. In February 2018, Full Council approved a Non Housing Capital Programme 

totalling £15,250,000. As a consequence of closure of accounts, £3,996,000 was 
carried forward to 2018/19 increasing the programme in 2018/19 to 
£19,246,000. 

310



23. The 2018/19 Non Housing Capital Programme budget was set to enable 
expenditure on schemes required to meet health and safety, legally committed 
and statutory expenditure to properties within the Asset Management Plan. 

 
24. The Core Non Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 is expected to outturn at 

£4,313,000, which is £367,000 above the original core programme due to the 
carryovers from 2018/19 and additional funding available. In addition the two 
major regeneration schemes: Prentice Place and the EZ are projected to outturn 
at £1,002,000 and £5,790,000 respectively. 

 
Table 6 – Non Housing Capital Programme Summary 

 

2018-19 Budget Stage £000s Date Approved 

Original Budget 15,250 1 Feb 18 

Carryovers and adjustments 3,996 19 Jul 18 

  19,246   

Underspends (-)4,519 
100 

 

Reserve contribution  

Current budget  14,827 13 Sept 18 

Carryovers: core programme (-)428  

Carryover Prentice Place (-)2,348  

Carryover Enterprise Zone  (-)733  

Other expenditure/income 
variations 

(-)213 Reference para 26 

Projected Outturn 11,105  

Variance to current budget 3,722  

 
 

25. Details of the Non Housing Capital Programme expenditure and financing are 
contained in Table 7 below. 
 

Table 7 – Non Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 
 

  

Original 
Estimate 
2018/19 
£’000s 

 
Current 

Estimate 
2018/19 
£000s 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2018/19 
£’000s 

Variance 
£’000 

Note 

Expenditure: 
 

 
  

 

Place Services  2,630 
 

3,380 2,736 (-)644 26 
Governance 15 0 0 0  
Finance 236 236 236 0  
Community Wellbeing:      1,065 1,338 1,341 3  

CORE PROGRAMME      3,946 4,954 4,313 (-)641  

Prentice Place 3,273 3,350 1,002 (-)2,348  

311



   Enterprise Zone 8,031 6,523 5,790 (-)733  

   NON CORE 
PROGRAMME 11,304 

9,873 
6,792 (-)3,081  

      

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 15,250 14,827 11,105 (-)3,722  

       
Financed by:      
Capital Receipts - Right To 
Buy (-)205 (-)205 (-)205 0 

 

Asset Disposals (-)824 (-)624 (-)11 613  
Earmarked Resources (-)100 (-)143 (-)143 0  
Direct Revenue 
Contribution (-)242 (-)620 (-)534 86 

 

Disabled Facilities Grant- 
Strategic Housing (-)535 (-)466 (-)466 0 

 

Renovation 
Loans/contribtutions (-)30 (-)25 (-)25 0 

 

Prentice Place capital 
receipt (-)1,519 (-)1,595 (-)1,002 593 

 

Prentice Place borrowing (-)1,754 (-)1,755 0 1,755  
Enterprise Zone Borrowing (-)8,031 (-)6,523 (-)5,790 733  
Prudential Borrowing (-)2,010 (-)2,871 (-)2,929 (-)58  
       

TOTAL FINANCING: (-)15,250 (-)14,827 (-)11,105 3,722  

  
 

  
 

 
26. In Place Services schemes totalling £428,000 have been deferred and included 

in the proposed programme for 2019/20 due to delays in progressing the work in 
2018/19. In addition, a review of the capital garage programme resulted in a 
reduction in work to General Fund (GF) garages (£86,000) whilst other 
variations to non housing schemes resulted in a further net underspend of 
£130,000. 
 

27. The regeneration of Prentice Place was approved by Cabinet on 31 March 2016 
and a business case included in the Non Housing Capital Programme 2017/18. 
The work planned anticipated a budget in 2018/19 of £3,350,000, however, due 
to complications to the adopted road works at the rear and the main 
subcontractor going into administration the forecast outturn for 2018/19 is 
£1,002,000. This will be funded from ring-fenced capital receipts. A carryover of 
£2,348,000 will be required to complete the scheme in 2019/20. 

 
28. In 2014/15, the Council received £11,205,000 funding from the then MHCLG in 

respect of the EZ for work to be carried out by Essex County Council in the 
London Road and Templefields areas of Harlow. 

 
29. Expenditure anticipated in 2018/19 of £5,790,000 includes work to the 

infrastructure and building of a data centres. The EZ scheme is accounted for 
through the capital programme and the expenditure in 2018/19 will be financed 
by borrowing of £5,790,000. Further work is planned in 2019/20 to complete the 

312



proposed development, at a cost of £5,319,000 entirely funded, for the time 
being, from internal borrowing. 

 
30. At this time the estimated expenditure in excess of the grant received is 

expected to be £13,707,100. Although financed by borrowing this investment will 
be offset through the uplift in business rates achieved on the site and returned to 
the Council from the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP). 

 
31. Financing:  

 
a) The capital receipt due to the Non Housing Capital Programme from 

RTB disposals is £205,000 in line with the original estimate. Any 
change to the number of RTBs in the year does not change the capital 
receipt to the Non Housing Capital Programme as through the pooling 
mechanism the income from additional sales is effectively the debt 
associated to the properties sold. This is strictly housing debt and 
therefore cannot be used in the funding of the Non Housing Capital 
Programme. 
 

b) Direct revenue contributions of £534,000 from the GF in respect of 
various schemes, including The Stow and Bush Fair schemes 
(£115,000) and a contribution from the Town Centre Reserve 
(£100,000) to fund Town Centre Public Realm Improvement works 
expected to complete in 2018/19. Garage expenditure in the non 
housing programme is also financed by revenue contribution; forecast 
2018/19 £319,000. 
 

c) Grants of £143,000 from the County Council to support the Inclusive 
Play scheme in the Town Park and for flood alleviation work.  
 

d) Additional grant funding of £740,000 from MHCLG is made available 
through the Better Care Fund to support work on disabled adaptations 
to owner occupied properties. Lower demand than anticipated makes it 
unlikely that this grant will be required in full (£466,000). 

 
32. The Non Housing Capital Programme is supported by internal borrowing of 

which there are now two elements. Internal borrowing utilises the cash balances 
of the Council without recourse to borrowing for another lender. It is anticipated 
that the core programme will be supported by borrowing of £2,929,000 in 
2018/19 (original estimate £2,010,000). 
 

33. It is anticipated that the core programme will be supported by £2,929,000 of 
internal borrowing in 2018/19. In addition the EZ will utilise £5,790,000, as set 
out in paragraph 29. Total internal borrowing for 2018/19 will therefore be an 
estimated £8,719,000. 

 
 
 
 
 

313



Table 8 – Borrowing in support of Non Housing Capital Programme 
 

          £000 
Cumulative borrowing as at 31 March 2018 9,535 
New borrowing to finance shortfall in Non Housing Capital 
Programme, 2018/19 8,719 

Cumulative internal borrowing as at 31 March 2019 18,254 

 
34. In 2018/19 carryovers identified as at October 2018 are included in the review of 

new business case bids with Portfolio Holders which agrees the capital 
programme to be proposed for 2019/20. Some carryovers at year end are 
inevitable given the long term nature of capital work. 

 
Recommended Non Housing Capital Programme 2019/20 
 
35. The 2019/20 Non Housing Capital Core Programme totalling £3,490,000 (see 

Table 9) is based on schemes of work which are required to meet the Council’s 
statutory, health and safety, and contractual commitments. Within these 
parameters a number of schemes also provide for the refurbishment of 
commercial properties, maintaining the Council’s ability to rent properties at a 
commercial rate and fulfil its statutory duties as a landlord. 
 

36. In addition to maintaining council assets there is also a focus on energy 
performance and carbon emissions, as well as on the use of local resources and 
sustainability. The longer term nature of capital work is recognised where 
budgets are being proposed to enable planning and preparation work to be 
undertaken in 2019/20 prior to more substantial works in future years. 

 
Table 9 – 2019/20 Programme 
 

Project Area Programme 
£’000 

Paragraph 

Place Services:   

Environmental Health 670 37i 

Latton Bush Centre 567 37ii 

Commercial Properties 535 37iii 

Highways & Car Parks 75 37iv 

Drainage Work 40 37v 

Community Buildings 433 37vi 

Other Schemes/Contingency 173 37vii 

Civic Centre 230 37viii 

Garages 156  

   

Governance 140 38 

Finance 36  

Community Wellbeing 435 39 

   

Sub Total Core Non Housing 
Capital Programme 

3,490  

Prentice Place 2,347 27 

314



Enterprise Zone 5,319 28 

Sub Total Non Core Programme 5,319  

   

TOTAL NON HOUSING CAPITAL 11,156  

   

Financed by:   

Capital Receipts (-)207  

Asset Disposals (-)250  

Earmarked Reserves 0  

Direct Revenue Contribution (-)156  

Renovation Loan  (-)5  

Disabled Facilities Grant (-)500  

Prudential borrowing (-)2,372  

SUB TOTAL CORE FINANCING (-)3,490  

   

Prentice Place capital receipt (-)593  

Prentice Place borrowing (-)1,754  

Enterprise Zone borrowing (-)5,319  

SUB TOTAL NON CORE 
FINANCING 

(-)7,666  

   

TOTAL FINANCING NON HOUSING (-)11,156  

 
37. Place Services:  

 
a) Disabled facility schemes are fully funded (£500,000) and new bids 

include work to allotments, biodiversity security, playgrounds and the 
purchase of a charcoal kiln. This latter will enable the production and 
sale of charcoal at Parndon Wood. 
 

b) Latton Bush Centre – to install two new boilers and also to create 
additional car parking spaces. 
 

c) Work to commercial properties includes new bids to refurbish 1 Bush 
House and Cannons Cottages, with work commencing to Ladyshot 
Sports Pavilion, Bush House Offices and to Barbara Castle Health 
Centre roof. 
 

d) Budgets are included for work to Unadopted Highways and Paving and 
to Unadopted Street Lighting. A budget is included for town wide flood 
alleviation schemes. 
 

e) New bids include work to Mark Hall Barn, Leah Manning Centre boiler 
and kitchen refurbishment and for Harlow Museum. 
 

f) Other Schemes include preparatory work in respect of the Railway 
Bridge in the Town Park, asbestos removal where required and a 
contingency budget for unplanned additional costs against approved 
schemes. 

315



g) Budgets are included to install LED lighting in the Civic Centre and to 
carryout preparation work on the proposed work to windows in the 
Centre. These schemes will assist the Council meet its energy saving 
commitments. 

 
38. Within Governance there is a business case for the installation of a new fully 

integrated Human Resources and Payroll System which will enable the Council 
to meet its contractual and statutory commitments to staff and Government. 
 

39. Within Community Wellbeing new schemes include refurbishment of 21 The 
Rows, sculpture signage at the four main entry points to the Town Centre and 
preparation on the installation of a new boiler at the Playhouse in 2020/21. 
Refurbishment work at the Playhouse continues as part of a planned programme 
through to 2022/23. 

 
Risks 

 
40. Budgets are prepared using the best assumptions at the time. The following 

risks should be noted: 
 

Housing Capital Programme: Risks 
 

41. The continued investment in the Council’s housing stock is dependent on the 
direct revenue contribution from the HRA which is under pressure from the 
reduction of rental income as reported in the HRA Estimates 2019/20 report and 
HRA Business Plan 2018-2048. 
 

42. The cost of any fire stopping works required following the publication of the initial 
report of the Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry in due course. 

 
Non Housing Capital Programme: Risks 

 
43. Key risks in the Non Housing Capital Programme are centred around the 

implications of the completed stock condition survey on the asset management 
programme. The survey found that there is a substantial backlog of work 
required in order to refurbish and maintain council assets. This will shape the 
future of the non housing programme over the five years from 2020/21. 
 

44. There is risk in respect of asset disposals, whereby if disposals do not take 
place resulting in a capital receipt there will be increased pressure on the 
Council’s borrowing requirement. 

 
45. Both the Housing and Non Housing capital programmes are at risk from the cost 

of finding and removing asbestos which is an integral part of the structure of 
many local buildings. 

 
 
 
 
 

316



Conclusion  
 

46. The proposed Housing Capital Programme 2019/20 for £24,044,000 and Non 
Housing Capital Programme for £11,156,000 support the aims and aspirations of 
the Council. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report.  
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
As contained in the body of the report.  
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As outlined in the body of the report.  
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific.  
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific.  
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
Background Papers 
 
None.  
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
EZ- Enterprise Zone 
GF – General Fund 
HIP – Housing Investment Programme 
HR – Human Resources 
HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
HSB- Housing Standards Board 
HTS – HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd 
MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
MTFS- Medium Term Financial Strategy 
RTB – Right to Buy 
SELEP – South East Local Enterprise Partnership 

317



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

24 JANUARY 2019  

TITLE: 
 

DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF POLICY – 
RETAIL RELIEF 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE AND 
DEPUTY TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446228 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  
 

DONNA BEECHENER, REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS MANAGER (01279) 446245 
 

 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I009727 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that it is recommended to Full Council that: 
 
A The proposed Retail Relief Policy (attached as Appendix A to the report) be 

adopted. 
 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Government announced in the Autumn Budget that it will provide relief to all 

occupied retail properties with a rateable value of less than £51,000 in each of 
the financial years 2019-20 and 2020-21. 
 

B The value of the relief will be one third of the bill, and shall be applied after 
mandatory reliefs, discretionary rate relief, and all other discretionary reliefs 
funded by grants under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. Any grant 
of hardship relief is to be applied after the award of retail relief. 
 

C In order to grant retail relief the Council must adopt a local scheme and, in 
accordance with the discretionary rate relief powers contained within Section 47 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended), decide in each 
individual case when relief should be granted. 
 

D The policy proposed in this report takes into account the guidance issued in 
November 2018 by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG). 

318

Agenda Item 9h



BACKGROUND 
 

1. Relief under this policy will only be awarded for the 2019-20 and 2020-21 
financial years only. 
 

2. The cost of awarding the relief will be fully reimbursed by the Government to the 
Council and major precepting authorities through the localised rates retention 
scheme. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
3. It is expected that businesses identified as being entitled to Retail Relief will be 

awarded relief through the Council’s annual billing process. 
 

4. The number of premises that potentially will qualify for the relief is 284. The cost 
of awarding relief will be in the region of £792,000. This cost will be fully 
subsidised by the Government. 

 
5. The MHCLG have advised that the Government is conducting a New Burdens 

assessment on the delivery of the scheme and will provide detail of funding that 
will be paid to local authorities in due course. The Council has not currently been 
advised of the cost of software changes, and potentially these will have to be 
met from the Councils revenue budget if not covered by New Burdens funding. 

 
6. It is important that the Retail Rate Relief Policy clearly shows the criteria on 

which the relief will be awarded, so all potential recipients are aware of why the 
relief has been has either been awarded or refused. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The financial implications are contained within the main report. The cost of the relief 
will be borne by central government however the costs associated with the 
administration of the scheme will be a cost to the Council to be met from existing 
budgets. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As outlined in the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
 
 

319



Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
The proposed Retail Relief policy may help stimulate investment in our town centre 
and neighbourhood areas, which in turn will contribute towards Harlow’s economic 
growth and also to the regeneration of these areas. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
The revised policy translates the Government’s Guidance into changes to our policy 
which accurately reflect the governments intentions. These will apply for the duration 
of the years 2019-2021 and will require amendment by the end of the relief funding 
period. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Retail Rate Relief Policy 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
MCHLG – Ministry of Communities, Housing and Local Government 
 

 

320



Appendix A 

RETAIL RATE RELIEF POLICY 
 

1 BACKGROUND 

1.1 The retail sector is changing, particularly due to internet shopping, and 
many town centres and High Streets are experiencing challenges as they 
look to adapt to changing consumer preferences in how people shop. The 
Government wishes to support town centres in their response by providing 
particular support to retailers 

1.2 The Government announced in the Autumn Budget on 29 October 2018 
that it will provide a relief to all occupied retail properties with a rateable 
value of less than £51,000 in each of the years 2019-20 and 2020-21 only. 

2 INTRODUCTION 

2.1 Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011 amends Section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988. The changes came into effect from 1st 
April 2012 and they extend the provision relating to the granting of 
discretionary rate relief. 

2.2 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 gives Local Authorities the 
power to grant a discretionary retail relief to properties that are occupied 
with a rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly or mainly being 
used as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments. 

3 AVAILABLE RELIEF 

3.1 The value of the relief shall be one third of the bill, and shall be applied to 
the net rates bill after mandatory reliefs, discretionary rate relief, and all 
other discretionary reliefs funded by grants under Section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003. Any grant of Hardship relief is to be applied after 

the award of retail relief. 

3.2 There is no relief available under this policy for properties with a rateable 
value of £51,000 or more. 

3.3 The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and 
calculated on a daily basis. 

3.4 Ratepayers that occupy more than one property will be entitled to relief for 
each of their eligible properties, subject to State Aid de-minimis limits. 

 

4 AWARDING RELIEF 

4.1 Properties that will benefit from the retail rate relief will be occupied 
hereditaments with a rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly 

321



or mainly being used as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking 
establishments. 

4.2 We consider shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments to 
mean: 

(i) Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting 
members of the public: 
 

 Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, 
jewellers, stationers, off-licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware 
stores, supermarkets, etc.) 

 Charity shops 

 Opticians 

 Post offices 

 Furnishing shops/display rooms (such as carpet shops, double 
glazing, garage doors) 

 Car/caravan show rooms 

 Second hand car lots 

 Markets 

 Petrol stations 

 Garden centres 

 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 
 

(ii) Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 
services to visiting members of the public: 
 

 Hair and beauty services (such as hair dressers, nail bars, beauty 
salons, tanning shops, etc.) 

 Shoe repairs/ key cutting 

 Travel agents 

 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre 

 Dry cleaners 

 Launderettes 

 PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair 

 Funeral directors 

 Photo processing 

 Tool hire 

 Car hire 
 

(iii) Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/ or drink to 
visiting members of the public: 
 

 Restaurants 

 Takeaways 

322



 Sandwich shops 

 Coffee shops 

 Pubs 

 Bars 
 

 

4.3 To qualify for relief the hereditament must be wholly or mainly used 
as a shop, restaurant, café or drinking establishment and this is a 
test of use, rather than occupation. Therefore hereditaments which 
are occupied but are not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying 
purpose will not qualify for the discount.  

 

4.4 The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be 
impossible to list the many and varied retail uses that exist. There will also 
be mixed uses. However, it is intended to be a guide as to the types of 
uses that the Council considers to be retail for the purpose of this policy. 
 

4.5 As a guide, the list below sets out the types of uses that the Council does 
not consider to be retail for the purpose of this policy: 
 
(i) Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 
services to visiting members of the public: 
 

 Financial services (such as banks, building societies, cash points, 
bureau de change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers, 
etc.) 

 Other services (such as estate agents, letting agents, employment 
agencies, etc.) 

 Medical services (such as vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, 
chiropractors, etc.) 

 Professional services (such as solicitors, accountants, insurance 
agents, financial advisors, tutors, etc.) 

 Post office sorting offices 
 

(ii) Hereditaments that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members 
of the public. 

 
4.7  Generally, the Council does not consider assembly or leisure use beyond 

that listed at 4.2 to be retail use for the purposes of this policy. For 
example, cinemas, theatres, and museums are outside the scope of this 
policy, as are nightclubs and music venues which are not similar in nature 
to those hereditaments described at 4.2(iii). Hereditaments used for sport 
or recreation (e.g. gyms) are also outside the scope of this policy. 

 

323



5 ADMINISTRATION OF APPLICATIONS FOR RELIEF 

5.1 The Councils Revenues & Benefits service will identify those premises that 
meet the eligibility criteria detailed in this policy and award relief, and all 
recipients will be notified of relief that has been awarded. A declaration of 
De Minimis State Aid Laws will be issued to all recipients to ensure 
compliance.   

 

5.2 Where there is doubt as to eligibility, an application, including a declaration 
of any other De Minimis State Aid received, will be required, together with 
any evidence deemed necessary by the Council to assist in making a 
decision. 
 

5.3 The Council’s Revenues & Benefits Service will administer all awards and 
any applications for retail relief and determine the amount of discretionary 
retail relief to be awarded.  

 

5.4 Decisions regarding applications for discretionary retail rate relief will be 
notified to the ratepayer in writing within 28 days of the decision, or as 
soon as reasonably practicable. Unsuccessful applicants will be given 
reasons for any refusal to award relief. 

 
6 DURATION OF AWARDS 

6.1 The award of discretionary retail rate relief will be made for a fixed period 
ending on 31st March 2020 and 31 March 2021 respectively.  The only 
exception is where the business rates liability of a retail business ends 
before this date. 

 

7 RIGHT OF APPEAL 

7.1 There is no statutory right of appeal against a decision made by the 
Council in respect of discretionary retail rate relief. However, the Council 
will review the decision if the ratepayer is dissatisfied with the outcome. 
This review will be carried out by an officer senior to the original decision 
maker.   

7.2 If an unsuccessful applicant decides to request a review, they will still 
need to continue to pay their rates bill. Once the review has been 
conducted, the ratepayer will be informed in writing whether the original 
decision has been revised or upheld. Notification of the decision will be 
made within 28 days, or as soon as reasonably practicable. 

7.3 The right of appeal process does not affect a ratepayer’s legal right to 
challenge the decision by way of a judicial review. 

324



REPORT TO: 
 

FULL COUNCIL 

DATE: 
 

7 FEBRUARY 2019 

TITLE: 
 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT 
REMUNERATION PANEL 2018/19 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON HILL, HEAD OF GOVERNANCE  
(01279) 446099 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Basic Allowance is increased to £4,485 for the 2019/20 financial year, 

representing a five per cent increase. 
 

B All Special Responsibility Allowances in the Councillor’s Allowance Scheme 
(attached as Appendix A to the report) are increased by two per cent for the 
2019/20 financial year. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Council has a duty under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowance) 

(England) Regulations 2003 to have an Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP). 
The role of the IRP is to make recommendations as to the level of allowances 
and expenses for Councillors and co-optees of the Council. 

 
2. The IRP met on 5 November 2018 to consider any possible changes to the 

Scheme for the 2019/20 financial year. At the meeting it considered: 
 

a) comparative data on allowance scheme for other councils 
 

b) written or verbal statements by the Council’s two Group Leaders. 
 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
3. In reviewing the Council’s current Scheme, the Panel is aware that there have 

been no changes to the level of remuneration for a number of years. It has also 
noted that Council’s Basic Allowance and Special Responsibility Allowances 
(SRAs) are amongst the lowest in Essex. 

 
4. The Panel is mindful that remuneration plays a role in the recruitment and 

retention of Councillors and that low rates of remuneration may deter some 
residents from standing to be Councillors. The Panel considered the comments 
by both Group Leaders that people did not become Councillors for the money.  

 
5. However, the Panel noted the comments by both Group Leaders that respect for 

role of Councillor amongst the public is often lacking. The Panel felt that part of 

325

Agenda Item 9i



respecting the role was the value that was placed upon the role by means of 
remuneration. This meant it was difficult to justify either a reduction in actual 
terms, or a freeze in allowances which would represent a reduction in real terms. 

 
6. The Panel has noted that the Basic Allowance, and the SRAs have not been 

increased for a number of years. During this time the cost of living has increased 
and this meant that, in real terms, the Basic Allowance and SRAs had been cut 
significantly.  

 
7. Both Group Leaders agreed that the average Councillor spends around 10.5 

hours a week performing Council duties. If a Councillor worked for this amount 
of time, the hourly rate for the Basic Allowance was almost identical to the 
National Living Wage. 

 
8. The Council is accredited by the Living Wage Foundation and pays its staff the 

Foundation’s calculation of the Living Wage. The Panel felt that although 
Councillors were not employed by the Council, it was reasonable to use this as a 
starting point when deciding the appropriate level of remuneration.  

 
9. The Basic Allowance when calculated against the Foundation’s Living Wage 

equalled £4,914. The Panel did not feel a 17 per cent increase in the Basic 
Allowance in one year was appropriate or necessary. Therefore, they 
recommended the increase was split over three years resulting in a five per cent 
increase in the next financial year. The subsequent increases would be reviewed 
as part of the annual review of Councillor Allowances. 

 
10. The Panel did not consider that there was a need for the SRAs to be increased 

at the same rate as the Basic Allowance, but they noted that there had been no 
change to the SRAs since 2015/16 when they were reduced by five per cent. It 
was therefore considered appropriate for all SRAs to be increased by two per 
cent, in line with the staff pay award.   

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The financial implications of the proposals set out within the report have been 
calculated and incorporated in to the General Fund Budget for 2019/20 subject to 
Council approval of the recommendations. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
As outlined in the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 

326



Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
As set out within the report. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Proposed Councillor’s Allowance Scheme 2019/20 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
IRP – Independent Remuneration Panel 
SRA – Special Responsibility Allowance 

327



Appendix A 

All Special Responsibility Allowances 
in the Councillor’s Allowance Scheme 

(attached as Appendix A to the 
report) are increased by two per cent 

for the 2019/20 financial 
year.Allowance 

Current 
Allowance (£) 

Proposed 
Allowance 
2019/20 (£) 

 

Increase 
% 

Basic Allowance 
 

4,270 4,485 5 

Leader of the Council 
 

6,840 6,977 2 

Deputy Leader of the Council 
 

4,655 4,748 2 

Chair of the Council 
 

2,500 2,550 2 

Vice-Chair of the Council 
 

500 510 2 

Cabinet Portfolio Holders 
 

2,850 2,907 2 

Chair of “Other Committees” 
 

1,500 1,530 2 

Leader of opposition political groups 200 per group 
member up to a 

maximum of 
2,000 

204 per group 
member up to 

a maximum  of 
2,040 

2 

 
Each Councillor may receive only one special responsibility allowance even if that 
Councillor performs duties in more than one of the categories set out above. 

328



REPORT TO: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

20 NOVEMBER 2018 

TITLE: 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
LICENSING FEES 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: 
 

DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH OFFICER – LICENSING (01279) 446164 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that the Licensing Committee: 
 
A Approves for publication the proposed revised Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire licensing fee structure (attached as Appendix A to the report). 
 
B Subject to no representations being received, recommends to Full Council that 

the proposed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing fee structure be 
adopted with effect from 1 April 2019. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Council makes charges for the grant of driver, operator and vehicle licences 

under Sections 53(2) and 70 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 

 
2. Fees are reviewed annually. Where fees for the grant of a licence are to exceed 

£25, the Act requires that proposals be published in a newspaper circulating in 
the area giving at least 28 days for representations. The Council is obliged to 
consider representations received. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
3. All fees and charges are reviewed annually and may be revised to take account 

of cost of service delivery and inflationary pressures. 
 

4. The Council is advised that the existing fee structure for Operator licenses 
should be consolidated into a single fee. 

 
5. A proposed revised fee structure taking into account the issues identified above 

is set out at Appendix A.   
 

6. The proposed revised fee structure will permit recovery of ongoing 
administration costs from the operator, driver and vehicle licence fees.   

 

329

Agenda Item 9j



7. The proposed revised fee structure would be published in accord with the 
requirement set at out paragraph 2 above. 

 
8. Should there be no representations the proposed revised fee structure would be 

put forward for adoption as part of the Council’s annual fees and charges setting 
round.  Any representations received would be reported to a future meeting of 
Licensing Committee for consideration. Subject to any amendments considered 
necessary the proposed revised fee structure would be put forward for adoption 
by Full Council. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The proposed increases represent identified cost growth in the provision of the 
service and will feature in the budget process for the 2019/20 financial year. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
The Council will follow the correct procedure by advertising the new fees for the 
required 28 days. Provided the Council has due regard to any representations 
received the Council will mitigate the prospect of a challenge to the rise of Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire fees. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand, Solicitor on behalf of Colleen O’Boyle, Interim 
Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Fees 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None. 

330



 

331



Appendix A 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Fees 
 
Licensing Committee 20

th
 November 2018 

 
  
 
Hackney and Private Hire Driver’s Licence   Existing Proposed 

New driver annual licence       £234.00 £240.00 

New 3 year driver annual licence      £396.00 £405.00 

Annual driver licence renewal     £121.00 £124.00 

Three year driver licence renewal     £287.00 £295.00 

New driver licence of less than 1 year    £234.00 £240.00  

Driver licence renewal for less than 1 year     £65.00   £67.00  

Plus £5.00 for each whole or part of a calendar month to a maximum of £124.00 

Note: driver licenses for less than 1 year shall only be issued where the applicant is 

subject to immigration controls. 

 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence    

New vehicle        £290.00 £298.00 

Renewal        £290.00 £298.00 

A rebate of £18.00 shall be paid for each unexpired whole calendar month against a 
new vehicle licence on surrender of an existing vehicle licence and return of door 
panels and plate. 
 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence     

New vehicle        £290.00 £298.00 

Renewal        £290.00 £298.00 

A rebate of £18.00 shall be paid for each unexpired whole calendar month against a 
new vehicle licence on surrender of an existing vehicle licence and return of door 
panels and plate. 
 

Knowledge test       £52.00 £53.00 

DBS Check first check after 1st April 2018   £44.00 £44.00 

DBS Check each subsequent check after 1st April 2018 £64.00 £64.00 

332



Training (CSE and DA)         £50.00 

 

Private Hire Operator Licence       

Annual           £297.00 

5 year           £710.00 

 
Existing Operator Private Hire fee structure 
 
Annual  
  
1to 2 vehicles        £238.00 
3 to 5 vehicles        £435.00 
6 to 10 vehicles        £750.00 
11 to 15 vehicles        £1,141.00 
16 vehicles and above       £1,690.00 
 
Five Year Licence 
 
1to 2 vehicles        £238.00 
3 to 5 vehicles        £435.00 
6 to 10 vehicles        £750.00 
11 to 15 vehicles        £1,141.00 
16 vehicles and above       £1,690.00 
 
 
 

333



REPORT TO: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

22 JANUARY 2019  

TITLE: 
 

LICENSING ACT POLICY REVIEW 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: 
 

DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH OFFICER (01279) 446164 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that the Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council that: 
 
A The draft of the Licensing Act Statement of Policy (attached as Appendix A to 

the report) is adopted. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Licensing Act 2003 requires that local authorities review their statement of 

licensing policy every five years. 
 

2. The Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy was originally based on the Essex 
Model Policy developed jointly by the Essex Licensing Authorities with Essex 
Police, Essex County Fire and Rescue Service.  Minor revisions and 
amendments have been made to the policy at this stage to reflect local needs 
and changes to legislation and guidance. 

 
3. The draft policy was sent for consultation on 10 December 2018 and published 

on the Council’s website.  The Licensing Team has written to all premises licence 
holders, all responsible authorities and a wide range of organisations listed in the 
policy to advise them about the consultation. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
4. No representations were received.    
 
5. The final draft version of the policy is Appendix A. It is proposed that adoption of 

the draft policy be recommended to Full Council. 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As set out in the report. 
Author: Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager on behalf of Graeme 
Bloomer, Head of Place 

334

Agenda Item 9k



Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
Having a Licensing Act Policy underpins the Council’s ability to take enforcement 
action if required. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
Implementation of this policy will satisfy the Local Authority’s statutory obligations 
required under the Licensing Act 2003. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Draft Harlow Council Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
Background Papers 
 
Licensing Act 2003  
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None.  
 

 

335



Appendix A 

  
 

 

 

Harlow Council 
Statement of 

Licensing Policy 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Made under Section 5 of the  
Licensing Act 2003 

 
 

 

Published [to be inserted] 2019 
 

To be reviewed by 7 February 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Should you require further information please contact the Licensing Team, Civic Centre, The 

Water Gardens, Harlow, Essex, CM20 1WG. 
Email: licensing@harlow.gov.uk  Telephone: (01279) 446005/446357/446320 

336

mailto:licensing@harlow.gov.uk


Harlow Council Licensing Policy (Draft Version) December 2018  
  

Contents 
 
 
 
Introduction          1 
 
  The Licensing Objectives      1 
 
  Statement of Licensing Policy     2 
 
  Consultation        2 
 
  Links to other Strategies      2 
 
  Applications        3 
 
  Representations       4 
 
  Conditions        5 
 
  Delegation of Functions      6 
 
  The Need for Licensed Premises     6 
 
  Cumulative Impact       6 
 
  Late Night Levy       7 
 
  Early Morning Restriction Order     7 
 
  Advice and Guidance      8 
 
  Reviews        8 
 
  Enforcement        9 
 
 
Licensing Objectives        9 
 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder      11 
 
Public Safety         13 
 
Prevention of Public Nuisance       14 
 
Protection of Children from Harm      15 
 
List of Appendices 
 
A. Delegation of Powers 
B. Relevant Authorities:  Contact Details 

337



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (Draft Version) December 2018  
  

C. Useful Addresses 
D. References to Best Practice Guides 
E. The Application Process 
F. Objections/Representations/Reviews and Appeals 

338



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 1 of 41  

HARLOW COUNCIL LICENSING POLICY       

     
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 Harlow Council is the Licensing Authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and is 

responsible for granting premises licences, club premises certificates, 
temporary events notices and personal licences in the District of Harlow in 
respect of the sale and/or supply of alcohol and the provision of regulated 
entertainment and late night refreshment.  Since it initially came into effect, 
the Licensing Act 2003 has been subject to a number of amendments.  All 
references to the Licensing Act 2003 contained within this policy relate to the 
Licensing Act 2003 (as amended). 

 

1.2 When assessing applications, the Council must be satisfied that the measures 
proposed in the applicant’s operating schedule aim to achieve the four 
licensing objectives. Bold type refers to matters that the Council expects to 
see addressed in the applicant’s operating schedule, where appropriate. 
Passages of text that are not in bold are provided to assist applicants to 
understand what the Council is seeking to achieve, the factors that influence 
the achievement of the licensing objectives and the control measures that 
could be implemented by the applicant to achieve that outcome.  

 
1.3 This policy covers a wide variety of premises and activities carried on in them 

including theatres, cinemas, restaurants, pubs, nightclubs, private members’ 
clubs, educational establishments and community centres, as well as shops 
and off-licences and late night food premises and vehicles selling hot food or 
hot drink after 11p.m. For this reason, this policy cannot detail all the factors 
that influence the achievement of the licensing objectives nor can this policy 
detail all the control measures that may be appropriate.  

 

The Licensing Objectives 
 
1.4 The 2003 Act requires the Council to carry out its various licensing functions 

so as to promote the four licensing objectives. These are:  
 

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

 Public Safety 

 The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

 The Protection of Children From Harm 
 
 These are the only four matters to which the Local Authority can have 

regard 
 

1.5 Applicants will have to set out details within their operating schedule 
measures which are of the right kind and go far enough to meet each of 
the four licensing objectives. Applicants will need to provide evidence 
that these measures will be put in place and maintained. The applicant 
will in the same way also have to set out support with evidence any 

339



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 2 of 41  

measures needed to deal with any special event or promotion, which is 
likely to attract more customers than usual.                                                                  

 
Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
1.6 The 2003 Act further requires that the Council publishes a ‘Statement of 

Licensing Policy’ that sets out the policies the Council will generally apply to 
promote the licensing objectives when making decisions on applications made 
under the Act.  

 
1.7 This ‘Statement of Licensing Policy’ has been prepared in accordance with 

the provisions of the 2003 Act and having regard to the guidance issued 
under Section 182 of the Act. It was originally drafted in partnership with the 
Essex Joint Licensing Officers’ Forum and the Harlow Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Partnership (Safer Harlow Partnership) and is underpinned by 
partnership work with the Essex Joint Licensing Officers’ Forum and the 
Harlow Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (Safer Harlow 
Partnership).  These partnerships provide links to the Essex Chief Executives’ 
Association’s Crime and Disorder Steering Group, who will maintain a 
strategic overview of issues associated with permissions issued under the 
Licensing Act 2003.  

 
1.8 This Policy Statement takes effect on [to be inserted] and will remain in force 

for a period of not more than 5 years. It will be subject to regular review and 
further consultation prior to February 2024. 

 
1.9 From time to time the Government may update the Regulations and Guidance 

made under the Licensing Act 2003.  Interim review of this policy may be 
necessary as a result of such changes. 

 
1.10 Supplementary information contained in the appendices is available to support 

this Policy Statement.  It is intended that this will provide local information 
which may be helpful to applicants.  It should not be interpreted as legal 
advice. 

 

Consultation 
 
1.11 There are a number of groups who have a stake in the leisure industry, 

including providers, customers, residents and enforcers, all of whom have 
views and concerns that require consideration as part of the licensing function 
and promotion of the licensing objectives.  

 
1.12 In developing this Policy Statement, the Council consulted with statutory 

consultees (Responsible Authorities), existing licence holders, businesses, 
voluntary groups, residents and relevant Harlow Council Services.   

 
Links to other Strategies 
 
1.13 Links 1.13 In preparing this statement of licensing policy, the Council has consulted 

with and has considered the responses of those involved in its local strategies on 
crime prevention, planning, public transport, culture, tourism and economic 
development, to ensure the proper co-ordination and integration of the aims and 

340



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 3 of 41  

actions of these policies. Review and amendment of these strategies will be 
considered for their impact on this statement of licensing policy.   

 
1.14 Further, arrangements will be made for the Licensing Committee to receive 

reports, when appropriate, on the needs of the local tourist economy to 
ensure that these are reflected in their considerations. The Licensing 
Committee will also be apprised of the local employment situation and the 
need for new investment and employment, where appropriate. 

 
1.15 To ensure proper integration with the Council’s planning policies, the 

Licensing Committee will provide reports to the Planning Committee, where 
appropriate, on the situation regarding licensed premises in the area, 
including the general impact of alcohol related crime and disorder, to enable 
the planning committee to have regard to such matters when making its 
decisions. 

 
1.16 The Council recognises its responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010.  The 

impact of this policy on equality issues will be kept under review  and the 
policy amended where appropriate. 

 
1.17 Having regard to the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, a diverse 

provision of cultural activities is welcomed for the benefit of communities. The 
Council will monitor the licensing of regulated entertainment, especially with 
regard to live music and dancing, theatrical performances, circuses, etc. 
where these remain licensable activities, to ensure that such events are 
promoted without unreasonable restrictions being imposed, which would 
discourage such events. The Council will need to balance the natural concern 
to prevent disturbance in neighbourhoods with the wider cultural benefits, 
particularly the cultural benefits for children. Advice and guidance on this 
matter will be sought from the Council’s Arts Development Officer.  

 
Applications 
 
1.18  When considering applications etc. the Council will have regard to: 
 

 The Licensing Act 2003 and the licensing objectives, 

 Government guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, 

 Any supporting regulations 
 This statement of licensing policy 

 
1.19 This does not however undermine the rights of any person to apply under the 

2003 Act for a variety of permissions and have the application considered on 
its individual merits, nor does it override the right of any person to make 
representations on any application or seek a review of a licence or certificate 
where they are permitted to do so under the 2003 Act. 
 

1.20 When the Council is considering any application, it will avoid duplication with 
other regulatory regimes, so far as possible and does not intend to use the 
licensing regime to achieve outcomes that can be achieved by other 
legislation. In particular, its licensing functions will be discharged separately 
from its functions as the local planning authority. However, applications for 

341



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 4 of 41  

premises licences for permanent commercial premises should normally 
be from businesses with planning consent for the property concerned. 
(Other permissions may be applicable to licensed premises and applicants 
are expected to ensure that such permissions are obtained where 
necessary.)  
 

1.21 When one part of the Council seeks a premises licence from the licensing 
authority, the licensing committee and its officers will consider the matter from 
an entirely neutral standpoint. If relevant representations are made, for 
example by local residents or the police the committee will consider them 
impartially and objectively.  

 
1.22 In all cases, applicants and those making representation in respect of 

applications to the Council have a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 
against the decisions of the Council. 

 
1.23 Appendix E provides applicants with the details of the application process, 

having regard to the Licensing Act 2003, the regulations, statutory guidance 
and local practice and procedures. 

 
Representations 
 
1.24 Essex Police, Essex County Fire and Rescue Service, Essex Trading 

Standards, the Enforcing Authority for Health and Safety purposes, the local 
Planning Authority, the Environmental Health Housing and Pollution Section, 
the Licensing Authority as a Responsible Authority in its own right, the local 
health body, and the Essex County Council Child Protection are all known as 
‘Responsible Authorities’. These responsible authorities may make 
representations on applications, so far as they relate to the promotion of the 
four licensing objectives, and request reviews once licences have been 
granted. 

 
1.25 Persons that live in or are involved in a business in the licensing authority 

area, or their representatives, are ‘interested persons’ and are able to raise 
relevant representations.  A representation would only be ‘relevant’ if it 
relates to the effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of at least one 
of the four licensing objectives. In addition, the representation must not be 
frivolous or vexatious, and in the case of reviews, in addition, not repetitious. 

 
1.26 It is only when well founded relevant representations are received, that the 

Licensing Authority may hold a hearing.  It will pay particular attention at any 
hearing whether to impose additional conditions to any which may already be 
included in the operating schedule, with a view to promoting the objectives. 

 
1.27 Where no representations are received, the application will be granted on the 

terms sought by the applicant where the application is made in accordance 
with the Act. 

 
 
Conditions 
 

342



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 5 of 41  

1.28 Licensing is about the appropriate control of licensed premises, qualifying 
clubs, temporary events and the people who manage them or hold personal 
licences within the terms of the 2003 Act. Where relevant representations are 
made, the Council will make objective judgements as to whether it should 
attach conditions to a licence to secure achievement of the licensing 
objectives. Any conditions arising from the operating schedule, or as a result 
of representations, will primarily focus on the direct impact of the activities 
taking place at licensed premises on those attending the premises and 
members of the public living, working or otherwise engaged in normal activity 
in the area concerned. The conditions will cover matters that are within the 
control of individual licensees. 

 
1.29 Licensing powers cannot be used for the general control of the anti-social 

behaviour of individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the 
licensee of any premises concerned. However, other mechanisms may be 
used, where appropriate, to tackle any unruly or unlawful behaviour of 
consumers when beyond the control of the individual, club or business 
holding the licence. These include: 

 

 Planning controls  

 Positive measures to create a safe and clean town environment in 
partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other 
departments of the local authority 

 The provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, sufficient taxi 
ranks, street cleaning and litter patrols  

 Powers of local authorities to put in place ‘public space protection 
orders’ to control undesirable activities or activities that cause anti-
social behaviour including drinking in the street 

 Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-
social behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices 

 The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at 
such premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk 

 The confiscation of alcohol from children and adults in protected areas 

 Police and/or local authority powers to close down instantly for up to 24 
hours any licensed premises or temporary events on grounds of 
disorder, the likelihood of disorder or noise emanating from the 
premises causing a nuisance 

 The power of the police, other responsible authorities or other 
interested party to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question 

 Hackney carriage and private hire licensing arrangements 

 The effective licensing of tables and chairs (facilities) outside of 
licensed premises 

 
1.30 If an applicant for a licence volunteers a prohibition or restriction in their 

operating schedule because it has been identified as being necessary as a 
result of their own risk assessment, such volunteered prohibitions or 
restrictions will become conditions attached to the licence, or certificate and 
will be enforceable.  

 
1.31 All applications will be considered on an individual basis. In order to avoid the 

imposition of disproportionate or burdensome conditions, any conditions 

343



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 6 of 41  

attached to a licence will be tailored to the individual premises. Standard 
conditions, other than mandatory conditions, will therefore be avoided and no 
condition will be imposed that cannot be shown to be necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
Delegation of Functions 
 
1.32 With the exception of the approval and review of its Licensing Policy, 

decisions on licensing matters will be taken in accordance with an approved 
scheme of delegation so that decisions are made quickly and efficiently. A 
table setting out how the licensing authority intends to approach its various 
functions is attached at Appendix A.  The Licensing Committee will receive 
regular reports regarding licences determined by Officers under delegated 
powers, in order to maintain a general overview.  

 
The Need for Licensed Premises 
 
1.33 There can be confusion about the difference between “need” and the  

“cumulative impact” of premises on the licensing objectives. “Need” concerns 
the commercial demand for another pub, off licence, restaurant or hotel etc. 
This is not a matter for a licensing authority in discharging its licensing 
functions or for its statement of licensing policy.  

 
Cumulative Impact of a Concentration of Licensed Premises  
 

1.34 “Cumulative impact” means the potential impact on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated 
in one area. This is a proper matter for a licensing authority to consider in 
developing its licensing policy statement. 

 
1.35 The Council acknowledges that a concentration of licensed premises in a 

particular area can result in an increased number of people walking through or 
congregating in streets during the night with the potential impact of an 
increase in crime, anti-social behaviour, noise and other disturbance to 
residents, together with an increase in littering or fouling. In such cases the 
amenity of local residents can be placed under severe pressure, which may 
not be attributable to any individual premises. 

 
1.36 The Council will only adopt a special policy on cumulative impact if there is 

evidence that such a policy is necessary to prevent unacceptable anti-social 
behaviour and crime impacts. 

 

1.37 The licensing team will have regard to current and emerging evidence when 
making an assessment as to whether it will recommend to the Licensing 
Committee that a cumulative impact assessment should be made in relation 
to a particular area. The assessment will be based on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

 
1.38 The cumulative impact of licensed premises in a particular area may, at a 

future time, on representation from residents or businesses or a responsible 
authority, trigger the consideration of whether any additional licences or 
substantial variations to existing licences, would lead to an unacceptable 

344



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 7 of 41  

saturation in an area. The onus will be on the person or body making the 
representation to provide suitable evidence to warrant a consideration of 
whether cumulative impact exists. 

 
Late Night Levy 
 
1.39 The Licensing Authority has at its disposal, the power to implement a Late           

Night levy. This power has been available since October 2012.  
 

1.40 The Levy is a means of raising funds from businesses which are licensed to 
open after midnight in order to help police the negative impact of the late 
night economy. The money raised by the Levy is shared with the Police on a 
70%/30% split after Local Authority costs have been deducted. 
 

1.41 The Local Authority’s 30% share must be spent on managing the effects of 
the night time economy.  
 

1.42 The Late Night Levy is a discretionary power and can be implemented by the 
Licensing Committee should it be deemed appropriate to do so. 

 
1.43 The Levy covers the whole district and affects all businesses which hold a 

licence to open during the hours adopted by the Levy irrespective of whether 
the business chooses to open during those hours or not. 

 
1.44 In making such a decision, the Licensing Committee will take into account 

evidence from any of the Responsible Authorities about negative impact of 
the night time economy and consult with affected businesses as well as 
publishing its intention to implement a Levy for general public perusal and 
comment.  

 
Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Order 
 
1.45 Licensing Authority’s may implement an Early Morning Alcohol Restriction       

Order (EMRO) if it so chooses. 
 
1.46 An EMRO allows the Licensing Authority to require businesses to stop 

serving alcohol between the hours specified by the Order. 
 

1.47 The EMRO can apply to part of the district as opposed the Late Night Levy 
which must apply to the whole district. 

 
1.48 The Licensing Authority must be satisfied that there is enough evidence of a 

negative impact of the night time economy in the area to which the EMRO will 
apply. 

 
1.49 Before applying the EMRO, the Licensing Authority will consult with 

Responsible Authorities, local businesses, particularly those to be affected by 
the Order and publish its intention to implement an Order for general public 
perusal and comment. 

 

345



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 8 of 41  

Advice and Guidance 
 
1.50 Harlow Council recognises the valuable cultural, social and business 

importance that premises and events requiring a licence under the Licensing 
Act provide and welcomes the diversity of activities that are provided by 
licence holders.  

 
1.51 Pre-application discussions will be encouraged to assist applicants to develop 

their operating schedule.   
 
1.52 The licensing team will, where resources permit, liaise with applicants and 

interested parties who may intend to make representations to achieve a 
satisfactory outcome for all involved prior to submission of a formal licence 
application. Where an applicant considers that liaison may be beneficial, we 
recommend the applicant discusses their proposal with the licensing team and 
those from whom they think representations are likely prior to submitting their 
application. Once an application has been lodged, there are statutory 
timescales imposed upon the application and determination process, which 
restrict the opportunity for such discussions, liaison and mediation. 

 
1.53 Appendices C and D provide details of various organisations, trade 

associations and reference literature that an applicant may find useful in 
preparing an operating schedule and running a safe premises/event. 

 
 
Reviews 
 
1.54 Where appropriate any Responsible Authority will likely give early warning to 

licence holders of any concerns about problems identified at premises and of 
the need for improvement. 

 
1.55 Responsible authorities or persons who live or are involved in a business in 

the relevant licensing area can trigger a review of a premises licence.  The 
application for review must be supported with evidence. 

 
1.56 No more than one review from an interested person will be normally 

permitted within a 12-month period on similar grounds except in exceptional 
and compelling circumstances.  Each application will be considered on its 
own merits. 

 
  
Enforcement 
 
1.57   The Council recognises the interests of both citizens and businesses and will 

work closely with partners to assist licence holders to comply with the law and 
the four licensing objectives it seeks to promote.  Progressive and 
proportionate action will be taken against those who commit offences or 
consistently break the law. The Council has set clear standards of service and 
performance that the public and businesses can expect. In particular, it has 
adopted a Licensing Enforcement Policy that explains how the Council will 
undertake its role as Licensing Authority and how the principles of effective 

346



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 9 of 41  

enforcement will be followed. This policy is freely available from the Licensing 
Department and can also be viewed on the Council’s website: 
www.harlow.gov.uk 

 
1.58 The Enforcement Policy is based on the principles that businesses should: 
 

 Receive clear assistance from the licensing team on the action they are required 
to take and the timescale 

 Be given, where appropriate, opportunity to resolve differences before 
enforcement action is taken 

 Receive an explanation of their rights of appeal 
 
1.59   The Council has established an enforcement protocol with Essex Police, 

Essex County Fire and Rescue Service and Essex County Council Trading 
Standards. This protocol provides for the targeting of resources towards high-
risk premises and activities that require greater attention, while providing a 
lighter touch in respect of low risk premises that are well operated. 
 

2.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVES 
 
2.1 The following sections set out the Council’s Policy relating specifically to the 

four licensing objectives:  
 

 The prevention of crime and disorder 

 Public safety 

 The prevention of public nuisance 

 The protection of children from harm 
 
2.2 In each section relating to the objectives, the Council has defined its intended 

outcome in bold type. Each section then lists the influencing factors on the 
achievement of that objective but, because of the wide variety of premises 
and activities to which this policy applies, the lists provided are not 
exhaustive. Applicants should know their premises and will be expected 
to address all aspects relevant to the individual style and 
characteristics of their premises and events.  Pre-application discussions 
with the Responsible Authorities are encouraged to assist applicants to 
develop their operating schedule. 

 
2.3 To assist applicants, a list of possible control measures is provided.  The list 

is not exhaustive. Many control measures achieve more than one objective 
but have not necessarily been listed under each objective. Similarly, 
applicants will not be required to mention a control measure more than once 
in their operating schedule. 

 
2.4 The selection of control measures, referred to in 2.3 above, should be 

based upon a risk assessment of the premises, events, activities and 
the customers expected to attend (e.g. their age, number, etc.). Whilst 
the Council cannot require such risk assessments to be documented, (other 
than where required by other legislation), it considers such documentation to 
be good practice. It will be a useful tool in the instruction and training of staff, 

347

http://www.harlow.gov.uk/


Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 10 of 41  

as well as a sound basis in the event of making an application for a variation 
or in response to changing circumstances/conditions at the premises. 

 
2.5 Additional measures may be necessary on an occasional or specific basis 

such as when a special event (e.g. popular live band) or promotion (e.g. 
during major sporting occasions) is planned. These occasions can often 
attract larger audiences and/or audiences of a different nature, and this can 
have a significant impact on the achievement of the licensing objectives. 
Reference must be made in an applicant’s operating schedule, where 
applicable, to such occasions and the additional measures that are 
planned in order to promote the licensing objectives. 

 
2.6 The Council considers the effective and responsible management of the 

premises, instruction, training and supervision of staff and the adoption of 
best practice to be amongst the most essential control measures for the 
achievement of all the licensing objectives. For this reason, these elements 
should be specifically considered and addressed within an applicant’s 
operating schedule. 

 
2.7 In addition, the occupancy capacity for premises, and events as appropriate, 

is also considered to be an essential factor in the achievement of the four 
licensing objectives, (except in respect of premises licensed for the 
consumption of food and/or alcohol off the premises).  
 
The Council will expect the issue of occupancy capacity to be 
considered within the applicant’s operating schedule and fire risk 
assessment.    

 
2.8 The design and layout of premises are important in determining capacity, as 

is the availability and size of exits within recommended travel distances. 
Other factors should also be considered when assessing the appropriate 
capacity for premises or events. These include: 

 

 The nature of the premises or event 

 The nature of the licensable activities being provided 

 The provision or removal of temporary structures, such as a stage, or 
furniture 

 The number of staff available to supervise customers both ordinarily and 
in the event of an emergency 

 The age of the customers 

 The attendance by customers with disabilities, or whose first language is 
not English 

 Availability of suitable and sufficient sanitary accommodation 

 Nature and provision of facilities for ventilation 
 
2.9 The agreed premises capacity for premises or events may not always require 

that permanent monitoring arrangements such as door supervisors, 
attendance clickers or maintenance of attendance records are required. The 
Council recognises that the person in charge at the premises can often 
readily assess the occupancy level of the premises without resort to such 
measures. However, where the capacity is likely to be reached (such as 

348



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 11 of 41  

on known busy evenings) and particularly where a special event or 
promotion is planned, the applicant will be expected to detail the 
additional arrangements that will be put in place to ensure that the 
capacity of the premises is not exceeded. 

 
2.10 The licensing authority will process applications for minor variations to 

premises licences when satisfied that the variation will not adversely impact on 
the licensing objectives.  The licensing authority will consult with responsible 
authorities whom they deem necessary to make such assessment. 

 
3.0 PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER 
 
3.1 Harlow Council is committed to further improving the quality of life for the 

people of the District of Harlow by continuing to reduce crime and the fear of 
crime.  

 
3.2 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 introduced a wide range of 

measures for preventing crime and disorder and imposed a duty on Harlow 
Council, Essex Police, Essex County Council and others to consider crime 
and disorder reduction in the exercise of all their duties. The Licensing Act 
2003 reinforces this duty for local authorities.  The Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 provides for additional enforcement actions and 
sanctions which may be used by the Council and Police to deal with crime 
and anti-social behaviour. 

 

3.3 The promotion of the licensing objective, to prevent crime and disorder, 
places a responsibility on licence holders to become key partners in achieving 
this objective.  

 
Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule 
that suitable and sufficient measures to reduce or prevent crime and 
disorder on and in the vicinity of their premises have been identified and 
will be implemented and maintained. The measures will be relevant to 
the individual style and characteristics of their premises and events. 

 

3.4 When addressing the issue of crime and disorder, the applicant should 
demonstrate that those factors, which impact on crime and disorder, have 
been considered. These may include: 
 Underage drinking 
 Drunkenness on premises 
 Public drunkenness 
 Drugs 
 Violent behaviour 
 Anti-social behaviour 

 
3.5 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants 

who may need to take account of them in their operating schedule, having 
regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities.  The list is not 
exhaustive and the examples given will not be applicable in all cases. 

 
 Effective and responsible management of premises 
 Documented staff training 

349



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 12 of 41  

 Supervision of staff 
 Number of personal licence holders present 
 Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Safer Clubbing, the 

Government’s Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy ‘Safe. Sensible. Social.’ 
and other voluntary codes of practice, including those relating to drinks 
promotions e.g. The Point of Sale Promotions published by BBPA, 
Security in Design published by BBPA and Drugs and Pubs, published by 
BBPA) 

 Acceptance of accredited ‘proof of age’ cards e.g. PASS, locally 
approved ‘proof of age’ cards and/or ‘new type’ driving licences with 
photographs and/or passports 

 Adoption of a ‘Challenge 25’ policy. An approved ID must be provided to 
prove that they are over 18 years of age.  

 Provision of effective CCTV in and around premises with the retention of 
images for a suitable period in accordance with Home Office Best 
Practice Guidance. 

 Design and seating layout 
 Employment of Security Industry Authority licensed door staff 
 Provision of toughened or plastic drinking vessels 
 Provision of secure, deposit boxes for confiscated items (‘sin bins’) 
 Provision of litterbins and other security measures, such as lighting, 

outside premises 
 Membership of local ‘Pubwatch’ schemes or similar organisations 
 Prohibition on glass bottles being served to customers. 
 

Pre-application discussions with the Responsible Authorities are encouraged 
to assist applicants to develop their operating schedule. 

 
3.6 Within the operating schedule for premises from which alcohol will be sold, 

with the exception of qualifying community premises, a Premises Supervisor 
must be designated (‘Designated Premises Supervisor’ DPS). The Council 
will normally expect the DPS to have been given the day to day responsibility 
for running the premises by the premises licence holder and so would expect 
the DPS be present on the licensed premises on a regular basis. In addition 
to the DPS holding a personal licence, the Council would strongly encourage 
the DPS to undergo additional training, and to have experience 
commensurate with the nature and style of any regulated entertainment 
provided and the capacity of the premises.  

 
3.7 A licence is not needed for certain temporary events but the Temporary Event 

Notice procedure can be used to notify the Council, Essex Police and 
Environmental Health Services. Certain events not needing a premises 
licence can, however, have serious implications on all four licence objectives. 
Organisers of these events are encouraged to submit their notification as 
soon as reasonably practicable to enable the Police, Environmental Health 
Services and the Council to work with them to identify and reduce the risk to 
the licensing objectives.  

 
4.0 PUBLIC SAFETY 
 

350



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 13 of 41  

4.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to ensuring that the safety of any 
person visiting or working in licensed premises is not compromised.   
 
Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule 
that suitable and sufficient measures to ensure public safety have been 
identified and will be implemented and maintained. These will be 
relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and 
events.   

 
4.2 When addressing public safety, an applicant must demonstrate factors which 

impact on public safety have been considered. These may include: 
 

 The occupancy capacity of the premises 

 The age, design and layout of the premises, evacuation procedures, and 
fire resistance of materials and furnishings 

 The nature of the licensable activities to be provided, in particular the 
sale or supply of alcohol, and/or the provision of music and dancing and 
including whether those activities are of a temporary or permanent nature 

 Hours of operation (differentiating the hours of opening from the hours 
when licensable activities are provided, if different) 

 Customer profile (e.g. age, disability) 

 Use of special effects such as lasers, pyrotechnics, smoke machines, 
foam machines, etc. 

 Automatic fire detection systems and emergency lighting. 
 
4.3 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants 

who may need to take account of them in their operating schedule, having 
regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities. The list is not 
exhaustive and the examples given will not be applicable in all cases. 

 

 Suitable and sufficient risk assessments  

 Effective and responsible management of premises 

 Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to 
secure the safety of the premises and patrons 

 Employment of Security Industry Authority licensed door staff  

 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or 
engaged to secure the safety of the premises and patrons 

 Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Guide to Fire Precautions in 
Existing Places of Entertainment and Like Premises, The Event Safety 
Guide) 

 Provision of effective CCTV in and around premises 

 Provision of toughened or plastic drinking vessels 

 Implementation of crowd management measures 

 Proof of regular testing (and certification where appropriate) of 
procedures, appliances, systems etc. pertinent to safety 

 
Pre-application discussions with the Responsible Authorities are encouraged 
to assist applicants to develop their operating schedule. 

 
 

351



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 14 of 41  

5.0 PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE 
 
5.1 Licensed premises may have a significant potential to adverse impact on 

communities due to public nuisances that arise from their operation.   
The Council wishes to maintain and protect the amenity of residents and 
other businesses from the consequence of the operation of licensed premises 
whilst recognising the valuable cultural, social and business importance that 
such premises provide. 

 

5.2 The Council intends to interpret “public nuisance” in its widest sense, and 
takes it to include such issues as noise, light, odour, litter and anti-social 
behaviour, where these matters impact on those living, working or otherwise 
engaged in normal activity in an area. 

 

5.3 Applicants need to be clear that the Council will normally apply stricter 
conditions, including controls on licensing hours, where licensed premises are 
in residential areas and where relevant representations have been received. 
Conversely, premises for which it can be demonstrated effective measures 
planned to prevent public nuisance are in place, may be suitable for longer 
opening hours. 

 
5.4 In the case of shops, stores and supermarkets selling alcohol, the Council will 

normally permit the hours during which alcohol is sold to match the normal 
trading hours during which other sales take place, unless there are 
exceptional reasons relating to disturbance or disorder. 

 
5.5 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule 

that suitable and sufficient measures to prevent public nuisance have 
been identified and will be implemented and maintained. These will be 
relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and 
events.   

 
5.6 When addressing the issue of prevention of public nuisance, the applicant 

must demonstrate that those factors, which impact on the likelihood of public 
nuisance, have been considered. These may include: 

 The location of premises and proximity to residential and other noise 
sensitive premises, such as hospitals, hospices and places of worship 

 The hours of opening, particularly between 23.00 and 07.00. 

 The nature of activities to be provided, including whether those activities 
are of a temporary or permanent nature and whether they are to be held 
inside or outside premises 

 The design and layout of premises and in particular the presence of noise 
limiting features e.g. noise limiter, sealed thresholds, air cooling 

 Provision of facilities for smokers in line with Health Act 2006 

 The occupancy capacity of the premises 

 The availability of local public transport including hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles 

 ‘Wind down period’ between the end of the licensable activities and 
closure of the premises  

 Last admission time 

352



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 15 of 41  

 
5.7 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants 

who may need to take account of them in their operating schedule, having 
regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities. The list is not 
exhaustive and the examples given will not be applicable in all cases. 

 

 Effective and responsible management of premises 

 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or 
engaged to prevent incidents of public nuisance, e.g. to ensure 
customers leave quietly 

 Control of operating hours for all or parts (e.g. garden areas) of premises, 
including such matters as deliveries 

 Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Good Practice Guide on the 
Control of Noise from Pubs and Clubs, produced by Institute of 
Acoustics, Licensed Property: Noise, published by BBPA)  

 Installation of soundproofing, air conditioning, acoustic lobbies and sound 
limitation devices 

 Management of people, including staff, and traffic (and resulting queues) 
arriving and leaving premises, including dispersal policies 

 Liaison with public transport providers 

 Siting of external lighting, including security lighting 

 Management arrangements for collection and disposal of litter including 
smoking-related litter 

 Effective ventilation systems to prevent nuisance from odour  

 Siting of smoking areas in relation to adjoining residential areas 
 
 Pre-application discussions with the Responsible Authorities are encouraged 

to assist applicants to develop their operating schedule. 
 
 
6.0 PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM  
 
6.1 The protection of children from harm is a high priority. It is hoped that family 

friendly premises will thrive, but the risk of harm to children remains a critical 
consideration when determining applications. 

 
6.2 The general relaxation in the Licensing Act giving accompanied children 

greater access to licensed premises is a positive step, aimed at bringing 
about a social change in family friendly leisure. Clearly this relaxation places 
additional responsibilities upon licence holders. However, it is recognised that 
parents and others accompanying children also have responsibilities.  

 
6.3 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from 

moral, psychological and physical harm and in relation to the exhibition of 
films, or transmission of programmes or videos, this includes the protection of 
children from exposure to strong language and sexual expletives. In certain 
circumstances children are more vulnerable and their needs will require 
special consideration. Examples would include topless bar staff, striptease, 
lap, table or pole dancing, performances involving feigned violence or horrific 
incidents, feigned or actual sexual acts or fetishism, or entertainment 
involving strong and offensive language. This vulnerability includes their 

353



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 16 of 41  

susceptibility to suggestion, peer group influences, the unpredictability of their 
age and the lack of understanding of danger.  Premises which are licensed as 
sexual entertainment venues under the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 will be subject to additional regulation to protect children 
from harm. 

 
6.4 For premises that sell or supply alcohol one of the main issues in respect of 

the protection of children from harm is in preventing the unauthorised access 
to it by underage persons. 

 
6.5 The Council considers that, on the one hand, there should be no presumption 

of giving children access or, on the other hand, no presumption of preventing 
their access to licensed premises. The Council has no intention of imposing 
conditions requiring the admission of children and, where no licensing 
restriction is necessary, admission of children will remain entirely a matter for 
the discretion of the individual licensee or club, or person who has given a 
temporary event notice.   

 
6.6 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule 

that suitable and sufficient measures to protect children from harm 
have been identified and will be implemented and maintained. These will 
be relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises 
and events.   

 
6.7 Whilst children may be adequately protected from harm by the action taken to 

protect adults, they may also need special consideration and no policy can 
anticipate every situation. When addressing the issue of protecting children 
from harm, the applicant must demonstrate that those factors that impact on 
harm to children have been considered. Areas that will give particular 
concern in respect of children include:  

 

 where entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature are 
commonly provided 

 where there have been convictions of members of the current staff at the 
premises for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for underage 
drinking 

 with a known association with drug taking or dealing 

 where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises, and 

 where the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the 
exclusive or primary purpose of the services provided at the premises. 

 
6.8 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants 

and are considered to be amongst the most essential that applicants should 
take account of in their operating schedule, having regard to their particular 
type of premises and/or activities. The list is not exhaustive and the examples 
given will not be applicable in all cases. 

 

 Effective and responsible management of premises 

 Employment of Security Industry Authority licensed door staff 

 Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to 
secure the protection of children from harm 

354



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 17 of 41  

 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or 
engaged to secure the protection of children from harm 

 Adoption of best practice guidance (Public Places Charter, The Portman 
Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of 
Alcoholic Drinks) 

 Limitations on the hours when children may be present, in all or parts of 
the premises 

 Limitations or exclusions by age when certain activities are taking place 

 Imposition of requirements for children to be accompanied by an adult 

 Acceptance of accredited ‘proof of age’ cards and/or ‘new type’ driving 
licences with photographs 

 Measures to ensure children do not purchase, acquire or consume 
alcohol (eg ‘Challenge 25’ scheme) 

 Measures to ensure children are not exposed to incidences of violence or 
disorder 

 Appropriate siting and supervision of Amusements with Prizes machines 
 
These examples can be adopted in any combination.  Pre-application 
discussions with the Responsible Authorities are encouraged to assist 
applicants to develop their operating schedule. 

 
6.9 With regard to film exhibitions. The Council will expect licence and 

certificate holders, and those who have given notice of a temporary 
event within the terms of the 2003 Act, to implement measures that 
restrict children from viewing age-restricted films classified according 
to the recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification or 
the Council. In the case of a film exhibition that has not been classified, 
the Council will expect the licensee to conduct an assessment of the 
suitability of the film for exhibition to children and to implement 
measures that restrict viewing by children if necessary. 

 
6.10  If considered appropriate, the licensing authority may require that adult 

supervisors be checked for suitability to work with children.  
 
6.11 The Council will rarely impose complete bans on access to children. In 

exceptional circumstances, conditions restricting access or excluding children 
completely may be considered necessary. 

 
 
List of Appendices 
 
A. Delegation of Powers 
B. Relevant Authorities:  Contact Details 
C. Useful Addresses 
D. References to Best Practice Guides 
E. The Application Process 
F. Objections/Representations/Reviews and Appeals 

355



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 18 of 41  

HARLOW COUNCIL – STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 
 

APPENDIX A – LICENSING ACT 2003 - DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 
 
 

Matter to be dealt with  
 

Full Council Subcommittee of 
Licensing Cttee 

Environment & 
Licensing Manager 

Final approval of five year 
licensing policy 

All cases Recommendation to 
Council  

 

Dealing with Policy Issues  All cases  Recommendation to 
Council  

 

Matters of Cumulative 
Impact  

When referred 
by Licensing 
Committee 

All cases except 
when referred to 
Council  

 

Application for personal 
Licence 

 If a police objection 
and not withdrawn  

If no objection made 
or objection 
withdrawn 

Application for personal 
licence with unspent 
convictions 

 All cases  

Application for premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate 

 If a relevant 
representation 
made 

If no relevant 
representation made/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for 
provisional statement 

 If a relevant 
representation 
made 

If no relevant 
representation made/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application to vary 
premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

 If a relevant 
representation 
made 

If no relevant 
representation made/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for minor 
variation premises 
licence/club premises  

  All cases 

Application to vary 
designated premises 
supervisor 

 If a police objection All other cases 

Request to be removed 
as designated premises 
supervisor 

  All cases 

Application for transfer 
of premises licence 

 If a police objection All other cases 

Applications for interim 
Authorities 

 If a police objection All other cases 

Application to review 
premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

 All cases  

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant 
frivolous vexatious etc 

  All cases 

Decision to object when 
local authority is a 
consultee and not the 

 All cases  

356



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 19 of 41  

relevant authority 
considering the 
application 

Determination to a 
temporary event notice 
where a valid objection 
received and then 
withdrawn  

 If referred All cases unless 
referred including 
application of 
relevant licence 
conditions  

Determination of a 
police objection to a 
temporary event notice 
which an objection notice 
was made and not 
withdrawn 

 Standard TEN Late TEN 

Determination of 
application to vary 
premises licence at 
community premises to 
include alternative licence 
condition 

 If a police objection All other cases 

 
Decision whether to 
consult other responsible 
authorities on minor 
variation application 

   
All cases 

Determination of minor 
variation application 

  All cases 

 
 
 

357



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 20 of 41  

HARLOW COUNCIL – STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 

APPENDIX B – RELEVANT AUTHORITIES:  CONTACT DETAILS 
 

 Organisation Contact Address Telephone/Fax /E:mail 

1 
 

Licensing Authority Harlow Council 
Licensing Team 
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow 
Essex    CM20 1WG 
 

Tel:  01279 446148 
Tel:  01279 446561 
Tel:  01279 446005 
 
Fax:  01279 446639 
 
Email:   
    licensing@harlow.gov.uk 

2 
 

Essex Police 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

The Chief Officer of Police 
Licensing Department 
(Alcohol) 
Essex Police Licensing 
Team 
Braintree Police Station  
Blyths Meadow 
Braintree 
Essex 
CM7 3DJ 

 
E-Mail: 
licensing.applications@ess
ex.pnn.police.uk 
 
Tel: 01245 452035 
 
www.essex.police.uk/licensi
ng 

3 Planning Services 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

Head of Planning Services 
Harlow Council 
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow 
Essex     CM20 1WG 

 

  
Tel:  01279 4466595 
 
Fax:  01279 446598 
 
 

4 Children’s 
Safeguarding 
Service 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

Licensing Applications 
Head of Child Protection 
Children’s Safeguarding 
Service 
70 Duke Street 
County Hall 
Chelmsford, CM1 1JP 

 

 
Tel: 03330139797 or 
        01245 430 430 
 
Email:   
licenceapplications@essex.
gov.uk 
 

5 Essex County Fire 
and Rescue Service 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

Essex Fire and Rescue 
Service 
Harlow and Epping 
Community Command 
(Licensing) 
Harlow Service Delivery 
Point 
Fourth Avenue 
Harlow 
Essex     CM20 1DU 
 

 
Tel:  01279 420841 
 
he.command@essex-
fire.gov.uk 

6 Essex Trading 
Standards 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

Information and Business 
Support Team  
Essex Trading Standards  
CG32 
County Hall, Market Road 
Chelmsford 
CM1 1Q 

 
Tel: 0345 758 430  
       or 01245 430 430 
 
Email:  

ESHbsnewdukesway@es
sex.gov.uk   

358

mailto:licensing.applications@essex.pnn.police.uk
mailto:licensing.applications@essex.pnn.police.uk
http://www.essex.police.uk/licensing
http://www.essex.police.uk/licensing
mailto:ESHbsnewdukesway@essex.gov.uk
mailto:ESHbsnewdukesway@essex.gov.uk


Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 21 of 41  

7 Environmental 
Health Services 
(Housing and 
Pollution) 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

Environmental Health 
Manager 
Harlow Council 
Housing and Pollution 
Section 
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow 
Essex     CM20 1WG 
 

 
Tel:  01279 446111 
 
Fax:  01279 446639 
 
env.health@harlow.gov.uk 

8 Environmental 
Health Services  
(Commercial Section 
– Health and Safety) 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

Environmental Health 
Manager 
Harlow Council  
Commercial Section 
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow 
Essex   CM20 1WG 
 

 
Tel:  01279 446111 
 
Fax:  01279 446639 
 
env.health@harlow.gov.uk 

9 Health and Safety 
Executive 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

The Health and Safety 
Executive 
Wren House 
Hedgerows Business Park 
Colchester Road 
Chelmsford 
Essex     CM2 5PF 

 

 
Tel:  01245 706200 
 
Fax:  01245 706222 

10 Health Authority 
 
(Responsible 
Authority) 

Licensing Officer 
Public Health Team 
E2  
County Hall 
Chelmsford   
Essex 
CM1 1LX 

 

 
Tel: 0345 758 430 or 01245 
430 430 
 
Email:  

ESHbsnewdukesway@es
sex.gov.uk   
 

11 Licensing Authority 
 
(Responsible  
Authority) 

Environment and Licensing  
Manager 
Harlow Council  
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow 
Essex   CM20 1WG 

 

 
Tel:  01279 446111 
 
Fax:  01279 446639 
 
licensing@harlow.gov.uk  

 

359

mailto:ESHbsnewdukesway@essex.gov.uk
mailto:ESHbsnewdukesway@essex.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@harlow.gov.uk


Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 22 of 41  

HARLOW COUNCIL – STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 

APPENDIX C – USEFUL ADDRESSES 

 
Alcohol Change UK  
 
27 Swinton Street 
London 
WC1X 9NW 

Tel:      0203 9078480 
Web:    www.alcoholchange.org.uk  
Email:   contact@alcoholchange.org.uk 

Arts Council England  
Bloomsbury Street 
Bloomsbury 
London 
WC1B 3HF 

Tel:       0845 300 6200  
Email:   www.artscouncil.org.uk 

Association of Convenience Stores Ltd  
Federation House  
17 Farnborough Street  
Farnborough  
GU14 8AG  

Tel:     01252 515001  
Email:  acs@acs.org.uk  
Web: www.acs.org.uk 
 

UK Hospitality  
10 Bloomsbury Way 
London  
WC1A 2SL 

Tel:      02074047744 
Email:  info@almr.org.uk 
Web:    www.ukhospitality.org.uk 
Email: info@ukhospitality.org.uk  

British Beer and Pub Association  
Ground Floor 
Brewers Hall 
Aldermanbury Square 
London 
EC2V 7HR  

Tel:     020 7627 9199  
Email:  contact@beerandpub.com 
Web:   www.beerandpub.com 
 

British Board of Film Classification  
3 Soho Square  
London  
W1D 3HD  

Tel:      020 7440 1570  
Email:  helpline@bbfc.co.uk 
Web:   www.bbfc.co.uk 
 

British Institute of Innkeeping (BII)  
 
Infor House 
1 Lakeside Road 
Farnborough Road 
Hampshire 
GU14 6Xp  

Tel:     01276 684449  
Email: enquiries@bii.org 
Web:   www.bii.org  

British Retail Consortium (BRC) 
2 London Bridge 
London  
SE1 9RA 

Tel: 0207 8548900 
Web:  www.brc.org.uk/default.asp 
Email: info@brc.org.uk 

Campaign for Real Ale  
230 Hatfield Road  
St Albans  
Herts  
AL1 4LW  
 

Tel:    01727 867201  
Web:  cwebaccess@camra.org.uk  
Email: 
  www.camra.org.uk  

Civic Trust  Tel:    020 7170 4299  

360

http://www.alcoholchange.org.uk/
mailto:acs@acs.org.uk
mailto:info@ukhospitality.org.uk
http://www.brc.org.uk/default.asp


Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 23 of 41  

Winchester House 259-269 Old 
Marylebone Road  
London NW1 5RA  

Web:   www.civictrust.org.uk  

Department for Culture, Media and Sport  
2-4 Cockspur Street  
London  
SW1Y 5DH  

Tel:    020 7211 6200  
Web:   www.culture.gov.uk  

Equity  
Guild House  
Upper Martins Lane  
London  
WC2H 9EG  

Tel:     020 7379 6000  
Email: info@equity.org.uk 
Web:   www.equity.org.uk 
 

Essex Chamber of Commerce  
8/9 St Peters Court 
Colchester 
Essex 
CO1 1WD  
 

Tel:      01206 765277  
Email:  enquiries@essexchambers.co.uk 
Web:    www.essexchambers.co.uk  

Essex Racal Equality Council  
 
12 Northlands Pavement 
Basildon 
SS13 3DU  

Tel:      01268 465068 
Email:  Erec.Southend@btconnect.com 
Web:    www.cre.gov.uk  

Harlow & District Chamber of Commerce 
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow 
CM20 1WG 
 

Tel:    01279 271104 

Independent Street Arts Network (ISAN)  
54 Charlton Street 
London 
NW1 1HS  

Tel:     020 7388 9767  
Web:   www.streetartsnetwork.org.uk  

Institute of Acoustics  
 

Silbury Court 

406 Silbury Boulevard 

Milton Keynes 

MK9 2AF  

Tel:     03009999675 
Email:  ioa@ioa.org.uk 
Web:   www.ioa.org.uk  

Institute of Licensing 
Ridgeway 
Upper Milton Wells 
Somerset 
BA5 3AH 

Tel: 0845 2871347 
Web:   www.instituteoflicensing.org 

Musicians’ Union  
MU East & South East England 
1A Fentiman Road 
London  

Tel:     020 7840 5537  
Web:  www.musiciansunion.org.uk  

361



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 24 of 41  

SW8 1LD 

National Federation of Retail 
Newsagents  
Yeoman House  
Sekforde Street  
London  
EC1R 0HF  

Tel:     0800 1216376 
Email:  connect@nfrnonline.com 
Web:   www.nfrn.org.uk  

Security Industry Authority  
PO Box 74957 
 
London  
E14 1UG 

Tel:     0844 892 1025  
web:    www.the-sia.homeoffice.gov.uk  

The Portman Group  
4

TH
 Floor 

20 Conduit Street 
London 
W1S 2XW  

Tel:     020 7290 1460 
Email:  info@portmangroup.org.uk 
Web:  www.portmangroup.org.uk 

Valuation Office  
London House  
New London Road  
Chelmsford  
Essex CM2 0QL  

Tel:     01245 541200  
Web:   www.voa.gov.uk  

 
 

362

http://www.voa.gov.uk/


Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 25 of 41  

HARLOW COUNCIL – STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 

APPENDIX D – REFERENCES TO BEST PRACTICE GUIDES 
 
 
Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 
Home Office 
 
Safer Clubbing Guide 
www.drugs.gov.uk 
 
The Event Safety Guide – A guide to health, safety and welfare at music and similar events 
(HSE1999)(“The Purple Book”) ISBN 978 0 7176 2453 9 
 
Managing Crowds Safely 
(HSE 2000) ISBN 978 0 7176 1834 7 
 
The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds 
(“The Green Guide”)  ISBN 978 1 9164583 0 7 
 
Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnival, Processions and Large Scale Performances 
www.streetartsnetwork.org.uk/pages/publications.htm 
 
The National Alcohol Harm Reduction strategy Toolkit 
www.hmso.gov.uk 
 
The Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks 
www.portman.group.org.uk 
  
Licensed Property:  Noise 
Drugs and Pubs 
Safety in Pubs 
Security in Design 
www.beerandpub.com 
 
Guide to fire Precautions in Existing Places of Entertainment and Like Premises (The Primrose 
Guide) 
www.hmso.gov.uk 
 
Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise from Pubs and Clubs 
Institute of Acoustics 
 

 

 

363

http://www.drugs.gov.uk/
http://www.streetartsnetwork.org.uk/pages/publications.htm
http://www.hmso.gov.uk/


Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 26 of 41  

HARLOW COUNCIL – STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 

APPENDIX E – THE APPLICATION PROCESS 
 

PERSONAL LICENCE 
 
To apply for a new Personal Licence, applicants must be over 18 years of age and 
will need to complete an application form and be made to the authority for the area in 
which the applicant is normally resident.  You should note that the forms are 
prescribed forms issued by the Government. 
 
The application must be accompanied by: 
 

 the prescribed fee,  

 two passport photos (one which must be certified as a true likeness, by a 
solicitor, notary, a person of standing in the community (this includes a bank 
or building society official, police officer, civil servant or a minister of religion) 
or any individual with a professional qualification),  

 the original of the applicant’s licensing qualification,  

 a Criminal Conviction Certificate or a Criminal Record Certificate or the results 
of a subject access search of the police national computer by the National 
intelligence Service.    

 A declaration by the applicant that either they have not been convicted of a 
relevant offence or a foreign relevant offence or that they have been convicted 
of a relevant offence or a foreign relevant offence accompanied by details of 
the nature of the conviction and any sentence imposed on them in respect of 
it.   

 The criminal checks must not be more than one month old when your 
application is received. 

Include a proof of right to work in the United Kingdom  
The Licensing Authority must reject the application where the applicant is under 18 
years of age, does not possess the prescribed licensing qualification or has had a 
personal licence forfeited within the preceding 5 years.  
 
Where an applicant has been convicted of a relevant offence or foreign offence the 
Licensing Authority must give notice to that effect to the police who may object to the 
application. The police objection has to be made within 14 days of receiving the 
notice from the Licensing Authority, following which a hearing must be held to 
determine the application.  
 
Individuals applying for a personal licence must be entitled to work in the UK. The 
Immigration Act 2016 amended the Licensing Act 2003 with effect from 6 April 2017. 
Applicants must submit one of the documents listed in Annex x. For applications 
made after April 2017, where the applicants immigration permission to live and work 
in the UK is time-limited, a personal licence may be issued but will become invalid 
when the immigration permission expires.  
 
The Deregulation Act 2015 removed the requirement to renew a personal licence 
with effect from 1 April 2015. 
 

 

364



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 27 of 41  

PREMISES LICENCE  
 
To apply for the grant of a Premises Licence, applicants must be over 18 years of 
age and complete an approved application form, which must be sent to the Licensing 
Authority together with: -  
 

(a) a plan of the premises drawn to the scale of 1:100,  
 
(b) a form of consent in the prescribed form given by the individual whom the 

applicant wishes to have specified in the premises licence as the premises 
supervisor, if the licensable activities to which the application relates 
include the supply of alcohol,  

 
(c) the relevant fee . Please note, the Premises Licence/Club Certificate is 

payable annually on the anniversary of the grant of the licence.  Non-
payment of this fee will be treated by the local authority as a serious 
matter and will result in the licence being suspended until payment is 
received. 

 
Entitlement to work in the UK.  
Individuals applying for a premises licence for the sale of alcohol or late night 
refreshment must be entitled to work in the UK. Licensing authorities must be 
satisfied that an individual who applies for a premises licence is entitled to work in 
the UK. This includes applications made by more than one individual applicant. An 
application made by an individual without the entitlement to work in the UK must be 
rejected. Applicants must submit one of the documents listed in Annex x   
 
The plan shall show: -  
 

(a) the extent of the boundary of the building, if relevant, and any external and 
internal walls of the building and, if different, the perimeter of the premises;  

 
(b) the location of points of access to and egress from the premises;  
 
(c) if different from sub-paragraph (3)(b), the location of escape routes from 

the premises;  
 
(d) in a case where the premises is to be used for more than one licensable 

activity, the area within the premises used for each activity;  
 
(e) fixed structures (including furniture) or similar objects temporarily in a fixed 

location (but not furniture) which may impact on the ability of individuals on 
the premises to use exits or escape routes without impediment;  

 
(f) in a case where the premises includes a stage or raised area, the location 

and height of each stage or area relative to the floor;  
 
(g) in a case where the premises includes any steps, stairs, elevators or lifts, 

the location of the steps, stairs, elevators or lifts;  
 

365



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 28 of 41  

(h) in the case where the premises includes any room or rooms containing 
public conveniences, the location of the room or rooms;  

 
(i) the location and type of any fire safety and any other safety equipment 

including, if applicable, marine safety equipment; and  
 
(j) the location of a kitchen, if any, on the premises.  

 
The plan may include a legend through which the matters mentioned or referred to in 
paragraph above are sufficiently illustrated by the use of symbols on the plan.  
 
 
A copy of the application, plan and DPS consent form (where applicable) must be given to 
the Responsible Authorities (Appendix B) at the same time of giving the application to the 
Licensing Authority.  
 
A notice, on blue paper sized A4 or larger, must also be displayed at or on the premises to 
which the application relates for a period of not less than 28 consecutive days from the day 
following the day the application was given to the Licensing Authority, where it can be 
conveniently read from the exterior of the premises.  
 
Where the premises cover an area of more than 50 square meters, a further identical notice 
must be displayed every 50 metres along the external perimeter of the premises abutting 
any highway.  
 
The notice must state: -  
 

 details of the relevant licensable activities that it is proposed will be carried 
on or from the premises, or in the case of an application to vary the 
licence, a brief description of the proposed variation,  

 
 the name of the applicant,  

 
 the postal address of the premises, or in the case where there is no postal 

address, a description of the premises sufficient to enable the location and 
extent of the premises to be identified,  

 
 the postal address and (where applicable) the worldwide web address 

where the register of the relevant licensing authority is kept and where and 
when the record of the application may be inspected,  

 
 the date by which any persons who live or are involved in a business in the 

relevant Licensing Authority area or responsible authority may make 
representations to the relevant licensing authority and that representations 
should be made in writing,  

 
 that it is an offence knowingly or recklessly to make a false statement in 

connection with an application and the maximum fine for which a person is 
liable on summary conviction for the offence.  

 

366



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 29 of 41  

The notice, containing the same details, must be published in a local newspaper or similar 
document on at least one occasion during the period of 10 working days following the day 
after giving the application to the Licensing Authority. 
 
 

VARIATION OF PREMISES LICENCE 
 
To apply for variation to a premises licence, the same procedure must be adopted as for the 
original application plus both parts of the original licence must be returned to the Licensing 
Authority, or the application must include an explanation why the licence has not been 
returned.  
 
An application to vary the licence may not be made to extend the period for which a licence 
has effect, e.g. a seasonal licence or one that is limited to certain days/dates. 
 
Applications to vary the licence may be made to affect the licensable activities provided, the 
times during which they may be provided or where the premises are to undergo structural 
alterations.  
 
However an application to vary a licence may not be made to vary substantially the 
premises to which it relates. As this is a matter of degree, applicants are advised to contact 
the Licensing Unit to discuss the extent of the alterations to decide if an application for a 
new licence must be made.  
 
Where the application to vary the licence arises from structural alterations, a new plan 
showing the proposed alterations must also be submitted.  
The fee for a variation is the same as for a new licence and is set in accordance with the 
Non-domestic Rateable Value of the premises.  
 
VARIATION OF PREMISES LICENCE (DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR) 
 
An application to vary a premises licence, where there has been a change of the 
designated premises supervisor, must be in the prescribed form and accompanied by  
 

 the premises licence,  
 

 a form of consent in the prescribed form given by the individual whom the 
applicant wishes to have specified in the premises licence as the premises 
supervisor,  

 
 the fee  

 
A copy of the application and all accompanying documents must also be sent to the 
police (Appendix B).  
 

TRANSFER OF PREMISES LICENCE 
 
An application to transfer a premises licence, where there has been a change of the 
premises licence holder, must be in the prescribed form and accompanied by  
 

 the premises licence,  

367



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 30 of 41  

 
 a form of consent in the prescribed form given by the existing premises 

licence holder’ 
 

 the fee  
 
A copy of the application and all accompanying documents must also be sent to the 
police in all cases, and the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) if the licence 
authorises the sale of alcohol or provision of late night refreshment.(Appendix B).  
 
 

CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATE 
 
The process of applying for the grant or variation of a Club Premises Certificate is 
similar to that for a Premises Licence.  
 
There are two exceptions: -  
 

 there must be a declaration for qualifying club status in respect of an 
application for grant of a new club premises certificate, and  

 
 neither a Designated Premises Supervisor nor a Personal Licence Holder 

is required because the ‘supply’ of alcohol that is managed by or on behalf 
of the club is not regarded as a ‘sale’ of alcohol.  

 
ADVERTISEMENT OF APPLICATIONS BY THE LICENSING AUTHORITY 

 
The Licensing Act 2003 (Premises Licence and Club Premises 
Certificate)(Amendment) Regulations 2012, which came into effect on 25th April 2012 
introduced a requirement for the licensing authority to advertise, by way of a notice 
on its website; all applications for premises licences under section 12, for provisional 
statements under section 29, variation of a premises licence under section 34 
(except where the only variation sought is the inclusion of an alternative licence 
condition), for club premises certificate under section 71 or to vary a club premises 
certificate under section 84. This notice must remain on the website for a period of 
no less than 28 consecutive days starting on the day after the day on which the 
application was given to the relevant licensing authority. 
 

PROVISIONAL STATEMENT 
 
Where premises are being, or are about to be constructed for the purpose of being used for 
one or more of those activities, or are being or about to be extended or otherwise altered for 
that purpose (whether or not they are already being used for that purpose) an application 
may be made by any person for the grant of a Provisional Statement.  
 
‘Person’ in this instance also includes a business (e.g. the applicant could be a 
firm or architects, or a construction firm or even a financier).  
 
To apply for a Provisional Statement, the same procedure must be adopted as that 
described above for the grant of a premises licence.  
 

368



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 31 of 41  

A provisional statement does not have a limited duration. However with the 
potential for there to be a material change over time, the longer the delay 
before a premises licence is applied for the greater the potential that 
representations, at the later application, may be allowed.  
 
Responsible authorities and interested parties will be able to make representations against 
the application. If there are no representations the application will be granted. If there are 
representations a hearing will be held before the Licensing Sub Committee.  
 
The Licensing Act 2003 does not empower a licensing authority to refuse a provisional 
statement. Following consideration of relevant representations the Licensing Committee 
may only indicate (as part of the issued statement) that it would consider certain steps 
to be necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives when, and if, an application 
was made for a premises licence or club premises certificate following the issue of the 
provisional statement.  
 

MINOR VARIATIONS TO PREMISES LICENCES 
AND CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATES 

 
The Licensing Act 2003 has been amended by the insertion of sections 41A to 41C 
relating to minor variations. These sections were commenced on 29 July 2009.   
Small variations that will not impact adversely on the licensing objectives are subject 
to a simplified ‘minor variations’ process. Under this process, the applicant is not 
required to advertise the variation in a newspaper or circular or copy it to responsible 
authorities. 
 
However, they must display it on a white notice (to distinguish it from the blue notice 
used for full variations and new applications). The notice must be displayed for a 
period of ten working days starting on the working day after the minor variation 
application was given to the licensing authority. 
 
On receipt of an application for a minor variation, the licensing officer for the 
licensing authority will consider whether the variation could impact adversely on the 
licensing objectives.  In considering the application, the licensing authority must 
consult relevant responsible authorities if there is any doubt about the impact of the 
variation on the licensing objectives and they need specialist advice, and take their 
views into account in reaching a decision.  But there is no requirement to consult all 
responsible authorities on each application and in many cases the licensing authority 
may be able to make a decision without consultation. 
 
The licensing authority will also consider any relevant representations received from 
interested parties within the time limit referred to below. Representations are only 
relevant if they clearly relate to the likely effect of the grant of the variation on the 
promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives.  
 
For minor variations, there is no right to a hearing (as for a full variation or new 
application), but the licensing authority will take any representations into account in 
arriving at a decision. Persons who live or are involved in a business in the relevant 
Licensing Authority area have ten working days from the ‘initial day’, i.e., the day 
after the application is received by the licensing authority, to submit representations.  
 

369



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 32 of 41  

The licensing authority must therefore wait until this period has elapsed before 
determining the application, but must do so at the latest within 15 working days, 
beginning on the first working day after the authority received the application, with 
effect either that: 
 
• the minor variation is granted; or, 
• the application is refused. 
 
If the licensing authority fails to respond to the applicant within 15 working days the 
application will be treated as refused and the authority must return the fee to the 
applicant forthwith. However, the licensing authority and the applicant may agree 
instead that the undetermined application should be treated as a new application and 
that the fee originally submitted will be treated as a fee for the new application. 
 
Club Premises Certificates 
 
The arrangements for applying for or seeking to vary club premises certificates are 
the same as those for a premises licence. Clubs may also use the minor variation 
process to make small changes to their certificates as long as these will have no 
adverse impact on the licensing objectives. 
 

TEMPORARY EVENT NOTICES 
 
Temporary Event Notices (TEN’s) do not have to be applied for, they are issued by the 
‘Premises User’. Any person can be a ‘Premises User’ and can issue a TEN in respect of 
any premises or area of land. A ‘Premises User’ does not have to hold a Personal Licence 
to authorise the supply of alcohol in conjunction with a TEN.  
 
However, it should be noted that TENS are subject to certain limitations: -  
 

 the same premises cannot be used on more than 15 occasions in a 
calendar year, but are subject to the overall aggregate of 21 days 
irrespective of the number of occasions on which they have been used, 
and  

 
 the number of notices that may be given are limited to 50 in one year for a 

Personal Licence holder and 5 times in one year for any other person. 
 

 The maximum duration of an event is 168 hours (7 days).  
 

 the maximum number of persons (being less than 500) it is proposed will 
be allowed on the premises during those times 

 
The notice must be given to the Licensing Authority at least 10 working days before the 
event is held and must contain details of: -  
 

 the proposed licensable activities,  
 

 the period (not exceeding 168 hours) during which it is proposed to use 
the premises,  

 

370



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 33 of 41  

 the times during that period when it is proposed for those licensable 
activities to take place, ,  

 
 where alcohol is to be supplied, whether it is for consumption on or off the 

premises, or both,  
 

 the fee  
 
A copy of the notice must be also given to the police and Environmental Health at the 
same time and must be received at least 10 working days prior to the event. 
 
An Objection Notice may be issued by the police or Environmental Health where they 
are satisfied that the proposed use of the premises would undermine the crime 
prevention licensing objective. The police or Environmental Health must make their 
objection to both the Licensing Authority and applicant no later that the 3rd working day 
of receiving the TEN, giving their reasons for doing so.  
 
Where an Objection Notice is given, the Licensing Authority must hold a hearing to 
consider the objection, unless the police or Environmental Health agree that it is 
unnecessary, and give a Counter Notice if it considers it necessary for the promotion of 
the crime prevention objective. Where a hearing is held, it must be at least 24hrs before 
the start of the event.  
 
Licensing Authorities will be given discretion to apply existing licence conditions to a 
TEN if there are objections from Essex Police or the Council’s Environmental Health 
Service. 
 
The Licensing Authority must issue a Counter Notice where the limits are exceeded.  
 

Late Temporary Event Notices 
 
Provision has been made to allow for ‘late TEN’ applications. The following applies:  

 A personal licence holder can submit up to 10 Late TENS in a calendar year; 
non-personal licence holder may submit a maximum of 2. 

 Late TENS are included in the maximum allowance for the premises. 

 The notice must be submitted to the Licensing Authority, Police and 
Environmental Health 5-9 days before the date of the event. 

 There needs to be exceptional circumstance why the Late TEN process is being 
used as opposed to the standard TEN. 

 The Licensing Authority will issue a counter notice prohibiting any licensable 
activity if an objection is received from either the Police or environmental health.  

 
 
IF YOU ARE IN ANY DOUBT WITH REGARD TO THE ABOVE, PLEASE 
CONTACT THE LICENSING SECTION FOR ADVICE. 
 

371



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 34 of 41  

HARLOW COUNCIL – STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 

APPENDIX F– OBJECTIONS/REPRESENTATIONS/REVIEWS AND APPEALS 
 

Who can object (make representations) about an application for a premises 
licence or ask for a review of the licence: 
 
‘Any Person’ and ‘Responsible Authorities’ may make ‘relevant representations’ in 
respect of applications made for the grant or variation of a Premises Licence or Club 
Premises Certificate and may seek a review of licences and certificates granted.  
 
‘Any Person’ is defined as:- 
 

 Any person  
 

 A body (e.g. a residents association) representing any persons 
 

 A person involved in any business.  
 

 A body (e.g. a trade association) representing any person involved in any 
businesses. 
 

 Members of the Licensing Authority. 
 

‘Responsible Authority’ is defined as any of the following: -  
 

 the Chief Officer of Police for the area in which the premises are situated 
 

 the Fire Authority for the area in which the premises are situated 
 

 the enforcing authority for Health and Safety at Work for the area in which the 
premises are situated 

 

 the local planning authority for the area in which the premises are situated 
 

 the local authority responsible for minimising or preventing the risk of pollution 
of the environment or of harm to human health  

 

 the body representing matters relating to the protection of children from harm  
 

 a navigation authority, the Environment Agency, or the British Waterways 
Board in relation to a vessel  

 

 Essex Trading Standards - weights and measures.  
 

 The Licensing Authority 
 

 Local Health Board 
 
(for a list of Responsible Authorities in Harlow District, see Appendix B) 

372



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 35 of 41  

  
What are relevant representations?  
 
‘Relevant representations’ is the term used for comments and objections that:-  
 

 are about the likely effect of the grant of the premises licence or premises 
certificate on the promotion of the licensing objectives,  

 

  are made by any person or ‘Responsible Authority’ within the prescribed 
period and have not been withdrawn,  

 

 in the opinion of the Licensing Authority, are not frivolous or vexatious,  
 
What does frivolous, vexatious or repetitious mean?  
 
Frivolous or vexatious will bear their ordinary meaning. The licensing authority must 
form a view as to whether a reasonable person would consider the observations 
frivolous or vexatious.  
 
In the case of a review of a premises licence or certificate, a representation will be 
repetitious if:  
 
a) it is identical or substantially similar to:-  
 

 grounds in an earlier application for review made in respect of the same 
premises and already determined, or  

 

 representations considered by the Licensing Authority in granting the 
premises licence or certificate, or  

 

 representations which would have been considered except they were 
excluded representations following a provisional statement, and  

 
b) a reasonable interval has not elapsed since the earlier application for review or 

grant of the licence or certificate. 
 
Time Limits on Representations 
 
The table below lists those provisions about which representations may be made, 
the timescales within which and by whom they may be made.  
 

Provision under 
which hearing is 

held.  

Period of time within 
which representations 

must be made.  

Persons who may make 
representations.  

Application for 
premises licence  

28 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority.  

Responsible authorities  
Any person or business 

373



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 36 of 41  

Application for a 
provisional statement  

28 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority.  

Responsible authorities  
Any person or business 

Application to vary 
premises licence  

28 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority.  

Responsible authorities  
Any person or business 

Application to vary 
premises supervisor 
(DPS)  

14 days of receipt of 
application.  

Chief of Police  

Application for 
transfer of premises 
licence  

14 days of receipt of 
application.  

Chief of police  

Cancellation of 
interim authority 
notice  

48 hours of receipt of 
application.  

Chief of police  

Application for review 
of premises licence  

28 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority.  

Responsible authorities  
Any person 

Application for club 
premises certificate  

28 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority.  

Responsible authorities  
Any person 

Application to vary 
club premises 
certificate  

28 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority.  

Responsible authorities  
Any person 

Application for review 
of club premises 
certificate  

28 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority.  

Responsible authorities  
Any person 

Counter notice 
following police 
objection to 
temporary event 
notice*  

3 working days of receipt 
of application.  

Chief of police  
Environmental Health 

Application for grant 
of personal licence  

14 days of receipt of 
notice of convictions from 
Licensing Authority.  

Chief of police  

Application for 
renewal of personal 
licence  

14 days of receipt of 
notice of convictions from 
Licensing Authority.  

Chief of police  

374



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 37 of 41  

Convictions coming 
to light after 
grant/renewal of 
personal licence  

14 days of receipt of 
notice of convictions from 
Licensing Authority.  

Chief of police  

Review of premises 
licence following 
closure order  

7 days beginning on the 
day after the day the 
licensing authority 
receives notice given by 
relevant magistrates’ 
court  

Responsible authorities  
Any person 

Minor Variation 10 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the day on which 
application was given to 
licensing authority. 

Responsible authorities  
Any person 

Summary Review 10 days beginning with 
the day after the day on 
which application was 
given to licensing 
authority. 

Responsible authorities  
Any person 

 
* It should be noted that the Licensing Authority must issue a counter notice where 
the Temporary Event Notice exceeds the permitted limits, which are: -  
 

 50 per year if the premises user is the holder of a Personal Licence,  
 

 5 per year if the premises user is not the holder of a Personal Licence, and  
 

 12 per year in respect of the same premises covering no more than 15 
days in total.  

 
Reviews  
 
The Licensing Authority must hold a hearing to review a premises licence or club 
premises certificate where either: -  
 

 representations are made in the prescribed form by a Responsible 
Authority or Interested Party seeking a review of the licence or certificate 
on one or more of the licensing objectives, or  

 

 a Magistrate’s Court issues a notice under section 165 (4) of the Act, 
following consideration of a Closure Order issued by the police.  

 
In the case of a review of a premises licence or certificate, a representation will be 
repetitious if: - 
 
(a)  it is identical or substantially similar to: -  
 

 grounds in an earlier application for review made in respect of the same 
premises and already determined, or  

 

375



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 38 of 41  

 representations considered by the Licensing Authority in granting the 
premises licence or certificate, or  

 

 representations which would have been considered except they were 
excluded representations following a provisional statement, and  

 
(b)  a reasonable interval has not elapsed since the earlier application for review 

or grant of the licence or certificate.  
 
 
Hearings  
 
A hearing must be held within a prescribed period of time where relevant 
representations are made in respect of any licensing application or issue of a 
Temporary Event Notice or in respect of an application for review of a premises 
licence or club premises certificate.  
 
Notices must be sent to each party informing them of the date of hearing: -  
 
(a)  at least 2 working days before the day of the hearing for cancellation of an 

interim authority notice and counter notice to a temporary event notice 
following police objection;  

 
(b)  at least 5 working days before the day of the hearing for review of a premises 

licence following a closure order;  
 
(c)  at least 10 working days before the day of the hearing in respect of all other 

applications.  
 
Copies of the representations must also be given to the applicant, the holder of the 
premises licence or the club, as appropriate.  
 
The table below lists the provisions, the timescales within which hearings have to be 
held and the persons to whom notices must be given. 
 

Provision under which 
hearing is held.  

Period of time in which 
hearing must be held.  

Persons to whom 
notices must be sent.  

Application for premises 
licence  

20 working days beginning 
with the day after the end of 
the period for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
Persons who have made 
relevant representations. 

Application for a 
provisional statement  

20 working days beginning 
with the day after the end of 
the period for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
Persons who have made 
relevant representations. 

Application to vary 
premises licence  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Holder of licence.  
Persons who have made 
relevant representations. 

376



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 39 of 41  

Application to vary 
premises licence to 
change the premises 
supervisor  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Holder of licence.  
Chief of police  
Proposed premises 
supervisor  

Application for transfer 
of premises licence  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
Chief of police  
Holder of licence.  

Cancellation of interim 
authority notice  

5 working days beginning 
with the day after the end 
of the period for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
Chief of police  

Application for review of 
premises licence  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
Holder of premises licence.  
Persons who have made 
relevant representations. 

Application for club 
premises certificate  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Applicant (the club).  
Persons who have made 
relevant representations. 

Application to vary club 
premises certificate  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Applicant (the club).  
Persons who have made 
relevant representations. 

Application for review of 
club premises certificate  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
The club.  
Persons who have made 
relevant representations. 

Counter notice following 
police/environmental 
health objection to 
temporary event notice  

7 working days beginning 
with the day after the end 
of the period for making 
representations.  

The premises user.  
Chief of police  
Environmental Health 

Application for grant of 
personal licence  

20 working days 
beginning with the day 
after the end of the period 
for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
Chief of police  

Application for renewal 
of personal licence  

20 working days beginning 
with the day after the end 
of the period for making 
representations.  

Applicant.  
Chief of police  

377



Harlow Council Licensing Policy (2018 draft) December 2018 
Page 40 of 41  

Convictions coming to 
light after grant or 
renewal of personal 
licence  

20 working days beginning 
with the day after the end 
of the period for making 
representations.  

Holder of licence.  
Chief of police  

Review of premises 
licence following closure 
order  

10 working days beginning 
with the day after the day 
the licensing authority 
receives the court notice.  

Holder of licence.  
Chief of police  

 
Appeals Against Decisions  

Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Licensing Committee can appeal to the 
Magistrates’ Court. 

378



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 JANUARY 2019 
 

TITLE: LICENSING ACT POLICY REVIEW - 
SUPPLEMENTARY REPRESENTATIONS 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER  
(01279) 446148 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that the Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council 
that: 
 
A the final draft of the Licensing Act Statement of Policy (attached as Appendix 

A to the original report) be adopted, subject to the amendments suggested by 
Essex Police as detailed in paragraph 4 of this report.  

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  A late representation has been received from Essex Police after the policy 

statement consultation closed on 7 January 2019.    
 

2.   Essex Police have made four observations in regard to; 
 

 a) Those persons entitled to play a role in the licensing process.  These 
persons are known as ‘Interested persons’.   
 

b) A request that stakeholders be signposted to Essex Police in order to 
encourage ‘pre-application discussions’. 

 
c) A request that reference be made to a suite of model conditions 

developed by Essex Police designed to assist licence holders and 
prospective licence holders when developing their operating schedules 
and procedures.   

 
d) The availability of a suite of control measures developed by Essex 

Police designed to assist licence holders and prospective licence 
holders when developing their operating schedules and procedures.      

 
3.  The Licensing Team has extended their gratitude to Essex for their 

379



representations.  
 
 

PROPOSALS 

4.  The Licensing Team propose that the draft policy be further amended as 
follows: 
 

a) Paragraph1.25 be amended to read: “Any person or their 
representatives are ‘interested persons’ and may raise relevant 
representations.  A representation would only be ‘relevant’ if it relates 
to the effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of at least one 
of the four licensing objectives. In addition, the representation must not 
be frivolous or vexatious, and in the case of reviews, in addition, not 
repetitious.” 
 

b) Paragraph 1.51 be amended to read: “Pre-application discussions with 
Harlow Council, Essex Police and other responsible authorities will be 
encouraged to assist applicants to develop their operating schedule.  
Essex Police have developed a suite of ‘model conditions’ which may 
be used or be modified for use by applicants or licence holders when 
framing their operating schedule.”   
 

c) Paragraph 1.55 be amended to read: “Responsible authorities or other 
interested persons may trigger a review of a premises licence.  The 
application for review must be supported with evidence.” 
 

d) Paragraph 2.3 be amended to read: “To assist applicants, a list of 
possible control measures is provided.  The list is not exhaustive. 
Many control measures achieve more than one objective but have not 
necessarily been listed under each objective. Similarly, applicants will 
not be required to mention a control measure more than once in their 
operating schedule.  To further assist licence holders and applicants, 
Essex Police have developed a comprehensive list of control 
measures which may be incorporated or adapted for use by the licence 
holder or applicant in their operating schedule.”   

  
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
As contained within the original report. 
 
Appendices 
 

Appendix B – Representation received from Essex Police 

 

380



Background Papers 
 
None. 
 

381



382



383



384



MINUTES OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
HELD ON

12 December 2018 7.30  - 8.00 pm

PRESENT

Committee Members
Councillor Phil Waite (Chair)
Councillor Jean Clark (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Bob Davis
Councillor Tony Edwards
Councillor Michael Garnett
Councillor Michael Hardware
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop
Councillor Edna Stevens

Officers
Dianne Cooper, Planning and Building Control Manager
Hannah Criddle, Governance Support Officer
Amanda Julian, Legal Service Manager
Mark Philpott, Development Manager
Adam Rees, Governance Support Officer

APOLOGIES
Councillor Sue Livings
Councillor Clive Souter

39. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Sue Livings and 
Clive Souter.

40. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Michael Garnett declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda 
item 7 (Mulberry Green) as an Old Harlow Ward Councillor. 

41. MINUTES 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 17 October 
2018 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair 
subject to the amendment of Minute 36 to change the first word of 
condition 17 from “at” to “notwithstanding”. 

385

Agenda Item 11a



42. MATTERS ARISING 

None.

43. WRITTEN QUESTIONS 

None.

44. PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

RESOLVED that the procedure for the conduct of the meeting is 
noted. 

45. HW/REMVAR/18/00372: LAND REAR OF 28-32 MULBERRY GREEN 

The committee received a report and application (Ref 
HW/REMVAR/18/00372) to vary a condition in relation to planning 
application HW/FUL/17/00118 for land at the rear of 28-32 Mulberry 
Green. 

The application included increasing the width of the garage at no.32, 
changing the internal layout of plots 1, 2, 9 and 10, to re-orientate plot 3, to 
create larger driveways, for minor alterations to the elevations and to 
remove the cedar and oak trees located between plots 2 and 3.   

Presentations were received from an objector. Councillor Joel Charles 
spoke against the application. 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
Informative Clauses and Conditions as detailed in the report, but 
with a condition to require two substantial replacement trees to 
replace the cedar and oak tree to be removed (shown as ‘Trees No 
2 & 3’ on drawing 18013/SK01F). Condition 6 has therefore been 
amended, and Informative 5 added, as follows:

Condition 6: A detailed landscape scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details during the 
next planting season following completion of the development. The 
scheme shall include all hard and soft landscaping and details of 
the boundary treatments. A specification of all materials shall be 
supplied within a detailed method statement which shall include site 
preparation, planting techniques, aftercare and a programme of 
maintenance for a period of 5 years following completion of the 
scheme. The scheme shall include measures for new tree planting 
and enhancement of trees/vegetation located on the southern 
boundary. The Oak and Cedar trees identified as ‘Trees No 2 & 3’ 
as shown on drawing 18013/SK01F shall be replaced with trees 
which are substantial in size.

386



REASON: To ensure satisfactory landscape treatment of the site in 
the interests of visual amenity and to screen and enhance the 
development in the interests of visual amenity, in accordance with 
policy NE11 of the Adopted Replacement Harlow Local Plan 2006.

Informative 5: It is expected that the trees to replace ‘Trees No 2 & 
3’, as specified in Condition 6, shall be planted in the approximate 
locations of the existing trees and be in semi- or early-maturity, with 
a stem diameter of at least 15cm, which would reasonably 
constitute a substantial tree both at the time of transplanting and in 
the future as the tree matures (i.e. a semi- or early-mature tree with 
a stem diameter of 15cm would almost certainly have at least a 
diameter double this in maturity). The height of the replacement 
trees should be at least 6m at the time of planting, which is 
reasonably likely to be the case for trees with a stem diameter of 
15cm.

46. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES 

None.

47. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE

387



 

MINUTES OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 

 
16 January 2019 7.30  - 9.03 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Phil Waite (Chair) 
Councillor Jean Clark (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Bob Davis 
Councillor Tony Edwards 
Councillor Michael Hardware 
Councillor Sue Livings 
Councillor Clive Souter 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
 
Officers 
Hannah Criddle, Governance Support Officer 
Dianne Cooper, Planning and Building Control Manager 
Amanda Julian, Legal Service Manager 
Mark Philpott, Development Manager 
Adam Rees, Governance Support Officer 

 
 
48. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Garnett 
and Maggie Hulcoop.  
 
Councillor Simon Carter substituted for Councillor Michael Garnett.  
 

49. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Sue Livings declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 7 
(Gilden Way) as an Old Harlow Ward Councillor. 
 
Councillor Jean Clark declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 8 
(Edinburgh Gate) as she lives near the site. 
 
Councillors Tony Edwards and Phil Waite both declared a non-pecuniary 
interest in agenda item 9 (Northbrooks House) as Toddbrook Ward 
Councillors. 
 
Councillor Michael Hardware declared a pecuniary interest in agenda item 
9 (Northbrooks House) as the applicant is a Client. He said he would leave 
the room for the consideration of the item.  
 
 

388

Agenda Item 11b



50. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 12 December 
2018 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

 
51. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

52. WRITTEN QUESTIONS  
 
None. 
 

53. PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 

RESOLVED that the procedure for the conduct of the meeting is 
noted.  

 
54. HW/FUL/18/00359: GILDEN PARK, GILDEN WAY  

 
The Committee received a report and application (HW/FUL/18/00359) on 
the planning permission for a residential development comprising the 
erection of 592 dwellings with associated access roads, play areas, open 
space, landscaping and drainage infrastructure as part of the wider 
development of land north of Gilden Way replacing the approved 
development of 449 dwellings.  
 
The Committee also received a supplementary report containing 
information which had been received after the publication of the agenda. 
The information included a further 15 representations from members of the 
public.  
 
Presentations were heard from the applicant’s agent (in support of the 
application) and two objectors including Ward Councillor Joel Charles.   
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
applicant entering into an appropriately worded Legal Agreement 
and the Conditions and Informative Clauses as detailed in the 
report.  

 
55. HW/FUL/18/00144: EDINBURGH GATE CAR PARK, EDINBURGH 

GATE  
 
The Committee received a report and application (HW/FUL/18/00144) on 
the planning application for the redevelopment of the existing car park 
associated with the former Pearson House for the erection of two blocks of 
between 2-11 storeys in height comprising of 361 dwellings including 
ground and first floor car parking together with associated development 
including podium and ground floor amenity space, landscaping, surface 
car parking, new pedestrian links, cycle and refuse stores.  

389



The Committee also received a supplementary report containing 
information which had been received after the publication of the agenda. 
The information includes a consultation response from the owner of 
Harlow Exchange/Mill Court in support of the application.  
 
Presentations were received from an objector, supporter and the applicant 
(in support of the application).  
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to 
applicant entering into an appropriately worded Legal Agreement 
and the Conditions and Informative Clauses as detailed in the 
report.  

 
56. HW/FUL/18/00309: NORTHBROOKS HOUSE, NORTHBROOKS  

 
Councillor Hardware left the room for the consideration of this item.  
 
The Committee received a report and application (Ref HW/FUL/18/00309) 
on the planning application for the demolition of Northbrooks House, 
community hall and garage block and the construction of 47 new dwellings 
including private and affordable homes, car parking and amenity space.  
 
Presentations were heard from the applicant’s agent (in support of the 
application).  
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
applicant entering into an appropriately worded Legal Agreement 
and the Conditions and Informative Clauses detailed in the report 
but with a condition to require a substantial replacement tree (or 
trees) to replace the Cedar of Lebanon tree within the site. 
Condition 8 has therefore been amended, and Informative 11 
added, as follows: 
 
Condition 8: Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to 
construction works above ground level a detailed landscape 
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of all hard and 
soft landscaping; details of boundary treatments; details of log piles 
and bird and bat boxes which shall be installed on site and wildlife 
friendly planting. The Cedar of Lebanon tree (shown as T6 within 
the Arboricultural Impact Assessment) shall be replaced with a tree 
(or trees) which is (are) substantial in size. A specification of all 
materials shall be supplied within a detailed method statement 
which shall include site preparation, planting techniques, aftercare 
and a programme of maintenance for a period of 5 years following 
completion of the scheme. The scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details during the next planting 
season following completion of the development.  
 

390



REASON: To provide satisfactory landscaping in the interests of the 
character and appearance of the area and to promote habitats for 
wildlife in accordance with policies NE12 and NE20 of the Adopted 
Replacement Harlow Local Plan. 
 
Informative 11: To satisfy the requirement for replacement of the 
Cedar of Lebanon tree, as specified in Condition 8, it is 
recommended that the Metasequoia (shown as T2 on Softscape 
Plan HTA-L_DR_1902 Rev A) is a semi-mature tree with a stem 
girth of 25-30cm and the Pine (shown as T7 on Softscape Plan 
HTA-L_DR_1902 Rev A) is an extra-heavy standard tree of 18-
20cm. 

 
57. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

58. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

391



MINUTES OF THE CABINET
HELD ON

24 January 2019 7.30  - 8.15 pm

PRESENT

Committee Members
Councillor Mark Ingall, Leader of the Council
Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Housing
Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources
Councillor Eugenie Harvey, Portfolio Holder for Community and Wellbeing
Councillor Danny Purton, Portfolio Holder for Environment
Councillor Lanie Shears, Portfolio Holder for Governance & Equality and 
Diversity
Councillor John Strachan, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration
Councillor Emma Toal, Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth

Other Councillors
Councillor David Carter
Councillor Simon Carter
Councillor Tony Edwards
Councillor Tony Hall
Councillor Andrew Johnson
Councillor Stefan Mullard
Councillor Russell Perrin
Councillor Chris Vince

Officers
Brian Keane, Managing Director
Andrew Bramidge, Project Director - 
Enterprise Zone and Interim Head of 
Planning
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and 
Deputy to the Managing Director
Jane Greer, Head of Community 
Wellbeing
Simon Hill, Head of Governance
Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Adam Rees, Governance Support 
Officer

94. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

None.

95. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None.

96. MINUTES 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 
2017 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Leader.

97. MATTERS ARISING 

None.

Public Document Pack

392

Agenda Item 11d



98. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

The questions, together with the answers, are appended to the minutes.

99. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 

None.

100. PETITIONS 

None.

101. FORWARD PLAN 

RESOLVED that the Forward Plan is noted.

102. RECENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE LEADER, DEPUTY OR 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S) 

In response to questions, the Leader of the Council said that he had taken 
an urgent decision, in consultation with Officers and relevant Portfolio 
holders, to take the management of the Museum back under direct Council 
control in order to reopen Harlow Museum.

103. CORPORATE PLAN 2019/20 

Cabinet received a report proposing a Corporate Plan for 2019/20 to 
2021/22.

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

A The Corporate Plan 2019/20 – 2021/22, attached as Appendix A 
to the report, is adopted.

B Authority be delegated to the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council, to make minor and 
inconsequential amendments to the Corporate Plan.

104. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2019/20 - 2021/22 

Cabinet received a report proposing a Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
the Council from 2019/20 to 2021/22.

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

393



A The Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2019/20 to 2021/22 
(attached as appendix B to the report) is adopted.

B The planned Council Tax increase of two per cent for 2019/20 
as set out in the Medium Term Financial Plan be approved.

C The proposals in relation to reserves as set out in this report at 
paragraphs 23 to 29 and contained within Section 8 of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy be approved.

105. CAPITAL AND TREASURY REPORT 2019 

Cabinet received a report which set out the Capital Strategy Report, the 
Capital Programme Strategy Statement 2019/20, the Investment Strategy 
Report 2019/20, the Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20 and 
the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20.

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

A The following Capital and Treasury Reports be approved:

i) The Capital Strategy Report (attached as Appendix A to 
the report)

ii) The Capital Programme Strategy Statement 2019/20 
(attached as Appendix B to the report)

iii) The Investment Strategy Report 2019/20 (attached as 
Appendix D to the report)

iv) The Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20 
(attached as Appendix E to the report).

B The proposed revised Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2019/20 (attached as Appendix C to the report) be 
approved for implementation with immediate effect.

106. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUSINESS PLAN 2018 - 2048 

Cabinet received a report proposing a formal update of the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan.

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

394



A The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan, as set out 
in Appendix A to this report, be approved.

B Authority be delegated to the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Housing, to make minor 
amendments to the Plan, if necessary, following consultation.

107. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET 2019/20 

Cabinet received a report which provided a forecast of the outturn budget 
for the Council’s Housing Revenue Account for the current financial year, 
as well as a proposed budget for 2019/20.

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

A The rent reductions for individual dwellings as set out in 
paragraph 30 of this report are approved with effect from 1 April 
2019. This equates to an average weekly rent of £89.84 a 
statutory reduction of one per cent.

B Service charges for individual dwellings, as set out in 
paragraphs 22 to 29 of this report are approved with effect from 
1 April 2019 for both tenants and leaseholders. This equates to 
an average weekly service charge to tenants of £2.49.

C Heating charges as set out in paragraphs 31 to 38 of this report 
are approved with effect from 1 April 2019 for both tenants and 
leaseholders. Average weekly general needs charges are £9.24 
per week (leaseholders £16.09 per week, equivalent) and, for 
sheltered accommodation, £6.83 per week.

D Rents for garages held within the category ‘Retain and Invest’ as 
defined in the ‘Garages and Hardstanding Improvement 
Strategy 2015’ will increase by five per cent, to £10.16 per week 
(for a standard garage) and proportionate increases for other 
garages, car ports and car spaces from 1 April 2019. Rents of 
garages in other categories will reduce by 20 per cent in order to 
provide an incentive, as set out in paragraphs 39 and 40 of this 
report.

E Housing related support charges are as set out in paragraphs 17 
to 21 and Table 1 are approved for service users with effect 
from 1 April 2019.

F Other charges set out in paragraphs 41 to 43 of this report are 
approved with effect from 1 April 2019. Note the addition of two 
new charges from 1 April 2019 for the provision of information to 

395



facilitate Equity Release £30.80 and Re-mortgage work £20.50 
(both inclusive of VAT at 20 per cent).

G The growth items outlined in paragraph 46 in respect of 2019/20 
are approved.

H The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget (attached as set 
Appendix A to the report) is approved.

I A minimum HRA working balance shall be £4 million as at 31 
March 2020, with £2.5 million being the minimum level and with 
an additional £1.5 million added as an allowance towards any 
additional expenditure required as a result of the Grenfell Tower 
Public Inquiry, (as set out in Appendix B of this report) is 
approved.

108. GENERAL FUND BUDGET 2019/20 

Cabinet received a report which set out the annual General Fund Budget 
for the Council. The report included a proposed increase to the Council 
Tax charge of two per cent.

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

A The General Fund estimates for 2019/20, as set out in Appendix 
A to the report, are approved.

B The proposed transfers between the General Fund and 
Earmarked Reserves, referred to in paragraphs 24 to 27 and 
Table 3 of this report and set out in Appendix C to the report, are 
approved.

C The proposed Fees and Charges, as set out in Appendix E to 
the report, are approved.

D The Pay Policy Statement, as set out in Appendix G to the 
report, is approved.

E The Council’s Band D Council Tax for 2019/20 is set at £277.73 
representing an increase in Council Tax of two per cent for the 
forthcoming year.

109. CAPITAL PROGRAMMES 2018/19 - 2019/20 

The Cabinet received a report on the outturn for 2018/19 and proposed 
programmes for 2019/20.

396



Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

Housing Capital Programme

A The Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 revised outturn of 
£19,513,000, as set out in Table 2 of the report is noted.

B The Housing Capital programme 2019/20 of £24,044,000, as set 
out in Table 5 of the report is approved, including £2.7 million of 
external borrowing to support building council homes.

Non Housing Capital Programme

C The revised Non Housing Capital Programme 2018/19 of 
£11,105,000, as set out in Table 6 of the report is noted.

D The Non Housing Capital Programme for 2019/20 £11,156,000 
including the Enterprise Zone (EZ) (£5,319,000) and Prentice 
Place (£2,347,000) as set out in Table 7 of the report is 
approved.

E Internal borrowing is approved to support:

i) the Non Housing Capital Core Programme of £9,866,000 
up to 31 March 2019, and a further £2,372,000 in 
2019/20.

ii) in respect of Prentice Place in 2019/20 of £1,755,000.

iii) in respect of the EZ in 2018/19 of £5,790,000 and in 
2019/20, £5,319,000. This will bring total borrowing over 
the 3 years from 2017/18 to £13,707,000.

110. DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF POLICY - RETAIL RELIEF 

Cabinet received a report which set out a proposed retail relief policy.

Proposed by Councillor Mike Danvers (seconded by Councillor Mark 
Ingall) it was:

RESOLVED that it was recommended to Full Council that:

A The proposed Retail Relief Policy (attached as Appendix A to 
the report) be adopted.

397



111. DISPOSAL OF LAND ALONG GILDEN WAY TO THE HIGHWAYS 
AUTHORITY 

Cabinet received a report which sought approval for plans to dispose of 
land parcels along Gilden Way owned by the Council to the Highways 
Authority.

Proposed by Councillor John Strachan (seconded by Councillor Danny 
Purton) it was:

RESOLVED that Cabinet:

A Approved plans to dispose of the Council’s freehold interest in 
the various land parcels (attached as Appendix A to the report).

B Delegated to the Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing 
Director, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration, the authority to negotiate and finalise the terms of 
the disposal and (subject to being satisfied that it would be for 
the best consideration reasonably obtainable) thereafter procure 
the legal completion of the sale documentation and all ancillary 
documents.

112. COMMUNICATIONS FROM COMMITTEES/WORKING 
GROUPS/PARTIES AND PANELS 

None.

113. MINUTES OF PANELS/WORKING GROUPS 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted.

a) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 27 September 2018 of Safety Committee

b) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 29 November 2018 of Cabinet Overview 
Working Group

114. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

398



 

 

 

 

Agenda item 5 refers 
 

Please turn over 

1. Mr David Forman to Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for 
Resources 
 
The Council's Medium Term Financial strategy 2019/20 - 2021/22 supplied to 
tonight’s Cabinet meeting, in agenda item 11, includes consideration of the 
General Fund Budget Parameters as set out in Appendix A. 
 
Contained within these parameters is an item titled 'staff vacancy savings 
target'. The assumption stated is 2 per cent per annum for the coming years 
up to April 2022, this assumption being no change from that in February 
2018. 
 
Consequently, please state:  
 

a) How many staff vacancies were not replaced in the previous financial 
year, the current financial year and the number of full-time equivalent 
posts this equates to over both of these financial years. 
 

b) The number of staff vacancies that it is assumed will not be replaced 
over the next three financial years and the number of full-time 
equivalent posts this will equate to over each of those financial years. 

 
Reply from Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources 

 
The staff vacancy target” recognises that in any organisation there will be 
periods when, as a result of factors including resignation and retirement there 
will be savings generated as a result of posts becoming vacant. The Council 
recognises this and sets the 2 per cent target to reflect what it considers to be 
a reasonable level of savings that may be achieved as a result of such 
occurrences. 
 
The target does not set a figure for the deletion of posts, it is merely a level of 
realistic savings against the payment of salaries when staff recruitment is 
undertaken following a vacancy occurring in a service or team. Under normal 
practice there will be a period for the recruitment itself and in most cases 
where a successful appointment is made the new member of staff will be 
required to work out a period of notice with the previous employer all of which 
results in periods of vacancy (and associated salary savings) against which 
this target is set. There are no staff vacancies that it is assumed will not be 
replaced over the next three financial years. 

 

 

CABINET – 24 JANUARY 2019 
QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 

Minute Item 98

399



 

 

 

 

Agenda item 5 refers 
 

The target for 2017/18 and 2018/19 was 2 per cent and the actual saving 
achieved was 1.5 per cent in 2017/18 and is forecast to be 1.4 per cent in 
2018/19 

 
2. Mr David Forman to Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for 

Resources 
 

Further to my previous question, as stated in Appendix A to the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, these staff vacancy savings are a 'target'. Therefore, will 
council management take such measures as are necessary to achieve these 
targets? 

 
Reply from Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources 

 
As stated in the answer to the previous question, the target is set to reflect 
what is considered to be a reasonable level of savings caused by transition 
periods between new and old staff. As a result of this, the Council’s 
management is not taking steps to ensure that the staff vacancy target is met. 

400


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	59 Questions from the Public

	9a Referral from Cabinet - Corporate Plan 2019/20
	Appendix A - Corporate Plan

	9b Referral from Cabinet - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 - 2021/22
	Appendix A - General Fund Budget Parameters 2019-20
	Appendix B - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-20 to 2021-22
	Appendix C - Capital Funding
	Appendix D - Housing Revenue Account Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-20 - 2021-22
	Appendix E  - General Fund Medium Term Financial Plan 2019-20 to 2021-22

	9c Referral from Cabinet - Capital and Treasury Report 2019
	Appendices

	9d Referral from Cabinet - Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2018 - 2048
	Appendix A - HRA Business Plan

	9e Referral from Cabinet - Housing Revenue Account Budget 2019/20
	9f Referral from Cabinet - General Fund Budget 2019/20
	Appendix A - General Fund Budget Summary 2019-20
	Appendix B - Savings Income Pressures
	Appendix C - Proposed Movements on Earmerked Reserves - 2018-19 and 2019-20
	Appendix D - CFO Statement
	Appendix E - Analysis of Fees and Charges
	Appendix F - Detailed Budgets
	Appendix G - Pay Policy Statement 2019-20

	9g Referral from Cabinet - Capital Programmes 2018/19 - 2019/20
	9h Referral from Cabinet - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy - Retail Relief
	Appendix A - Rate Relief Policy

	9i Referral from Independent Remuneration Panel - Report of The Independent Remuneration Panel 2018/19
	Appendix A - Proposed Scheme 2019-20

	9j Referral from Licensing Committee - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fees
	Appendix A - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Fees

	9k Referral from Licensing Committee - Licensing Act Policy Review
	Appendix A - Draft Policy 2018
	Licensing Act Policy Supplementary Report
	Appendix B- Essex Police late representation

	11a Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 12 December 2018 of Development Management Committee
	11b Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 16 January 2019 of Development Management Committee
	11d Minutes of meeting Thursday, 24 January 2019 of Cabinet
	Minutes
	98 Written Questions from the Public


